
 
 
 
 

Town Hall 
 Royal Tunbridge Wells 

 
Tuesday, 17 April 2018 

 
 

 
To the Members of the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  
 
I request your attendance at a meeting of the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council to 
be held at the Council Chamber, Royal Tunbridge Wells, Kent TN1 1RS, on 
Wednesday, 25 April 2018, at 6.30 pm, when the following business is proposed to 
be transacted. 
 

1   Apologies for absence   
To receive any apologies for absence.  

2   Declarations of Interest   
To receive any declarations of interest by Members in items on the agenda. 
For any advice on declarations of interest; please contact the Monitoring 
Officer before the meeting.  

3   Announcements   
To receive announcements from the Mayor, the Leader of the Council, 
members of the Cabinet and the Chief Executive.  

4   Minutes of the meeting dated 21 February 2018  (Pages 5 - 22) 
To approve the minutes of the scheduled meeting held on 21 February 2018 
as a correct record. The only issue relating to the minutes that can be 
discussed is their accuracy.  

5   Minutes of the meeting dated 26 March 2018  (Pages 23 - 24) 
To approve the minutes of the extraordinary meeting held on 26 March 2018 
as a correct record. The only issue relating to the minutes that can be 
discussed is their accuracy.  

6   Questions from members of the public   
To receive any questions from members of the public, of which due notice 
has been given pursuant to Council Procedure Rule 8, to be submitted and 
answered.  

7   Questions from members of the Council   
To receive any questions from members of the Council, of which due notice 
has been given pursuant to Council Procedure Rule 10, to be submitted and 
answered.  

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 
 
 
 
 

8   Notice of Use of Urgency Procedures   
To note the use of: (a) the Call-in and Urgency procedure in accordance with 
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 14; and (b) the Special Urgency 
procedure in accordance with Access to Information Procedure Rule 16, both 
in respect of Cabinet decision CAB170/17 (Strategic Land Acquisition).  

9   Ashdown Forest Air Quality Impact Assessment and Revised Habitat 
Regulation Assessment Practice Note  (Pages 25 - 136) 

10   Community Safety Partnership Plan 2018/19  (Pages 137 - 196) 

11   Public Spaces Protection Order Implementation  (Pages 197 - 294) 

12   Appointment of Deputy Mayor 2018/19  (Pages 295 - 298) 

13   To Record the Council's Appreciation for the Mayor   
To record the Borough Council’s appreciation for the valuable services 
rendered by the Mayor and the assistance given to her by the Mayor’s Escort 
during her period of office.  

14   Urgent Business   
To consider any other items which the Mayor decides are urgent, for the 
reasons to be stated, in accordance with Section 100B(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972.  

15   Common Seal of the Council   
To authorise the Common Seal of the Council to be affixed to any contract, 
minute, notice or other document arising out of the minutes, or pursuant to 
any delegation, authority or power conferred by the Council.  

16   Date of next meeting   
To note that the next meeting will be the Annual Meeting, to be held on 
Wednesday 23 May at 10am.  

 
 

William Benson 
Chief Executive 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



 
 
 
 
All visitors wishing to attend a public meeting at the Town Hall between the hours of 
9.00am and 5.00pm should report to reception via the side entrance in Monson 
Way.  After 5pm, access will be via the front door on the corner of Crescent Road 
and Mount Pleasant Road, except for disabled access which will continue by use of 
an 'out of hours' button at the entrance in Monson Way 
 
Notes on Procedure 
 
(1)  A list of background papers appears at the end of each report, where 

appropriate, pursuant to the Local Government Act 1972, section 100D(i). 
 
(2) Members seeking factual information about agenda items are requested to 

contact the appropriate Service Manager prior to the meeting. 
 
(3) Members of the public and other stakeholders are required to register with the 

Democratic Services Officer if they wish to speak on an agenda item at a 
meeting.  Places are limited to a maximum of four speakers per item.  The 
deadline for registering to speak is 4.00 pm the last working day before the 
meeting.  Each speaker will be given a maximum of 3 minutes to address the 
Council. 

 
(4) All meetings are open to the public except where confidential or exempt 

information is being discussed. The agenda will identify whether a meeting or 
part of a meeting is not open to the public. Meeting rooms have a maximum 
public capacity as follows: 
Council Chamber: 100, Committee Room A: 20, Committee Room B: 10. 

 
(5) Please note that this meeting may be recorded or filmed by the Council for 

administrative purposes.  Any other third party may also record or film 
meetings, unless exempt or confidential information is being considered, but 
are requested as a courtesy to others to give notice of this to the Democratic 
Services Officer before the meeting. The Council is not liable for any third party 
recordings. 

 
Further details are available on the website (www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk) or 
from Democratic Services. 

 

If you require this information in another 
format please contact us, call 01892 526121 
or email committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk 

 
Accessibility into and within the Town Hall – There is a wheelchair 
accessible lift by the main staircase, giving access to the first floor where the 
committee rooms are situated. There are a few steps leading to the Council 
Chamber itself but there is a platform chairlift in the foyer. 
 
Hearing Loop System – The Council Chamber and Committee Rooms A 
and B have been equipped with hearing induction loop systems. The Council 
Chamber also has a fully equipped audio-visual system. 

 

Page 3

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/
mailto:committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES of a meeting of the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council, duly convened and held 
at the Council Chamber, Royal Tunbridge Wells, Kent TN1 1RS, at 6.30 pm 

on Wednesday, 21 February 2018 
 

PRESENT:  
 

The Mayor Councillor Mrs Julia Soyke (Chairman) 
Councillors Backhouse, Barrington-King, Dr Basu, Bland, Bulman, Chapelard, 

Mrs Cobbold, Dawlings, Elliott, Hamilton, Hannam, Hastie, Heasman, Hill, Holden, 
Huggett, Jukes, Lidstone, March, McDermott, Moore, Munn, Neve, Noakes, Nuttall, 

Oakford, Podbury, Rankin, Reilly, Scholes, Simmons, Sloan, Stanyer, Stewart, 
Mrs Thomas, Uddin, Weatherly, Williams and Woodward 

 
IN ATTENDANCE:  William Benson (Chief Executive), Patricia Narebor (Head of Legal 
Partnership) and Mathew Jefferys (Democratic Services and Elections Manager) 
 
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
FC54/17 
 

No declarations of pecuniary or significant other interest were made. 
 

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
FC55/17 
 

Apologies were received from Councillors Dr Hall, Hills, Horwood, Jamil and 
Ms Palmer. 
 
Councillors Gray and Lewis-Grey were not present. 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
FC56/17 
 

The Mayor noted that a written summary of her past and future engagements 
had been made available to Members  
 
The Mayor invited members of The Kent College Gymnastics Academy to 
give a short display. 
 
Councillor Jukes, as a follow up to his announcement at the meeting of Full 
Council on 6 December 2017 that Councillor Scholes would be the Mayor for 
the year 2019/20, described Councillor Scholes’s experience, achievements 
and suitability for the role. 
 
Councillor March announced arrangements for International Women's Day on 
8 March 2018. She said that there would be a march from The Pantiles to the 
Town Hall and that the Mayor had invited people to come to the Council 
Chamber from 4.45pm until 6pm where a reception with inspirational women 
speakers would be held. Councillor March said that this was a non-political 
event and one of a number of commemorations being held across Royal 
Tunbridge Wells on this significant day.  She added that entry to the Council 
Chamber would be by ticket on a first come first served basis. 
 
There were no announcements by the Chief Executive. 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



2 

THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
FC57/17 
 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meetings dated 6 December 2017 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 
FC58/17 
 

The Mayor advised that there were four questions pursuant to Council 
Procedure Rule 8. 
 
1. Question from Dr Robert Chris 
 
“The response to many of the public comments on the consultation on the 
draft Civic Development Framework (CDF) was, where they referred 
specifically to the proposed civic development, that they were “not directly 
related to the purposes of the draft document, its structure, form and content.” 
They were referred to the civic development project team but ignored for the 
purposes of the draft CDF. Please identify where in the draft CDF or in the 
instructions available to the public about how to respond to the consultation, it 
was made clear for the benefit of prospective respondents: 

a) that comments must be “directly related to the purposes of the 
draft document, its structure, form and content” (“the criteria”); 

b) how the criteria would be interpreted. 
 
Given that the draft CDF is concerned only with those sites affected by the 
proposed civic complex development, and that none of the many objections 
to the proposed civic development was treated as falling within the criteria: 

c) is this not sufficient empirical evidence to conclude that the 
consultation was significantly misleading and should be declared 
void and rerun with clearer instructions for the public on how to 
frame their responses so as to fall within the criteria?” 

 
Answer from Councillor McDermott 
 
“In carrying out the public consultation on the draft Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) it was made clear both on the consultation website portal 
and the paper response form that this was a consultation on the draft SPD 
document itself.   
 
The relevant portal page referred to the consultation being in respect of a 
draft Civic Development Planning Framework SPD and referenced the 
relevant planning regulations. The same page gave details of a drop in 
session when officers would be available to answer questions regarding the 
consultation and draft document. 
 
The relevant paper response form also identified the document the subject of 
the consultation and stated: this response form should be used to make 
comments on the draft Civic Development Planning Framework SPD. It was 
clear therefore what the subject of the consultation was and on what basis 
representations were invited. 
 
The consultation invited responses to five questions on the document, four of 
which were on specific elements of the draft document and one of which was 
for any other comments. No criteria were set to exclude representations  
 
 

Page 6

Agenda Item 4



3 

however as with all consultations on specific subjects, in this case the draft 
SPD document, it is to be expected that representations made will be related 
and relevant to the subject itself and not to other matters. 
 
It is not correct to state that the draft SPD document is concerned only with 
those sites affected by the proposed civic complex development. The 
document identifies a number of key sites in the town centre and gives 
commentary and guidance on each. Two of the sites relate to the proposed 
civic offices and new theatre.  
 
The consultation was not misleading and is not void. All representations 
received were considered and reported, with an appendix to the reports 
setting out the representations in full. Where relevant and appropriate, 
revisions have been made to the draft document again set out in the reports.” 
 
Supplementary question from Dr Robert Chris 
 
“Public don't seem to share that view. Will the Council now follow best 
practice from other council's around the country by providing comprehensive 
online guidance notes to those wishing to comment on planning applications 
and other forms of public consultation so that members of the public without 
specialist knowledge are better able to respond in ways that are likely to 
ensure their concerns are taken in to account?”  
 
Answer from Councillor McDermott 
 
“I have no idea, therefore I will write to you.” 
 
2. Question from Dr Robert Chris 
 
“The draft Civic Development Framework states (Section 3.1) “The overall 
framework for the area has emerged in response to the Council’s decision to 
relocate the theatre and council offices.” Please explain how this does not 
amount to predetermination, rendering the entire consultation worthless.” 
 
Answer from Councillor McDermott 
 
“The preparation of a Framework Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
was initiated and progressed having regard to previous criticism that key sites 
in the town centre were not being considered in a holistic way and that there 
was a lack of guidance to help shape development proposals that may come 
forward especially in respect of key listed buildings. 
 
Contrary to some public comments the draft Framework SPD is not a policy 
making or site allocation document. The relevant local planning policies and 
allocations are set out in the Core Strategy and Site Allocations Plan. 
 
In preparing the draft SPD the objective has been to achieve the right balance 
between acknowledging the existence of the civic project and what those 
proposals involve whilst at the same time providing guidance in a way that 
does not presume the outcome of any proposals, on any site, that are 
presented as planning applications. 
 
As always it remains the case that any planning applications will be 
considered and determined on individual merit having appropriate regard to 
the weight of the adopted Development Plan policies and allocations.” 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



4 

Supplementary question from Dr Robert Chris 
 

“Of the fourteen members of the Planning Committee on the 6 December, 
nine of them voted in favour of this development, one abstained and four 
voted against. Will Councillor Jukes ensure that in order to avoid any possible 
taint of pre-determination, that balance will be established in this committee 
by requiring five of those voting in favour of the proposals to not take part in 
the committees decision making on the Civic Complex development?” 
 

Answer from Councillor McDermott 
 

“Everyone on the Planning Committee makes there own decision. Everyone 
comes to a decision by listening to all the facts and all of them do not have 
predetermination already there when they come into the meeting. They listen, 
they listen to the facts and they make the decision from the facts. 
Unfortunately in this case for you the facts are nine were for it and four were 
against, I am sorry that’s the way it goes.” 
 

3. Question from Dr Robert Chris       
    
“The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) report 
on the Civic Complex Development states that the project does not provide 
value for money. “The scheme does not pass a financial value for money test 
in that the new income and charges will not cover the cost of the loan”. Does 
Councillor Jukes consider that the Portfolio Holder for Civic Development 
Communications has misrepresented this report in her public utterances by 
not referring to this concern, or is it his opinion that delivering value for money 
on a £90m project is not a priority for the Council and not something the 
public need be concerned about?” 
 

Answer from Councillor Jukes 
 

“The Portfolio Holder for Civic Development Communications has not 
misrepresented the report in public comments that she has given regarding 
the project. Indeed I would thank her for her contributions on behalf of the 
Council to provide clarity regarding the aims and objectives of the Civic 
Development. 
 

The CIPFA report was published in full in the Full Council reports on the Civic 
Development so the view of CIPFA in its entirety is available for all members 
of the public to see. The CIPFA team were impressed by the Council and 
many aspects of our approach to the project, in particular: 

• Vision; 
• Ownership/Commitment; 
• The retained architects, GVA are of high quality and are 

supplemented by an experienced in-house team; 
• The quality and thoroughness of pre-tender work on delivering the 

build; 
• Savings strategy – appears deliverable; 
• Prudent financial planning approach; and 
• The involvement and approach of the Director of Finance, Policy 

and Development. 
 

As CIPFA state, the development overall is a place shaping cultural 
investment. I would however correct you as the CIPFA report actually states 
regarding value for money (in paragraph 8.1) “from a more narrow view of 
‘economy’ ”. 

Page 8

Agenda Item 4



5 

Fortunately I and my colleagues view value for money in the wider 
contribution of cultural and business facilities for Tunbridge Wells, its people 
and its businesses as well as considering if it is the right thing for the Council 
to do. As a result we wish to ensure for this and future generations that 
Tunbridge Wells continues to be a visitor destination, benefit from top quality 
cultural facilities into the future, provide new business space with a 
development contributing to the wider economy and meet the demands of 
growth being placed on us.” 
 

Supplementary question from Dr Robert Chris 
 

“Value for money is a requirement placed on the Council by the government 
and it requires evidence based decision making. Could Councillor Jukes tell 
us where we can find the missing objective factual data that demonstrates 
that the proposed expenditure in preparation for the building of a 1200 seat 
receiving theatre with fixed format 19 century style auditorium is integral to 
the optimum needs of making Tunbridge Wells nationally recognised for its 
vibrant cultural provision by 2024. 
 

When he answers this question, I ask him to be very careful about how he 
answers. I am not asking about evidence that the proposed theatre is feasible 
or that it would make some contribution to the cultural life of the borough. 
Value for money requires him to show that it is the optimal way of realising 
the cultural vision.”  
 

Answer from Councillor Jukes 
 

“Article 124 Local Government Act 1974 demands that this Council produces 
value for money. That is what we will achieve.” 
 

4. Question from Dr Robert Chris 
 

“I apologise to everyone here tonight for seeming a bit down but as Madam 
Mayor knows I had a bad reaction to my chemotherapy at 3 in the morning, 
and had planned to stay in bed all day but as a result of her intervention later 
today in refusing to allow me to appoint an alternate to ask these questions I 
had to turn out of my sick bed to come and do this. Madam Mayor, I am not 
sure who's interests you think you were serving by this arbitrary exercise of 
power but in the absence of a compelling explanation, shame on you. 
 

In Hoopers’ lawyers’ objection to the planning application for the proposed 
civic complex, they note that statements in both the application and in the 
draft Civic Development Framework to the effect that the Council has 
engaged with key stakeholders is not true in that there has been no such 
engagement with Hoopers.  This statement is at odds with assurances from 
Councillor Moore when asked about the progress of discussions concerning 
access to Hoopers car park when she has repeatedly said that “negotiations 
are ongoing”. 
 

Would she tell us whether: 
a) Hoopers and their lawyers are being economical with the truth; or 
b) She has been economical with the truth; or 
c) She has been relying on others within the Council who have 

misinformed her. 
 

In the event of c), please can she tell us who in the Council has repeatedly 
misinformed her.” 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



6 

Answer from Councillor Moore 
 
“First of all, Robert, you were told by this Council that we would reply to your 
questions in writing and that the responses to your questions would appear in 
the minutes if you were unable to attend. Furthermore, you asked for special 
parking space out-front and we provided that for you, so we have tried to 
accommodate you this evening. 
 
Before I reply to these questions let the record show that I am really 
disappointed that the debate is being conducted in these terms. Your written 
submission of questions to us actually accuse me of lying, tonight you used 
the words “economical with the truth”. I do understand that there are different 
points of view but it is wholly inappropriate to make these kinds of allegations.  
 
We have seen this kind of emotive and abusive discourse in public life at 
national level and frankly I am disappointed to see this now in our town. We 
can debate the facts and evidence without descending into deliberately 
personal and provocative attacks. It is disappointing to see the debate 
conducting in these terms.. You may have legitimate points to make but let us 
debate the issues. Of course I haven't lied. 
 
As regards the first allegation (a) being made the Council is not in the position 
to comment on statements made by third parties regarding their commercial 
position.   
 
As regards the second allegation (b), appropriate discussions have been held 
and will continue to be held with relevant parties in relation to site assembly. 
As such, the reference to the Portfolio Holder lying is inaccurate.  
 
And as regards the third point, please note my response to the first two parts 
(a) and (b).  The allegation is inaccurate. 
 
You are entitled to your own opinion but not to your own facts.” 
 
Supplementary question from Dr Robert Chris 
 
“Councillor Moore I think you are being hypersensitive I wasn't accusing you 
of lying I was asking you a question. 
 
Hoopers, Metro Property, BBC and Sainsbury’s – the four businesses most 
affected by the proposal – say there has never been any engagement with 
any of them that amounts to a negotiation because none of the businesses 
has entered into a dialogue with the Council about delivering a shared 
objective. 
  
Where has the misinformation about the non existent negotiation come from, 
the public and your fellow councillors deserve to know?” 
 
Answer from Councillor Moore 
 
“Let the record show that actually I find accusing me of being oversensitive 
yet another example of your misogyny. You are a bully and I am not 
threatened. I have not lied to the public and I am not lying to the council 
tonight.” 
 
 

Page 10

Agenda Item 4



7 

Dr Robert Chris objected to the accusation of misogyny. He added that he 
thought it was totally and utterly out of order and he would have made the 
same comments whatever gender Councillor Moore was. 
 
Councillor Holden interjected to note that there was no formal concept of 
parliamentary language within the Constitution but he thought that the Council 
should have a sense of it and that this question in its written form should not 
have been allowed. He welcomed members of the public attending the 
meetings but urged the Mayor to rule out of order members of the public that 
put questions in those terms and engaged in a political discourse of a quite 
insulting kind. 
 

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 
 
FC59/17 
 

The Mayor advised that there were seven questions pursuant to Council 
Procedure Rule 10.  
 
1. Question from Councillor Munn 
 
“The Council has committed to resettling ten households under the Syrian 
Vulnerable Persons Relocation Scheme between 2015 and 2020 and has so 
far accepted seven households. Has the Council considered committing itself 
to more than ten households as there has not been a conclusion to 
hostilities?” 
 
Answer from Councillor Weatherly 
 
“The Housing team has not considered assisting more than 10 Syrian refugee 
households before 2020 for two reasons: 
 
1) We continue to see a high number of people approaching the Council 
because they are facing homelessness or are sleeping rough, this will 
increase in April 2018 with the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction 
Act. We also have around 1,000 households on our Housing Register who 
are waiting for an affordable housing association home.  We have to balance 
the needs of those households alongside Syrian families. 
 
2) The limited availability of privately rented accommodation – we use this 
kind of housing for our refugee families, so as not to increase demand on the 
housing stock – is unfortunately becoming increasingly difficult to secure in 
Tunbridge Wells and in other parts of the Borough. 
 
Taking account of those factors, we feel that our offer to help 10 Syrian 
households is both reasonable and achievable.” 
 
Supplementary question from Councillor Munn 
 
“The officers involved in this scheme are to be applauded for their evident 
commitment to this scheme and to their success so far. Is there no way the 
council can explore an increase to the numbers being accepted?” 
 
Answer from Councillor Weatherly 
 
“We are not looking at this at this moment.” 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



8 

2. Question from Councillor Chapelard 
 
“With reference to the agenda for the Finance and Governance Cabinet 
Advisory Board of 9 January 2018, item 13: Acquisition of Properties in Royal 
Tunbridge Wells. Should councillors have been briefed that this work was 
going on before Full Council voted on item 10 at its 6 December 2017 
meeting?” 
 
Answer from Councillor Jukes 
 
“Councillor Chapelard, thank you for the question. As you are well aware 
exempt report papers are published in advance with the rest of the agenda 
and available to elected Councillors to review. Our processes including 
engagement with Finance and Governance prior to Cabinet taking a decision 
provides adequate opportunity for Councillors to engage in the process.  
 
As you will be well aware the Council has set up a property investment fund 
and the proposed purchase of the properties in question is from funding 
already agreed by the Council. As the report, which I remind you is 
commercially confidential, demonstrated the investment opportunity and 
Cabinet took the decision on the 1 February 2018 to progress with the 
investment opportunity. So the simple answer is no as the procedure followed 
is as per any investment opportunity within the budget already identified.” 
 
Supplementary question from Councillor Chapelard 
 
“Given the location of the properties in exempt item 13 of the Finance and 
Governance Cabinet Advisory Board on 9 January 2018 should Councillors 
not have been told that that work was in progress before that date?” 
 
Answer from Councillor Jukes 
 
“This is still a highly sensitive and confidentially commercial situation. The 
decision made was commercially right because it falls within the confines of 
the policy which has already been set down for audition of property which 
would give the council a good return on capital employed.” 
 
3. Question from Councillor Lidstone 
 
“Did Tunbridge Wells Borough Council consult current tenants of the Great 
Hall, such as the BBC, during the civic development proposal? If so, was their 
feedback included within the papers provided to Members?” 
 
Answer from Councillor Moore 
 
“Councillor Lidstone, thank you for the question. Yes we did meet directly with 
the BBC and also through our agents we have discussed the needs of the 
owners and tenants of the Great Hall Arcade. These negotiations are ongoing 
which includes car parking. You will be aware from reading the Stage 3 
reports in the Members Room or from looking at the redacted Stage 3 reports 
that the Construction Management Plan sets out the delivery plan for the 
project and aims to address how any impacts associated with the proposed 
works will be mitigated.  
 
The Construction Management Plan covers noise and vibration in sections 
6.14 to 6.18) and air quality including dust pollution in sections 6.19 to 6.26 

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



9 

during the construction phases. Section 6.15 in both the Stage 3 reports and 
the document submitted as part of the planning application and specifically 
paragraph 6.15.3 highlights the BBC and the need for special measures. This 
paragraph even details the current broadcast schedule. 
 
As you will be aware we have tried to provide as much information as 
possible to elected Councillors to ensure an informed decision could be 
made. And as early as the Stage 2 reports the initial Construction 
Management Plan (November 2016) available in the Members Room states 
that “Where relevant, other stakeholder imposed threshold values will also be 
complied with particularly in the case of buried utilities infrastructure, and 
vibration-sensitive equipment operating at BBC.” 
 
So we are both keenly aware of the possible issues during construction that 
the BBC have raised and engaging as appropriate to address these issues.” 
 
Supplementary question from Councillor Lidstone 
“Can you give us your assurance that every effort will be made to avoid any 
existing businesses within The Great Hall leaving Tunbridge Wells?” 
 
Answer from Councillor Moore 
 
“Of course. I see my role going forward, trying to ensure we collaborate with 
businesses and members of the community so that we can deliver a 
successful project for the Borough of Tunbridge Wells.” 
 
4. Question from Councillor Munn 
 
“Given that unemployment in the Borough stands at only 0.9 per cent, how do 
you account for fact that child poverty after housing costs are included is as 
high as 30.85 per cent in Sherwood, 27.31 per cent in Broadwater, 24.72 
percent in Hawkhurst and 20.28 per cent in Southborough and High 
Brooms?” 
 
Answer from Councillor Weatherly 
 
“The Borough is a popular place to live and work, figures quoted reflect the 
variation in family incomes and housing costs across the Borough.  Overall, 
Tunbridge Wells has a very low rate of unemployment and the lowest rate of 
child poverty in Kent at 17.5 per cent. 
 
One child in poverty is too many! 
 
All agencies are working together to improve the health and wellbeing of our 
families in the Borough through, for example, the Local Children’s Partnership 
Group, the 0–25 Health and Wellbeing Board, housing advice, enabling 
affordable housing and a new Public Services Board that will help people into 
work, support people to increase levels of confidence through training and 
support to apply for a better paid position which in turn will increase family 
incomes and help reduce child poverty.” 
 
Supplementary question from Councillor Munn 
 
“Are you aware that this involves 397 children in my ward of Southborough 
and High Brooms and 494 in your Sherwood ward?” 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



10 

Answer from Councillor Weatherly 
 
“I am absolutely aware of that figure for Sherwood ward but was not aware of 
the figure for Southborough and High Brooms.” 
 
5. Question from Councillor Chapelard 
 
“At a recent meeting of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee the Portfolio 
Holder for Sustainability said that introducing a garden waste charge would 
lead to increased levels of garden waste recycling. What evidence does the 
Portfolio Holder have to substantiate such a claim?” 
 
Answer from Councillor Basu 
 
“During my Portfolio Holder update to the November meeting of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee I explained that the new recycling and waste 
collection service in 2019 will improve our recycling.  We will be introducing a 
glass collection service, collecting food waste separately and providing an opt 
in chargeable garden waste collection service.” 
 
Supplementary question from Councillor Chapelard 
 
“You did specifically say that it would lead to increased levels of garden waste 
recycling where is the evidence for such a claim please?” 
 
Answer from Councillor Basu 
 
“I did listen to the recording as did a senior officer and I have just read you 
what I said.” 
 
6. Question from Councillor Lidstone 
 
“The proposed A26 cycle route was put out to public consultation in late 2016, 
and 67 per cent of respondents were in favour of the plans, with only 24 per 
cent against. Why, after 15 months, have the plans gone back out to 
consultation?” 
 
Answer from Councillor McDermott 
 
“At the end of 2016, an initial consultation was undertaken on proposals to 
improve cycling infrastructure on the A26 between Royal Tunbridge Wells 
and Tonbridge town centres. The response to the consultation was positive. 
However, a concern raised during the consultation was the lack of 
infrastructure proposed between Bidborough and Mabledon. 
 
Further work has been undertaken and a second consultation is now 
underway on proposals for an additional phase of the route to include a 
shared use pedestrian/cycle facility on the eastern side of the A26 between 
the junction with Birchwood Avenue and Mabledon.  
 
Consultation on the required Traffic Regulation Orders for the entire route will 
follow in the next few weeks. It is anticipated that work will start on Phase 1 of 
the route between Royal Tunbridge Wells town centre and the Speldhurst 
Road junction in the next few months.” 
 
 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4



11 

Supplementary question from Councillor Lidstone 
 

“In the initial proposals, a key part of this cycle route was the introduction of a 
20 miles an hour zone in Southborough, this was a recommendation of the 
report however, in the latest consultation this had been removed, is this not 
also considered a material change from the consultation and if so why has 
attention not been drawn to this?” 
 

Answer from Councillor McDermott 
 
“I am not sure about the 20 mile per hour speed limit. If it is not there that is 
because it has been accepted.” 
 

7. Question from Councillor Chapelard 
 

“Has Tunbridge Wells Borough Council met with the bidders for the South 
Eastern rail franchise?” 
 

Answer from Councillor McDermott 
 

“At the request of the train operating companies, Tunbridge Wells Borough 
Council (TWBC) officers have met with 2 of the 3 prospective franchisees: 
Govia, parent company for current franchisee Southeastern; and Stagecoach. 
 

At the meetings, TWBC outlined its priorities for the future of the franchise. 
These priorities had already been set out in the TWBC response to the 
Department for Transport’s consultation on the South Eastern Franchise, 
submitted last year. Many of these have been included in the final franchise 
specification.” 
 

CIVIC DEVELOPMENT PLANNING FRAMEWORK SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 
DOCUMENT 
 
FC60/17 
 

Councillor McDermott introduced the report and moved the 
recommendations. He said that the new development was only part of this 
consultation and reminded Members that this report had been considered by 
the relevant Cabinet Advisory Board and the Cabinet. 
 

Councillor Jukes seconded the motion. 
 

Members voting against the motion: Councillors Bulman, Chapelard, Hill, 
Lidstone, Munn, Stewart and Williams. 
 

RESOLVED – 
 

1. That the consultation responses received in respect of the draft 
Civic Development Planning Framework Supplementary Planning 
Document be noted and published; 

 

2. That the draft Civic Development Planning Framework 
Supplementary Planning Document be further updated by the 
revisions set out in Appendix A; and 

 

3. That the revised draft Civic Development Planning Framework 
Supplementary Planning Document, as amended above, be 
approved and adopted to inform decision making, as a material 
planning consideration, in regard to planning applications. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



12 

 
ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN 2018/19 
 
FC61/17 
 

Councillor Jukes introduced the report and moved the recommendations. He 
commented that the annual housekeeping report was a positive one and 
congratulated the staff on the excellent job they were doing with the 
properties. He advised that the Council was making a surplus on it’s property 
management and that this was indicative of the policy started about five or six 
years ago. He added that The Draft Asset Management Plan was subject to 
public consultation from 8 December 2017 to 18 January 2018 and that no 
comments were received from the public during this consultation period. 
 
Councillor McDermott seconded the motion. 
 
Councillor Rankin said that there had been an issue with a council owned 
property in her Park ward which was not being maintained properly. She 
asked the appropriate department if they would paint and make good and 
they did so very promptly. She felt that in terms of asset management the 
council was responsibly dealing with properties and hoped that this would 
continue to be the case.  
 
Councillor Williams said on Item 282 (page 248) Land Opposite 283 Upper 
Grosvenor Road Royal Tunbridge Wells Kent TN4 9EX that the removal of 
rubbish was promptly and efficiently dealt with by the council but that the 
proliferation of rats had not yet been concluded. He added that given the 
public health concerns he would be grateful for some comment from the 
Portfolio Holder on this public health nuisance. 
 
Councillor Neve asked for written officer clarification on two items: 

 144 (page 227) Pavilion Grosvenor Recreation Ground Upper 
Grosvenor Road Royal Tunbridge Wells Kent TN1 2JB described 
as a Semi Derelict Corrugated Metal Shed. Councillor Neve said 
that the pavilion in that area had just been re-developed and 
certainly was not derelict. 

 154 (page 228) Changing Rooms Hilbert Recreation Ground 
Hilbert Road Royal Tunbridge Wells Kent TN1Recreation 
described as a Detached Single Storey Building. Councillor Neve 
said that it was an Oast House. 

 
Councillor Lidstone followed up Councillor Williams’ point about the land 
at Upper Grosvenor Road. He said that the Council was repeating the cycle 
of clearing it up, putting fences up only for them to be knocked down and that 
there were rats. He felt that the council should be looking at this site as a 
priority. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 

1. That completion of the formal public consultation and results on 
the Draft Asset Management Plan 2018/19 be noted; and 

 
2. That the Asset Management Plan 2018/19 be adopted. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 16

Agenda Item 4



13 

BUDGET 2018/19 AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY UPDATE 
 
FC62/17 
 

The Mayor exercised her discretion under Council Procedure Rules 13.4.2 
and 13.4.4 to allow the mover of the motion and the group leaders to speak 
for more than ten minutes on this item, if they so wished. 
 
Councillor Reilly introduced the report and moved the recommendations. He 
explained that the decisions about 2018/19 council budgets were being made 
in one of the most unstable political and economic environments experienced 
in recent times. 
 
He continued that in the context of the widening gap between funding and 
demand, three significant funding pressures had been of concern to the 
council in setting the budget. They were general inflation in the cost of goods 
and services used by this council in delivering its services, additional 
unfunded legislative requirements and pressures arising from demographic 
change and consequent demand for service provision. 
 
Councillor Reilly confirmed that the budget for the council was balanced for 
2018/19 with no major reductions to frontline services and no use of the 
general reserve fund. This, he said, was despite a further reduction in the 
Revenue Support Grant of £202,000 to zero and a cut in government funding 
for New Homes Bonus of £302,000. The Council tax would increase by £4.98 
for the whole year (i.e. 41 pence a month). 
 
Councillor Reilly concluded that Cabinet had approved the draft budget for 
wider consultation on 6 December 2017 and that the report had been widely 
consulted on with presentations being made to groups representing 
communities in both the town and rural parts of the Borough. 
 
Councillor Scholes seconded the motion and reserved his right to speak. 
 
Councillor Williams sought to raise a Point of Information in respect of 
Councillor Reilly’s introduction. William Benson, Chief Executive, said that 
there was no such thing as a point of information. He advised Councillor 
Williams that if there was something he wanted to elicit then he should 
include it in his contribution to the debate. 
 
Councillor Hill, on behalf of the Labour group, thanked Lee Colyer, Director of 
Finance, Policy and Development, for his tireless efforts and professionalism 
in preparing and explaining the budget during a time of austerity and cuts to 
local government revenue but said that they would not be supporting it. She 
felt that by embarking on an expensive and extravagant £90 million building 
project the Council was focussing on the wrong priorities and not addressing 
the daily concerns of residents in towns and villages across the Borough. 
 
Councillor Chapelard, on behalf of the Liberal Democrat group thanked Mr 
Colyer and the finance team. He welcomed the attempt to provide a balanced 
but said a properly balanced budget did not use reserves for capital projects. 
He warned members that the Council was using its reserves to pay for its day 
to day maintenance and at some point those reserves will run out and he 
asked what then? Councillor Chapelard also raised concerns that the council 
was using section 106 money to do routine maintenance to facilities rather 
than building much needed infrastructure. He concluded that he wished the 
council would address resident’s priorities such as congestion, illegal levels of 
air pollution, improving infrastructure rather than on the civic development.  

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



14 

Councillor Holden was unimpressed by the opposition’s offerings and 
commended the budget. 
 

Councillor Backhouse reminded members that Councillor Reilly had said that 
front line services would not be cut. 
 

Councillor Williams commented that 80 per cent of Councils doubted their 
financial stability and wondered whether Tunbridge Wells was one of them. 
He proposed an amendment to recommendation 1 with a  view to expressly 
rule out a charge for green waste collection. William Benson, Chief Executive, 
advised that it would not be a valid amendment as it would have the effect of 
negating the motion, it would also have the effect of unbalancing the budget 
and the removal of one part must be accompanied by a commensurate 
change elsewhere. He invited Councillor Williams to revise the form of the 
amendment. 
 

Councillor Scholes raised a point of order in that the green waste services did 
not form part of the 2018/19 budget and so could not be removed. Councillor 
Williams commented that the new service was due to be implemented with 
the new waste contract in March 2019. Mr Benson advised that as the service 
was not included in the report the amendment was not valid. He added that 
the procurement of the green waste service had not yet been undertaken and 
there would be a future opportunity to consider any such service as the 
procurement of the new contract would be subject to the Council’s normal 
decision making processes. 
 

Councillor Williams sought to clarify the particular decision making process as 
he believed that this was the last opportunity for the Full Council to influence 
the decision. Mr Benson, having consulted with the Monitoring Officer, 
advised that the proposed amendment was not pertinent to the business at 
hand. Councillor Williams commented that if the green waste service was not 
considered part of the forthcoming year’s budget it must at least be relevant 
to the Medium Term Financial Strategy which formed part of the agenda item. 
The Monitoring Officer offered to provide further clarification following the 
meeting however the advice to the Mayor stood. The Mayor invited Councillor 
Williams to move on. 
 

Councillor Williams wished to yield to allow Councillor Hannam to speak. The 
Mayor advised that this was not correct and he should continue with or 
conclude his speech. 
 

Councillor Stewart queried the robustness of the medium term financial 
strategy and the figures for the increased share in business rates growth. 
 

Councillor Barrington-King thought that this was one of the finest micro 
budgets he had witnessed especially in these adverse times. 
 

Councillor Hannam asked that a member of the Cabinet would repeat the 
commitment made by the Leader and other members of the Cabinet in 
committee, that there would be a vote in Full Council on the imposition of 
charges on garden waste. 
 

Councillor Bulman felt budget was like ‘a Curates egg’, good in parts. He 
suggested it was a short term budget for a short term situation, that it did aim 
to balance all the income and expenditure but questioned whether it went far 
enough and what provision the Council was making for the medium to long 
term.  

Page 18

Agenda Item 4



15 

 
Councillor Neve asked for each recommendation to be taken individually.  
 
Councillor Scholes thought the budget was as good as the Council could do 
and advised that it was very difficult to do long term planning with all the short 
term changes that come from central government. He commended the 
budget as there were no cuts to major services. 
 
In summing up Councillor Reilly addressed some of the points that had been 
raised during the debate. He confirmed that: 

 the impact of waste contracts did not hit the financials until 
2020/21; 

 that there were no cuts to grants next year; 

 that the increased share in business rates growth was not in the 
budget for next year; and 

 negative support grants were coming to the end of a 4 year cycle 
and the council was waiting for a steer from the Secretary of State 
going forward. 

 
The Mayor said that she had not heard anything within the debate that led her 
to believe that there was a need to disaggregate the recommendations and 
Councillor Neve did not provide a justification for this in his speech so she 
would take recommendations on page 249 en bloc. 
 
Members voting in favour of the motion: The Mayor (Councillor Mrs Soyke), 
Councillors Backhouse, Barrington-King, Dr Basu, Bland, Mrs Cobbold, 
Dawlings, Elliott, Hamilton, Hannam, Hastie, Heasman, Holden, Huggett, 
Jukes, Mackonochie, March, McDermott, Moore, Neve, Noakes, Nuttall, 
Oakford,  Podbury, Rankin, Reilly, Scholes, Simmons, Sloan, Stanyer, Mrs 
Thomas, Uddin, Weatherly and Woodward. (34) 
 
Members voting against the motion: Councillors Chapelard, Hill and Munn. (3) 
 
Members abstaining from voting: Councillors Bulman, Lidstone, Stewart and 
Williams. (4) 
 
RESOLVED – 
 

1. That Council approves the changes to the base budget along with 
the assumptions and approach set out throughout the report; 

 
2. That Council approves the responses to the budget consultation in 

Appendix C; 
 

3. That Council approves the rolling forward of the capital 
programme including net reserve based funding of £442,000 for 
new schemes listed within the report; 

 
4. That Council approves the 2018/19 Pay Policy Statement set out 

in Appendix E; and 
 

5. That Council approves an increase in the ‘Basic Amount’ of 
Council Tax of £4.98 for a Band D property. 

 
 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



16 

COUNCIL TAX 2018/19 
 
FC63/17 
 

Councillor Reilly introduced the report and moved the recommendations. He 
explained that the purpose of this report was to enable the council to 
calculate the council tax for 2018/19. So following agreement to the 2018/19 
budget reports an increase of £4.98 which is 3 per cent on the Borough 
Council’s basic amount of council tax at Band B for 2018/19 was 
recommended. This would enable a balanced budget to be set.  
 
Councillor Scholes seconded the motion and reserved his right to speak. 
 
Councillor Lidstone commented that he was surprised to read on the 19 
February 2018 that Kent County Council met on 20 February 2018 and had 
set their precept at £56 million. Councillor Lidstone asked to be assured that 
this was merely a typo in the report and that the decision on KCC precept 
was not pre determined. 
 
In accordance with the relevant legislation regarding Full Council decisions on 
the setting of the council tax, a recorded vote was taken on the 
recommendations. 
 
Members voting in favour of the motion: The Mayor (Councillor Mrs Soyke), 
Councillors Backhouse, Barrington-King, Dr Basu, Bland, Bulman, Mrs 
Cobbold, Dawlings, Elliott, Hamilton, Hannam, Hastie, Heasman, Hill, Holden, 
Huggett, Jukes, Lidstone, Mackonochie, March, McDermott, Moore, Munn, 
Neve, Noakes, Nuttall, Oakford, Podbury, Rankin, Reilly, Scholes, Simmons, 
Sloan, Stanyer, Stewart, Mrs Thomas, Uddin, Weatherly, Williams and 
Woodward. (40) 
 
Members voting against the motion: Councillor Chapelard. (1) 
 
RESOLVED – The detailed resolution is set out in the attached annexe. 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY AND STRATEGY 2018/19 
 
FC64/17 
 

Councillor Reilly introduced the report and moved the recommendations. He 
explained that the report set out the authority’s policies for managing 
investments and borrowing and he drew particular attention to: 

 The Council’s aims to achieve the optimum return on its 
investments commensurate with proper levels of scrutiny and 
liquidity.  

 The risk appetite of this council was low in order to give priority to 
security of its investments. 

 At its meeting of 6 December 2017 Full Council approved an 
amendment of the Treasury Management Policy and Strategy to 
increase the authorised limit for external debt and the operational 
boundary for external debt by £77 million to fund the new Civic 
Complex and theatre. 

 This amendment has been reflected within the 2018/19 Treasury 
Management Policy and Strategy and both the Authorised Limit for 
External Debt and Operational Boundary for External Debt have 
been increased from £20 million to £97 million. 

 The report had been supported by the Finance and Governance 
Cabinet Advisory Board on 9 January 2018. 

 
Councillor Sloan seconded the motion and reserved his right to speak. 

Page 20

Agenda Item 4



17 

 
Councillor Stewart said that she would not be supporting this motion, as she 
did not support the project that the money would be going to finance and she 
thought it was irresponsible. She added that she was horrified that 
the authorised debt has been increased to £97 million and commented that if 
the risk appetite of the council was low, she could not imagine where the limit 
would be if the council had a medium appetite for risk. 
 
Councillor Sloan endorsed the rigor applied by the Council in developing the 
treasury policy as well as the safeguards that were inherent in the strategy 
and its implementation.  
 
Members voting against the motion: Councillors Bulman, Chapelard, 
Hannam, Hill, Lidstone, Munn, Stewart and Williams. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2018/19 
be adopted. 
 

URGENT BUSINESS 
 
FC65/17 
 

The Mayor confirmed there was no urgent business to consider within the 
provisions of Council Meetings Procedure 2.1.12. 
 

COMMON SEAL OF THE COUNCIL 
 
FC66/17 
 

RESOLVED – That the Common Seal of the Council be affixed to any 
contract, minute, notice or other document arising out of the minutes or 
pursuant to any delegation, authority or power conferred by the Council. 
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
FC67/17 
 

It was noted that the next meeting of the Full Council would take place on 
Wednesday 25 April 2018 at 6.30pm. 
 

 
 NOTE: The meeting concluded at 8.40 pm. 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 
 

TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES of the extraordinary meeting of the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council, duly convened 
and held at the Council Chamber, Royal Tunbridge Wells, Kent TN1 1RS, at 6.30 pm 

on Monday 26 March 2018 
 

PRESENT:  
 

The Mayor Councillor Mrs Julia Soyke (Chairman) 
Councillors Backhouse, Barrington-King, Dr Basu, Bland, Bulman, Chapelard, 

Mrs Cobbold, Dawlings, Elliott, Dr Hall, Hannam, Hastie, Heasman, Hill, Hills, Holden, 
Huggett, Jukes, Lidstone, Mackonochie, March, McDermott, Munn, Neve, Noakes, Nuttall, 

Oakford, Ms Palmer, Podbury, Rankin, Reilly, Scholes, Simmons, Sloan, Stanyer, 
Mrs Thomas, Uddin, Weatherly, Williams and Woodward 

 
IN ATTENDANCE:  William Benson (Chief Executive), Patricia Narebor (Head of Legal 
Partnership) and Mathew Jefferys (Democratic Services and Elections Manager) 
 
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
FC68/17 
 

Apologies were received from Councillors Hamilton, Horwood, Lewis-Grey, 
Moore and Stewart. 
 
Councillors Gray and Jamil were not present. 
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
FC69/17 
 

No declarations of pecuniary or significant other interest were made. 
 

HAWKHURST NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
FC70/17 
 

Councillor McDermott, introduced the report and moved the 
recommendations. He drew members attention to page 7, the declaration of 
result of poll, and said that this indicated that Hawkhurst were in favour of 
this.  
 
Councillor Jukes seconded the motion and reserved right to speak. 
 
Councillor Palmer said that Hawkhurst Parish Council worked tirelessly with 
the residents of Hawkhurst on this plan and that it had been supported 
overwhelmingly by the people of Hawkhurst. She hoped that all members of 
all parties would also support it. 
 
Councillor Holden echoed the sentiments of Councillor Palmer.  
 
Councillor Dr Hall asked for an explanation of the word “make” and felt that by 
having it in inverted commas it called into question the truthfulness of it, she 
suggested incorporated would be a better word to use. Councillor Dr Hall also 
congratulated Hawkhurst Parish Council and said that there were to be 
congratulated not only on their politicking but also on winning the race for the 
first Neighbourhood Development Plan. 
 
Councillor Barrington-King added his thanks to Hawkhurst for attending 
Pembury Parish Council to tell them how they achieved that particular result. 
 
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5



2 

 
 

Councillor Bland also added his congratulations and said that it was not the 
first time that Hawkhurst had led the way. He added that of particular note 
was not the majority but the very respectable turnout.  
 
Councillor Williams said that the significant thing of note was that there had 
been a referendum at all.  
 
RESOLVED –  
 

1. That the outcome of the Hawkhurst Neighbourhood Development 
Plan referendum be noted; and 

 
2. That the Council “make” the Hawkhurst Neighbourhood 

Development Plan part of the local Development Plan for the 
Borough. 

 
PLANNING LEGAL AGREEMENTS ON BEHALF OF TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH 
COUNCIL 
 
FC71/17 
 

Councillor McDermott introduced the report and moved the 
recommendations. He commented that the report covered cases where the 
Council was landowner, developer or applicant in cases where planning 
permission was sought and the local planning authority where Section 106 
monies was concerned. He added that this was a technical report to ensure 
everything was open to the public. 
 
Councillor Jukes seconded the motion and reserved his right to speak. 
 
There was no further discussion. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Head of Planning, in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Planning and Transportation and the Monitoring Officer be 
delegated authority to explore options and (where appropriate) to agree 
arrangements with third party Local Planning Authorities to manage, 
administer and enforce unilateral undertakings or Section 106 agreements, 
where it is considered advisable. 
 

URGENT BUSINESS 
 
FC72/17 
 

The Mayor confirmed there was no urgent business to consider within the 
provisions of Council Meetings Procedure 2.1.12. 
 

COMMON SEAL OF THE COUNCIL 
 
FC73/17 
 

RESOLVED – That the Common Seal of the Council be affixed to any 
contract, minute, notice or other document arising out of the minutes or 
pursuant to any delegation, authority or power conferred by the Council. 
 

 
 NOTE: The meeting concluded at 6.45 pm. 
 

Page 24

Agenda Item 5



 

Full Council 25 April 2018 

Is the final decision on the recommendations in this report to be made at this meeting? Yes 

 

Ashdown Forest Air Quality Impact Assessment 
and revised Habitat Regulation Assessment 
Practice Note 

 

Final Decision-Maker Full Council 

Portfolio Holder(s)  Councillor Alan McDermott – Portfolio Holder for Planning and 
Transportation 

Lead Director  Lee Colyer – Director of Finance, Policy & Development 

Head of Service Karen Fossett – Head of Planning Services 

Lead Officer/Author David Scully – Landscape and Biodiversity Officer 

Classification Non-exempt 

Wards affected All 

  

This report makes the following recommendations to the final decision-maker: 

 

1. That the contents and conclusions of the detailed technical report titled Ashdown 
Forest Air Quality Impact Assessment 2018, set out at appendix A to the report, be 
noted; 

 

2. That the discussions and conclusions with regards the Councils approach to 
Ashdown Forest and objections received from Wealden District Council in relation to 
planning applications within the Borough and the Councils current Practice Note in 
relation to possible adverse effects on Ashdown Forest in the report titled Ashdown 
Forest – Discussions on Air Quality dated 29 March 2018, set out at Appendix B to 
the report, be noted; and 

 

3. That the revised Practice Note to inform development management decisions in 
relation to the application of the Habitat Regulations with regards possible adverse 
effects on Ashdown Forest, set out at Appendix C to the report, be adopted. 

 

  

This report relates to the following Five Year Plan Key Objectives: 

The proper consideration and application of the Habitat Regulations will ensure 

 A Prosperous Borough – through avoiding delays in planning consents 

 A Green Borough – through protecting the natural environment and international sites 
such as Ashdown Forest 

 

 

Page 25

Agenda Item 9



 

 

Timetable  

Meeting Date 

Management Board 28 February 2018 

Planning and Transportations Cabinet 
Advisory Board 

19 March 2018 and subsequent meeting 
on 10 April 2018 

Cabinet 12 April 2018 

Council 25 April 2018 
Tunbridge Wells Committee Report, version: January 2018 

Page 26

Agenda Item 9



 

Ashdown Forest Air Quality Impact Assessment 
and revised Habitat Regulation Assessment 
Practice Note 

 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 For the past four years, Tunbridge Wells Borough Council has been applying a 

Practice Note (Appendix D) for the application of the Habitat Regulations in 
connection with European protected sites to assist in determining individual 
planning applications that might possibly affect Ashdown Forest Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) and Special Protection Area (SPA), a European site. Since 
that practice note was prepared there have been some changes in 
circumstances and a series of objections from Wealden District Council that 
called into question TWBC’s approach. Further details on these matters are 
provided in Ashdown Forest Discussions on Air Quality Appendix B. 
 

1.2 In response to those changes and the objections Tunbridge Wells Borough 
Council commissioned additional studies and sought legal advice the outcomes 
of which will need to be reflected in a revised Practice Note.  

 
1.3 The purpose of this report is to set out the relevant matters before members, 

provide an overview of the work that has been undertaken in regard to this 
matter and to provide a commentary on the ongoing work and discussions with 
other Councils including Wealden District Council who have unilaterally raised 
objections to this Councils approach to Ashdown Forest and the application of 
the Habitat Regulations. 

 

1.4 The work undertaken has been difficult owing to the prospect of legal challenge 
and differing views between authorities and complex, owing the technical nature 
of the subjects of traffic modelling, air quality and ecological studies, resulting in 
a number of iterations of the Air Quality study and supporting work. This has 
inevitably delayed bringing this matter to Members such that it is now important 
that we bring the matter to the first available meeting of Full Council.   

 

1.5 Unfortunately these delays have meant that we were not able to present the full 
report(s) to Planning and Transportation Cabinet Advisory Board on the 19 
March 2018 and so at the request of the Advisory Board a further meeting has 
been organised for them on the 10 April 2018 prior to the meeting of the 
Cabinet so that they may fully consider the issue and offer their 
recommendation to Cabinet. 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 9



 

2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Ashdown Forest is a Natura 2000 site and is also known as a European site.  It 

is designated as a Special Area of Conservation (SAC) for its heathland habitat 
and as a Special Protection Area (SPA) for the bird species that it supports.  It 
contains one of the largest single continuous blocks of lowland heath in south-
east England, with both European dry heaths and, in a larger proportion, wet 
heath. The site was designated as an SAC on account of the following interest 
features and species: 

 Wet heathland and dry heathland 

 Great crested newts 
 

2.2 The site was designated as an SPA on account of the following species 

 Nightjar 

 Woodlark 
 
2.3 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, also known as the 

Habitat Regulations, requires the competent authority (which, in the context of 

planning decision-making is the local planning authority) to consider whether it 

can exclude the possibility that ‘likely significant effects’ on a European site will 

arise from a plan or project (which includes Local Plans and planning 

applications). If not, the competent authority must conduct an appropriate 

assessment of the effects of the plan or project on the European site. A 

planning permission may be granted and/or a Local Plan adopted only if likely 

significant effects can be excluded at the ‘screening’ stage, or if an appropriate 

assessment concludes that the plan or project will not adversely affect the 

integrity of the European Site.  

 

2.4 At both the screening and appropriate assessment stage, the assessment of 

effects must take into account the effect of the plan or project considered in 

combination with the effects of other plans and projects. A decision to grant 

planning permission should normally only to be made if there is no reasonable 

scientific doubt (the precautionary principle) that there will be no adverse effects 

as a result of the development. 

The regulations state; 
 
 “Any plan or project not directly connected with or necessary to the 
management of the site but likely to have a significant effect thereon, either 
individually or in combination with other plans or projects, shall be subject to 
appropriate assessment of its implications for the site in view of the site's 
conservation objectives.” (Article 6 (3) Habitats Directive 1992) 
 
“A competent authority, before deciding to … give any consent for a plan or 
project which is likely to have a significant effect on a European site … shall 
make an appropriate assessment of the implications for the site in view of that 
sites conservation objectives… The authority shall agree to the plan or project 
only after having ascertained that it will not adversely affect the integrity of the 
European site” (regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats & Species 
Regulations 2017). 

Page 28

Agenda Item 9



 

 
 

2.5 The protected heathland in the Ashdown Forest SAC is vulnerable to 

atmospheric pollution from a number of sources including motor vehicles. There 

is a potential impact pathway from new development and associated increases 

in traffic flows on the roads such as the A275, A22 and A26, which traverse or 

run adjacent to the SAC. The emissions from these vehicles may cause a 

harmful increase in atmospheric pollutants which may adversely affect the 

integrity of the European site. The Ashdown Forest Air Quality Impact 

Assessment 2018 (Appendix A) has been undertaken to assess – in 

combination with other plans and projects - the likely air quality impacts on the 

SAC resulting from the increase in traffic caused by growth planned in 

Tunbridge Wells Borough.   

 

2.6 The approach to and content of the Air Quality report is set out in more detail in 

Appendix B section 7.0 but has throughout taken a precautionary approach.  

 

2.7 The Ashdown Forest Air Quality Impact Assessment 2018 has been informed 

by the Council’s participation in the Ashdown Forest Working Group, a 

partnership of Planning Authorities potentially affected by Ashdown Forest Air 

Quality issues, including Wealden DC. The Working Group was convened to 

ensure that the impacts of development proposals in emerging local plans on 

Ashdown Forest are properly assessed through Habitats Regulations 

Assessments (‘HRAs’) and that, if required, a joint action plan is put in place 

should such a need arise. The Working Group has agreed to work 

collaboratively on the issues, to share information and existing work, and to 

prepare a Statement of Common Ground. The group is chaired by South Downs 

National Park Authority and supported by Natural England.  The work on the 

Statement of Common Ground was chaired by a representative of the Planning 

Advisory Service.  Further information on this is set out in Appendix B Section 7. 

 
2.8 Through the work of this group and direct contact with Wealden DC it is clear 

that Wealden’s view is that the air quality situation near the key road links in or 

adjacent to the SAC are such that a planning permission that generates a single 

additional vehicle movement through or adjacent to the SAC, when considered 

in combination with the additional vehicle movements generated by other plans 

and projects, risks having a Likely Significant Effect on the integrity of the SAC. 

The nature and details of the objections made by Wealden DC to the alternative 

view taken by this and other planning authorities is set out in some detail in 

Appendix B Section 6 and details of this Council’s response to those objections 

are in Section 7. 

 
2.9 Wealden DC’s position is not shared by any other authority and is not supported 

by any evidence TWBC Planning has seen.  The Ashdown Forest Air Quality 

Impact Assessment 2018 Appendix A concludes at 4.1.4 

 
 “It is therefore concluded that no adverse effect upon the integrity of Ashdown 
Forest SAC is expected to result from development provided by the Tunbridge 

Page 29

Agenda Item 9



 

Wells Local Plan, even in combination with other plans and projects. This is due 
to a combination of a) an expected net improvement in air quality over the Local 
Plan period, b) the fact that, whether or not that improvement occurs to the 
extent forecast, the contribution of the Tunbridge Wells Local Plan to changes in 
roadside air quality is demonstrably ecologically negligible due to the very small 
magnitude and c) the precautionary nature of the modelling”. 

 
2.10 In coming to this conclusion the authors of the Air Quality Impact Assessment 

2018 were asked to respond to Wealden DC’s criticism of the work done for 

South Downs National Park Authority, which was based on the same traffic and 

air quality model used in our own Air Quality Impact Assessment 2018, and to 

review and respond to an alternative modelling exercise carried out on behalf of 

Wealden DC. These responses are contained in appendix E of Appendix A to 

this report: Ashdown Forest Air Quality Impact Assessment 2018. AECOM has 

advised that, notwithstanding Wealden DC’s position, there is no reasonable 

scientific doubt about its conclusion that the proposed growth in TWBC will have 

no adverse effect on the integrity of the Ashdown Forest SAC, either alone or in 

combination with other plans and projects. 

 

2.11 Natural England as the statutory consultee on HRAs was consulted on both the 

Ashdown Forest Air Quality Impact Assessment 2018 (Appendix A) and the 

Practice Note 2018 (Appendix C). Their response received on 26 March 2018 

confirmed that the reports are acceptable and that modelled development within 

Tunbridge Wells Borough will not have an adverse effect on Ashdown Forest:  

 
“In general both the Air Quality Impact Assessment and the HRA Practice Note 
are concise, well-reasoned and well referenced and I can confirm that the 
approaches taken are acceptable. 
 
I concur with the conclusions reached within the Air Quality Impact Assessment 
that the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Local Plan will not have an adverse 
effect on the integrity of Ashdown Forest Special Area of Conservation (SAC) or 
Special Protection Area (SPA).  
 
I support the approach taken in the HRA Practice note and consider that 
development coming forward that falls within the framework of the overarching 
AQ modelling will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of Ashdown Forest 
SAC or SPA”. 

 
2.12 The Ashdown Forest SPA species are also vulnerable to visitor pressure which 

may increase as a result of new development close to the site. This matter is 
under review with partner authorities including Natural England and Wealden 
DC. When that review is concluded (expected April/May 2018), any necessary 
changes will be dealt with separately as a Supplementary Planning Document 
that will go through the full statutory and internal procedures for such 
publications. Until then, the draft Practice Note maintains the pre-existing 
approach when considering the likely effects of development on visitor pressure 
on the SPA. Further details on this issue are provided in Appendix B. 

 
 

Page 30

Agenda Item 9



 

3. AVAILABLE OPTIONS 
 
3.1 Do nothing: it is likely that in the absence of the approved and published 

Ashdown Forest Air Quality Impact Assessment 2018 or similar document and 
an approved means of applying the findings to planning applications (the 
Practice Note 2018 Appendix C) that the Council would face legal challenges to 
its decision making process leading to a possible restriction on development. 
 

3.2 Delay the adoption of the Practice Note 2018 (Appendix C) until Wealden DC 
publish a new Local Plan and supporting Habitat Regulation Assessment: the 
Wealden Local Plan has been repeatedly delayed and its publication remains 
uncertain and WDC has stated that its decision to object to planning 
applications is based on existing publicly available information and the work 
completed by TWBC has been approved by Natural England and so it would 
appear that nothing further can be gained by waiting. Delay in adopting the 
practice note will expose the Council to possible legal challenges to its decision 
making process leading to a possible restriction on development. 

 
3.3 Subject to the comments of Members or other comments received and noting 

the findings of the Ashdown Forest Air Quality Impact Assessment 2018 the 
report recommends adoption of the revised Practice Note as recommended for 
the reasons set out in this report. 

 
 

 
4. PREFERRED OPTION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 Members are recommended to note the findings of the Ashdown Forest Air 

Quality Impact Assessment 2018 and to support the adoption of a revised 
Practice Note to guide decision makers – in light of those findings - when 
discharging their functions as competent authority under the Habitats 
Regulations. The Practice Note will be taken to Full Council for approval and 
adoption for use in development management decisions. 

 
4.2 This course of action will enable the Council to undertake development 

management decisions in accordance with current legislation and best practice 
and will minimise the risk of legal challenge from Wealden DC and others to 
planning decisions made by the Council. 

 
4.3 The purpose of the Practice Note is not to set planning policy or to bypass the 

requirements of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 
Instead, it is to provide guidance to applicants for planning permission on the 
practice generally adopted by the Council’s decision makers when considering 
compliance with regulation 63 of the 2017 Regulations.  

 
4.4 It provides guidance on when proposed development is likely to be ‘screened 

out’ as not requiring further assessment. In that way, it can help developers 
determine the amount of information that will be required to determine the 
application.   

 

Page 31

Agenda Item 9



 

4.5 The Ashdown Forest Air Quality Impact Assessment 2018 is based on current 
best practice and takes account of a wide range of recent information as set out 
in Appendix B Section 7, including recent case law and advice from Counsel. 

 
4.6 The assessment has benefited from discussions undertaken and information 

received as part of the Ashdown Forest Air Quality Group, the Ashdown Forest 
Visitor Group, discussions individually and collectively (with other LPAs) with 
Wealden DC and advice and comment from Natural England. The work has 
benefited from close collaboration with other Councils and in particular South 
Downs National Park Authority and Lewes District Council. As such officers 
believe that this work is robust, and based on a precautionary approach that 
goes beyond what would normally be required for such circumstances and is an 
important outcome of its Duty to Cooperate with other Planning Authorities. 

 
 

 
5. CONSULTATION RESULTS AND PREVIOUS COMMITTEE FEEDBACK 
 
5.1 Natural England have been consulted on the various drafts of this work and 

have been be consulted on the drafts and the final Ashdown Forest Air Quality 
Impact Assessment 2018 appendix A and the revised Practice Note Appendix C 
and have confirmed that both are acceptable.  Natural England has been 
supportive and helpful throughout this process. There is also an ongoing 
dialogue with the members of the Ashdown Forest Working Group.  
 

5.2 All members of the Ashdown Forest Working Group, including Wealden DC, will 
be notified of the publication of these papers for Cabinet. Any comments 
received will be reported to Cabinet/Full Council as appropriate. 

 

RECOMMENDATION FROM CABINET ADVISORY BOARD 
 
5.3 The Planning and Transportation Cabinet Advisory Board were initially 

consulted on this decision on 19 March 2018 and agreed the following 
recommendations: 

 
That the Cabinet Advisory Board defers coming to a conclusion on this issue, by 
virtue of there being inadequate evidence at this point, and reconvenes before 
12 April, to be able to advise the Cabinet. 

 
5.4 A further meeting of the Planning and Transportation Advisory Board was held 

on 10 April 2018 and the Board agreed the following recommendation: 
 

That the recommendation set out in the report be supported 
 
 RECOMMENDATION FROM CABINET 
 
5.5 The Cabinet considered the report at its meeting on 12 April 2018 and resolved 

as follows: 
 
 
 
 

Page 32

Agenda Item 9



 

That Full Council be recommended: 
 

1. That the contents and conclusions of the detailed technical report titled 
Ashdown Forest Air Quality Impact Assessment 2018, set out at 
appendix A to the report, be noted; 

 
2. That the discussions and conclusions with regards the Councils 

approach to Ashdown Forest and objections received from Wealden 
District Council in relation to planning applications within the Borough 
and the Councils current Practice Note in relation to possible adverse 
effects on Ashdown Forest in the report titled Ashdown Forest – 
Discussions on Air Quality dated 29 March 2018, set out at Appendix 
B to the report, be noted; and 

 
3. That the revised Practice Note to inform development management 

decisions in relation to the application of the Habitat Regulations with 
regards possible adverse effects on Ashdown Forest, set out at 
Appendix C to the report, be adopted. 

 

 
6. NEXT STEPS: COMMUNICATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE 

DECISION 
 
6.1 Officers will continue to work with the Council’s consultants and seek Counsel’s 

opinion on any change in circumstances related to HRA matters or Ashdown 
Forest up to Full Council on 25 April and report them to Cabinet/Full Council as 
appropriate. 
 

6.2 As noted above the Ashdown Forest Air Quality group will be notified of the 
publication of these papers.  All comments received will be reported to 
Cabinet/Full Council as appropriate. 

 
6.3 Subject to resolution by Full Council the decision will be published in the normal 

way and a notice will be put on the Councils web site in an appropriate location. 
 

 
7. CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS 
 

Issue Implications Sign-off 

Legal including 
Human Rights 
Act 

This work will ensure compliance with the 
Habitats Regulations in so far as they apply 
to planning decisions by this Council. 

 

Susan Mauger 

Senior Planning 
Lawyer 

05/03/2018 

Finance and 
other resources 

Resources for this work have been allocated 
from existing planning services budgets 
 

Lee Colyer 

Director of 
Finance, Policy & 
Development 

22/03/2018 

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 9



 

Staffing 
establishment 

Can be delivered within existing resources Nicky Carter 

Head of Human 
Resources and 
Customer 
Services 

22/03/2018 

Risk 
management   

This work does not feature explicitly on the 
Risk Register.  However there are significant 
risks associated with not adopting the note: 

- Possible challenges to Council 
decisions with associated cost and 
delays to determination of other 
applications;  

- Delays in determining applications 
can result in a vicious cycle of 
planning by appeal, with the potential 
impact/consequences of Risk 
Scenario 8 on the Risk Register 
including community dissatisfaction, 
loss of local decision making 
capability, appeal related costs etc;     

- Ultimately, risk of restricting planned 
development with implications for 
meeting economic and housing need.   

 
Operational risks are the responsibility of the 
report author, which they will need to sign 
off themselves following discussion with 
their Head of Service or Director. If you 
need advice or want to discuss any aspect 
of risk management before completing your 
comments please contact the Head of Audit 
Partnership.  

David Scully 

Landscape and 
Biodiversity 
Officer 

22/03/2018 

Data Protection No implications David Scully 

Landscape and 
Biodiversity 
Officer 

22/03/2018 

Environment  
and sustainability 

This work is required to satisfy the 
requirements of the Habitats Regulations 
and to ensure that development within 
Tunbridge Wells Borough will not have an 
adverse effect on Natura 2000 sites. 

David Scully 

Landscape and 
Biodiversity 
Officer 

22/03/2018 

 
 
 
 

Page 34

Agenda Item 9



 

Community 
safety 

No implications David Scully 

Landscape and 
Biodiversity 
Officer 

22/03/2018 

Health and 
Safety 

No implications 

Health and 
wellbeing 

No implications 

Equalities 

 

No implications 

 
 
 
8. REPORT APPENDICES 
 
The following documents are to be published with and form part of the report: 

 Appendix A: Ashdown Forest Air Quality impact Assessment 2018  

 Appendix B: Ashdown Forest Discussions on Air Quality 29 March 2018 

 Appendix C: Practice Note 2018 Ashdown Forest screening of planning 
applications for compliance with the Habitat Regulations 

 Appendix D: 2013 NE Approved Final Combined Advice Note Concerning HRA 
of Planning Applications 

 

 
9. BACKGROUND PAPERS  
 
None 

Page 35

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



  Submitted to Client:  
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Submitted by: 
AECOM 
Midpoint 
Scott House 
Alençon Link 
Basingstoke 
Hampshire 
RG21 7PP 
United Kingdom 

 

Tunbridge Wells Borough: 
Ashdown Forest Air Quality 
Impact Assessment 2018 

Traffic-Related Effects on Ashdown 
Forest SAC  

Page 37

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page i 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by: Dr James Riley  Checked by: Dr David Deakin 
 Associate Director (Ecology) Technical Director (Air Quality) 
 Elisha Coutts  Colin Romain 
 Principal Consultant (Air Quality) Associate Director (Transport) 
 Richard Corbin 
 Senior Consultant (Transport)  
 
 
Approved by: Max Wade 
 Technical Director (Ecology) 
 
 
 
 
 

Rev No Comments Date 
1 First issue 17/11/17 
2 Revised issue 03/03/18 
3 Final issue 20/03/18 

 
 
 
Midpoint, Alençon Link, Basingstoke, Hampshire, RG21 7PP, United Kingdom 
Telephone: 01256 310 200    Website: http://www.aecom.com 
 
  March 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 38

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page ii 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

Limitations 
 

AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited (“AECOM”) has prepared this Report for the sole use of the Tunbridge 
Wells Borough Council (“Client”) in accordance with the Agreement under which our services were performed. No other 
warranty, expressed or implied, is made as to the professional advice included in this Report or any other services 
provided by AECOM. This Report is confidential and may not be disclosed by the Client nor relied upon by any other party 
without the prior and express written agreement of AECOM.  

The conclusions and recommendations contained in this Report are based upon information provided by others and upon 
the assumption that all relevant information has been provided by those parties from whom it has been requested and that 
such information is accurate.  Information obtained by AECOM has not been independently verified by AECOM, unless 
otherwise stated in the Report.  

The methodology adopted and the sources of information used by AECOM in providing its services are outlined in this 
Report. The work described in this Report was undertaken between November 2017 and March 2018 and is based on the 
conditions encountered and the information available during the said period of time. The scope of this Report and the 
services are accordingly factually limited by these circumstances.  

Where assessments of works or costs identified in this Report are made, such assessments are based upon the 
information available at the time and where appropriate are subject to further investigations or information which may 
become available.   

AECOM disclaim any undertaking or obligation to advise any person of any change in any matter affecting the Report, 
which may come or be brought to AECOM’s attention after the date of the Report. 

Certain statements made in the Report that are not historical facts may constitute estimates, projections or other forward-
looking statements and even though they are based on reasonable assumptions as of the date of the Report, such 
forward-looking statements by their nature involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from the results predicted. AECOM specifically does not guarantee or warrant any estimate or projections 
contained in this Report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Copyright 
 

© This Report is the copyright of AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited.  Any unauthorised reproduction or 
usage by any person other than the addressee is strictly prohibited. 

 

Page 39

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page 3 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

Contents 

1 Introduction .................................................................................................................................................................. 4 
2 Methodology ................................................................................................................................................................ 5 

2.2 Traffic modelling .................................................................................................................................................... 5 
2.3 Air quality calculations ........................................................................................................................................... 9 

3 Results ........................................................................................................................................................................ 11 
3.1 Traffic modelling .................................................................................................................................................. 11 
3.2 Air quality calculations ......................................................................................................................................... 13 

4 Conclusion ................................................................................................................................................................. 21 
Appendix A. Detailed Modelling Results............................................................................................................................. A-1 
Appendix B. Extract from Caporn et al (2010) .................................................................................................................. B-12 
Appendix C. Annual Drop-off Calculations for Intermediate Years between 2017 and 2033 ........................................... C-13 
Appendix D. Modelling ammonia emissions from traffic ................................................................................................... D-16 
Appendix E. Commentary on Modelling Work Undertaken by Air Quality Consultants Ltd and on Wealden District Council’s 

Response to South Downs Local Plan .................................................................................................................. E-20 
 
 

 

 

Page 40

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page 4 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

1 Introduction 

 Ashdown Forest is an extensive area of common land lying between East Grinstead and 1.1.1
Crowborough entirely within Wealden District. The soils are derived from the predominantly 
sandy Hastings Beds. It is one of the largest single continuous blocks of heath, semi-natural 
woodland and valley bog in south-east England, and it supports several uncommon plants, a rich 
invertebrate fauna, and important populations of heath and woodland birds. It is both a Special 
Area of Conservation (SAC) and Special Protection Area (SPA) 

 The SPA is designated for its populations of breeding Dartford Warbler Sylvia undata and 1.1.2
Nightjar Caprimulgus europaeus. The SAC is designated for its Annex I habitats, namely  
Northern Atlantic wet heaths with Erica tetralix and European dry heaths; as well as for its Annex 
II species, namely Great Crested Newts.   

 Exhaust emissions from vehicles are capable of adversely affecting the protected heathland 1.1.3
found in Ashdown Forest. Accordingly, in September 2017 AECOM undertook an air quality 
impact assessment for Lewes District Council and South Downs National Park Authority, which 
modelled forecast traffic growth on key roads within 200m of Ashdown Forest SAC over the 
period 2017 to 2033, including that expected due to the quantum and distribution of growth in the 
adopted Lewes Joint Core Strategy (as it relates to Lewes District outside the South Downs 
National Park) and the South Downs Local Plan. Tunbridge Wells Borough Council subsequently 
commissioned AECOM to use the same traffic and air quality models to undertake an analysis 
for the emerging Tunbridge Wells Local Plan. Sevenoaks District Council also commissioned an 
analysis. 

 The methodology used in this analysis is compliant with the requirement of the Conservation of 1.1.4
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 to consider whether an adverse effect on the integrity of 
a European site will result either alone, or in combination with other plans and projects. 

 In addition to determining the total cumulative ‘in combination’ effect on roadside air quality at 1.1.5
Ashdown Forest SAC, the calculations presented in this analysis also consider the contribution of 
Tunbridge Wells Local Plan to that ‘in combination’ effect. This is necessary to determine 
whether the contribution is ecologically material and thus whether mitigation of that contribution is 
required.  

Page 41

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page 5 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

2 Methodology 

 Vehicle exhaust emissions generally only have a local effect within a narrow band along the 2.1.1
roadside, within 200m of the centreline of the road. Beyond 200m emissions are considered to 
have dispersed sufficiently that atmospheric concentrations are essentially background levels. 
The rate of decline is steeply curved rather than linear. In other words concentrations will decline 
rapidly as one begins to move away from the roadside, slackening to a more gradual decline 
over the rest of the distance up to 200m. 

 There are two measures of particular relevance regarding air quality impacts from vehicle 2.1.2
exhausts and which are modelled using standard forecasting. The first is the concentration of 
oxides of nitrogen (known as NOx) in the atmosphere. In extreme cases NOx can be directly 
toxic to vegetation but its main importance is as a source of nitrogen, which is then deposited on 
adjacent habitats. The guideline atmospheric concentration advocated by Government for the 
protection of vegetation is 30 micrograms per cubic metre (µgm-3), known as the Critical Level, as 
this concentration relates to the growth effects of nitrogen derived from NOx on vegetation.  

 The second important metric is a measure of the rate of the resulting nitrogen deposition. The 2.1.3
addition of nitrogen is a form of fertilization, which can have a negative effect on heathland and 
other habitats over time by encouraging more competitive plant species that can force out the 
less competitive species that are more characteristic. Unlike NOx in atmosphere, the nitrogen 
deposition rate below which we are confident effects would not arise is different for each habitat. 
The rate (known as the Critical Load) is provided on the UK Air Pollution Information System 
(APIS) website (www.apis.ac.uk) and is expressed as a quantity (kilograms) of nitrogen over a 
given area (hectare) per year (kgNha-1yr-1). 

 A third pollutant included in this assessment is ammonia emissions from traffic. In ecological 2.1.4
terms ammonia differs from NOx in that it is not only a source of nitrogen but can also be directly 
toxic to vegetation in relatively low concentrations. Using the process set out in Design Manual 
for Roads and Bridges, ammonia emissions for traffic are not normally calculated. However, for 
completeness, and in response to representations made by Wealden District Council, they have 
been included in this iteration of AECOM’s modelling, both in terms of atmospheric 
concentrations and as a source of nitrogen. 

 Finally, and for completeness, rates of acid deposition have also been calculated. Acid 2.1.5
deposition derives from both sulphur and nitrogen. It is expressed in terms of kiloequivalents 
(keq) per hectare per year. The thresholds against which acid deposition is assessed are 
referred to as the Critical Load Function. The principle is similar to that for a nitrogen deposition 
Critical Load but it is calculated very differently. 

 Traffic modelling 2.2

 A series of road links within 200m of Ashdown Forest Special Area of Conservation (SAC) were 2.2.1
identified for investigation. These links were chosen as they are all representative points on the 
busiest roads through the SAC and are also the roads likely to experience the greatest increase 
in flows over the period to 2033. As such, these are the roads where an air quality effect due to 
additional traffic growth is most likely to be observed.  

 Traffic data were generated for each of these links for three scenarios, described in this report 2.2.2
as: 

• Base Case 

• Do Nothing (DN) 

• Do Something (DS) 

 The Base Case uses measured flows, percentage Heavy Duty Vehicles (HDVs) and average 2.2.3
vehicle speeds on the relevant links, as provided by Wealden District Council (WDC). The 
Wealden traffic counts were for 2014 (either undertaken in that year, or adjusted to that year). 
For the purposes of consistency with wider traffic modelling used to inform the Habitat 
Regulations Assessment (HRA) of the South Downs Local Plan, which use measured traffic 
counts from 2017, these data were ‘grown’ by AECOM transport planners to 2017. Since the 

Page 42

Appendix A

http://www.apis.ac.uk/


AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page 6 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

emerging Sevenoaks Local Plan is backdated to 2015, the emerging South Downs Local Plan 
and emerging Tunbridge Wells Local Plan to 2014 and the Joint Core Strategy to 2010, this 
means that housing and employment development that has been delivered and occupied prior to 
2017 is allowed for in the measured baseline flows. However, this is also true for all other local 
authorities, so there is no disparity in treatment of local authorities in the modelling. Development 
that has been consented but not actually completed/occupied does not appear in the baseline 
flows. 

 The Do Nothing scenario is the term used in this report to describe the future flows on the same 2.2.4
roads at the end of the Tunbridge Wells Local Plan period (2033), without consideration of the 
role of the Tunbridge Wells Local Plan, South Downs Local Plan, Sevenoaks Local Plan or 
Lewes Joint Core Strategy. This therefore presents the expected contribution of other plans and 
projects to flows by 2033, outside these four authorities. The end of the Local Plan period has 
been selected for the future scenario as this is the point at which the total emissions due to 
Tunbridge Wells Local Plan/Sevenoaks Local Plan/South Downs Local Plan/JCS traffic will be at 
their greatest. The scenario is calculated by extrapolating the observed traffic data. The Do 
Nothing scenario adds all traffic growth from 2017 to 2033 that will result in additional journeys 
on the modelled road links.  

 For the purposes of ‘in combination’ assessment (i.e. incorporating growth into the model due to 2.2.5
multiple Local Plans and Core Strategies for surrounding authorities) it was decided that 
modelling the adopted Local Plans directly would not reflect actual housing growth in those 
authorities between 2017 and 2033 because: 

1. Since most commence in 2006 they include a large number of allocations that are historic 
(i.e. already delivered and occupied) and these are already part of the measured base flows. 

2. Adopted plans for these authorities may not accurately reflect growth over the period 2017 to 
2033 because, with the exception of Lewes Joint Core Strategy, all the adopted plans for the 
boroughs/districts immediately around Ashdown Forest SAC finish seven years before the 
South Downs Local Plan, which runs to 2033 whereas the adopted plans (other than the 
Lewes JCS) all run to 2026 or 2027. This means that there will be 6-7 years of growth which 
is not covered by most adopted plans.  

 Expected development in these authorities over the period 2017 to 2033 was therefore included 2.2.6
in the model by using the National Trip End Model Presentation Program (TEMPRO). TEMPRO 
produces a growth factor that is applied to the measured flows. It is based on data for each local 
authority district in the UK (distributed by statistical Middle Layer Super Output Area1) regarding 
future changes in population, households, workforce and employment (in addition to data such 
as car ownership) but is not limited to a given period of time. Traffic growth factors are utilised for 
the statistical Middle Layer Super Output Areas (MSOAs) within which the modelled links are 
located. TEMPRO has the advantages of being forecastable to 2033 and beyond, using growth 
assumptions that are regularly updated and distributed to the level of Middle-Layer Super Output 
Area (of which there are 21 in Wealden District alone) and of being an industry standard 
database tool across England meaning that modelling exercises that use TEMPRO will have a 
high degree of consistency. 

 The other authorities immediately surrounding Ashdown Forest are those in which development 2.2.7
is most likely to influence annual average daily traffic flows through the SAC. For those 
authorities (Wealden, Mid-Sussex and Tandridge) scrutiny of the relevant adopted Local Plans or 
Core Strategies and the associated housing growth rates in TEMPRO resulted in the conclusion 
that the adopted plans (and TEMPRO) may currently underestimate growth to 2033 and this 
could in turn materially affect the estimation of 2033 AADT flows on the relevant roads. The 
decision was therefore made to raise the growth allowances for these authorities to reflect their 
most recent Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) at time of traffic modelling2. The OAN figure was 

                                                           
1 Middle Layer Super Output Areas are a geographical hierarchy designed to improve the reporting of small area statistics 
in England and Wales. They are a series of areas each of which has a minimum population of 5,000 residents. They have 
a mean population of 7,200 residents. 
2 Note that the Objectively Assessed Need figures in the Do Nothing component of the model date from June 2017. For 
Wealden District this broadly matches the growth rates that authority has used in its own modelling. In September 2017 
the Government released a new Objectively Assessed Housing Need for each local authority. Other than Tunbridge Wells 
and Sevenoaks (whose elevated OAN is taken into account in this updated modelling), only 1 of the relevant authorities 
has a higher OAN using the Government method than the figure used in the previous Do Nothing modelling: Tandridge’s 
OAN increases from 470 to 645. On the other hand, two of the authorities modelled in Do Nothing have OAN’s lower than 
those used in the model (Wealden and Mid-Sussex). Therefore, given that the Government method is still out to 

Page 43

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page 7 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

derived from published information released by the Councils themselves or (in the case of Mid-
Sussex) by their Local Plan inspector. Although housing growth rates were adjusted upwards, 
expected broad housing distributions were not altered. Employment growth assumptions in 
TEMPRO for these authorities were not adjusted. The authorities and their quanta and broad 
distributions of housing growth as considered in our analysis are as follows: 

 
• Wealden – Adopted Local Plan Core Strategy Policy WCS1 specifies delivery of 4,525 

dwellings over the period 2010 to 2027 (266 per annum). A new draft Local Plan has been 
consulted upon but is currently being updated and revised. Growth in Uckfield and 
Crowborough (as well as smaller settlements around the SAC such as Maresfield) is most 
likely to affect flows through the SAC, although development across the district is likely to 
contribute cumulatively. At Uckfield ‘The [adopted] Local Plan will allow for a redevelopment 
of the towns retail centre providing some 10,000 m² of new retail space as well as the creation 
of 12,650 m² of employment space. It limits to 1000 the number of new homes to be built 
between now and 2027, and identifies Ridgewood as the most sustainable place for the 
growth needed to support the vibrancy of the town’.3  The main focus of growth at Uckfield is 
an urban extension to the west of the town. At Crowborough: ‘Wealden’s [adopted] Core 
Strategy Local Plan, approved in 2012, allows for a significant amount of new housing in 
Crowborough, with supporting office space and commercial premises within the town at 
appropriate locations. It will see some 450 new houses built in existing settlements across 
Wealden each year up until 2027… Within Crowborough the Local Plan allows for some 140 
new homes to be built in the town at Pine Grove and Jarvis Brook. It also allows for 160 new 
homes to be built in an urban extension to the south east of the town.’4 The most recent 
Objectively Assessed Need for Wealden is 832 dwellings per annum. Since this is a 
substantial difference from that in the published Core Strategy the higher rate was used in the 
model, although it is accepted that this may overestimate the scale of growth that the next 
iteration of Wealden Local Plan actually proposes for the district.  
 

• Mid-Sussex – The submitted Local Plan (2014 – 2031) plans for 13,600 dwellings (800 
dwellings per annum). A large part of the housing and employment development is intended 
to consist of a new strategic development (3,500 dwellings) north of Burgess Hill, 13km south-
west of the SAC, as well as existing commitments in that same settlement. The submitted 
plan also proposes 600 dwellings at Pease Pottage, 12km west of the SAC and smaller levels 
of growth elsewhere. Housing in East Grinstead (and to a lesser extent Haywards Heath) is 
most likely to be relevant to flows through Ashdown Forest as East Grinstead lies on the A22 
approximately 4km north of the SAC. These are both Category 1 settlements in the Local 
Plan’s hierarchy and can therefore be expected to take a sizeable proportion of the dwellings 
expected to be allocated ‘elsewhere in the district’ over the plan period according to policy 
DP5. During the plan’s Examination in Public, the Inspector identified in February 2017 that 
he was minded to increase the growth rate from 800 per annum to 1,026 per annum. 
Although it is now understood that number may be reduced, the 1,026 figure has been used 
in this analysis to be precautionary.  
 

• Tandridge – The adopted Core Strategy expects 2,500 dwellings from 2006 to 2026 at an 
average rate of 125 dwellings per annum. The majority of development will take place within 
the existing built up areas of Caterham, Warlingham, Whyteleafe, Oxted and Hurst Green. 
The new Local Plan is in the early stages of development (broad strategy published in March 
2017 but no information on detailed scale or location of growth) with a forthcoming Garden 
Village consultation in autumn 2017. The most recent Objectively Assessed Need for 
Tandridge is 470 dwellings per annum. Since this is a substantial difference from that in the 
published Core Strategy the higher rate was used in the model as a precaution, although it is 
accepted that the level of growth in the final Local Plan for Tandridge may be less than this 
number. Tandridge are currently considering the location of a new Garden Village but the 

                                                                                                                                                                                                   
consultation, and for consistency with the previous Lewes/South Downs work, the housing growth rates for Tandridge, 
Mid-Sussex and Wealden have been left as per the South Downs/Lewes model. 
3http://www.wealden.gov.uk/Wealden/Residents/Planning_and_Building_Control/Planning_Policy/CoreStrategy/Planning_
Core_Strategy_Uckfield.aspx (accessed 05/09/17) 
4http://www.wealden.gov.uk/Wealden/Residents/Planning_and_Building_Control/Planning_Policy/CoreStrategy/Planning_
Core_Strategy_Crowborough.aspx (accessed 05/09/17) 

Page 44

Appendix A

http://www.wealden.gov.uk/Wealden/Residents/Planning_and_Building_Control/Planning_Policy/CoreStrategy/Planning_Core_Strategy_Uckfield.aspx
http://www.wealden.gov.uk/Wealden/Residents/Planning_and_Building_Control/Planning_Policy/CoreStrategy/Planning_Core_Strategy_Uckfield.aspx
http://www.wealden.gov.uk/Wealden/Residents/Planning_and_Building_Control/Planning_Policy/CoreStrategy/Planning_Core_Strategy_Crowborough.aspx
http://www.wealden.gov.uk/Wealden/Residents/Planning_and_Building_Control/Planning_Policy/CoreStrategy/Planning_Core_Strategy_Crowborough.aspx


AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page 8 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

location is not determined at this point and therefore no specific location for this Garden 
Village was included in the modelling.  

 The Do Nothing (and thus Do Something) Scenario is therefore intentionally precautionary and 2.2.8
allows for growth over the period to 2033 beyond that in adopted (or even published draft) Local 
Plans in those authorities immediately surrounding Ashdown Forest SAC. Both scenarios 
assume a consistent rate of housing delivery over the plan period. It is understood that a 
Statement of Common Ground is being produced between the various authorities around 
Ashdown Forest and included in that SoCG are detailed proposals for future modelling regarding 
traffic numbers that should be assumed. However, that agreement is still in progress and the 
traffic modelling used in this report was undertaken before that aspect of the agreement was 
devised. Therefore, this modelling may overestimate growth rates in some authorities, 
particularly Mid-Sussex District.  

 TEMPRO provides a consistent and standard approach to traffic forecasting when a large 2.2.9
number of sources (e.g. local authority areas) are involved. However, a more nuanced forecast 
can be obtained by creating a bespoke model that manually distributes trips according to journey 
to work data. This approach provides a better understanding of where traffic associated with the 
proposed Local Plan development is likely to be most concentrated. Tunbridge Wells Borough 
Council therefore commissioned AECOM to extend the bespoke model already created for 
Lewes District, Sevenoaks District Council and South Downs National Park to cover Tunbridge 
Wells Borough. At this point, Tunbridge Wells Borough Council are at an early stage of plan 
development and therefore do not have definitive site allocations. However, they do have an 
Objectively Assessed Need and provided guidance on an appropriate broad distribution of 
development across the Borough, which was broken down into a number of sectors for traffic 
modelling purposes. AECOM was asked to model a housing delivery rate of 790 dwellings per 
annum in Tunbridge Wells Borough, including a possible 5,500 dwellings new settlement along 
the A21 between Pembury and Kippings Cross5. 

 In order to update the bespoke AECOM model, growth due to Tunbridge Wells Local Plan was 2.2.10
essentially moved from the Do Nothing scenario (forecast using TEMPRO) to the Do Something 
scenario (forecast using the bespoke AECOM model). In order to minimise modelling artefacts 
that can be caused through moving growth between scenarios in new model runs, growth 
expected due to the JCS, Sevenoaks Local Plan and South Downs National Park Local Plan 
between 2017 and 2033 was left in the Do Something scenario. The 2033 Do Something 
scenario therefore includes bespoke modelling for Lewes District, Sevenoaks District, South 
Downs National Park and Tunbridge Wells Borough, although the relative contribution of 
Tunbridge Wells Borough to that Do Something forecast is identifiable. 

 The Do Something scenario reflects the combined role of the Tunbridge Wells Local Plan, 2.2.11
Sevenoaks Local Plan, South Downs Local Plan, Lewes Joint Core Strategy and subsidiary 
Neighbourhood Plans by 2033, in addition to growth in other authorities. Detailed modelling of 
Local Plan/Neighbourhood Plan growth locations undertaken by the AECOM transport planning 
team was added to the adjusted TEMPRO growth for all other authorities. To build the Local Plan 
model, housing and employment sites in Tunbridge Wells, Sevenoaks District, Lewes District and 
the National Park (allocations in the Local Plan, Joint Core Strategy, allocations in 
Neighbourhood Plans, unimplemented planning permissions and windfall) were geographically 
assigned to ‘distribution groups’ across Tunbridge Wells Borough, Sevenoaks District, the 
National Park and Lewes District using GIS software. The distribution of each of these groups 
was calculated using Census 2011 journey to work data, and the trips associated with each 
distribution group then manually assigned across the network. 

 The ‘in combination’ growth scenario is therefore the Do Something flows, as these include 2.2.12
existing traffic, all future journeys arising from within Tunbridge Wells Borough, the South Downs 
National Park, Sevenoaks District and Lewes District due to the Local Plan, Joint Core Strategy 
or Neighbourhood Plan proposals (from AECOM’s model), and future traffic arising from all other 
authorities (from TEMPRO, adjusted for expected higher growth rates in some authorities). The 
difference between the Do Something scenario and the Do Nothing scenario illustrates the role of 
the Tunbridge Wells Local Plan, Sevenoaks Local Plan, JCS and South Downs Local Plan (and 
Neighbourhood Plans) in changing future flows compared to what would be expected without the 
Local Plan/Joint Core Strategy proposals.  

                                                           
5 This settlement and its location are not definitive since the plan is at an early stage of development. However, it was 
modelled as a worst-case since placing the new settlement further to the east of the borough would likely much reduce 
journey to work flows on the A26 through Ashdown Forest compared to that included in the AECOM model. 

Page 45

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page 9 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

 Air quality calculations 2.3

 Using these scenarios and information on total traffic flow, average vehicle speeds and 2.3.1
percentage Heavy Duty Vehicles (which influence the emissions profile), AECOM air quality 
specialists calculated expected NOx concentrations, nitrogen deposition rates, ammonia 
concentrations and acid deposition rates at receptor points along each modelled road link. The 
predictions for NOx and nitrogen deposition are based on the assessment methodology 
presented in Annex F of the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges (DMRB), Volume 11, Section 
3, Part 1 (HA207/07)6 for the assessment of impacts on sensitive designated ecosystems due to 
highways works7. Background data for NOx and NO2 were sourced from the Department of 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) background maps8. Background data for ammonia 
was sourced from monitoring undertaken at Ashdown Forest9.   

 The DMRB does not provide a method for forecasting ammonia emissions from traffic. A method 2.3.2
has therefore been devised for this modelling. The methodology for this is presented in detail in 
Appendix D. The research undertaken in Ashdown Forest indicates that beyond 20m from the 
roadside ammonia contributions are expected to tend towards background and so the 
contribution of road sources would be limited beyond this point. 

 Given that the assessment year (2033) is a considerable distance into the future, it is important 2.3.3
for the air quality calculations to take account of improvements in background air quality and 
vehicle emissions that are expected nationally over the plan period. Making an allowance for a 
realistic improvement in background concentrations and deposition rates is in line with the 
Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) position10 as well as that of central government11. 
Background nitrogen deposition rates were sourced from the Air Pollution Information System 
(APIS) website12. Although in recent years improvements have not kept pace with predictions, 
the general long-term trend for NOx has been one of improvement (particularly since 1990) 
despite an increase in vehicles on the roads13. There is also an improving trend for nitrogen 
deposition, although the rate of improvement has been much lower than for NOx14. The current 
DMRB guidance for ecological assessment suggests reducing nitrogen deposition rates by 2% 
each year between the base year and assessment year. However, due to some uncertainty as to 
the rate with which projected future vehicle emission rates and background pollution 
concentrations are improving, the precautionary assumption has been made in this assessment 
that not all improvements projected by DMRB (for nitrogen deposition) or Defra (for NOx 
concentrations) will occur. With regards to background ammonia concentrations; as there is 
greater uncertainty associated with rates of improvement over time, background concentrations 
have been kept the same through all assessment years.  

 Therefore, the air quality calculations assume that conditions in 2023 (an approximate midpoint 2.3.4
between the base year and the year of assessment) are representative of conditions in 2033 (the 
year of assessment). The effect on the 2033 data is equivalent to assuming a 0.75% per annum 
improvement in background NOx concentrations and nitrogen deposition rates between 2017 
and 2033. The approach of not assuming all projected improvements occur (known as Gap 
Analysis) is accepted within the professional air quality community and accounts for known 
recent improvements in vehicle technologies (new standard Euro 6/VI vehicles), whilst excluding 
the more distant and therefore more uncertain projections on the evolution of the vehicle fleet. No 
discussion is made in this analysis of the UK Government’s recent decision to ban the sale of 
new petrol and diesel vehicles from 2040 since it would not affect the time period under 
consideration, but that announcement illustrates the general long-term direction of travel for 

                                                           
6 Design Manual for Roads and Bridges, HA207/07, Highways Agency 
7 DMRB advocates a nitrogen deposition velocity of 0.1 cms-1 for non-woodland vegetation and that velocity is therefore 
used in AECOMs modelling.  
8 Air Quality Archive Background Maps. Available from: http://laqm.defra.gov.uk/review-and-assessment/tools/background-
maps.html  
9 Ashdown Forest SAC, Air Quality Monitoring and Modelling, October 2017 
10 http://www.iaqm.co.uk/text/position_statements/vehicle_NOx_emission_factors.pdf  
11 For example, The UK Government’s recent national Air Quality Plan also shows expected improvements over the 
relevant time period (up to 2030) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-plan-for-nitrogen-dioxide-no2-in-
uk-2017  
12 Air Pollution Information System (APIS) www.apis.ac.uk  
13 Emissions of nitrogen oxides fell by 69% between 1970 and 2015. Source: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/579200/Emissions_airpollutants_statisticalr
elease_2016_final.pdf [accessed 08/06/17] 
14 Total nitrogen deposition (i.e. taking account of both reduced and oxidised nitrogen, ammonia and NOx) decreased by 
13% between 1988 and 2010. This is an improvement of 0.59% per annum on average. 

Page 46

Appendix A

http://laqm.defra.gov.uk/review-and-assessment/tools/background-maps.html
http://laqm.defra.gov.uk/review-and-assessment/tools/background-maps.html
http://www.iaqm.co.uk/text/position_statements/vehicle_NOx_emission_factors.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-plan-for-nitrogen-dioxide-no2-in-uk-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-plan-for-nitrogen-dioxide-no2-in-uk-2017
http://www.apis.ac.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/579200/Emissions_airpollutants_statisticalrelease_2016_final.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/579200/Emissions_airpollutants_statisticalrelease_2016_final.pdf


AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page 10 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

roadside air quality in the UK and underlines that allowing for improvements in both vehicle 
emissions factors and background rates of deposition over long timescales is both appropriate 
and realistic.  

 Annual mean concentrations of NOx were calculated at varied intervals back from each road link 2.3.5
up to a maximum of 200m, with the closest distance being the closest point of the designated site 
to the road. Predictions were made using the latest version of ADMS-Roads using emission rates 
derived from the Defra Emission Factor Toolkit (version 8.0.1) which utilises traffic data in the 
form of 24-hour Annual Average Daily Traffic (AADT), %HDV and average speed. The tables in 
Appendix A present the calculated changes in NOx concentration, nitrogen deposition and acid 
deposition ‘in combination’ (i.e. the difference between Do Something and the 2017 Base case) 
and the role played by Local Plan/Joint Core Strategy development compared to that which 
would occur in any case over the plan period (i.e. the difference between Do Something and Do 
Nothing). 

Model verification 

 To assist in the verification of the AECOM model (produced December 2017) AECOM were 2.3.6
provided with a partially redacted version of a report prepared for Wealden District Council by Air 
Quality Consultants (‘AQC’) (Ashdown Forest SAC, Air Quality Monitoring and Modelling, 
December 2017). This report provided grid references, distance to road (m) and NO2/NOX 
concentrations for a number of measurement locations. The measurement height of these 
diffusion tubes was not recorded in the AQC report and this has been taken as 2m to match the 
stated height of the Ammonia ALPHA samplers, which are also included within this report. 

 Using these diffusion tube data AECOM was able to model the latest version of the Ashdown 2.3.7
Forest model (December 2017) which uses 2017 backgrounds based on the base year 2015 and 
the NOx to NO2 Calculator v6.1 for 2017 using All non-urban UK traffic for the local authority of 
Wealden. 

 This verification process calculated a model adjustment factor of 2.7315 with an RMSE of 4.2. 2.3.8
The RMSE should ideally be within 10% of the relevant air quality criterion, but is acceptable 
where it is within 25% of the relevant air quality criterion, as is the case here16.  

                                                           
15 This adjustment factor (2.73) is higher than the main factors produced by AQC in their report. The modelling approach 
taken by AQC includes canyoning effects, time-varying emission profiles, CURED emission rates, terrain data and 
incorporates the effects of road gradient on NOX emissions all of which may increase concentrations within close proximity 
to the road source where the verification diffusion tubes are located. It is also noted that the tube height of 2m is an 
assumption which would affect the overall factor if the tubes are at a different height. 
16 Defra (2016), Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance (TG16)  

Page 47

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page 11 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

3 Results 

 Traffic modelling 3.1

 The flows forecast by 2033, and how these differ between Do Nothing (without the Local 3.1.1
Plans/JCS) and Do Something (including the Sevenoaks, Tunbridge Wells and South Downs 
Local Plans and the Lewes JCS) are presented overleaf. 

Page 48

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page 12 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

 
 
Table 1. Traffic flow data used in the air quality modelling 
 

A B C D E F G H 

Link ID Link Description 
Wealden Model 

Base 2014 AADT 2017 Base AADT 

2033 DN AADT 
(traffic 

growth excluding 
Sevenoaks, Lewes, 
South Downs and 
Tunbridge Wells 

Local Plans)  

2033 DS AADT 
(traffic 

growth including 
Sevenoaks, Lewes, 
South Downs and 
Tunbridge Wells 

Local Plans) 

Difference between 
2017 Base and DS 

(i.e. net traffic 
growth from 2017 

to 2033) 
Difference between 

DS and DN 

6 
A22 Royal Ashdown 
Forest Golf Course 11,480 11,509 12,887 13,167 1,658 280 

33 A22 Wych Cross 12,340 12,371 13,852 14,009 1,638 157 

34 A22 Nutley 11,360 11,389 12,752 12,915 1,526 163 
37 A275 Wych Cross 4,530 4,542 5,085 5,413 871 328 
38 A26 Poundgate 16,150 16,191 18,129 19,205 3,014 1,076 

 
 
Table 2. Breakdown of Do Something scenario to show the relative contribution of Tunbridge Wells Borough to the change in flows between 2017 and 
2033, expressed as AADT and as percentage of the difference between DS and DN 
 

Link ID Tunbridge Wells Local Plan (AADT) 
6 0 
33 0 
34 0 
37 69 AADT (21%) 
38 542 AADT (50%) 

 
The percentages in Table 2 can be applied to the difference between DS and DN in Appendix 1 to determine the relative contribution of Tunbridge Wells Local Plan to 
ammonia, NOx, nitrogen deposition and acid deposition. 

 

 

P
age 49

A
ppendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page 13 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

 All links are forecast to experience an increase in traffic flows between 2017 and 2033 when all 3.1.2
expected traffic growth sources (including the Tunbridge Wells Local Plan, Sevenoaks Local 
Plan, South Downs Local Plan, and Lewes JCS) are taken into account (Column G of Table 1).  

 It can be seen from Table 2 that, on most links, housing and employment delivery in Tunbridge 3.1.3
Wells Borough is forecast to make little to no contribution in terms of Annual Average Daily 
Traffic, essentially because most roads through Ashdown Forest SAC do not constitute 
meaningful journey to work routes for residents of the Borough based on existing census data. 
The exception is the A26 at Poundgate where the model forecasts that the Tunbridge Wells 
Local Plan will be responsible for adding approximately 500 AADT to the total flows by 2033. 
Note that this traffic growth can be expected to occur incrementally over the plan period, 
matching the housing delivery trajectory.  

 Air quality calculations 3.2

Ammonia 

 Ammonia concentrations in atmosphere are discussed in this section. Ammonia as a source of 3.2.1
nitrogen is discussed in the following section on nitrogen deposition.  

 There are two critical levels for ammonia in atmosphere, which represent the differing 3.2.2
sensitivities of lower plants (lichens and mosses) and higher plants (all other vegetation) to the 
gas. The difference is because higher plants have a protective cuticle which makes them less 
vulnerable to the gas than lower plants. A judgment must be made over which is more 
appropriate in a given location. The lower critical level (1 µm-3) is only appropriate to use in an 
HRA where the affected area within the modelled transect has a high lichen/bryophyte interest 
that is relevant to the integrity of the SAC habitat. Otherwise the higher critical level (3 µm-3) is 
more appropriate. If concentrations are forecast to be below the critical level within the relevant 
part of the SAC then there is good reason to conclude no adverse effect will arise. 

 Heathlands can support a diverse terricolous lichen flora provided the sward is sufficiently open 3.2.3
for colonisation. All heathland SACs therefore automatically have the lower critical level assigned 
to them on the UK Air Pollution Information System (www.apis.ac.uk) and APIS makes it clear 
that this is due to an a priori assumption of lichen/bryophyte interest somewhere in the site. 
However, APIS assigns critical levels to SACs fairly generically rather than basing the decision 
on location specific data. In practice there are many areas of heathland that do not support a 
diverse lichen flora, since management is very significant in influencing lichen diversity and 
abundance and closed dense swards are much less likely to support a terricolous lichen 
community than more open swards. In such cases the higher critical level of 3 µm-3 is a more 
appropriate reference threshold.  

 Some parts of Ashdown Forest SAC do support a diverse terricolous heathland lichen 3.2.4
assemblage. However, Wealden District Council has produced habitat maps using Earth 
Observation (satellite imagery and airborne systems) and commissioned site vegetation 
surveys17. None of these data indicate the presence of a significant assemblage of terricolous 
heathland lichens adjacent to any of the modelled roads18 and such an assemblage would not be 
expected in these areas given the tall dense swards (including a high proportion of gorse, 
bracken, scrub and trees). This has been verified by site inspections undertaken by AECOM. 
Even in heathland that is not scrub and bracken encroached, diverse lichen assemblages will 
generally only occur where the sward is managed to keep it open to control dwarf shrub (i.e. 
heather) cover. As such, the higher critical level is considered more appropriate for the relevant 
roadside locations at Ashdown Forest SAC.  

 Bearing that in mind, modelling undertaken by Air Quality Consultants Ltd for Wealden District 3.2.5
Council indicates that the 3 µm-3 critical level for these specific roadside locations is not 
exceeded and is not forecast to be exceeded. This is supported by AECOM’s modelling 
(Appendix A). Therefore, using this critical level, no direct toxicity effects of ammonia are 
expected on the key habitats of the SAC, whether associated with traffic emissions or other 
sources such as agriculture.  

                                                           
17 Two interim ecological survey reports have been released so far, the most recent dated May 2016. These are available 
at 
http://www.wealden.gov.uk/Wealden/Residents/Planning_and_Building_Control/Planning_Policy/Evidence_Base/Planning
_Evidence_Base_Habitat_Regulations_Assessment.aspx  
18 Paragraph 3.3.2 of the 2015 interim botanical survey report for Ashdown Forest states that ‘Varying amounts of 
bryophytes and lichens were recorded, with Cladonia present in some areas but not particularly prevalent along transects’. 

Page 50

Appendix A

http://www.apis.ac.uk/
http://www.wealden.gov.uk/Wealden/Residents/Planning_and_Building_Control/Planning_Policy/Evidence_Base/Planning_Evidence_Base_Habitat_Regulations_Assessment.aspx
http://www.wealden.gov.uk/Wealden/Residents/Planning_and_Building_Control/Planning_Policy/Evidence_Base/Planning_Evidence_Base_Habitat_Regulations_Assessment.aspx


AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page 14 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

 Nonetheless, for completeness, Table 3 below summarises the ammonia concentration results 3.2.6
for both links relevant to Tunbridge Wells (A26 and A275) with reference to whether the lower 
critical level (1 µm-3) is forecast to be exceeded at the nearest area of heathland based on 
AECOM modelling.  

Table 3. Summary of ammonia results for the nearest areas of heathland to each modelled link, with 
reference to the 1 µm-3 critical level for ammonia 
 

Link/Transect Nearest area of heathland Summary of results by reference to 
the 1 µm-3 critical level 

Transect 38: A26 at Poundgate Approximately 40m from the road, 
although most is more distant. 
Intervening habitat is woodland. 

2033 ammonia concentrations are 
forecast to fall below 1 µm-3 by 30m 
from the road 

Transect 37W: A275 at Wych Cross  Extensive areas approximately 5m 
from the road. Area within 15m of 
the road unlikely to support 
terricolous lichens as vegetation is 
tall, dense and gorse encroached, 
providing a closed sward. 

2033 ammonia concentrations are 
forecast to fall below 1 µm-3 by 5m from 
the road 

Transect 37E:  A275 at Wych Cross Extensive areas approximately 5m 
from the road. Area within 15m of 
the road unlikely to support 
terricolous lichens as vegetation is 
tall, dense and gorse encroached, 
providing a closed sward. 

2033 ammonia concentrations are 
forecast to fall below 1 µm-3 by 5m from 
the road 

Transect 6b_37_33: junction of A22 and 
A275 

No heathland within 200m of the 
road; woodland occupies this zone. 

2033 ammonia concentrations are 
forecast to fall below 1 µm-3 by 50m 
from the road 

 

 It can be seen that even if one were to use a reference critical level of 1 µm-3 the nearest areas 3.2.7
of heathland would not be affected. 

Oxides of Nitrogen 

 Appendix A shows the annual mean NOx concentrations for the Baseline, Do Nothing scenario 3.2.8
and Do Something Scenario. It also shows the ‘Projected Baseline’. This is the modelled NOx 
concentrations in the hypothetical scenario of no traffic growth to 2033 but allowing for 
improvements in vehicle emissions for the existing traffic and an associated reduction in 
background nitrogen deposition. It is presented such that the additional NOx emissions due to 
traffic growth can be visually separated from the reduction in NOx concentrations due to the 
improving baseline. When assessing the likely effects of the planned growth in Tunbridge Wells 
Borough by 2033, it is necessary to consider: i) the additional NOx emissions caused by growth 
in the region (DS - Proj BL); ii) the contribution of Tunbridge Wells growth to the additional 
emissions; and iii) the overall change in annual mean NOx concentrations by 2033, taking into 
account improvements in vehicle emissions standards as applied to both existing and future 
traffic (DS - BL). 

 Based on background mapping, adjusted for the effect of the road, the air quality calculations 3.2.9
provided in Appendix A show that the 2017 baseline NOx concentrations are modelled to be 
above the 30 µgm-3 general Critical Level for vegetation at the roadside along all transects 
except for the A275. 

 The additional NOx emissions due to traffic growth ‘in combination’ to any heathland along the 3.2.10
A26 (column ‘DS-ProjBL’ in Appendix A) would be approximately 7 µgm-3 by 2033, although it 
would drop away quickly, falling nearly 50% by 5m from the road and falling further to 1.08 µgm-3 
at the nearest area of heathland, approximately 40m from the A26. The contribution of Tunbridge 
Wells Local Plan to additional NOx at the closest part of the SAC to the A2619 is forecast to be 
1.4 µgm-3, falling to 0.2 µgm-3 by the nearest area of heathland. However, improvements in NOx 
emission factors would also apply to the existing vehicle fleet. When a cautious allowance is 
made for improved emission factors applied to all traffic (existing and future), NOx is expected to 
remain above the critical level, but is forecast to experience a net reduction of c. 20 µgm-3 at the 
closest point of the SAC to the A26. The improvements in vehicle emission factors expected to 

                                                           
19 50% of the modelled difference between Do Something and Do Nothing in Appendix A i.e. 50% of the value in the DS-
DN column 

Page 51

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page 15 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

2033 are thus forecast to more than offset the increase in NOx from an increase in the volume of 
vehicle movements.  

 The same pattern is forecast at the roadside of the A275. At the closest point of the SAC to the 3.2.11
A275 the additional NOx emitted due to traffic growth ‘in combination’ by 2033 would be 
approximately 2 µgm-3, although it would fall off quickly, dropping c. 50% by 5m from the 
roadside. The contribution of Tunbridge Wells Local Plan to NOx20 would be a minimal 0.15 µgm-

3 at the roadside, falling to 0.08 µgm-3 by the nearest area of heathland, c.5m from the road. 
When forecast improvements in emission factors across the vehicle fleet are taken into account, 
NOx at this location is actually forecast to experience a net reduction of c. 6 µgm-3 by 2033.  

 In summary, by 2033, NOx concentrations on all modelled links are forecast to experience a net 3.2.12
reduction due to changes in vehicle emissions, notwithstanding the projected increase in traffic 
on the roads, including that attributable to the Tunbridge Wells Local Plan21. The greatest net 
improvement is forecast to occur at the roadside on the link with the highest flows (c. 20 µgm-3 on 
the A26), while the smallest net improvement is forecast to occur at the roadside on the link with 
the lowest flows (c. 6 µgm-3 on the A275).  

Nitrogen deposition 

 Since the ecologically significant role of NOx is as a source of nitrogen the next step is to 3.2.13
consider what effect this may have on nitrogen deposition rates, and this also factors in the role 
of ammonia as a source of nitrogen.22 Calculating nitrogen deposition rates rather than relying 
purely on scrutiny of NOx concentrations has the advantage of being habitat specific (the critical 
level for NOx is entirely generic; in reality different habitats have varying tolerance to nitrogen) 
and of being directly relatable to measurable effects on the ground through scrutiny of published 
dose-response relationships that do not exist for NOx. Only the A26 and A275 are specifically 
discussed below since these are the only roads on which an increase in AADT is forecast due to 
the Tunbridge Wells Local Plan. 

 As with NOx, Appendix A shows the annual mean nitrogen deposition rates for the Baseline, Do 3.2.14
Nothing scenario and Do Something Scenario. It also shows the ‘Projected Baseline’. This is the 
modelled nitrogen deposition rates in the hypothetical scenario of no traffic growth to 2033 but 
allowing for improvements in vehicle emissions for the existing traffic and an associated 
reduction in background nitrogen deposition. It is presented such that the additional nitrogen 
deposition due to traffic growth can be visually separated from the reduction in nitrogen 
deposition due to the improving baseline. When assessing the likely effects of the planned 
growth in Tunbridge Wells Borough by 2033, it is necessary to consider: i) the additional nitrogen 
deposition caused by growth in the region (DS - Proj BL); ii) the contribution of Tunbridge Wells 
growth to the additional nitrogen; and iii) the overall change in annual mean nitrogen deposition 
rates by 2033, taking into account improvements in vehicle emissions standards as applied to 
both existing and future traffic (DS - BL). 

 Although much of Ashdown Forest SAC (including the borders of many roads) is covered with 3.2.15
woodland and the habitat is a feature of the SSSI, woodland is not a notified feature of the 
internationally important wildlife sites. Ashdown Forest SAC is designated for its heathland and it 
is this habitat on which the birds of Ashdown Forest SPA depend. In order to undertake the 
nitrogen deposition modelling it is necessary to select an appropriate deposition velocity and 
background deposition rate. Since heathland is the SAC habitat appropriate deposition velocities 
for this habitat were used in the modelling since deposition to other habitats (e.g. woodland) is 
not relevant to the assessment.  

 Critical loads are always presented as a range, which for heathland is 10 kgN/ha/yr to 20 3.2.16
kgN/ha/yr23. The lowest part of the nitrogen Critical Load range has been used in this 
assessment as that is the most precautionary stance to take. The baseline for nitrogen 
deposition to heathland along A26 and A275 is above the Critical Load and has been modelled to 

                                                           
20 21% of the modelled difference between Do Something and Do Nothing in Appendix A 
21 Appendix C contains a technical note confirming that traffic emissions are expected to reduce year on year during the 
modelled plan period notwithstanding traffic growth over that same timetable; i.e. the improving trend is consistent 
throughout the plan period. 
22 Acid deposition rates for all transects on all modelled links are expected to improve over the plan period and the 
contribution of the Tunbridge Wells Local Plan to any retardation of that improvement is effectively zero, in that any 
contribution is too small to show in the model (i.e. it would affect the third decimal place or beyond, which are never 
reported in modelling). Acid deposition is therefore not discussed further in this document. 
23 APIS advises to use the high end of the range with high precipitation and the low end of the range with low precipitation 
and to use the low end of the range for systems with a low water table, and the high end of the range for systems with a 
high water table. 

Page 52

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page 16 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

be c.16-20 kgN/ha/yr at the closest points to the road, declining to 13-14 kgN/ha/yr by 200m from 
the road. Measured data suggests that against some road links actual deposition rates are 
considerably higher. The results relating to the nearest areas of heathland are summarised in 
Table 4 below. 

Table 4. Total additional nitrogen deposition due to growth ‘in combination’ at closest area of heathland 
Link/Transect Nearest existing area of 

heathland 
Summary of results ‘in 

combination’ 
Transect 38: A26 at Poundgate Approximately 40m from the 

road, although most is more 
distant.  

0.16 kgN/ha/yr at 40m from the 
road (0.98 kgN/ha/yr at the 
roadside) 

Transect 37W: A275 at Wych Cross  Extensive areas approximately 
5m from the road.  

0.16 kgN/ha/yr at 5m from the road 
(0.28 kgN/ha/yr at the roadside) 

Transect 37E:  A275 at Wych Cross Extensive areas approximately 
5m from the road.  

0.15 kgN/ha/yr at 5m from the road 
(0.26 kgN/ha/yr at the roadside) 

Transect 6b_37_33: junction of A22 
and A275 

No heathland within 200m of 
the road 

N/A 

 

 At the closest areas of heathland to modelled links relevant to Tunbridge Wells (along the A275) 3.2.17
the worst-case additional deposition due to extra traffic is forecast to be c. 0.3 kgN/ha/yr at the 
roadside, declining nearly 50% by 5m from the roadside. The contribution of Tunbridge Wells 
Local Plan to nitrogen deposition at the roadside of the A275 would be a negligible 0.02 
kgN/ha/yr24, falling to effectively zero by 10m from the road.  

 Most importantly, the DS-BL column in Appendix A shows that the deposition from additional 3.2.18
traffic (irrespective of source) is forecast to be offset by a much larger reduction in background 
deposition expected over the same timescale. As a result a net reduction in deposition of 1.6-1.9 
kgN/ha/yr (depending on link) is actually forecast at the roadside notwithstanding traffic growth25. 

Ecological significance 

 The modelling demonstrates that there will be a net decreasing trend in nitrogen deposition rates 3.2.19
to heathland within the SAC along the modelled links. Accordingly, the Local Plans will not have 
significant in-combination effects on the SAC by way of contributing to any net increase in 
nitrogen deposition.  

 It is however worth considering whether the Local Plans could have a significant effect on the 3.2.20
SAC as a result of retarding the improvement of nitrogen deposition rates, as paragraph 3.2.17 
and the modelling in Appendix A identify that the forecast improvement in deposition rates to 
heathland would be slightly lower due to expected traffic growth than in the hypothetical situation 
of no further traffic growth (compare column DS, which is the forecast 2033 deposition rates 
including traffic growth, with column ‘Proj BL’, which is the forecast 2033 deposition rates if there 
were no traffic growth). Drawing a conclusion on this matter requires ecological interpretation to 
determine whether an abstract retardation of improvement in nitrogen deposition is likely to result 
in a real terms ecological impact.  

 Deposition of nitrogen can cause a variety of responses in heathland: transition from heather to 3.2.21
grass dominance, decline in lichens (such as Cladionia species), changes in plant biochemistry 
and increased sensitivity to stress26. The physical, measurable and observable manifestations of 
these responses are generally in terms of reduction in species richness27, reduction in cover (or 
increase in grass cover) and resulting changes in broad habitat structure. These responses are 
not independent: for example, reduction in species richness can cause, and in turn be 
exacerbated by, changes in habitat structure. Note that ‘reduction in species richness’ only 

                                                           
24 21% of the modelled difference between Do Something and Do Nothing for this link in Appendix A 
25 If the actual current roadside deposition rates are substantially higher than that included in the AECOM model, the 
percentage reduction in nitrogen deposition rate by 2033 would be the same but the actual reduction in deposition rate 
would be much greater.  
26 Caporn, S., Field, C., Payne, R., Dise, N., Britton, A., Emmett, B., Jones, L., Phoenix, G., S Power, S., Sheppard, L. & 
Stevens, C. 2016. Assessing the effects of small increments of atmospheric nitrogen deposition (above the critical load) on 
semi-natural habitats of conservation importance. Natural England Commissioned Reports, Number 210. Table 1 page 2 
27 This is a good indicator of the effect of nitrogen deposition on vegetation as it arises at low background deposition rates, 
is easily detectable and occurs across different habitats. The exception appears to be calcareous grassland where there is 
no correlation between nitrogen deposition and species richness; for that habitat, rather than there being a reduction in the 
average number of species per quadrat the reduced frequency of less competitive species appears to be offset by the 
increased frequency of more competitive species. 

Page 53

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page 17 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

means that fewer species are recorded in a randomly placed 2m x 2m quadrat. Therefore, it does 
not mean species are ‘lost’ from the affected area; it simply means that at least one species 
occurs at a reduced frequency28; it is therefore a relatively subtle metric.  

 Critical Loads have been in use for a number of years and have been defined as: ‘a quantitative 3.2.22
estimate of exposure to one or more pollutants below which significant harmful effects on 
specified sensitive elements of the environment do not occur according to present knowledge’. 
However, more recent studies29 comparing deposition rate with reduction in species richness and 
other parameters indicate that the response of habitats such as heathland to long-term nitrogen 
deposition is curved for most parameters, with some of the sharpest losses in diversity occurring 
below the critical load30. Moreover, those studies also indicate that the effect on species richness 
of adding a given amount of nitrogen in many habitats is not simple, linear and additive as is 
often assumed (i.e. ‘x’ amount of further nitrogen equates to ‘x’ amount of vegetation effect 
irrespective of current nitrogen dose) but is heavily influenced by the existing nitrogen deposition 
rate. It has thus become clear that the response of vegetation to nitrogen deposition is more 
nuanced that the ‘black and white’ critical load concept suggests. 

 The amount of extra nitrogen needed to cause a measurable ecological effect has been shown 3.2.23
from a range of studies on a range of sites to be considerably greater in lowland heathland 
subject to high existing deposition rates than it is in those with low existing deposition rates. This 
is true for most parameters, whether that effect is defined in terms of reduction in species 
richness, reduction in species cover, or probability of species presence31. The only metric for 
which this relationship appears not to be true is with regard to increases in grass cover32. Putting 
it simply, a small amount of additional nitrogen is much less likely to significantly affect a 
heathland already subject to high inputs than it is to affect one subject to low inputs. Ultimately, it 
is the predicted effect on the site vegetation (and thus its ability to achieve its conservation 
objectives) that is the key factor in determining whether there will actually be a significant effect 
i.e. an effect on the integrity of a site, rather than NOx concentrations or nitrogen deposition rates 
in the abstract. Therefore, it is possible for an increase in nitrogen deposition to fail to result in a 
measurable (and thus significant) ecological effect on the ground, even when the critical load is 
far exceeded, depending on the size of the ‘dose’.  

 Given this background, it is necessary to refer to dose-response relationships and the forecast 3.2.24
background deposition rate by 2033 to determine the ecological effect of a given retardation in 
nitrogen deposition rate. Since there is a significant improvement in nitrogen deposition rates in 
the Do Something scenario, the relevant question is whether there would be an ecological 
difference between any improvement in the vegetation due to the Projected Baseline and that 
resulting from the Do Something scenario. In real terms, would one expect a meaningful 
ecological difference in vegetation characteristics between an improvement in the rate of nitrogen 
deposition of 1.71 kgN/ha/yr and one of 1.55 kgN/ha/yr (the nearest area of heathland at receptor 
38, the A26 at Poundgate) or between an improvement of 1.96 kg N/ha/yr and one of 1.68 
kgN/ha/yr (adjacent to receptor 37W, A275 at Wych Cross), or between an improvement of 1.93 
kgN/ha/yr and one of 1.67 kgN/ha/yr (receptor 37E, A275 at Wych Cross).  

 Reference to Appendix 5 of Caporn et al (2016) suggests that at background deposition rates of 3.2.25
c. 15kgN/ha/yr (the approximate deposition rate forecast at the closest areas of heathland in this 
modelling) the forecast net reduction in nitrogen deposition at the most affected areas of 
heathland (a little less than 2kgN/ha/yr) could potentially result in an increase in species richness 
(whether grass species richness, moss species richness or total species richness) of up to c. 3-
4% of the maximum. Using a total maximum species richness of 37 species33 this would mean 
approximately 1-2 more species could be found in the sward on average. Such a reduction in 
deposition rates could also result in a reduction in grass (graminoid) cover of up to 1%34 if other 
factors that are likely to have a much greater effect on species richness and grass cover than 
nitrogen deposition (such as management and drainage) are suitable.  

                                                           
28 Caporn et al (2016), page 39 
29 Compiled and analysed in Caporn et al 2016 
30 Ibid. paragraph 5 page ii 
31 Ibid. Tables 20-22, pages 57-60 show that, for lowland heathland, as background deposition rates increase the effect of 
adding a given amount of extra nitrogen decreases for most parameters 
32 Grasses often benefit at the expense of other species in habitats subject to elevated nitrogen deposition and as such 
their abundance increases rather than decreases; however, grass cover is also heavily influenced by other factors 
unrelated to nitrogen deposition  
33 37 species is the maximum species richness in the lowland heathland sample reported in Caporn et al (2016) and is the 
reference species richness for lowland heathland used throughout that report.  
34 Appendix 5, Caporn et al (2016) 

Page 54

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page 18 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

 Appendix 5 of Caporn et al (2016) also suggests that at a background deposition rate of 15 3.2.26
kgN/ha/yr the worst-case additional nitrogen deposition to heathland as a result of traffic growth 
(c. 0.3 kgN/ha/yr at the A275) could, if it constituted a net increase in deposition, result in a 0.1% 
increase in grass (graminoid) cover and a 0.6% reduction in species richness (whether grasses, 
mosses or total species richness) at the roadside (the change away from the roadside would be 
much less). However, expressing the change in species richness as a percentage takes no 
account of the fact that one cannot have a fraction of a species (for example, 0.6% of 37 species 
would be a reduction of 0.2 species, which is not possible). This interpretive problem is 
addressed by expressing the same data in relation to the nitrogen dose that would reduce 
species richness by at least 1 species. In practice this therefore defines the minimum nitrogen 
dose that would be expected to result in a change in the number of species recorded. Table 21 of 
Caporn et al (2016) shows that, based on the heathlands surveyed, at a background nitrogen 
deposition rate of c. 15 kgN/ha/yr species richness in lowland heathland would not be expected 
to change until a dose of c. 1.3 kgN/ha/yr.  

 In terms of changes in coarse habitat structure it is considered that the small forecast additional 3.2.27
nitrogen deposition (equivalent to a maximum c. 2% of the deposition rate otherwise forecast in 
these locations by 2033) would not stimulate growth to such an extent that a material change in 
management burden occurred, and the structure of the sward is dictated primarily by 
management. 

 Bearing in mind that a net reduction in nitrogen deposition is actually being forecast, the most 3.2.28
that might be expected by 2033 due to traffic growth on roads through the SAC is that one might 
record a reduction in percentage grass cover immediately adjacent to the A275 of 0.9%, as 
opposed to a potential 1% reduction in the hypothetical case of no traffic growth. Whether any 
difference would actually be observed in practice would depend heavily on other factors, 
because management regime in particular has a much greater influence than nitrogen deposition 
on parameters such as percentage grass cover and species richness. The total species richness 
(or number of moss species or grass species) would not be expected to be any different in 
practice than would be the case without any traffic growth.  

 This conclusion can be stated with a high degree of confidence for a number of reasons. First, 3.2.29
AECOM has carried out sensitivity testing of nitrogen deposition rates using different deposition 
velocities. The AECOM model uses a nitrogen deposition velocity for heathland (‘short 
vegetation’) of 0.1 cms-1. That accords with the DMRB guidance and is also very close to that 
used in Environment Agency guidance (which uses a figure of 0.15 cms-1). However, the trends 
described above would still arise with much higher deposition velocities35. 

 Secondly, the results hold true even if actual measured deposition rates are substantially higher 3.2.30
than those extrapolated from Defra mapping, as is suggested by measured data provided by 
Wealden District Council36. For example, at background deposition rates of 30 kgN/ha/yr, an 
additional 2.4 kgN/ha/yr would be required to reduce the average species richness of the 
sward.37 

 Thirdly, the conclusions are supported by solid academic research. Southon et al (2013) studied 3.2.31
over fifty heathlands across England at deposition rates of up to 32.4kgN/ha/yr and found that 
above 20 kgN/ha/yr ‘… declines in species richness plateaued, indicating a reduction in 
sensitivity as N loading increased’. The heathland sites covered by the research reported in 
Caporn et al (2016) had a wide geographic spread and were subject to a range of different 
‘conditions’ but the identified trends were nonetheless observable. The fact that a given 
heathland site may not have been included in the sample cannot be a basis for the identified 
trend to be dismissed as inapplicable. On the contrary, the value of the available dose-response 
research is precisely in the fact that it covers a geographic range of sites subject to a mixture of 
different influences that might otherwise mask the nitrogen relationships if a given site was 
looked at in isolation. Caporn et al (2016) illustrates that consistent trends have been identified 
despite the differing geographic locations of those habitats and different conditions at the sites 
involved.  

 Heathland and acid grassland (a related habitat that is often found intermixed with heathland) 3.2.32
have been particularly well studied across broad geographical, climatic and pollution gradients 

                                                           
35 AECOM has undertaken sensitivity testing using deposition velocities of 0.24 cms-1 and 0.34 cms-1 to heathland 
(Environment Agency and DMRB guidance reserves such high deposition velocities for woodland). This still results in a 
large forecast net improvement in nitrogen deposition.  
36 AQC report- Ashdown Forest SAC, Air Quality Monitoring and Modelling, December 2017 update with some redacted 
locations reinstated 
37 Table 21 of Caporn et al 2016 

Page 55

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page 19 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

covering different levels of soil organic matter, rates of nutrient cycling, plant species 
assemblages and management regimes. Despite this, the overall trends, including that a given 
‘dose’ of nitrogen generally has less effect on a range of vegetation parameters (other than grass 
cover) as background deposition rates rise has been reported by various peer reviewed 
academic papers38. Southon et al (2013) surveyed 52 heathlands across England and observed 
statistically significant trends despite the large differences in conditions of these heathlands. That 
paper specifically states that ‘the biggest reductions in species number [were] associated with 
increasing N inputs at the low end of the deposition range’ and that ‘The similarity of relationships 
between upland and lowland environments, across broad spatial and climatic gradients, 
highlights the ubiquity of relationships with N’. Based on the consistent trend across the range of 
habitats studied (including wet habitats such as bogs as well as lowland heathland, upland 
heathland and dune systems) there is no basis to assume that the identified trends would not be 
applicable to all types of heath, including wet heath. Upland heathlands tend to be wetter than 
lowland heathlands due to climate differences and yet the same pattern has been observed as 
reported in Southon et al (2013). 

 Due to the existence of other influences (such as management) that have a much greater effect 3.2.33
on relevant vegetation parameters than does nitrogen deposition, there can be no absolute 
certainty that the reported trends would be observed in a given part of Ashdown Forest. 
However, there is a reasonable scientific expectation that the observed relationships would be 
detected if Ashdown Forest was included in the broader sample.  

 Fourthly, although it is necessary to carry out an ‘in-combination’ assessment of effects, it 3.2.34
remains relevant to consider the extent to which Tunbridge Wells contributes to that in-
combination effect. On that assessment, Tunbridge Wells’ contribution is negligible at the closest 
areas of heathland to all modelled links.   

 Finally, in discussions over the emerging Statement of Common Ground, Natural England 3.2.35
advised that the impact assessment should only include those areas which are currently 
heathland rather than speculate about parts of the SAC that constitute other habitats (particularly 
woodland) and may or may not be put down to heathland at an unspecified point in the future. As 
set out above, in relation to the A26 at Poundgate, there is no significant presence of heathland 
within 40m of the roadside so the relevant comparison is an improvement in the rate of nitrogen 
deposition in the Projected Baseline of 1.71 kgN/ha/yr and an improvement in the Do Something 
Scenario of 1.55 kgN/ha/yr (rather than 2.73 kgN/ha/yr and 1.75 kgN/ha/yr). A retardation of 
improvement of 0.16 kgN/ha/yr is clearly not of any ecological significance. Nonetheless, as a 
final precautionary step and for completeness, those areas were included in the modelling 
presented in Appendix A on the hypothetical (and unrealistic) assumption that heathland might 
be created at the roadside at some stage in the future. This enables consideration of whether, in 
the event that proposals emerged during the period to 2033 to establish heathland at the most 
affected part of the modelled network, the deposition rates forecast would hinder that process. 
The most affected part of the network according to this modelling is the location where forecast 
additional nitrogen deposition due to traffic growth is greatest, irrespective of the habitat actually 
present, and is an area of woodland immediately adjacent to the A26.  

 In the event that plans emerged to establish heathland in the area immediately adjacent to the 3.2.36
A26 this location would still experience a net reduction in nitrogen deposition rate of c. 1.75 
kgN/ha/yr by 2033 compared to the baseline situation. Due to traffic growth over the period to 
2033, this reduction in deposition rate would be c. 0.98 kgN/ha/yr less than might otherwise be 
the case. Reference to Appendix 5 of Caporn et al (2016) suggests that the contribution of all 
growth at the closest point to the A26 may be sufficient to reduce heathland species richness by 
2% compared to what would otherwise occur at that location in the absence of traffic growth, but 
according to Table 21 of Caporn et al (2016) this is still less than the amount required to result in 
an actual reduction in the number of species recorded in a quadrat at the forecast background 

                                                           
38 Stevens, C. J.; Dise, N. B.; Gowing, D. J. G. and Mountford, J. O. (2006). Loss of forb diversity in 
relation to nitrogen deposition in the UK: regional trends and potential controls. Global Change Biology,12(10), pp. 1823–
1833. 
Southon GE, Field C, Caporn SJM, Britton AJ, Power SA (2013) Nitrogen Deposition Reduces Plant Diversity and Alters 
Ecosystem Functioning: Field-Scale Evidence from a Nationwide Survey of UK Heathlands. PLoS ONE 8(4): e59031. 
doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0059031 
Stevens, Carly; Dupre, Cecilia; Dorland, Edu; Gaudnik, Cassandre; Gowing, David J. G.; Bleeker, Albert; Diekmann, 
Martin; Alard, Didier; Bobbink, Roland; Fowler, David; Corcket, Emmanuel; Mountford, J. Owen; Vandvik, Vigdis; 
Aarrestad, Per Arild; Muller, Serge and Dise, Nancy B. (2010). Nitrogen deposition threatens species richness of 
grasslands across Europe. Environmental Pollution, 158(9), pp. 2940–2945. 

Page 56

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page 20 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

rate of 17 kgN/ha/yr39. The contribution of Tunbridge Wells Local Plan to additional nitrogen at 
the closest part of the SAC to the A26 is forecast to be 0.17 kgN/ha/yr40. However, the forecast 
deposition rate of c. 16-17 kgN/ha/yr (with or without future traffic growth) would not prevent 
heathland being established if there was ever a desire to do so. The ability to create heathland 
adjacent to the A26 is likely to be influenced much more by other factors such as management, 
soil pH, soil phosphate levels, drainage and the removal of tree trunks and root systems41.  

                                                           
39 Using the relationships identified in NECR2010 species richness would need to be 50 species for a reduction in 
species-richness of 2% to equate to a reduction of 1 species. 
40 50% of the modelled difference between Do Something and Do Nothing for this link in Appendix A 
41 The process of creating, and then resurfacing/maintaining a significant road and buried roadside services (where these 
are present) or drainage, often results in changes to the underlying geology and hydrological function of the soils at the 
roadside, including from the importation of atypical fill material during historic road construction. These habitats can be 
further affected by surface water runoff all year round (depending on local topography) and salt spray from winter gritting. 
In addition, it is often desirable to retain a belt of permanent forestry adjacent to roads in order to serve as a buffer feature 
to the heathland and (for the SPA) the disturbance-sensitive bird populations that lie behind it. The area adjacent to the 
road is the area most affected by nitrogen deposition due to local traffic. 

Page 57

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page 21 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

4 Conclusion 

 The development of nitrogen dose-response relationships for various habitats clarifies the rate of 4.1.1
additional nitrogen deposition required to achieve a measurable effect on heathland vegetation. It 
is therefore possible to use these relationships to determine that a plan or collection of plans will 
not have an adverse effect. Such a plan would be one in which one could say with confidence 
that a) there would not be a significant difference in the vegetation whether or not that plan 
proceeded and b) there would not be a significant effect on the vegetation (and thus protection 
conveyed to the European site) whether or not the contribution of that plan was ‘mitigated’ (i.e. 
reduced to such an extent that it did not appear in the model at all). It would clearly be 
unreasonable to claim that such a plan caused an adverse effect ‘in combination’ or that it should 
be mitigated. The contribution of the Tunbridge Wells Local Plan falls within those parameters. 

 Since a) air quality in 2033 is forecast to be significantly better than in 2017 notwithstanding the 4.1.2
precautionary assumptions made about both growth and improvements in vehicle emissions 
factors, b) no significant in combination retardation of vegetation improvement at the closest and 
most affected areas of heathland is expected and c) the contribution of Tunbridge Wells Local 
Plan to the ‘in combination’ scenario for those nearest areas of heathland is negligible, the 
modelling in Appendix A does not provide any basis to conclude an adverse effect on integrity of 
Ashdown Forest SAC or SPA from growth in Tunbridge Wells Borough over that period in 
combination with other plans. Since no net adverse effect on integrity is forecast, no mitigation as 
such would be required. 

 It should be noted that the assessment undertaken to inform this conclusion was precautionary. 4.1.3
For example: 

• The Design Manual for Roads and Bridges and Defra guidance recommend making a 2% 
reduction per annum in background emissions/deposition rates throughout the period 
from base year to assessment year in order to allow for improvements such as the 
introduction of Euro6 standard vehicles. AECOM took a considerably more cautious 
approach in this modelling which could therefore prove to underestimate improvements in 
background nitrogen deposition. 

• Rather than simply model the rates of growth set out in adopted or submitted Core 
Strategies and Local Plans, the AECOM model increased the housing delivery rates for 
those authorities immediately surrounding Ashdown Forest SAC (Wealden District, Mid-
Sussex District and Tandridge District) to allow for additional growth in line with the most-
recently expressed Objectively Assessed Need as of June 2017. In some cases (e.g. 
Mid-Sussex) this substantially increased the amount of housing allowed for over the 
period to 2033. In practice, therefore, growth around Ashdown Forest SAC may have 
been over-estimated. For example, the recent Government consultation on Objectively 
Assessed Need (OAN) proposes a significantly lower OAN for Wealden District than was 
allowed for in the AECOM model.   

 It is therefore concluded that no adverse effect upon the integrity of Ashdown Forest SAC is 4.1.4
expected to result from development provided by the Tunbridge Wells Local Plan, even in 
combination with other plans and projects. This is due to a combination of a) an expected net 
improvement in air quality over the Local Plan period, b) the fact that, whether or not that 
improvement occurs to the extent forecast, the contribution of the Tunbridge Wells Local Plan to 
changes in roadside air quality is demonstrably ecologically negligible due to the very small 
magnitude and c) the precautionary nature of the modelling.  

 This conclusion is not intended to suggest that no active attempt should be made to reduce 4.1.5
background NOx concentrations and nitrogen deposition around Ashdown Forest as a matter of 
general good stewardship if that is what the authorities agree, and the authorities already have a 
forum for collaborative involvement in this issue via the working group that has recently been 
convened by South Downs National Park Authority. The aforementioned forum will also be 
important in monitoring long-term trends in roadside air quality within Ashdown Forest SAC at 
regular (e.g. five-year) intervals, in order to track the forecast improvements and, if necessary, 
trigger updates to the modelling and its conclusions during the plan period. The first practical 
outcome of this forum is a multi-authority agreement to prepare a Statement of Common Ground 

Page 58

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page 22 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

(SoCG) relating to nitrogen impacts on Ashdown Forest. The SoCG will include actions such as a 
Site Nitrogen Action Plan (SNAP) for the SAC/SPA to address sources of background nitrogen 
such as agriculture and existing traffic. This forum will provide a further safeguard to ensure that 
changes in traffic flows and vehicular emissions stemming from development do not result in 
adverse effects upon the integrity of Ashdown Forest SAC in isolation or in combination. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 59

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page A-1 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

Appendix A. Detailed Modelling Results 

Ammonia Concentrations 

Receptor 38: the A26 at Poundgate 
     

      Annual Mean NH3 Conc. (ug/m3)   

Lookup   Distance  BL DN DS Change 

ID Road Link From Road (m) Base (Base 2033) (Scn1 2033) (DS-DN) (DS-BL) 

1 38_0m 0 2.32 2.47 2.58 0.11 0.26 

2 38_5m 5 1.61 1.69 1.75 0.06 0.15 

3 38_10m 10 1.31 1.36 1.41 0.05 0.10 

4 38_15m 15 1.15 1.19 1.23 0.04 0.08 

5 38_20m 20 1.05 1.08 1.11 0.03 0.06 

6 38_30m 30 0.93 0.95 0.97 0.02 0.05 

7 38_40m 40 0.86 0.88 0.89 0.02 0.04 

8 38_50m 50 0.81 0.83 0.84 0.01 0.03 

9 38_60m 60 0.78 0.79 0.81 0.01 0.03 

10 38_70m 70 0.76 0.77 0.78 0.01 0.02 

11 38_80m 80 0.74 0.75 0.76 0.01 0.02 

12 38_90m 90 0.72 0.73 0.74 0.01 0.02 

13 38_100m 100 0.71 0.72 0.73 0.01 0.02 

14 38_125m 125 0.69 0.69 0.70 0.01 0.01 

15 38_150m 150 0.67 0.68 0.68 0.00 0.01 

16 38_175m 175 0.66 0.67 0.67 0.00 0.01 

17 38_200m 200 0.65 0.66 0.66 0.00 0.01 

                
Receptor 37W – A275 at Wych Cross 

      

      Annual Mean Nox Conc. (ug/m3)   

Lookup   Distance  BL DN DS Change 

ID Road Link From Road (m) Base (Base 2033) (Scn1 2033) (DS-DN) (DS-BL) 

18 37W_0m 0 1.07 1.11 1.14 0.03 0.07 

19 37W_5m 5 0.86 0.88 0.89 0.02 0.04 

20 37W_10m 10 0.78 0.79 0.80 0.01 0.03 

21 37W_15m 15 0.74 0.75 0.76 0.01 0.02 

22 37W_20m 20 0.71 0.72 0.73 0.01 0.02 

23 37W_30m 30 0.68 0.69 0.70 0.01 0.01 

24 37W_40m 40 0.67 0.67 0.68 0.00 0.01 

25 37W_50m 50 0.66 0.66 0.66 0.00 0.01 

26 37W_60m 60 0.65 0.65 0.66 0.00 0.01 

27 37W_70m 70 0.64 0.65 0.65 0.00 0.01 

28 37W_80m 80 0.64 0.64 0.64 0.00 0.01 

29 37W_90m 90 0.64 0.64 0.64 0.00 0.00 

30 37W_100m 100 0.63 0.64 0.64 0.00 0.00 

31 37W_125m 125 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.00 0.00 

32 37W_150m 150 0.62 0.63 0.63 0.00 0.00 

33 37W_175m 175 0.62 0.62 0.62 0.00 0.00 

P
age 60

A
ppendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page A-2 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

34 37W_200m 200 0.62 0.62 0.62 0.00 0.00 

Receptor 37E – A275 at Wych Cross          

      Annual Mean Nox Conc. (ug/m3)   

Lookup   Distance  BL DN DS Change 

ID Road Link From Road (m) Base (Base 2033) (Scn1 2033) (DS-DN) (DS-BL) 

35 37E_0m 0 1.03 1.06 1.09 0.03 0.06 

36 37E_5m 5 0.84 0.86 0.87 0.02 0.03 

37 37E_10m 10 0.77 0.78 0.79 0.01 0.02 

38 37E_15m 15 0.73 0.74 0.75 0.01 0.02 

39 37E_20m 20 0.71 0.72 0.72 0.01 0.02 

40 37E_30m 30 0.68 0.69 0.69 0.00 0.01 

41 37E_40m 40 0.66 0.67 0.67 0.00 0.01 

42 37E_50m 50 0.65 0.66 0.66 0.00 0.01 

43 37E_60m 60 0.65 0.65 0.65 0.00 0.01 

44 37E_70m 70 0.64 0.65 0.65 0.00 0.01 

45 37E_80m 80 0.64 0.64 0.64 0.00 0.01 

46 37E_90m 90 0.64 0.64 0.64 0.00 0.00 

47 37E_100m 100 0.63 0.64 0.64 0.00 0.00 

48 37E_125m 125 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.00 0.00 

49 37E_150m 150 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.00 0.00 

50 37E_175m 175 0.62 0.62 0.63 0.00 0.00 

51 37E_200m 200 0.62 0.62 0.62 0.00 0.00 

                

Receptor 34 – A22 at Nutley        

      Annual Mean Nox Conc. (ug/m3)   

Lookup   Distance  BL DN DS Change 

ID Road Link From Road (m) Base (Base 2033) (Scn1 2033) (DS-DN) (DS-BL) 

52 34_0m 0 1.70 1.79 1.80 0.01 0.11 

53 34_5m 5 1.26 1.31 1.32 0.01 0.06 

54 34_10m 10 1.06 1.10 1.11 0.01 0.04 

55 34_15m 15 0.96 0.99 0.99 0.00 0.03 

56 34_20m 20 0.89 0.91 0.92 0.00 0.03 

57 34_30m 30 0.81 0.83 0.83 0.00 0.02 

58 34_40m 40 0.77 0.78 0.78 0.00 0.02 

59 34_50m 50 0.74 0.75 0.75 0.00 0.01 

60 34_60m 60 0.72 0.73 0.73 0.00 0.01 

61 34_70m 70 0.70 0.71 0.71 0.00 0.01 

62 34_80m 80 0.69 0.70 0.70 0.00 0.01 

63 34_90m 90 0.68 0.69 0.69 0.00 0.01 

64 34_100m 100 0.67 0.68 0.68 0.00 0.01 

65 34_125m 125 0.66 0.66 0.66 0.00 0.01 

66 34_150m 150 0.65 0.65 0.65 0.00 0.00 

67 34_175m 175 0.64 0.64 0.65 0.00 0.00 

68 34_200m 200 0.64 0.64 0.64 0.00 0.00 

    

Receptor 33 – A22 at Wych Cross        

      Annual Mean Nox Conc. (ug/m3)   

Lookup   Distance  BL DN DS Change 

ID Road Link From Road (m) Base (Base 2033) (Scn1 2033) (DS-DN) (DS-BL) 

69 33_0m 0 1.36 1.42 1.43 0.01 0.07 

P
age 61

A
ppendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page A-3 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

70 33_5m 5 1.05 1.08 1.09 0.01 0.04 

71 33_10m 10 0.92 0.94 0.94 0.00 0.03 

72 33_15m 15 0.85 0.86 0.87 0.00 0.02 

73 33_20m 20 0.80 0.82 0.82 0.00 0.02 

74 33_30m 30 0.75 0.76 0.76 0.00 0.01 

75 33_40m 40 0.72 0.73 0.73 0.00 0.01 

76 33_50m 50 0.70 0.71 0.71 0.00 0.01 

77 33_60m 60 0.69 0.69 0.69 0.00 0.01 

78 33_70m 70 0.68 0.68 0.68 0.00 0.01 

79 33_80m 80 0.67 0.67 0.67 0.00 0.01 

80 33_90m 90 0.66 0.66 0.67 0.00 0.01 

81 33_100m 100 0.66 0.66 0.66 0.00 0.00 

82 33_125m 125 0.65 0.65 0.65 0.00 0.00 

83 33_150m 150 0.64 0.64 0.64 0.00 0.00 

84 33_175m 175 0.63 0.64 0.64 0.00 0.00 

85 33_200m 200 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.00 0.00 

                

Receptor 6b_37_33 – Junction of A22 and A275   

      Annual Mean Nox Conc. (ug/m3)   

Lookup   Distance  BL DN DS Change 

ID Road Link From Road (m) Base (Base 2033) (Scn1 2033) (DS-DN) (DS-BL) 

86 6b_37_33_0m 0 1.42 1.48 1.51 0.03 0.09 

87 6b_37_33_5m 5 1.26 1.31 1.33 0.02 0.07 

88 6b_37_33_10m 10 1.18 1.22 1.24 0.02 0.06 

89 6b_37_33_15m 15 1.12 1.16 1.17 0.02 0.05 

90 6b_37_33_20m 20 1.07 1.11 1.12 0.01 0.05 

91 6b_37_33_30m 30 1.00 1.03 1.05 0.01 0.04 

92 6b_37_33_40m 40 0.95 0.98 0.99 0.01 0.04 

93 6b_37_33_50m 50 0.91 0.93 0.94 0.01 0.03 

94 6b_37_33_60m 60 0.87 0.89 0.90 0.01 0.03 

95 6b_37_33_70m 70 0.85 0.86 0.87 0.01 0.03 

96 6b_37_33_80m 80 0.82 0.84 0.85 0.01 0.02 

97 6b_37_33_90m 90 0.80 0.82 0.82 0.01 0.02 

98 6b_37_33_100m 100 0.79 0.80 0.81 0.01 0.02 

99 6b_37_33_125m 125 0.75 0.77 0.77 0.00 0.02 

100 6b_37_33_150m 150 0.73 0.74 0.74 0.00 0.01 

101 6b_37_33_175m 175 0.71 0.72 0.72 0.00 0.01 

102 6b_37_33_200m 200 0.70 0.70 0.71 0.00 0.01 

  

Receptor 6b - A22 at Royal Ashdown Forest Golf Course      

      Annual Mean Nox Conc. (ug/m3)   

Lookup   Distance  BL DN DS Change 

ID Road Link From Road (m) Base (Base 2033) (Scn1 2033) (DS-DN) (DS-BL) 

103 6b_3m 3 1.19 1.23 1.25 0.01 0.06 

104 6b_8m 8 0.99 1.02 1.03 0.01 0.04 

105 6b_13m 13 0.89 0.91 0.92 0.01 0.03 

106 6b_18m 18 0.83 0.85 0.86 0.01 0.02 

107 6b_23m 23 0.80 0.81 0.81 0.00 0.02 

108 6b_33m 33 0.75 0.76 0.76 0.00 0.01 

109 6b_43m 43 0.72 0.73 0.73 0.00 0.01 

P
age 62

A
ppendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page A-4 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

110 6b_53m 53 0.70 0.71 0.71 0.00 0.01 

111 6b_63m 63 0.69 0.69 0.69 0.00 0.01 

112 6b_73m 73 0.68 0.68 0.68 0.00 0.01 

113 6b_83m 83 0.67 0.67 0.67 0.00 0.01 

114 6b_93m 93 0.66 0.66 0.67 0.00 0.01 

115 6b_103m 103 0.66 0.66 0.66 0.00 0.01 

116 6b_128m 128 0.65 0.65 0.65 0.00 0.00 

117 6b_153m 153 0.64 0.64 0.64 0.00 0.00 

118 6b_178m 178 0.63 0.64 0.64 0.00 0.00 

119 6b_203m 203 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.00 0.00 

                

Receptor 6aSW – A22 at Royal Ashdown Forest Golf Course        

      Annual Mean Nox Conc. (ug/m3)   

Lookup   Distance  BL DN DS Change 

ID Road Link From Road (m) Base (Base 2033) (Scn1 2033) (DS-DN) (DS-BL) 

120 6aSW_0m 0 1.56 1.64 1.67 0.02 0.10 

121 6aSW_5m 5 1.12 1.16 1.17 0.01 0.05 

122 6aSW_10m 10 0.96 0.98 0.99 0.01 0.04 

123 6aSW_15m 15 0.87 0.89 0.90 0.01 0.03 

124 6aSW_20m 20 0.82 0.83 0.84 0.01 0.02 

125 6aSW_30m 30 0.76 0.77 0.77 0.00 0.02 

126 6aSW_40m 40 0.72 0.73 0.73 0.00 0.01 

127 6aSW_50m 50 0.70 0.71 0.71 0.00 0.01 

128 6aSW_60m 60 0.68 0.69 0.69 0.00 0.01 

129 6aSW_70m 70 0.67 0.68 0.68 0.00 0.01 

130 6aSW_80m 80 0.66 0.67 0.67 0.00 0.01 

131 6aSW_90m 90 0.66 0.66 0.66 0.00 0.01 

132 6aSW_100m 100 0.65 0.66 0.66 0.00 0.01 

133 6aSW_125m 125 0.64 0.64 0.65 0.00 0.00 

134 6aSW_150m 150 0.63 0.64 0.64 0.00 0.00 

135 6aSW_175m 175 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.00 0.00 

136 6aSW_200m 200 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.00 0.00 

Receptor 6aSE – A22 at Royal Ashdown Forest Golf Course       

      Annual Mean Nox Conc. (ug/m3)   

Lookup   Distance  BL DN DS Change 

ID Road Link From Road (m) Base (Base 2033) (Scn1 2033) (DS-DN) (DS-BL) 

137 6aSE_0m 0 1.79 1.89 1.92 0.03 0.13 

138 6aSE_5m 5 1.26 1.31 1.32 0.02 0.07 

139 6aSE_10m 10 1.06 1.09 1.10 0.01 0.05 

140 6aSE_15m 15 0.95 0.98 0.99 0.01 0.04 

141 6aSE_20m 20 0.89 0.91 0.92 0.01 0.03 

142 6aSE_30m 30 0.81 0.83 0.84 0.01 0.02 

143 6aSE_40m 40 0.77 0.79 0.79 0.00 0.02 

144 6aSE_50m 50 0.75 0.76 0.76 0.00 0.01 

145 6aSE_60m 60 0.73 0.74 0.74 0.00 0.01 

146 6aSE_70m 70 0.71 0.72 0.72 0.00 0.01 

147 6aSE_80m 80 0.70 0.71 0.71 0.00 0.01 

148 6aSE_90m 90 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.00 0.01 

149 6aSE_100m 100 0.69 0.70 0.70 0.00 0.01 

150 6aSE_125m 125 0.68 0.68 0.68 0.00 0.01 

P
age 63

A
ppendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page A-5 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

151 6aSE_150m 150 0.67 0.67 0.68 0.00 0.01 

152 6aSE_175m 175 0.66 0.67 0.67 0.00 0.01 

153 6aSE_200m 200 0.66 0.66 0.66 0.00 0.01 

                

Receptor 6aNE  – A22 at Royal Ashdown Forest Golf Course        

      Annual Mean Nox Conc. (ug/m3)   

Lookup   Distance  BL DN DS Change 

ID Road Link From Road (m) Base (Base 2033) (Scn1 2033) (DS-DN) (DS-BL) 

154 6aNE_0m 0 1.53 1.61 1.63 0.02 0.10 

155 6aNE_5m 5 1.14 1.18 1.20 0.01 0.06 

156 6aNE_10m 10 0.98 1.01 1.02 0.01 0.04 

157 6aNE_15m 15 0.90 0.92 0.93 0.01 0.03 

158 6aNE_20m 20 0.85 0.86 0.87 0.01 0.02 

159 6aNE_30m 30 0.78 0.80 0.80 0.00 0.02 

160 6aNE_40m 40 0.74 0.76 0.76 0.00 0.01 

161 6aNE_50m 50 0.72 0.73 0.73 0.00 0.01 

162 6aNE_60m 60 0.70 0.71 0.71 0.00 0.01 

163 6aNE_70m 70 0.69 0.70 0.70 0.00 0.01 

164 6aNE_80m 80 0.68 0.69 0.69 0.00 0.01 

165 6aNE_90m 90 0.67 0.68 0.68 0.00 0.01 

166 6aNE_100m 100 0.66 0.67 0.67 0.00 0.01 

167 6aNE_125m 125 0.65 0.66 0.66 0.00 0.01 

168 6aNE_150m 150 0.64 0.65 0.65 0.00 0.00 

169 6aNE_175m 175 0.64 0.64 0.64 0.00 0.00 

170 6aNE_200m 200 0.63 0.64 0.64 0.00 0.00 

                

Receptor 33N – A22 at Wych Cross     

      Annual Mean Nox Conc. (ug/m3)   

Lookup   Distance  BL DN DS Change 

ID Road Link From Road (m) Base (Base 2033) (Scn1 2033) (DS-DN) (DS-BL) 

171 33N_0m 0 1.32 1.38 1.39 0.01 0.07 

172 33N_5m 5 1.02 1.05 1.05 0.01 0.04 

173 33N_10m 10 0.89 0.92 0.92 0.00 0.03 

174 33N_15m 15 0.83 0.84 0.85 0.00 0.02 

175 33N_20m 20 0.79 0.80 0.80 0.00 0.02 

176 33N_30m 30 0.74 0.75 0.75 0.00 0.01 

177 33N_40m 40 0.71 0.72 0.72 0.00 0.01 

178 33N_50m 50 0.69 0.70 0.70 0.00 0.01 

179 33N_60m 60 0.68 0.68 0.68 0.00 0.01 

180 33N_70m 70 0.67 0.67 0.67 0.00 0.01 

181 33N_80m 80 0.66 0.66 0.67 0.00 0.01 

182 33N_90m 90 0.65 0.66 0.66 0.00 0.00 

183 33N_100m 100 0.65 0.65 0.65 0.00 0.00 

184 33N_125m 125 0.64 0.64 0.64 0.00 0.00 

185 33N_150m 150 0.63 0.64 0.64 0.00 0.00 

186 33N_175m 175 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.00 0.00 

187 33N_200m 200 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.00 0.00 
  

P
age 64

A
ppendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page A-6 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

NOx, Nitrogen Deposition and Acid Deposition 

Receptor 38: the A26 at Poundgate 
 

 Annual Mean NOx (ug/m3) Annual Mean Total N Dep (kg N/ha/yr) Annual Mean Total N Acid Dep (keq/ha/yr) 
Distanc

e  BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change 
From 
Road 
(m) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

0 73.83 46.59 51.01 53.74 2.73 7.15 -20.09 19.50 16.77 17.41 17.75 0.34 0.98 -1.75 1.59 1.49 1.53 1.56 0.02 0.07 -0.03 
5 47.07 30.26 32.96 34.44 1.47 4.17 -12.64 16.88 14.58 14.97 15.17 0.20 0.59 -1.70 1.40 1.33 1.36 1.37 0.01 0.04 -0.03 

10 35.91 23.49 25.37 26.44 1.06 2.95 -9.47 15.73 13.65 13.93 14.08 0.15 0.42 -1.66 1.32 1.27 1.29 1.30 0.01 0.03 -0.02 
15 29.98 19.91 21.39 22.21 0.82 2.30 -7.78 15.12 13.16 13.38 13.49 0.11 0.33 -1.63 1.27 1.23 1.25 1.25 0.01 0.02 -0.02 
20 26.19 17.63 18.82 19.50 0.68 1.88 -6.69 14.72 12.84 13.02 13.12 0.09 0.27 -1.60 1.25 1.21 1.22 1.23 0.01 0.02 -0.02 
30 21.66 14.92 15.79 16.28 0.49 1.36 -5.38 14.24 12.47 12.60 12.67 0.07 0.20 -1.57 1.21 1.18 1.19 1.20 0.00 0.01 -0.02 
40 19.09 13.38 14.07 14.45 0.38 1.08 -4.64 13.96 12.25 12.35 12.41 0.05 0.16 -1.55 1.19 1.17 1.17 1.18 0.00 0.01 -0.02 
50 17.37 12.36 12.92 13.25 0.33 0.90 -4.12 13.78 12.11 12.19 12.24 0.05 0.13 -1.54 1.18 1.16 1.16 1.16 0.00 0.01 -0.01 
60 16.17 11.63 12.10 12.38 0.27 0.75 -3.79 13.65 12.01 12.08 12.12 0.04 0.11 -1.53 1.17 1.15 1.15 1.16 0.00 0.01 -0.01 
70 15.27 11.10 11.50 11.75 0.25 0.65 -3.52 13.55 11.93 11.99 12.03 0.03 0.10 -1.52 1.16 1.14 1.15 1.15 0.00 0.01 -0.01 
80 14.56 10.68 11.04 11.26 0.22 0.58 -3.30 13.47 11.87 11.93 11.96 0.03 0.09 -1.52 1.16 1.14 1.14 1.14 0.00 0.01 -0.01 
90 14.01 10.34 10.68 10.85 0.16 0.50 -3.17 13.41 11.83 11.88 11.90 0.03 0.08 -1.51 1.15 1.14 1.14 1.14 0.00 0.01 -0.01 

100 13.55 10.07 10.36 10.52 0.16 0.45 -3.03 13.37 11.79 11.83 11.85 0.02 0.07 -1.51 1.15 1.13 1.14 1.14 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
125 12.70 9.56 9.80 9.93 0.13 0.36 -2.77 13.27 11.72 11.75 11.77 0.02 0.05 -1.50 1.14 1.13 1.13 1.13 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
150 12.11 9.21 9.41 9.51 0.11 0.30 -2.59 13.21 11.67 11.70 11.71 0.01 0.04 -1.50 1.14 1.12 1.13 1.13 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
175 11.67 8.96 9.12 9.21 0.09 0.25 -2.47 13.16 11.63 11.65 11.67 0.01 0.04 -1.49 1.13 1.12 1.12 1.12 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
200 11.35 8.76 8.90 8.98 0.08 0.22 -2.37 13.13 11.60 11.62 11.63 0.01 0.03 -1.49 1.13 1.12 1.12 1.12 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

                                           
Receptor 37W – A275 at Wych Cross                                      

 Annual Mean NOx (ug/m3) Annual Mean Total N Dep (kg N/ha/yr) Annual Mean Total N Acid Dep (keq/ha/yr) 
Distanc

e  BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change 
From 
Road 
(m) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

0 27.10 18.70 19.93 20.64 0.71 1.94 -6.46 15.69 13.73 13.91 14.01 0.10 0.28 -1.68 1.32 1.29 1.30 1.31 0.01 0.02 -0.02 
5 19.43 13.96 14.63 15.02 0.38 1.06 -4.41 14.86 13.06 13.16 13.22 0.06 0.16 -1.64 1.26 1.24 1.25 1.25 0.00 0.01 -0.01 

10 16.64 12.24 12.72 12.97 0.25 0.73 -3.67 14.55 12.82 12.89 12.93 0.04 0.11 -1.62 1.24 1.22 1.23 1.23 0.00 0.01 -0.01 
15 15.17 11.34 11.71 11.90 0.19 0.56 -3.27 14.39 12.69 12.74 12.77 0.03 0.08 -1.61 1.23 1.21 1.22 1.22 0.00 0.01 -0.01 
20 14.27 10.79 11.08 11.25 0.16 0.46 -3.02 14.29 12.61 12.65 12.68 0.02 0.07 -1.61 1.22 1.21 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
30 13.23 10.14 10.37 10.48 0.12 0.34 -2.75 14.17 12.52 12.55 12.57 0.02 0.05 -1.60 1.22 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
40 12.62 9.78 9.95 10.05 0.10 0.27 -2.57 14.10 12.47 12.49 12.51 0.01 0.04 -1.60 1.21 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
50 12.24 9.54 9.69 9.77 0.08 0.22 -2.47 14.06 12.43 12.46 12.47 0.01 0.03 -1.60 1.21 1.19 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
60 11.97 9.38 9.51 9.57 0.07 0.20 -2.40 14.03 12.41 12.43 12.44 0.01 0.03 -1.59 1.21 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
70 11.78 9.26 9.37 9.43 0.06 0.17 -2.34 14.01 12.39 12.41 12.42 0.01 0.03 -1.59 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
80 11.62 9.16 9.27 9.32 0.05 0.15 -2.30 13.99 12.38 12.39 12.40 0.01 0.02 -1.59 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
90 11.50 9.09 9.18 9.23 0.05 0.14 -2.27 13.98 12.37 12.38 12.39 0.01 0.02 -1.59 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

100 11.40 9.03 9.12 9.16 0.04 0.13 -2.24 13.97 12.36 12.37 12.38 0.01 0.02 -1.59 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
125 11.22 8.92 8.99 9.03 0.03 0.11 -2.19 13.95 12.34 12.36 12.36 0.00 0.02 -1.59 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
150 11.09 8.84 8.91 8.93 0.03 0.09 -2.16 13.93 12.33 12.34 12.35 0.00 0.01 -1.59 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
175 11.00 8.78 8.84 8.87 0.02 0.08 -2.13 13.92 12.32 12.33 12.34 0.00 0.01 -1.59 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
200 10.93 8.74 8.79 8.82 0.02 0.07 -2.11 13.92 12.32 12.33 12.33 0.00 0.01 -1.59 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

P
age 65

A
ppendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page A-7 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

                                           
Receptor 37E – A275 at Wych Cross                                       

 Annual Mean NOx (ug/m3) Annual Mean Total N Dep (kg N/ha/yr) Annual Mean Total N Acid Dep (keq/ha/yr) 
Distanc

e  BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change 
From 
Road 
(m) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

0 25.65 17.80 18.92 19.57 0.66 1.77 -6.08 15.53 13.60 13.77 13.86 0.09 0.26 -1.67 1.31 1.28 1.29 1.30 0.01 0.02 -0.02 
5 18.80 13.57 14.20 14.55 0.35 0.98 -4.25 14.79 13.00 13.10 13.15 0.05 0.15 -1.64 1.26 1.23 1.24 1.25 0.00 0.01 -0.01 

10 16.23 12.00 12.45 12.70 0.25 0.70 -3.54 14.50 12.78 12.85 12.88 0.04 0.10 -1.62 1.24 1.22 1.22 1.23 0.00 0.01 -0.01 
15 14.90 11.17 11.52 11.71 0.19 0.54 -3.18 14.36 12.66 12.72 12.74 0.03 0.08 -1.61 1.23 1.21 1.21 1.22 0.00 0.01 -0.01 
20 14.05 10.66 10.95 11.11 0.17 0.45 -2.94 14.26 12.59 12.63 12.66 0.02 0.07 -1.61 1.22 1.21 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
30 13.09 10.06 10.27 10.39 0.11 0.32 -2.71 14.16 12.51 12.54 12.56 0.02 0.05 -1.60 1.21 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
40 12.53 9.72 9.89 9.98 0.09 0.26 -2.55 14.09 12.46 12.48 12.50 0.01 0.04 -1.60 1.21 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
50 12.18 9.51 9.65 9.73 0.07 0.22 -2.45 14.05 12.43 12.45 12.46 0.01 0.03 -1.59 1.21 1.19 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
60 11.93 9.35 9.48 9.54 0.06 0.19 -2.39 14.03 12.41 12.42 12.43 0.01 0.03 -1.59 1.21 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
70 11.75 9.24 9.35 9.41 0.05 0.17 -2.34 14.01 12.39 12.41 12.41 0.01 0.02 -1.59 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
80 11.60 9.15 9.26 9.30 0.05 0.15 -2.30 13.99 12.38 12.39 12.40 0.01 0.02 -1.59 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
90 11.49 9.09 9.18 9.22 0.04 0.14 -2.27 13.98 12.37 12.38 12.39 0.01 0.02 -1.59 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

100 11.40 9.03 9.12 9.16 0.04 0.13 -2.24 13.97 12.36 12.37 12.38 0.01 0.02 -1.59 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
125 11.23 8.93 9.00 9.03 0.03 0.11 -2.20 13.95 12.35 12.36 12.36 0.00 0.02 -1.59 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
150 11.12 8.86 8.93 8.95 0.03 0.09 -2.17 13.94 12.34 12.35 12.35 0.00 0.01 -1.59 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
175 11.04 8.81 8.87 8.90 0.02 0.09 -2.15 13.93 12.33 12.34 12.34 0.00 0.01 -1.59 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
200 10.98 8.77 8.83 8.85 0.02 0.08 -2.13 13.92 12.32 12.33 12.33 0.00 0.01 -1.59 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

                                           
Receptor 34 – A22 at Nutley                                       

 Annual Mean NOx (ug/m3) Annual Mean Total N Dep (kg N/ha/yr) Annual Mean Total N Acid Dep (keq/ha/yr) 
Distanc

e  BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change 
From 
Road 
(m) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

0 52.42 32.83 35.67 36.22 0.55 3.39 -16.20 18.46 15.91 16.33 16.38 0.06 0.47 -2.08 1.52 1.44 1.47 1.48 0.00 0.03 -0.04 

5 35.52 22.91 24.67 24.86 0.19 1.96 -10.65 16.76 14.55 14.81 14.84 0.03 0.29 -1.92 1.40 1.35 1.37 1.37 0.00 0.02 -0.03 

10 27.98 18.50 19.76 19.89 0.14 1.39 -8.09 15.99 13.95 14.13 14.15 0.02 0.20 -1.84 1.35 1.30 1.32 1.32 0.00 0.01 -0.03 

15 23.89 16.13 17.08 17.19 0.11 1.06 -6.70 15.56 13.61 13.76 13.77 0.02 0.16 -1.79 1.32 1.28 1.29 1.29 0.00 0.01 -0.02 

20 21.32 14.62 15.39 15.50 0.11 0.88 -5.82 15.29 13.41 13.52 13.53 0.01 0.13 -1.76 1.30 1.27 1.27 1.27 0.00 0.01 -0.02 

30 18.29 12.86 13.42 13.48 0.05 0.62 -4.81 14.97 13.16 13.24 13.25 0.01 0.09 -1.72 1.27 1.25 1.25 1.25 0.00 0.01 -0.02 

40 16.54 11.85 12.30 12.36 0.05 0.51 -4.18 14.79 13.02 13.08 13.09 0.01 0.07 -1.70 1.26 1.24 1.24 1.24 0.00 0.01 -0.02 

50 15.42 11.20 11.57 11.62 0.05 0.42 -3.80 14.67 12.93 12.98 12.99 0.01 0.06 -1.68 1.25 1.23 1.24 1.24 0.00 0.00 -0.02 

60 14.63 10.73 11.05 11.08 0.03 0.35 -3.56 14.58 12.86 12.91 12.91 0.01 0.05 -1.67 1.25 1.23 1.23 1.23 0.00 0.00 -0.02 

70 14.03 10.38 10.66 10.69 0.03 0.30 -3.35 14.52 12.81 12.85 12.86 0.00 0.05 -1.66 1.24 1.22 1.23 1.23 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

80 13.57 10.12 10.36 10.39 0.03 0.27 -3.18 14.47 12.77 12.81 12.81 0.00 0.04 -1.66 1.24 1.22 1.22 1.22 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

90 13.21 9.90 10.12 10.14 0.03 0.24 -3.07 14.43 12.74 12.78 12.78 0.00 0.04 -1.65 1.23 1.22 1.22 1.22 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

100 12.91 9.73 9.93 9.95 0.02 0.22 -2.96 14.40 12.72 12.75 12.75 0.00 0.03 -1.65 1.23 1.22 1.22 1.22 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

125 12.36 9.41 9.57 9.59 0.02 0.18 -2.77 14.34 12.67 12.70 12.70 0.00 0.03 -1.64 1.23 1.21 1.21 1.22 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

150 11.98 9.19 9.32 9.33 0.01 0.14 -2.64 14.30 12.64 12.66 12.66 0.00 0.02 -1.64 1.23 1.21 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

175 11.70 9.03 9.14 9.15 0.01 0.12 -2.55 14.27 12.62 12.64 12.64 0.00 0.02 -1.63 1.22 1.21 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

200 11.49 8.90 9.00 9.01 0.01 0.11 -2.48 14.25 12.60 12.62 12.62 0.00 0.02 -1.63 1.22 1.21 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
                                           

P
age 66

A
ppendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page A-8 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

Receptor 33 – A22 at Wych Cross                                      
 Annual Mean NOx (ug/m3) Annual Mean Total N Dep (kg N/ha/yr) Annual Mean Total N Acid Dep (keq/ha/yr) 

Distanc
e  BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change 

From 
Road 
(m) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

0 39.24 25.44 27.50 27.75 0.25 2.30 -11.49 16.89 14.64 14.94 14.98 0.04 0.34 -1.91 1.41 1.35 1.37 1.38 0.00 0.02 -0.03 

5 27.31 18.33 19.56 19.69 0.14 1.36 -7.61 15.65 13.66 13.84 13.86 0.02 0.20 -1.79 1.32 1.28 1.29 1.30 0.00 0.01 -0.03 

10 22.37 15.39 16.25 16.34 0.08 0.95 -6.03 15.13 13.25 13.38 13.39 0.01 0.14 -1.73 1.28 1.25 1.26 1.26 0.00 0.01 -0.02 

15 19.75 13.82 14.51 14.56 0.05 0.74 -5.18 14.85 13.03 13.13 13.14 0.01 0.11 -1.70 1.26 1.24 1.24 1.24 0.00 0.01 -0.02 

20 18.08 12.82 13.39 13.44 0.05 0.62 -4.64 14.67 12.90 12.98 12.98 0.01 0.09 -1.68 1.25 1.23 1.23 1.23 0.00 0.01 -0.02 

30 16.09 11.64 12.05 12.10 0.05 0.46 -3.98 14.45 12.73 12.79 12.80 0.01 0.07 -1.66 1.24 1.22 1.22 1.22 0.00 0.00 -0.02 

40 14.94 10.97 11.31 11.34 0.03 0.37 -3.60 14.33 12.64 12.69 12.69 0.00 0.05 -1.64 1.23 1.21 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.02 

50 14.20 10.52 10.80 10.83 0.03 0.31 -3.37 14.25 12.57 12.61 12.62 0.00 0.04 -1.63 1.22 1.20 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

60 13.66 10.21 10.45 10.47 0.02 0.27 -3.18 14.19 12.53 12.57 12.57 0.00 0.04 -1.62 1.22 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

70 13.28 9.97 10.18 10.21 0.02 0.24 -3.07 14.15 12.50 12.53 12.53 0.00 0.03 -1.62 1.21 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

80 12.96 9.79 9.98 10.00 0.02 0.21 -2.97 14.12 12.47 12.50 12.50 0.00 0.03 -1.61 1.21 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

90 12.71 9.64 9.81 9.83 0.02 0.19 -2.88 14.09 12.45 12.48 12.48 0.00 0.03 -1.61 1.21 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

100 12.51 9.52 9.67 9.69 0.02 0.18 -2.82 14.07 12.43 12.46 12.46 0.00 0.02 -1.61 1.21 1.19 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

125 12.13 9.29 9.42 9.43 0.01 0.15 -2.69 14.03 12.40 12.42 12.42 0.00 0.02 -1.60 1.21 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

150 11.86 9.13 9.24 9.26 0.01 0.13 -2.61 14.00 12.38 12.40 12.40 0.00 0.02 -1.60 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

175 11.67 9.02 9.11 9.13 0.01 0.11 -2.54 13.98 12.37 12.38 12.38 0.00 0.02 -1.60 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

200 11.51 8.93 9.01 9.02 0.01 0.10 -2.49 13.96 12.35 12.37 12.37 0.00 0.01 -1.60 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
                                           

Receptor 6b_37_33 – Junction of A22 and 
A275                                       

 Annual Mean NOx (ug/m3) Annual Mean Total N Dep (kg N/ha/yr) Annual Mean Total N Acid Dep (keq/ha/yr) 
Distanc

e  BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change 
From 
Road 
(m) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

0 41.87 27.23 29.51 30.22 0.71 2.99 -11.65 17.13 14.83 15.16 15.25 0.09 0.42 -1.88 1.43 1.37 1.39 1.40 0.01 0.03 -0.03 
5 35.43 23.41 25.23 25.74 0.52 2.34 -9.68 16.50 14.34 14.60 14.67 0.07 0.33 -1.83 1.38 1.33 1.35 1.35 0.00 0.02 -0.03 

10 31.90 21.29 22.85 23.26 0.41 1.97 -8.64 16.15 14.06 14.29 14.35 0.06 0.29 -1.80 1.36 1.31 1.33 1.33 0.00 0.02 -0.03 
15 29.64 19.93 21.32 21.68 0.35 1.75 -7.96 15.92 13.88 14.09 14.13 0.05 0.25 -1.79 1.34 1.30 1.31 1.32 0.00 0.02 -0.02 
20 27.86 18.88 20.15 20.48 0.33 1.59 -7.39 15.74 13.74 13.93 13.97 0.04 0.23 -1.77 1.33 1.29 1.30 1.30 0.00 0.02 -0.02 
30 25.22 17.30 18.37 18.65 0.27 1.35 -6.57 15.46 13.52 13.68 13.72 0.04 0.20 -1.74 1.31 1.27 1.28 1.29 0.00 0.01 -0.02 
40 23.17 16.07 17.01 17.25 0.25 1.18 -5.91 15.24 13.35 13.49 13.52 0.03 0.17 -1.72 1.29 1.26 1.27 1.27 0.00 0.01 -0.02 
50 21.56 15.11 15.92 16.14 0.22 1.03 -5.42 15.07 13.21 13.34 13.36 0.03 0.15 -1.70 1.28 1.25 1.26 1.26 0.00 0.01 -0.02 
60 20.30 14.36 15.07 15.26 0.19 0.91 -5.04 14.93 13.11 13.22 13.24 0.03 0.14 -1.69 1.27 1.24 1.25 1.25 0.00 0.01 -0.02 
70 19.29 13.75 14.42 14.58 0.16 0.83 -4.71 14.83 13.02 13.12 13.15 0.02 0.12 -1.68 1.26 1.24 1.24 1.24 0.00 0.01 -0.02 
80 18.44 13.25 13.84 14.01 0.16 0.76 -4.44 14.73 12.95 13.04 13.06 0.02 0.11 -1.67 1.26 1.23 1.24 1.24 0.00 0.01 -0.02 
90 17.73 12.82 13.35 13.51 0.16 0.69 -4.22 14.66 12.89 12.97 13.00 0.02 0.10 -1.66 1.25 1.23 1.23 1.23 0.00 0.01 -0.02 

100 17.13 12.46 12.97 13.10 0.14 0.64 -4.03 14.59 12.84 12.92 12.94 0.02 0.09 -1.66 1.25 1.22 1.23 1.23 0.00 0.01 -0.02 
125 15.88 11.72 12.12 12.23 0.11 0.51 -3.65 14.46 12.74 12.80 12.82 0.02 0.08 -1.64 1.24 1.22 1.22 1.22 0.00 0.01 -0.01 
150 14.98 11.17 11.52 11.60 0.08 0.44 -3.37 14.36 12.66 12.71 12.73 0.01 0.06 -1.63 1.23 1.21 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
175 14.27 10.75 11.06 11.14 0.08 0.38 -3.13 14.28 12.60 12.65 12.66 0.01 0.06 -1.62 1.22 1.21 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
200 13.72 10.42 10.68 10.75 0.07 0.33 -2.97 14.22 12.56 12.59 12.60 0.01 0.05 -1.62 1.22 1.20 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

                                           

P
age 67

A
ppendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page A-9 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

Receptor 6b - A22 at Royal Ashdown Forest 
Golf Course                                        

 Annual Mean NOx (ug/m3) Annual Mean Total N Dep (kg N/ha/yr) Annual Mean Total N Acid Dep (keq/ha/yr) 
Distanc

e  BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change 
From 
Road 
(m) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

3 33.09 21.74 23.31 23.64 0.33 1.90 -9.44 16.21 14.09 14.33 14.37 0.05 0.28 -1.84 1.36 1.31 1.33 1.33 0.00 0.02 -0.03 
8 25.55 17.30 18.35 18.56 0.22 1.27 -6.99 15.42 13.48 13.63 13.66 0.03 0.19 -1.76 1.31 1.27 1.28 1.28 0.00 0.01 -0.02 

13 21.81 15.11 15.89 16.05 0.16 0.94 -5.76 15.03 13.17 13.29 13.31 0.02 0.14 -1.72 1.28 1.25 1.26 1.26 0.00 0.01 -0.02 
18 19.60 13.81 14.44 14.55 0.11 0.74 -5.05 14.79 12.99 13.08 13.10 0.02 0.11 -1.69 1.26 1.24 1.24 1.24 0.00 0.01 -0.02 
23 18.13 12.95 13.49 13.57 0.08 0.62 -4.56 14.64 12.87 12.95 12.96 0.01 0.09 -1.67 1.25 1.23 1.23 1.23 0.00 0.01 -0.02 
33 16.30 11.88 12.29 12.37 0.08 0.49 -3.93 14.44 12.72 12.78 12.79 0.01 0.07 -1.65 1.24 1.22 1.22 1.22 0.00 0.01 -0.02 
43 15.20 11.24 11.55 11.63 0.08 0.39 -3.57 14.32 12.63 12.68 12.69 0.01 0.06 -1.64 1.23 1.21 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
53 14.47 10.81 11.08 11.13 0.05 0.32 -3.33 14.24 12.57 12.61 12.61 0.01 0.05 -1.63 1.22 1.21 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
63 13.95 10.51 10.74 10.78 0.05 0.28 -3.16 14.19 12.52 12.56 12.57 0.01 0.04 -1.62 1.22 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
73 13.54 10.28 10.48 10.52 0.04 0.25 -3.02 14.14 12.49 12.52 12.53 0.01 0.04 -1.62 1.22 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
83 13.25 10.10 10.28 10.31 0.04 0.22 -2.93 14.11 12.47 12.49 12.50 0.01 0.03 -1.61 1.21 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
93 13.00 9.95 10.12 10.15 0.04 0.20 -2.85 14.08 12.45 12.47 12.48 0.01 0.03 -1.61 1.21 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

103 12.80 9.84 9.98 10.02 0.03 0.18 -2.78 14.06 12.43 12.45 12.46 0.01 0.03 -1.61 1.21 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
128 12.42 9.62 9.74 9.77 0.03 0.15 -2.66 14.02 12.40 12.42 12.42 0.00 0.02 -1.60 1.21 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
153 12.16 9.46 9.57 9.59 0.02 0.13 -2.57 13.99 12.38 12.39 12.40 0.00 0.02 -1.60 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
178 11.97 9.35 9.44 9.46 0.02 0.11 -2.51 13.97 12.36 12.37 12.38 0.00 0.02 -1.60 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
203 11.83 9.27 9.35 9.36 0.02 0.10 -2.47 13.96 12.35 12.36 12.36 0.00 0.01 -1.59 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

                                           
Receptor 6aSW – A22 at Royal Ashdown Forest Golf 
Course                                      

 Annual Mean NOx (ug/m3) Annual Mean Total N Dep (kg N/ha/yr) Annual Mean Total N Acid Dep (keq/ha/yr) 
Distanc

e  BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change 
From 
Road 
(m) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

0 52.74 33.68 36.72 37.27 0.55 3.58 -15.48 17.92 15.43 15.83 15.90 0.07 0.47 -2.02 1.48 1.41 1.44 1.44 0.01 0.03 -0.04 
5 33.47 22.07 23.70 24.02 0.33 1.96 -9.44 16.09 13.98 14.20 14.24 0.04 0.26 -1.85 1.35 1.31 1.32 1.32 0.00 0.02 -0.03 

10 26.29 17.80 18.92 19.14 0.22 1.34 -7.15 15.39 13.44 13.59 13.62 0.03 0.18 -1.77 1.30 1.27 1.28 1.28 0.00 0.01 -0.02 
15 22.52 15.58 16.41 16.60 0.19 1.02 -5.92 15.02 13.16 13.27 13.29 0.02 0.14 -1.73 1.28 1.25 1.26 1.26 0.00 0.01 -0.02 
20 20.20 14.20 14.88 15.02 0.14 0.82 -5.18 14.79 12.98 13.07 13.09 0.02 0.11 -1.70 1.26 1.23 1.24 1.24 0.00 0.01 -0.02 
30 17.50 12.61 13.10 13.19 0.08 0.57 -4.31 14.52 12.78 12.84 12.85 0.01 0.08 -1.67 1.24 1.22 1.22 1.23 0.00 0.01 -0.02 
40 15.97 11.72 12.09 12.18 0.08 0.46 -3.79 14.37 12.66 12.71 12.72 0.01 0.06 -1.65 1.23 1.21 1.22 1.22 0.00 0.00 -0.02 
50 15.01 11.15 11.47 11.52 0.05 0.37 -3.49 14.27 12.59 12.63 12.64 0.01 0.05 -1.64 1.22 1.21 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
60 14.33 10.75 11.01 11.06 0.05 0.31 -3.27 14.20 12.53 12.57 12.58 0.01 0.04 -1.63 1.22 1.20 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
70 13.84 10.46 10.68 10.73 0.05 0.27 -3.11 14.15 12.50 12.53 12.53 0.01 0.04 -1.62 1.22 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
80 13.46 10.24 10.43 10.47 0.04 0.24 -2.98 14.12 12.47 12.50 12.50 0.01 0.03 -1.61 1.21 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
90 13.17 10.06 10.24 10.27 0.04 0.21 -2.90 14.09 12.45 12.47 12.47 0.00 0.03 -1.61 1.21 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

100 12.93 9.92 10.08 10.11 0.03 0.19 -2.82 14.06 12.43 12.45 12.45 0.00 0.03 -1.61 1.21 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
125 12.49 9.66 9.78 9.81 0.03 0.15 -2.68 14.02 12.39 12.41 12.42 0.00 0.02 -1.60 1.21 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
150 12.19 9.48 9.59 9.61 0.02 0.13 -2.58 13.99 12.37 12.39 12.39 0.00 0.02 -1.60 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
175 11.98 9.36 9.45 9.47 0.02 0.11 -2.51 13.97 12.36 12.37 12.37 0.00 0.02 -1.60 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
200 11.82 9.26 9.34 9.36 0.02 0.10 -2.46 13.95 12.34 12.35 12.36 0.00 0.01 -1.59 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

                                           

P
age 68

A
ppendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page A-10 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

Receptor 6aSE – A22 at Royal Ashdown Forest Golf 
Course                                     

 Annual Mean NOx (ug/m3) Annual Mean Total N Dep (kg N/ha/yr) Annual Mean Total N Acid Dep (keq/ha/yr) 
Distanc

e  BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change 
From 
Road 
(m) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

0 62.84 39.74 43.54 44.09 0.55 4.35 -18.75 18.83 16.17 16.67 16.75 0.08 0.58 -2.08 1.55 1.46 1.50 1.50 0.01 0.04 -0.05 

5 39.37 25.62 27.63 28.06 0.44 2.45 -11.30 16.65 14.43 14.70 14.75 0.05 0.33 -1.90 1.39 1.34 1.36 1.36 0.00 0.02 -0.03 

10 30.66 20.44 21.87 22.14 0.27 1.70 -8.52 15.82 13.77 13.97 14.00 0.04 0.23 -1.82 1.34 1.29 1.31 1.31 0.00 0.02 -0.03 

15 26.15 17.75 18.84 19.08 0.25 1.33 -7.07 15.38 13.43 13.58 13.61 0.03 0.18 -1.77 1.30 1.27 1.28 1.28 0.00 0.01 -0.02 

20 23.34 16.08 16.98 17.17 0.19 1.09 -6.17 15.10 13.22 13.34 13.37 0.02 0.15 -1.74 1.28 1.25 1.26 1.26 0.00 0.01 -0.02 

30 20.06 14.13 14.80 14.93 0.14 0.80 -5.13 14.78 12.97 13.06 13.08 0.02 0.11 -1.70 1.26 1.23 1.24 1.24 0.00 0.01 -0.02 

40 18.21 13.04 13.57 13.68 0.11 0.64 -4.53 14.59 12.83 12.90 12.92 0.01 0.09 -1.68 1.25 1.22 1.23 1.23 0.00 0.01 -0.02 

50 17.03 12.35 12.80 12.89 0.08 0.54 -4.15 14.48 12.74 12.80 12.81 0.01 0.07 -1.66 1.24 1.22 1.22 1.22 0.00 0.01 -0.02 

60 16.24 11.87 12.26 12.34 0.08 0.47 -3.90 14.40 12.68 12.73 12.74 0.01 0.06 -1.65 1.23 1.21 1.22 1.22 0.00 0.00 -0.02 

70 15.64 11.52 11.88 11.96 0.08 0.44 -3.68 14.34 12.63 12.68 12.69 0.01 0.06 -1.64 1.23 1.21 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.02 

80 15.20 11.26 11.58 11.63 0.05 0.37 -3.57 14.29 12.60 12.64 12.65 0.01 0.05 -1.64 1.23 1.21 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

90 14.85 11.05 11.36 11.41 0.05 0.36 -3.44 14.26 12.57 12.62 12.62 0.01 0.05 -1.63 1.22 1.21 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

100 14.55 10.88 11.16 11.21 0.06 0.33 -3.34 14.23 12.55 12.59 12.60 0.01 0.05 -1.63 1.22 1.20 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

125 14.03 10.57 10.81 10.85 0.05 0.28 -3.18 14.17 12.51 12.55 12.55 0.01 0.04 -1.62 1.22 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

150 13.65 10.35 10.56 10.60 0.04 0.25 -3.04 14.14 12.48 12.51 12.52 0.01 0.04 -1.62 1.22 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

175 13.38 10.19 10.37 10.42 0.04 0.23 -2.96 14.11 12.46 12.49 12.49 0.01 0.03 -1.61 1.21 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

200 13.15 10.05 10.22 10.26 0.04 0.21 -2.89 14.08 12.44 12.47 12.47 0.00 0.03 -1.61 1.21 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
                                           

Receptor 6aNE  – A22 at Royal Ashdown Forest Golf 
Course                                      

 Annual Mean NOx (ug/m3) Annual Mean Total N Dep (kg N/ha/yr) Annual Mean Total N Acid Dep (keq/ha/yr) 
Distanc

e  BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change 
From 
Road 
(m) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

0 51.08 32.71 35.59 36.25 0.66 3.54 -14.83 17.79 15.33 15.72 15.80 0.08 0.47 -1.99 1.47 1.40 1.43 1.43 0.01 0.03 -0.04 

5 34.10 22.46 24.12 24.48 0.35 2.02 -9.62 16.18 14.05 14.28 14.32 0.04 0.27 -1.86 1.36 1.31 1.33 1.33 0.00 0.02 -0.03 

10 27.16 18.34 19.54 19.78 0.25 1.45 -7.38 15.51 13.53 13.69 13.73 0.03 0.19 -1.78 1.31 1.27 1.28 1.29 0.00 0.01 -0.02 

15 23.45 16.13 17.05 17.25 0.19 1.11 -6.20 15.14 13.25 13.38 13.40 0.03 0.15 -1.74 1.29 1.25 1.26 1.26 0.00 0.01 -0.02 

20 21.13 14.74 15.50 15.66 0.16 0.92 -5.47 14.91 13.07 13.18 13.20 0.02 0.13 -1.72 1.27 1.24 1.25 1.25 0.00 0.01 -0.02 

30 18.32 13.08 13.64 13.75 0.11 0.67 -4.57 14.63 12.86 12.94 12.95 0.01 0.09 -1.68 1.25 1.23 1.23 1.23 0.00 0.01 -0.02 

40 16.68 12.12 12.55 12.66 0.11 0.54 -4.02 14.47 12.74 12.80 12.81 0.01 0.07 -1.66 1.24 1.22 1.22 1.22 0.00 0.01 -0.02 

50 15.61 11.48 11.84 11.92 0.08 0.44 -3.69 14.36 12.65 12.71 12.72 0.01 0.06 -1.65 1.23 1.21 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

60 14.88 11.04 11.35 11.43 0.08 0.39 -3.45 14.29 12.60 12.64 12.65 0.01 0.05 -1.64 1.22 1.21 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

70 14.30 10.70 10.98 11.04 0.06 0.33 -3.27 14.23 12.55 12.59 12.60 0.01 0.05 -1.63 1.22 1.20 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

80 13.87 10.44 10.69 10.74 0.05 0.30 -3.13 14.19 12.52 12.56 12.56 0.01 0.04 -1.63 1.22 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

90 13.51 10.23 10.46 10.50 0.05 0.27 -3.01 14.15 12.49 12.52 12.53 0.01 0.04 -1.62 1.21 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

100 13.21 10.06 10.26 10.31 0.04 0.24 -2.91 14.12 12.47 12.50 12.51 0.01 0.03 -1.62 1.21 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

125 12.69 9.75 9.91 9.95 0.03 0.20 -2.74 14.07 12.43 12.45 12.46 0.00 0.03 -1.61 1.21 1.19 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

150 12.32 9.53 9.67 9.70 0.03 0.16 -2.62 14.03 12.40 12.42 12.43 0.00 0.02 -1.60 1.21 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

175 12.05 9.37 9.49 9.52 0.02 0.14 -2.54 14.00 12.38 12.40 12.40 0.00 0.02 -1.60 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

200 11.85 9.25 9.36 9.38 0.02 0.13 -2.47 13.98 12.37 12.38 12.38 0.00 0.02 -1.60 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
                                           

P
age 69

A
ppendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page A-11 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

Receptor 33N – A22 at Wych Cross                                   
 Annual Mean NOx (ug/m3) Annual Mean Total N Dep (kg N/ha/yr) Annual Mean Total N Acid Dep (keq/ha/yr) 

Distanc
e  BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change BL Proj BL DN DS Change 

From 
Road 
(m) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

Baselin
e 

Proj 
Baseline 

(Base 
2033) 

(Scn1 
2033) 

(DS-
DN) 

(DS-
ProjBL) 

(DS-
BL) 

0 37.40 24.56 26.50 26.69 0.19 2.13 -10.71 16.70 14.51 14.79 14.82 0.03 0.31 -1.88 1.40 1.34 1.36 1.37 0.00 0.02 -0.03 
5 26.02 17.73 18.86 18.97 0.11 1.23 -7.05 15.51 13.56 13.73 13.74 0.02 0.18 -1.77 1.31 1.28 1.29 1.29 0.00 0.01 -0.02 

10 21.40 14.97 15.77 15.85 0.08 0.88 -5.55 15.02 13.18 13.30 13.31 0.01 0.13 -1.72 1.28 1.25 1.26 1.26 0.00 0.01 -0.02 
15 18.94 13.50 14.11 14.19 0.08 0.69 -4.76 14.76 12.97 13.06 13.07 0.01 0.10 -1.69 1.26 1.23 1.24 1.24 0.00 0.01 -0.02 
20 17.39 12.57 13.07 13.12 0.05 0.56 -4.27 14.59 12.84 12.92 12.92 0.01 0.08 -1.67 1.25 1.22 1.23 1.23 0.00 0.01 -0.02 
30 15.53 11.47 11.84 11.87 0.03 0.40 -3.67 14.39 12.69 12.74 12.75 0.01 0.06 -1.65 1.23 1.21 1.22 1.22 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
40 14.47 10.84 11.13 11.16 0.03 0.32 -3.31 14.28 12.60 12.64 12.65 0.00 0.05 -1.63 1.22 1.21 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
50 13.79 10.42 10.67 10.69 0.03 0.27 -3.09 14.20 12.54 12.58 12.58 0.00 0.04 -1.62 1.22 1.20 1.21 1.21 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
60 13.29 10.13 10.34 10.37 0.02 0.23 -2.93 14.15 12.50 12.53 12.53 0.00 0.03 -1.62 1.21 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
70 12.95 9.92 10.10 10.12 0.02 0.20 -2.82 14.11 12.47 12.50 12.50 0.00 0.03 -1.61 1.21 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
80 12.67 9.75 9.92 9.94 0.02 0.18 -2.73 14.08 12.45 12.47 12.47 0.00 0.03 -1.61 1.21 1.20 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
90 12.45 9.62 9.77 9.79 0.02 0.16 -2.66 14.06 12.43 12.45 12.45 0.00 0.03 -1.61 1.21 1.19 1.20 1.20 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

100 12.27 9.52 9.65 9.67 0.02 0.15 -2.60 14.04 12.41 12.43 12.44 0.00 0.02 -1.60 1.21 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
125 11.94 9.32 9.43 9.44 0.01 0.12 -2.50 14.00 12.39 12.40 12.40 0.00 0.02 -1.60 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
150 11.71 9.18 9.28 9.29 0.01 0.11 -2.42 13.98 12.37 12.38 12.38 0.00 0.02 -1.60 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
175 11.54 9.08 9.16 9.18 0.01 0.09 -2.37 13.96 12.35 12.36 12.37 0.00 0.01 -1.59 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 
200 11.42 9.01 9.08 9.09 0.01 0.08 -2.33 13.95 12.34 12.35 12.35 0.00 0.01 -1.59 1.20 1.19 1.19 1.19 0.00 0.00 -0.01 

 

P
age 70

A
ppendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page B-12 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

Appendix B. Extract from Caporn et al (2010) 

Table 21 of Caporn et al (2010): Summary of relationships between long-term nitrogen deposition and species 
richness by habitat expressed as the amount of incremental N deposition (in kg N ha-1 yr-1) associated with a 
reduction in species richness of one species along the survey gradient sites. Modelled relationship only applied 
over N deposition range in which survey sites occurred; where no sites were surveyed at a given N deposition 
level ‘-‘ is shown. 

 
 

Page 71

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page C-13 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

Appendix C. Annual Drop-off Calculations for Intermediate Years 
between 2017 and 2033 

AECOM was asked to undertake calculations for intervening years between 2017 and 2033 (rather than 
simply the start year of 2017 and end year of 2033) in order to show whether NOx emissions in any given year 
would increase for any period before a decrease was observed. 

Traffic flow data for the interim years were derived from the 2033 traffic modelling for Tunbridge Wells Local 
Plan in late 2017. EFT v8.0.1 has been used to calculate annual drop off calculations to determine if there is a 
risk of an intermediate year having higher emissions than the scenarios currently tested by AECOM, although 
the latest modelling work for Ashdown Forest has used EFT v8.0.0. The differences in the EFT from V8.0.0 to 
v8.0.1 are reproduced below and should not affect this analysis. To confirm this interpretation the base 2017 
and DN/DS 2033 traffic data used in the previous assessment has been reprocessed to confirm the suitability 
for comparison of the different EFT versions. Changes from EFT v8.0.0 to EFT v8.0.1: 

• Bug fix to correct the bus and coach split on London roads when entering data using the Alternative 
Technologies traffic format input option only.  

• Bug fixes to allow compatibility with Excel 2007 and 64-bit instances of Excel.  
 

The drop off calculations have been calculated on the same basis as the 2033 assessment method utilised for 
the previous assessments, with only partial improvements assumed compared to  DEFRA predictions. The 
emission year associated with each year of traffic data is as follows: 

• Base 2017 traffic with 2017 emissions; 
• 2020 traffic with 2018 emissions; 
• 2023 traffic with 2019 emissions; 
• 2025 traffic with 2020 emissions; 
• 2028 traffic with 2021 emissions; 
• 2031 traffic with 2022 emissions; and 
• 2033 traffic with 2023 emissions (as presented in the assessments).  
 

The following graphs, presented separately for the ‘with’ (DS) and ‘without’ (DN) plan scenarios, show the 
emissions per link for each of the above scenarios. 

  

Page 72

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page C-14 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

Figure 1.  NOx Emission Rate (g/km/s) Per Year Per Link in DN Scenario 

 
 

Figure 1 demonstrates that, for the DN scenario (i.e. all growth except Tunbridge Wells Local Plan, Lewes 
JCS and South Downs Local Plan), emission rates are projected to fall year on year for each link included in 
the AECOM modelling despite the growth in traffic projected in the DN scenario. Each coloured line below 
represents a separate link. 

This effect is also present, although slightly less pronounced, in Figure 2, which represents the DS scenarios. 
The year on year fall in emissions trend remains the same.  The effect is slightly less pronounced than in the 
DN graph due to the additional traffic from the Local Plans that are incorporated into the DS traffic flows. 

Page 73

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page C-15 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

Figure 2.  NOx Emission Rate (g/km/s) Per Year Per Link in DS Scenario 

 
This analysis has not been carried through into a dispersion model assessment as it is considered this 
presentation of emission rates clearly falling is sufficient to illustrate that despite the increase in vehicle 
numbers in the future the increases under the AECOM analysis approach are not of sufficient magnitude to 
result in an increase in emissions. 

Summary 
 
The interim year emissions calculations demonstrate that there are no points where the increase in traffic due 
to growth or the local plan offsets the improvements in emission rates over time (using conservative 
assumptions on improvements in emission rates). Therefore no change to standard assessment practice of 
considering the full plan period is proposed.  

It is also essential to note that for vegetation long-term trends in air quality are more important than short-term 
fluctuations. The ecological effects of nitrogen deposition are most associated with persistent long-term 
exposure (i.e. many years). Whether growth will result (for example) in an increase in nitrogen deposition for a 
couple of years before improvements in emission factors and background rates ‘catch up’ would be less 
important than whether there will be a persistent net increase or decrease in deposition over the plan period. 

Page 74

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page D-16 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

Appendix D. Modelling ammonia emissions from traffic 

Data Sources 

The ammonia modelling has used 2015 road transport emission factors from the National Atmospheric 
Emissions Inventory website (NAEI, latest available data). This document produces average ammonia 
emission factors for various types of transport and environments in grams per kilometre (g/km). The NAEI 
road transport emission factors include average speed throughout the UK and the speeds used to derive 
these g/km emission rates may be different to the speeds used in the air quality model but this is a known 
limitation of the ammonia modelling. 

Concentration data for the ammonia modelling from AQC transects has been made available in the partially 
redacted report however the coordinates of the monitoring locations have not been provided. All of the images 
and data relating the transects and location of the NH3 sensors has been redacted save for the NO2 
monitored data maps (Figures A1.35 and A1.36 on pages 242/243 of AQC report). This NO2 monitoring map 
has been used this to identify the location of the transects as both NO2 and NH3 were monitored on the 
transects. The transects have been identified from the following information: 

• Transect 4 ends in monitoring location T18 and is near one of the AECOM modelled roads although NH3 
was not measured on this transect; 

• Transect 1 is the only transect extending west as stated on page 14 of the AQC report; 

• Transect 2 is opposite transect one as on page 88 it states “The pattern of fall-off is much steeper for 
Transect 1 than for Transect 2 , which may reflect the influence of prevailing wind direction on roadside 
concentrations”; and 

• Transect 3 has “relatively lower traffic volumes than the roads beside the other transects” so must be 
located in isolation away from the other transects. 

The AECOM model does not have a modelled link next to transect 3 therefore only transects 1 and 2 have 
been used to verify NH3 predictions. 

The coordinates for the NH3 monitoring locations on transect 1 and 2 have been approximated as the specific 
coordinates for the monitored locations have been redacted. The approximate locations have been confirmed 
in Google Earth as the measurements sites are visible. These have been informed by the angle from the road 
in the NO2 monitoring figure, distance from the road in the AQC report and given a height of 2m as the AQC 
report states that all ALPHA NH3 models were at 2m. 

A background concentration of 0.6 ug/m3 has been used from the NH3 DELTA samplers in the AQC report 
which states that these were background locations. 

The NH3 measurement data in transects 1 and 2 as used in the verification are presented in Table 2. 

Table 2.  Ammonia Monitoring 

Transect Distance from Road (m) Measured Concentration 
(µg/m3) 

Transect 1 1.7 1.7 
2.5 1.3 

Page 75

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page D-17 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

5.0 0.9 
10 0.9 
22 0.7 
100 0.6 

Transect 2 1.7 1.4 
2.5 1.3 
5.0 1.0 
10 0.9 
22 0.7 
100 0.8 

Source: AQC report- Ashdown Forest SAC, Air Quality Monitoring and Modelling, October 2017 

Transects 1 and 2 are represented in the ADMS-Roads model as follows, with Transect 1 to the west, upwind 
of the road, and Transect 2 to the east, down wind of the road. 

 
If the road was a notable source of ammonia it would be anticipated that Transect 2, as the downwind 
transect, would have higher concentrations than Transect 1. Whereas the measurement data shows the 
opposite trend at the closest points, with slightly higher ammonia concentrations upwind and identical 
concentrations at 5m.  

It can also be seen that concentrations of ammonia are very similar to measured background ammonia 
concentrations of 0.6 µg/m3 beyond 20m from the road. Any ammonia emissions due to the road are therefore 
considered to be observable in the measured data, but the patterns are less clear than would be expected 
from key road traffic pollutants (i.e. NOx), even at the measurement points within 5m of the road and they are  
largely imperceptible beyond 20m.  

The monitoring also shows an increase in ammonia concentrations at 100m on Transect 2, compared to 
closer points. This indicates that there is likely to be another source of ammonia in the vicinity of the 
monitoring and shows that other sources of ammonia may be more important locally than the road network.  

Verification 

Ammonia emissions were input based on a representative vehicle split for rural England in 2015 using data on 
vehicle fleet from the Emission Factor Toolkit published by Defra, and maintaining the light duty vehicle/heavy 
duty vehicle (LDV/HDV) split in the traffic data provided, using hot exhaust emission factors only from the 
NAEI 2015 road transport emission factors. 

Plotting monitored vs modelled total NH3 concentrations before any correction showed two clear patterns of 
behaviour with four points notably out of agreement with the rest of the dataset. These four points are the two 
closest points of each transect (at 1.7 and 2.5m) where concentrations are notably higher along with higher 
adjustment factors.  

Page 76

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page D-18 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

 
Using these input data an adjustment factor of 2.94 was calculated, with an RMSE of 0.2.  

The adjustment of the ammonia model highlights that the ammonia model is less accurate close to the road 
source (e.g. at 1.7-2.5m from the road source).  This supports the above observations of the measured 
ammonia concentrations that concentrations are most notably higher than background concentrations very 
close to the roads, as there is a larger under prediction at these verification locations closer to the road 
source. This under prediction doesn’t appear to be due to canyoning effects as it is fairly open at this location. 
The resultant verification factor, if applied elsewhere, is therefore conservative as these closest points are 
included within the overall factor derived above.  

Therefore, any ammonia predictions beyond this distance are likely to overestimate ammonia contributions, 
and beyond 20m, unless the road source is a much larger road than here, ammonia road contributions may 
not in reality be discernible at the ecosystem compared to normal ammonia background concentrations.  

Assessment 

Modelling has also been carried out to predict concentrations of ammonia and the influence of ammonia on 
nitrogen deposition rates using the methodology outlined above with the following assumptions for the 
assessment year: 

• 2033 with and without the local plan traffic flows; 

• 2023 traffic fleet mix (in keeping with NOx predictions); 

• 2015 ammonia emission rates (as projected rates are not available from the NAEI); and 

• Measured background concentration of 0.6 µg/m3 (as projected concentrations are not available). 

The contribution of ammonia to total nitrogen deposition was calculated using a deposition rate for ammonia 
of 0.02 m/s, taken from the CERC ADMS-Roads User Guide.  

0.0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.6

1.8

0.0 0.2 0.4 0.6 0.8 1.0

To
ta

l M
on

ito
re

d 
N

H
3 

Total Modelled NH3 

Modelled NH3 vs Monitored NH3 Before Adjustment 

Ammonia

Model = Monitored

Model Overestimation of
25%
Model Underestimation of
25%
Model Overestimation of
10%
Model Underestimation of
10%

Page 77

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page D-19 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

Even with the addition of ammonia as another source of nitrogen within the nitrogen deposition calculations, 
small rates of deposition are still predicted with a maximum change in deposition rate of 0.2 becoming 0.3 kg 
N ha-1 yr-1 at the edge of the road. 

 

Page 78

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page E-20 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

Appendix E. Commentary on Modelling Work Undertaken by Air Quality 
Consultants Ltd and on Wealden District Council’s Response to South 
Downs Local Plan 

  

Page 79

Appendix A



 

 
 

 
Dr James Riley  
AECOM 
Midpoint 
Alencon Link 
Basingstoke,  
Hampshire  
RG21 7PP 

 
 
 
Our Reference: 
 
Date: 02 February 2018 
 
SENT BY EMAIL ONLY  
 

Dear Dr Riley, 

Re: ASHDOWN FOREST HABITAT REGULATION ASSESSMENT 

 
Thank you for the work you have been doing for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council in recent months, 
helping the Council grapple with the difficult issues arising out of the judgment in Wealden DC v 
Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government [2017] EWHC 351 (Admin).  
 
The background is well known to you so I do not repeat it in detail here. Suffice to say that you have 
been assisting the Council in assessing whether planned growth in the Borough is likely – in 
combination with other plans and projects – to have significant adverse effects on the Ashdown 
Forest Special Area of Conservation (‘SAC’). For this purpose, AECOM has produced a draft Air 
Quality Impact Assessment (‘the AQIA’), assessing the likely air quality effects of planned growth in 
Tunbridge Wells Borough between 2017 – 2033 on the protected habitats in the Ashdown Forest. In 
parallel, AECOM has advised South Downs National Park on similar issues and produced a Habitats 
Regulations Assessment (‘the HRA’) of the emerging South Downs National Park Local Plan, which 
included a specific annex considering air quality issues specific to the Ashdown Forest. Both the 
AQIA and the HRA conclude that planned growth in each area is not likely – in combination with 
other plans and projects - to have significant adverse effects on the Ashdown Forest SAC.  
 
As you know, Wealden District Council has made representations objecting to the methodology in 
the HRA (which is the same methodology used in the AQIA). It has published a report prepared by 
Air Quality Consultants (‘the AQC Report’) that adopts a different, non-standard, methodology and – 
in some respects – reaches different conclusions. Wealden has also made representations to a 
number of local authorities (including TWBC) objecting, in the absence of an appropriate 
assessment, to the determination of planning applications that are likely to generate traffic 
movements through the Ashdown Forest. 
 
The local authorities affected by the Ashdown Forest air quality issues have formed an Ashdown 
Forest Working Group (‘AFWG’) to seek common ground and to narrow the issues in dispute. All 
parties are agreed that the authorities must act consistently with their legal duty to preserve the 
integrity of the protected habitat in the Ashdown Forest. The vast majority of participating authorities 
take the view that further growth can be achieved without breaching that duty and without the need 
for compensation or mitigation measures. Wealden DC, by contrast, appears to take the view that – 
in the absence of compensation or mitigation measures - further growth in the region is inconsistent 
with the legal duty under the Habitats Regulations. 
 

Page 80

Appendix A



 

 
 

TWBC is anxious to ensure that it complies with its legal duties under the Habitats Regulations. In 
light of the AQC Report, the Council is aware that it might now be said that there is at least 
“reasonable scientific doubt” as to the question of whether the air quality impacts of planned growth 
in Tunbridge Wells Borough – in combination with other plans and projects - will have significant 
adverse effects on the integrity of the Ashdown Forest SAC. In informal discussions on this matter, 
you have expressed the view that (save for the issue of ammonia emissions that you have not yet 
assessed) there is no reasonable scientific doubt in relation to that question and you are confident 
that the methodology adopted in the HRA and the AQIA is appropriate and reliable.  
 
With that in mind, the Council has provided you with (amongst other things): i) Wealden’s 
representations on the HRA; ii) the AQC Report; iii) the current draft of the Statement of Common 
Ground of the members of the AQWG; iv) a letter from Wealden DC to TWBC dated 10 January 
2018 in relation to a planning application for development on Land South Of Woodham Hall; and v) 
the ‘Statement from Wealden District Council for the Ashdown Forest Local Authorities Group’ sent 
under cover of a letter from Wealden DC dated 30 January 2018. 
 
The Council would like you / AECOM to consider that material and thereafter: 
 

(1) Finalise the TWBC AQIA, making amendments where necessary to take into account any 
new information, and providing an additional assessment of the likely effects of ammonia 
emissions on the Ashdown Forest SAC. 
 

(2) Produce an appendix to the AQIA to: 
 

a. Explain why your assessment has not relied on the 1000 AADT threshold considered 
in the Wealden judgment.   
 

b. Set out the key methodological differences between the AQC approach and the 
AECOM approach; 
 

c. Explain why either i) the methodological differences between AECOM and AQC make 
no difference to the outcome of the assessment; or ii) the AECOM methodology is 
preferable. In particular: 

 
i. Explain the evidential basis upon which AECOM has assumed an annual 1% 

decrease in background deposition rates and explain why that is a 
scientifically robust assumption notwithstanding historic over-estimates of 
predicted reductions and notwithstanding the AQC; and 
 

ii. Explain the relevance of ecological interpretation in assessing the likely 
significant effects of air pollution on the SAC, and its significance in AECOM’s 
and AQC’s assessments  

 
d. Give your expert opinion on whether all or any of the ‘scenarios’ modelled in the AQC 

Report are scientifically reasonable and, if so, what is the consequence for the 
Council’s ability to rely on AECOM’s conclusion that there are no likely significant 
adverse effects of planning growth in Tunbridge Wells Borough? 

 
e. Address any miscellaneous points arising out of the representations made by 

Wealden DC in response to the HRA and/or in relation to planning applications to 
explain why the criticisms/representations made by Wealden DC are misplaced. 

 

Page 81

Appendix A



 

 
 

f. Explain the consequences of the results of the AQIA for the determination of planning 
applications in TWBC.  

 
We would be grateful if you would provide the final AQIA and appendix by 9 February 2018.  
 
Separately – but related - you have been working with the Council to consider options for revising 
the 7km zone for SAMM/SANG contributions relating to the Ashdown Forest’s designation as a 
Special Protection Area.  We would be grateful if you would provide a final report on that work by 9 
February 2018. 
 
Once we have had a chance to consider the final reports, the Council will produce a replacement 
Practice Note to guide planning decision makers when determining applications that may have an 
impact on the Ashdown Forest as a SAC / SPA. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
 
Stephen Baughen 
Interim post: Building Control & Planning Policy Manager  
Permanent post: Building Control & Development Manager  
 
 

Page 82

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page E-21 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

Appendix E. Commentary on modelling work undertaken by Air Quality 
Consultants for Wealden District Council and on Wealden District 
Council’s response to the South Downs National Park Local Plan 
 
In Stephen Baughen’s letter dated 02/02/18 a series of points were set out (points 2a – 2e) that requested a response in 
addition to updating the Air Quality Impact Assessment. In those points AECOM was asked to: 
 

‘Produce an appendix to the AQIA to: 

a) Explain why your assessment has not relied on the 1000 AADT threshold considered in the Wealden judgment. 
b) Set out the key methodological differences between the AQC approach and the AECOM approach; 
c) Explain why either i) the methodological differences between AECOM and AQC make no difference to the outcome of 

the assessment; or ii) the AECOM methodology is preferable. In particular: 
d) Explain the evidential basis upon which AECOM has assumed an annual 1% decrease in background deposition 

rates and explain why that is a scientifically robust assumption notwithstanding historic over-estimates of predicted 
reductions and notwithstanding the AQC;  

e) Explain the relevance of ecological interpretation in assessing the likely significant effects of air pollution on the SAC, 
and its significance in AECOM’s and AQC’s assessments 

f) Give your expert opinion on whether all or any of the ‘scenarios’ modelled in the AQC Report are scientifically 
reasonable and, if so, what is the consequence for the Council’s ability to rely on AECOM’s conclusion that there are 
no likely significant adverse effects of planning growth in Tunbridge Wells Borough? 

g) Address any miscellaneous points arising out of the representations made by Wealden DC in response to the HRA 
and/or in relation to planning applications to explain why the criticisms/representations made by Wealden DC are 
misplaced’.  

 

The below response covers these points and constitutes the requested Appendix. 
 
Point 1(a) – the use of the 1,000 AADT metric 
 
The Wealden vs. Lewes case has undermined the value of the 1,000 AADT metric entirely. There are several fundamental 
points regarding the 1,000 AADT metric, which we cover below: 
 

1. It was only ever intended as a shorthand method to decide whether it is worth doing actual air quality modelling; the 
figure of 1,000 AADT has no special air quality significance in itself (other than being widely agreed in the industry 
that, when translated into air quality modelling, a change of less than 1,000 AADT generally works out to be a change 
in nitrogen deposition rate so far below any damage threshold that it could be ignored); 

2. It was only ever intended to be a first stage in the traffic/air quality assessment process. The core of the assessment 
process is the air quality modelling which is in any case a more robust way of examining impacts than simply 
scrutinising AADTs since it allows fleet composition, average vehicle speeds, habitat structure (in broad terms e.g. 
woodland or grassland), meteorology etc. to be taken into consideration, all of which influence deposition of 
pollutants.  

 

Therefore, if you have undertaken air quality calculations anyway, the 1,000 AADT metric is irrelevant as its only value is 
in determining if it is worth performing such calculations. Since the High Court case the main practical change has been 
the general abandonment of the 1,000 AADT metric: to use it cumulatively requires all the detailed traffic modelling that 
one would need for the air quality calculations anyway, so one may as well proceed straight to the air quality modelling. 

Page 83

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page E-22 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

This has the advantage of being a much more nuanced assessment than simply summing AADTs (see point 2 above) and 
is also inherently cumulative/in combination due to the way the models are built. 
 

Points 2(b) to 2(f) – comparison between the AECOM modelling and Air Quality Consultant’s modelling 
 

The key differences in modelling approach between the AQC work and AECOM work  
 
The key differences in modelling approach between the AECOM and AQC assessments are: 
 

• Pollutants considered; 
o Both assessments have considered NOx concentrations, ammonia, nitrogen deposition and acid 

deposition; 
o AQC also considered nitric oxide (NO), nitrogen dioxide (NO2), particulate ammonium (NH4

+), airborne 
reduced nitrogen (NHx)2 and particulate nitrate (NO3

-)3.  
• Air Quality model verification; 

o AQC utilised a single monitoring location for verification for Lewes Downs SAC. This monitoring point 
was located in a canyon location along the A26 (as described in Lewes Downs SAC Air Quality 
Assessment, Appendix A2 Modelling Methodology, paragraph A2.3) and was modelled using a canyon 
module to represent the specific reduced dispersion of pollutants associated with canyon locations and 
so higher concentrations within canyons. However, AQC did not use the canyon module elsewhere in 
the modelling indicating that the wider area (i.e. the Lewes Downs SAC under consideration) was not 
considered to be a canyon.  The verification used therefore was optimised to describe pollutant 
concentrations at the  canyon along part of the A26 and not the Lewes Downs SAC and so it is unclear 
how this will have better represented emissions within the ecosystem); 

• Background concentrations; 
o AECOM used Defra background maps; 
o AQC also used Defra background maps but carried out an additional calibration step using national 

monitoring data uplifting NOx background concentrations by 9.4% (as described in Lewes Downs SAC 
Air Quality Assessment, Appendix A2 Modelling Methodology, paragraph A2.8).  The methodology for 
derivation of this factor is not provided fully in the document referenced (AQC, 2016, Deriving 
Background Concentrations of NOx and NO2 for use with CURED V2A), noting this calibration is based 
on background sites in the Automatic Urban and Rural Monitoring Network (AURN).  However, the 
method does not indicate whether this calibration is based on all ‘urban background’ locations, 
‘suburban background’ locations or ‘rural background’ locations, noting one example of a site at London 
Hillingdon that has been excluded.  A review of Figure 6, (op cit.) suggests that approximately 50 
background sites have been used, but that the relationship against the Defra background map is largely 
good, with a number of outlier points, suggesting that a wider review of sites, such as the review which 
excluded London Hillingdon had been carried out, may identify that there are other sites that should be 
excluded or that sites should be better grouped to describe specific types of site (e.g. urban or rural 
locations).  This may then result in a different calibration factor being derived for 2014 for this type of 
location.  It should also be noted that applying this same AQC calibration step to a baseline year of 2015 
would result in a reduction of NOx of 0.09%.  Therefore, whilst this additional calibration step has been 
used the factor employed may or may not be appropriate for the Lewes Downs SAC.   

o In those projects where baseline data has been gathered AECOM presents annual averages.  Very 
unusually, AQC have not presented their monitoring data for annual periods, despite this being possible 
for a large proportion of the data collected so showing normal year to year variations in pollutant 
concentrations is possible but not presented. Monitoring data is presented for 2 years of data collection 
up to the summer of 2016.  Therefore, as the report was published in October 2017 three years of data 
should have been available for consideration. Although, data was installed at a variety of points within 
the study a large proportion of data is available for 24 months or a large percentage of 24 months.  

Page 84

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page E-23 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

However, curiously data is not presented as annual averages, but as a two year average.  Significantly, 
this prevents the reader from understanding variations between the years of monitoring data as would 
be expected from annual monitoring surveys.  

• Deposition rates; 
o AECOM used deposition rates taken from APIS using a standard fixed deposition velocity (based on 

DMRB guidance), although sensitivity testing has been undertaken using the higher velocities 
referenced in the AQC report. 

o AQC used an approach where deposition rates were taken from APIS and using a standard fixed 
deposition velocity and also a temporally-variable approach to calculating deposition fluxes. Paragraph 
7.25 of the AQC report indicates that the modelling method used here involves much higher nitrogen 
deposition velocities than those used in standard modelling which will partly explain the greater forecast 
deposition rates that those identified in the AECOM report which uses the standard methods and 
deposition velocities. 

• Future air quality assumptions (NOx); 
o AECOM typically prepare two scenarios:  

 one assuming all Defra improvements (Emission Factor Toolkit (EFT)); and  
 one with background concentrations and emission rates from approximate midpoint (e.g. 2023 

for a 2030 plan) – this second scenario represents reasonable worst case. For the purposes of 
the modelling of Ashdown Forest only this scenario is reported. 

o AQC presented three scenarios:  
 official predictions using Defra rates of improvement;   
 a sensitivity test using the in-house CURED approach; and  
 no improvements in air quality. 

• Future air quality assumptions (nitrogen deposition) 
o AECOM assessments typically assume c.1% reduction per year in background deposition rate, which is 

half the amount advised in DMRB HA207/07 Annex F and so includes consideration of uncertainty in the 
rates of reduction over time in nitrogen deposition. 

o AQC prepared an assessment assuming that background nitrogen deposition rates will hold constant at 
the average 2013-2015 value, on the basis that there is a non-linear relationship between NOx 
emissions and N-deposition rates. 

The AQC modelling includes 24-hour NOx (known as the short-term critical level). The ecological value of the 24hr NOx 
metric is limited The WHO (2000) guidelines include a short-term (24 hour average) NOx critical level of 75 µg/m3. 
Originally set at 200 µg/m3, the guideline was considerably lowered in 2000 to reflect the fact that, globally, short-term 
episodes of elevated NOx concentrations are often combined with elevated concentrations of O3 or SO2, which can cause 
effects to be observed at lower NOx concentrations. However, high concentrations of O3 and SO2 are rarely recorded in 
the UK. As such, there is reason to conclude that in the UK the short-term NOx concentration mean is not especially 
ecologically useful as a threshold. The Centre for Ecology & Hydrology have commented that ‘UN/ECE Working Group on 
Effects strongly recommended the use of the annual mean value, as the long-term effects of NOx are thought to be more 
significant than the short-term effects’42. 
 
The AECOM report models all receptors as if they represented the ‘ideal’ habitat (heathland). In contrast, the AQC report 
models the habitats that are actually currently present. For the most affected areas this is woodland. However, woodland 
is not an SAC feature, so effects of the woodland are not relevant to consideration of impacts on the ability of the SAC to 
achieve its conservation objectives (the primary requirement of the HRA process). Woodland has a higher deposition flux 

                                                           
42 Sutton MA, Howard CM, Erisman JW, Billen G, Bleeker A, Grennfelt P, van Grinsven H, Grizzetti B. 2013. The 
European Nitrogen Assessment: Sources, Effects and Policy Perspectives. Page 414. Cambridge University Press. 
664pp. ISBN-10: 1107006120 
 June 2011. Manual on Methodologies and Criteria for Modelling and Mapping Critical Loads & Levels and Air Pollution 
Effects, Risks and Trends. Chapter 3: Mapping Critical Levels for Vegetation 

Page 85

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page E-24 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

than heathland; for this reason (and because of the use of higher deposition velocities as already mentioned) the modelled 
nitrogen deposition rates reported are often higher than in the AECOM model. 
 
Why the AECOM approach is preferable 
The AQC approach presents four unrealistically conservative future scenarios and two that we consider unrealistically 
optimistic. The most realistic scenarios presented by AQC (Scenarios 3 and 5) apply some conservatism to future 
emissions from diesel vehicles but assume all other future improvements occur as currently anticipated by Government, 
which is likely to present a too optimistic picture.  
 
In contrast, the approach to future rates of deposition in the less realistic scenarios are very conservative, assuming no 
change in background deposition rates despite noting within their report that since 1988 total nitrogen deposition has 
reduced by 13%, illustrating the presence of an existing improving trend. The deposition rate calculations undertaken by 
AQC utilising a temporally variable approach is not based on guidance and it is unclear exactly how the variable values 
were calculated.   
 
It is considered by AECOM, and also stated in paragraph 7.33 of the AQC report, that the future situation is most likely to 
be somewhere between the scenarios presented in the AQC report (paragraph 7.33 “Overall, the future-year deposition 
projections will have a level of uncertainty associated with them, but it is not unreasonable to expect the reality to lie 
somewhere between the different scenarios that have been modelled.”) i.e. somewhat less optimistic than AQC Scenarios 
3 and 5 but considerably better than the other AQC Scenarios.  
 
AECOM’s modelled scenario falls into this middle ground. The AECOM approach is based on published methods and 
guidance documents, (e.g. Defra and DMRB), with conservative assumptions made where appropriate (e.g. partial future 
improvements in concentrations, emissions and deposition rates). The AECOM approach predicts a scientifically 
reasonable realistic worst case assessment of future air quality and deposition, rather than a range of overly conservative 
or optimistic predictions. For example, with regard to nitrogen deposition the AQC report produced for Ashdown Forest 
SAC states in paragraph 3.10 that since 1988, the total deposition of nitrogen has decreased by 13%. Paragraph 7.30 of 
the same report states that oxidised nitrogen deposition decreased by 14% between 1988 and 2010. This is an 
improvement of 0.59% (total nitrogen) or 0.64% (oxidised nitrogen) per annum on average. The AECOM modelling 
assumes a modest improvement in background nitrogen deposition from 2017 to 2033 equivalent to 0.75% per annum on 
average. This is not a substantive difference from past trends, and as new vehicles (i.e. Euro 6/VI) with reduced emissions 
replace older vehicles in the vehicle fleet it makes sense to allow for a slightly increased average rate of improvement in 
the future.  This can be seen in the real world emission tests reported in the Department for Transport Vehicle Emissions 
Testing Programme (2016) which shows that under real world driving conditions Euro 6 emissions are on average lower 
than the older Euro 5 standard. 
 
The AQC study uses a bespoke modelling method for nitrogen deposition. They relate it to an Environment Agency study 
published in 2008 (paragraph 7.22). However, paragraph 7.24 of the AQC report acknowledges that one of the drawbacks 
of the bespoke ‘first principles’ method is that ‘… some of the parameters used in the deposition model are highly 
uncertain’ and that small variations in some, such as stomatal resistance, could have quite large effects on the resulting 
deposition fluxes. All forecasting methods have their benefits and drawbacks and one risk of using an extremely complex 
model is that there is more room for uncertainties to affect the results due to the greater number of uncertain parameters 
in the model. 
 
Whether any or all of the AQC ‘scenarios’ represent a scientifically ‘reasonable’ approach 
Seven scenarios have been considered within the AQC report: 
 
• Scenario 1 is a scientifically reasonable representation of current baseline but only represents the baseline rather 

than any forecasting. 
 

• Scenarios 2 (without the Wealden Local Plan) and 4 (with the Wealden Local Plan) postulate future (2028) scenarios 
assuming no improvements in any rates (emissions, deposition), backgrounds etc. Since they assume no 

Page 86

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page E-25 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

improvement whatsoever (and thus a reversal of long-established trends), these are considered to be an 
unrealistically pessimistic assessment of the future situation and thus not scientifically reasonable. Even the AQC 
Ashdown Forest and Lewes Downs reports acknowledge as much. The AQC Ashdown Forest report states (in 
paragraph 7.11) that ‘It is considered that, with respect to vehicular NOx emissions, Scenarios 3 and 5 provide a 
reasonable worst-case assessment, while Scenarios 2, 4, 6, and 7 provide an extreme worst-case upper-bound’. In 
the Lewes Downs report AQC state that ‘The results from the sensitivity test and worst-case scenario are likely to 
over-predict emissions from vehicles in the future’. 
 

• Scenarios 3 (without the Wealden Local Plan) and 5 (with the Wealden Local Plan) represent the future (2028) 
scenarios assuming that projected DMRB/Defra improvements in rates (emissions, deposition), backgrounds etc. are 
fully realised. AQC’s assessment utilises their bespoke CURED tool to apply a more pessimistic view of 
improvements in diesel emissions for the future scenario than the published Defra emission rates. This is therefore 
likely to contain a more reasonable assessment of future emissions than other scenarios assessed; however as only 
one parameter has been adjusted to account for reduced optimism in future emission rates, whilst assuming full 
projected improvements in deposition rates and background concentrations, it is likely that these scenarios will 
present an unrealistically optimistic assessment of the future situation. 
 

• Scenarios 6 (without the Wealden Local Plan) and 7 (with the Wealden Local Plan) postulate the future (2028) 
scenarios assuming emissions per vehicle, primary NO2 proportions, and rural background ozone concentrations 
remain at 2015 values (i.e. no improvement), but with HNO3, particulate deposition, and wet deposition projected to 
2028. These scenarios are also considered to be unrealistically pessimistic and thus scientifically unreasonable, for 
the same reasons as Scenarios 2 and 4.   

In AECOM’s view the most scientifically reasonable scenario(s) that AQC have postulated are Scenario 3/5 (although we 
nonetheless consider them to be excessively optimistic in their assumptions of improvements in background emissions 
and deposition rates). These are the scenarios that mirror the trends the AECOM analysis has forecast: 
 
• With regard to ‘in combination’ trends in NOx concentrations, paragraphs 10.55 and 10.56 of the AQC report state 

that: ‘Predicted annual mean NOx concentrations in 2028 with the Local Plan are, in this emissions scenario 
[Scenario 5], lower than those at present. This is because the predicted changes in emissions from the average 
road vehicle more than offset the increases in traffic that are predicted over the same period. Over most of the SAC, 
the predicted reductions in NOx concentrations are less than 4 μg/m3, but close to roads the reductions are greater, 
with changes [reductions] greater than 8 μg/m3 predicted alongside many of the roads’. 
 

• With regard to trends in nitrogen deposition rates, paragraph 10.72 of the AQC report states that ‘Increases [in 
nitrogen deposition due to the Wealden Local Plan] greater than 0.05 kg-N/ha/yr are predicted in the vicinity of roads, 
but extend out up to almost 300 m from the A22 and 100 m from the B2026. Increases greater than 1 kg-N/ha/yr 
[due to the Wealden Local Plan] are predicted close to the A22’. However, when moving to the ‘in combination’ 
discussion, paragraph 10.77 makes it clear that these ‘increases’ are considerably more than offset by a forecast 
large net reduction in nitrogen deposition. Paragraph 10.77 says: ‘For the reasons explained for NOx concentrations, 
nitrogen deposition is predicted to reduce across the entire SAC in this scenario comparison. The minimum reduction 
is 0.8 kg-N/ha/yr, which is predicted to occur at background locations to short vegetation. The maximum reduction 
is 14 kg-N/ha/yr, which is predicted to occur to woodland alongside the A22. The reductions are higher where 
the baseline fluxes are highest (i.e. over woodland and close to roads) because this is where the anticipated 
reductions in NOx emissions per vehicle are predicted to have the greatest effect’.  

Whether the results of that scientifically reasonable approach are ecologically significant and why 
The overall trends and relationships in AQC Scenarios 3/5 (the only scenario(s) we consider broadly reasonable) are 
similar to the trends and relationships that AECOM has forecast, notwithstanding the very different modelling methods. 
 

Page 87

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page E-26 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

The forecast contribution of future traffic to nitrogen deposition is considerably greater in the AQC model (more than 1 
kgN/ha/yr at the roadside of the A22 at Wych Cross) than in the AECOM model (0.31 kgN/ha/yr at the same location). 
Similarly, AQCs forecast net improvement in nitrogen deposition (a reduction of 14 kgN/ha/yr adjacent to the A22 at Wych 
Cross) is much greater than that forecast by AECOM (a reduction of 1.89 kgN/ha/yr forecast for the same location). 
However, these differences are likely due to a combination of the different habitats modelled (woodland in the AQC work, 
heathland in the AECOM work), the very different deposition modelling methods used and (regarding improvements in 
background) the fact that AQC postulate a percentage improvement in deposition (23%) that is nearly double that in the 
AECOM model (12%) and apply this to a higher baseline deposition rate (60 kgN/ha/yr adjacent to the A22 at Wych Cross 
according to paragraph 9.19 of the AQC report, compared to 15kgN/ha/yr at the same location in the AECOM model)43. 
 
The actual rates and concentrations are thus different between the two models, but the ecological interpretation of 
Scenarios 3/5 of the AQC modelling would mirror that of the AECOM scenario. A significant net improvement in nitrogen 
deposition is forecast even allowing for future growth and the forecast nitrogen contribution of that ‘in combination’ growth 
is not only more than offset by the expected improvement (which is expected to be an order of magnitude greater than the 
contribution of the additional traffic) but is unlikely to result in a measurable retardation in any heathland vegetation 
recovery/establishment that might otherwise occur. For example, Table 21 of NECR2010 records that at baseline 
deposition rates of 30kgN/ha/yr (the highest deposition rate cited in that report) a reduction in species richness equivalent 
to ‘1’ (i.e. a reduction in the frequency with which at least 1 species was encountered in a given sample quadrat) was 
associated in heathland with a dose (incremental increase) of 2.4kgN/ha/yr. While no areas with deposition rates as high 
as 60kgN/ha/yr were covered by the analyses in NECR2010 it is reasonable to conclude that the documented trend (i.e. 
an ever larger dose of nitrogen required to achieve the same negative effect as baseline deposition rates rise) will 
continue or level off at deposition rates above 30 kgN/ha/yr. Southon et al (2013) studied over fifty heathlands across 
England at deposition rates of up to 32.4kgN/ha/yr and found that above 20 kgN/ha/yr ‘… declines in species richness 
plateaued, indicating a reduction in sensitivity as N loading increased’. 
 
In the Statement of Common Ground being drawn up between the various authorities surrounding Ashdown Forest, 
Wealden District Council has argued that Natural England Research Report NECR2010 is not applicable to Ashdown 
Forest on the basis that: 
 
• The report did not include Ashdown Forest itself in its sample and thus did not include the influence of local conditions 

at that site, including the current condition of the heathland; 
• There was limited coverage of heathland sites located in the south-east of England; and 
• The analysis did not include wet heath. 

In fact, the heathland sites covered by the research reported in NECR2010 had a wide geographic spread and were 
subject to a range of different ‘conditions’ but the identified trends were nonetheless observable. The fact that a given 
heathland site may not have been included in the sample cannot be a basis for the identified trend to be dismissed as 
inapplicable. On the contrary, the value of the available dose-response research is precisely in the fact that it covers a 
geographic range of sites subject to a mixture of different influences that might otherwise mask the nitrogen relationships if 
a given site was looked at in isolation. NECR2010 illustrates that consistent trends have been identified despite the 
differing geographic locations of those habitats and different conditions at the sites involved.  
 
Heathland and acid grassland (a related habitat that is often found intermixed with heathland) have been particularly well 
studied across broad geographical, climatic and pollution gradients covering different levels of soil organic matter, rates of 
nutrient cycling, plant species assemblages and management regimes. Despite this, the overall trends, including that a 
given ‘dose’ of nitrogen generally has less effect on a range of vegetation parameters as background deposition rates rise 
has been reported by various peer reviewed academic papers44. Southon et al (2013) surveyed 52 heathlands across 
                                                           
43 This difference in baseline rates is because the AECOM model uses Defra modelled baseline data and models 
heathland at this location, while AQC uses local measured data and models woodland at this location. 
44 Stevens, C. J.; Dise, N. B.; Gowing, D. J. G. and Mountford, J. O. (2006). Loss of forb diversity in 
relation to nitrogen deposition in the UK: regional trends and potential controls. Global Change Biology,12(10), pp. 1823–
1833. 

Page 88

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page E-27 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

England and observed statistically significant trends despite the large differences in conditions of these heathlands. That 
paper specifically states that ‘the biggest reductions in species number [were] associated with increasing N inputs at the 
low end of the deposition range’ and that ‘The similarity of relationships between upland and lowland environments, across 
broad spatial and climatic gradients, highlights the ubiquity of relationships with N’.  
 
Based on the consistent trend across the range of habitats studied (including wet habitats such as bogs as well as lowland 
heathland, upland heathland and dune systems) there is no basis to assume that the identified trends would not be 
applicable to all types of heath, including wet heath. Upland heathlands tend to be wetter than lowland heathlands due to 
climate differences and yet the same pattern has been observed as reported in Southon et al (2013). 
 
Due to the existence of other influences (such as management) that have a much greater effect on relevant 
vegetation parameters than does nitrogen deposition, there can be no absolute certainty that the reported 
trends would be observed in a given part of Ashdown Forest. However, there is a reasonable scientific 
expectation that the observed relationships would be detected if Ashdown Forest was included in the broader 
sample. 

Point 2(g) – g) Address any miscellaneous points arising out of the representations made by Wealden DC 
in response to the HRA 

AECOM is aware that Wealden District Council submitted a response to the South Downs National Park Local Plan 
consultation which made a number of criticisms of AECOM’s original modelling work undertaken in summer 2017. We 
respond to the relevant points below. 
 
Complaint 1: Failure to take account in the Lewes Downs SAC modelling of additional Wealden growth identified since 
2015  
This complaint does not relate to Ashdown Forest and so a substantive response is not provided here. 
 
Complaint 2: Failure to take account of growth that has already been delivered prior to 2017 in the Ashdown Forest 
modelling 
The model does include traffic already on the network, and thus includes the role of development completed prior to 2017. 
The ‘Do Something’ 2033 air quality forecast includes existing NOx concentrations and nitrogen deposition (and thus the 
projects/plans that will have contributed to them). Doing so illustrates that, even including both the existing traffic and 
further emissions/deposition due to additional traffic, there is forecast to be a net improvement in air quality by 2033 due to 
projected improvements in those background concentrations/rates and vehicle emission factors.  
 
Complaint 3: Suggestion that the area affected by exhaust emissions can extend beyond 200m 
In all cases our modelled transects show that NOx concentrations and nitrogen deposition rates are forecast to fall to 
background levels well before 200m from the roadside.  In any event the greatest impact will always be recorded closest 
to the road and using this roadside data will provide the most precautionary assessment. Therefore there is no value in 
extending transects any further. 
 
Complaint 4: Failure to take account of uncertainty regarding improvements in emissions and deposition 
The specific comment made by Wealden was as follows: ‘There is uncertainty with regards to projected future vehicle 
emissions of NOx and this alone would mean that a precautionary approach should be used within the HRA. If there is a 
decrease in NOx concentrations from vehicles, the interaction between NOx and nitrogen deposition has not been 
considered as well as the role of ammonia in this regard. This is a particular issue as the levels of emissions of ammonia 

                                                                                                                                                                                                   
Southon GE, Field C, Caporn SJM, Britton AJ, Power SA (2013) Nitrogen Deposition Reduces Plant Diversity and Alters 
Ecosystem Functioning: Field-Scale Evidence from a Nationwide Survey of UK Heathlands. PLoS ONE 8(4): e59031. 
doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0059031 
Stevens, Carly; Dupre, Cecilia; Dorland, Edu; Gaudnik, Cassandre; Gowing, David J. G.; Bleeker, Albert; Diekmann, 
Martin; Alard, Didier; Bobbink, Roland; Fowler, David; Corcket, Emmanuel; Mountford, J. Owen; Vandvik, Vigdis; 
Aarrestad, Per Arild; Muller, Serge and Dise, Nancy B. (2010). Nitrogen deposition threatens species richness of 
grasslands across Europe. Environmental Pollution, 158(9), pp. 2940–2945. 

Page 89

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page E-28 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

from vehicles in the future is unknown, is not currently regulated, and there is a potential for emissions to increase. This 
provides an added reason for the need to apply the precautionary principle when considering the impact of emissions. In 
this regard the HRA is considered to be incomplete.’ 
 
The appropriate use of the precautionary principle is not simply to assume that the worst outcome conceivable is the one 
that will happen. It also involves making a balanced judgment based on past trends and the likelihood of those trends 
continuing or increasing. There is a long history of improving trends in key pollutants (notably NOx) and in nitrogen 
deposition rates, and there is no reason to expect that will suddenly cease; on the contrary, as new vehicles (i.e. Euro 
6/VI) with reduced emissions replace older vehicles in the vehicle fleet it makes sense to allow for a slightly increased 
average rate of improvement in the future. This can be seen in the real world emission tests reported in the Department for 
Transport Vehicle Emissions Testing Programme (2016) which shows that under real world driving conditions Euro 6 
emissions are on average lower than the older Euro 5 standard. AECOM has therefore made a precautionary allowance 
for improvements in background NOx concentrations. On the other hand, in our ammonia modelling no allowance has 
been made for improvement in background concentrations. 
 
With regard to nitrogen deposition the AQC report produced for Ashdown Forest SAC states in paragraph 3.10 that total 
nitrogen deposition (i.e. taking account of both reduced and oxidised nitrogen) decreased by 13% between 1988 and 
2010. This is an improvement of 0.59% (total nitrogen) per annum on average. The AECOM modelling assumes an 
improvement in background nitrogen deposition from 2017 to 2033 equivalent to 0.75% per annum on average. This is not 
a substantive difference, and given the introduction of new vehicles with reduced emissions (as described above) it makes 
sense to allow for a slightly increased average rate of improvement in the future. The AECOM assessment presents a 
realistic worst-case that is considerably more cautious than those advocated in the only available Government guidance 
on the issue (Defra concerning NOx rates of improvement and DMRB concerning rates of N-deposition improvements). 
 
While the AQC reports produced for Wealden District Council include numerous scenarios that assume no improvement in 
background emissions and deposition rates (and thus a net deterioration in both), we note that AQC themselves do not 
consider those scenarios to be realistic. The AQC Ashdown Forest report states in paragraph 7.11 that ‘It is considered 
that, with respect to vehicular NOx emissions, Scenarios 3 and 5 [which make significant allowances for improvement in 
NOx concentrations and background nitrogen deposition rates] provide a reasonable [emphasis added] worst-case 
assessment, while Scenarios 2, 4, 6, and 7 [which make no allowance for improvement in background] provide an 
extreme [emphasis added] worst-case upper-bound’. An ‘extreme’ case, while not impossible, is unreasonable and 
unrealistic almost by definition. Similarly, in the Lewes Downs report AQC state that ‘The results from the sensitivity test 
and worst-case scenario are likely to over-predict emissions from vehicles in the future’. AECOM agrees with the 
statement in paragraph 7.33 of the AQC Ashdown Forest report that ‘Overall, the future-year deposition projections will 
have a level of uncertainty associated with them, but it is not unreasonable to expect the reality to lie somewhere between 
the different scenarios that have been modelled.’ i.e. somewhat less optimistic than AQC Scenarios 3 and 5 but 
considerably better than the other AQC Scenarios. AECOM’s modelled scenario falls into this middle ground. 
 
Complaint 5: ‘The modelling only considers the base date and one date in the future (last year of the Plan period). By 
assuming that there is a reduction by the end of the plan period it cannot take into account the potential damage caused 
by the emissions at the higher level (earlier in the plan period)’. 
Appendix C of AECOM’s updated modelling report contains an analysis of intervening years between 2017 and 2033 to 
confirm that year-on-year net improvement in emissions is expected. Moreover, for vegetation, long-term trends in air 
quality are more important than short-term fluctuations. The ecological effects of nitrogen deposition are most associated 
with persistent long-term exposure (i.e. many years). Whether growth will result (for example) in an increase in nitrogen 
deposition for a couple of years before improvements in emission factors and background rates ‘catch up’ would be less 
important than whether there will be a persistent net increase or decrease in deposition over the plan period. 
 
Complaint 6: Failure to account for ammonia emissions 
AECOM’s modelling has been updated to account for ammonia emissions. Due to the aforementioned uncertainties no 
allowance for improvement in background ammonia concentrations has been factored into AECOM’s modelling. 
 

Page 90

Appendix A



AECOM Tunbridge Wells Borough Council  Page E-29 
 

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: Ashdown Forest SAC Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 

March 2018 
 

Complaint 7: Failure to consider air quality impacts on Pevensey Levels SAC 
This complaint does not relate to Ashdown Forest and so a substantive response is not provided here. 
 
Complaint 8: Suggestion that the model/scenarios in the AQC report are ‘better’ than the standard method  
The AQC studies use a bespoke modelling method for nitrogen deposition that goes back to first principles (such as 
stomatal resistance), but is related to an Environment Agency study published in 2008 (paragraph 7.22). The fact that a 
given model is more detailed or elaborate does not necessarily mean it is any more likely to accurately forecast local air 
quality by 2033 because there is a need to make judgment-based decisions over parameters and future trends that may or 
may not be correct whatever model is used. One risk of using a complex model is its inherent complexity: there are a large 
number of parameters in the model and greatly varying levels of certainty in those parameters. Paragraph 7.24 of the AQC 
report acknowledges this where it states that ‘… some of the parameters used in the deposition model are highly 
uncertain’ and notes that small variations in some, such as stomatal resistance, could have quite large effects on the 
resulting deposition fluxes. This doesn’t mean that such a model shouldn’t be used if desired but given the uncertainties in 
any forecasting it is at least equally defensible to follow the existing simpler method that is deployed as standard good 
practice and supported by Natural England. While there are uncertainties in (for example) the relationship between NOx 
concentrations and nitrogen deposition these must be addressed whatever model is used and the improvements in 
nitrogen deposition rate included in the AECOM modelling are in line with recorded trends, as identified earlier in this note.  
 
The Wealden studies prepared by AQC have modelled a range of scenarios which differ greatly in their outcomes for the 
same traffic data, ranging from predicting a large net increase in nitrogen deposition to predicting a large net reduction. 
AQC acknowledge in their reports that most of their modelled scenarios are unrealistic. The scenario that AQC themselves 
identify as being most realistic (Scenarios 3 and 5 in the Ashdown Forest report) broadly correspond with the AECOM 
modelling, notwithstanding the considerable difference in methodological details. It forecasts additional nitrogen deposition 
due to additional traffic but predicts that this will be more than offset by improvements in background and emission factors, 
leading to a large net reduction in nitrogen deposition. Indeed, the allowances made in the AECOM modelling for 
improvements in background rates/concentrations and emission factors are actually more conservative than those in AQC 
scenarios 3 and 5. 
 
Complaint 9: It is considered that Plans that allocate sites, and propose that these sites are deliverable, should have a 
greater level of assessment than a strategic plan which does not distribute growth to certain areas 
For Ashdown Forest we have modelled growth across South Downs and Lewes District, Tunbridge Wells Borough and 
Sevenoaks District in detail (i.e. using information on site allocations).  
 

Page 91

Appendix A



Purpose of Issue

Project Title

Drawing Title

Drawn Checked

Midpoint
Alençon Link, Basingstoke
Hampshire, RG21 7PP
Telephone (01256) 310200
Fax (01256) 310201
www.aecom.com

AECOM

DateApproved

RevDrawing Number

FIGURE 1 01

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN PREPARED PURSUANT TO AND SUBJECT TO THE
TERMS OF AECOM'S APPOINTMENT BY ITS CLIENT. AECOM ACCEPTS NO LIABILITY

FOR ANY USE OF THIS DOCUMENT OTHER THAN BY ITS ORIGINAL CLIENT OR
FOLLOWING AECOM'S EXPRESS AGREEMENT TO SUCH USE, AND ONLY FOR THE

PURPOSES FOR WHICH IT WAS PREPARED AND PROVIDED.

AECOM Internal Project No. Scale @ A3
60470147 1:27,500
CN JW JR 13/09/2017

Client

File
 Na

me
:I:\5

004
 - In

form
atio

n S
yst

em
s\6

047
014

7_A
shd

ow
n_F

ore
st\0

2_M
aps

\Fig
ure

 1 -
 Lo

cat
ion

 of 
Mo

del
led

 Tra
nse

cts
.mx

d

0.5 0 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 km

LEGEND
Modelled Receptor
Ashdown Forest Special Area of
Conservation (SAC)

LOCATIONS OF
MODELLED TRANSECTS

AIR QUALITY ASSESSMENT FOR 
ASHDOWN FOREST SAC

FINAL
SOUTH DOWNS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY AND LEWES DISTRICT COUNCIL

THIS DRAWING IS TO BE USED ONLY FOR THE PURPOSE OF
ISSUE THAT IT WAS ISSUED FOR AND IS SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT

 
Copyright
Contains Ordnance Survey Data © Crown Copyright
and database right 2017
© Natural England material is reproduced with the 
permission of Natural England 2017

6aNE

6aSW
6aSE

6b

6b_37_33

37W

37E
33N

33

34

38

P
age 92

A
ppendix A



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
About AECOM 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AECOM (NYSE: ACM) is a global provider of professional technical and management support services to a broad range of 
markets, including transportation, facilities, environmental, energy, water and government. With approximately 100,000 
employees around the world, AECOM is a leader in all of the key markets that it serves. AECOM provides a blend of global 
reach, local knowledge, innovation, and collaborative technical excellence in delivering solutions that enhance and sustain the 
world’s built, natural, and social environments. A Fortune 500 company, AECOM serves clients in more than 100 countries and 
has annual revenue in excess of $6 billion. 
 
More information on AECOM and its services can be found at www.aecom.com. 

Scott House 
Alençon Link 
Basingstoke 
Hampshire 
RG21 7PP 
United Kingdom  
+44 1256 310200 

Page 93

Appendix A



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 95

Appendix B



Page 96

Appendix B



Page 97

Appendix B



Page 98

Appendix B



Page 99

Appendix B



Page 100

Appendix B



Page 101

Appendix B



Page 102

Appendix B



Page 103

Appendix B



Page 104

Appendix B



Page 105

Appendix B



Page 106

Appendix B



Page 107

Appendix B



Page 108

Appendix B



Page 109

Appendix B



Page 110

Appendix B



Page 111

Appendix B



Page 112

Appendix B



Page 113

Appendix B



Page 114

Appendix B



Page 115

Appendix B



Page 116

Appendix B



Page 117

Appendix B



Page 118

Appendix B



Page 119

Appendix B



Page 120

Appendix B



Page 121

Appendix B



Page 122

Appendix B



   

 

 
  

 

Practice Note 2018  
Ashdown Forest:  
Screening of planning applications for compliance with the 
Habitats Regulations 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Planning Services 
Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge Wells, Kent. TN1 1RS 
Telephone  01892 526121    

 

Page 123

Appendix C



   

 

 
  

 

Table of Contents 

1. Introduction ...................................................................................................... 1 

2. Recreational pressure ..................................................................................... 2 

           Introduction...................................................................................................... 2 

3. Air quality ......................................................................................................... 3 

           Introduction...................................................................................................... 3 

Processing individual applications .............................................................................. 4 

Appendix A  Tunbridge Wells Borough: Ashdown Forest Air Quality Impact 
Assessment 2018 ........................................................ Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 

Page 124

Appendix C



   

 

1 
 

1. Introduction 
1.1 This Practice Note is intended to guide Tunbridge Wells Borough Council (‘the Council’) in the 

discharge of its functions under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 

when considering whether to grant planning permission for a development that might affect the 

Ashdown Forest Special Protection Area (SPA) and/or Special Area of Conservation (SAC). It is 

not planning policy and does not override the Council’s legal duties; however, decision makers 

will follow the approach set out in this Practice Note unless the individual circumstances of an 

application and/or the Council’s legal duties require an alternative approach.  

1.2 Ashdown Forest is an extensive area of common land lying between East Grinstead and 

Crowborough. It is one of the largest single continuous blocks of heath, semi-natural woodland 

and valley bog in south-east England, and it supports several uncommon plants, a rich 

invertebrate fauna, and important populations of heath and woodland birds. It is both an SPA 

and an SAC. 

1.3 The SPA is designated for its populations of breeding Dartford Warbler Sylvia undata and 

Nightjar Caprimulgus europaeus. The SAC is designated for its Annex I habitats, namely 

Northern Atlantic wet heaths with Erica tetralix and European dry heaths; as well as for its 

Annex II species, namely Great Crested Newts. 

1.4 Although the SPA/SAC lies entirely within Wealden District, it is capable of being affected by 

development consented by the Council. The SPA can be affected by recreational pressure 

arising from population growth in that part of Tunbridge Wells Borough closest to the SPA. The 

SAC can be affected by an increase in emissions from vehicles using roads (including the A26 

and A275) that run through and adjacent to it. As a result, the Conservation of Habitats and 

Species Regulations 2017 (‘the Habitats Regulations’) require the Council, as competent 

authority, to consider – upon receipt of a planning application – whether it can exclude the 

possibility that the proposed development could have likely significant effects on the SPA/SAC. 

If that possibility cannot be excluded at the so-called ‘screening’ stage, an appropriate 

assessment of effects is required.   

1.5 In May 2013, the Council adopted a Practice Note to guide the discharge of its obligations as 

competent authority when considering the effects of individual planning applications on the 

Ashdown Forest SAC and SPA. Since that practice note was prepared, a further visitor survey 

was undertaken for Ashdown Forest (in 2016), a judicial review of relevance to decision-making 

over ‘in combination’ assessment has been undertaken and (in light of that judicial review) the 

Council has commissioned strategic traffic and air quality modelling for Ashdown Forest SAC 

and SPA. In light of those developments, the Council has considered whether it is necessary to 

revise its practice and has concluded:  

 In relation to planning applications that may add to recreational pressure on the SPA, 

the Council will – until further notice - continue to apply the pre-existing approach 

explained in more detail below; 

 

 In relation to planning applications that may generate additional vehicle movements 

through or adjacent to the Ashdown Forest SAC, the Council will adopt a new approach 

as set out below. 

 

1.6 This Practice Note supersedes the 2013 Practice Note and explains in detail how the Council 

will consider applications at the screening stage of assessment for compliance with the 

Habitats Regulations.  

  

Page 125

Appendix C



   

 

2 
 

2. Recreational pressure 

Introduction 
2.1 Tunbridge Wells Borough is 4.6km from the SAC/SPA boundary at its closest. In 2010 a visitor 

survey of Ashdown Forest SAC/SPA was undertaken
1
. This survey fed into Habitats 

Regulations Assessment (‘HRA’) reports of strategic documents at the time. These essentially 

identified a strategy broadly analogous to that devised for the Thames Basin Heaths; namely 

the identification of a series of zones around the SAC/SPA each of which triggered a 

combination of provision of alternative greenspace and improved access management. At that 

time, a 7 km ‘outer zone’ for Ashdown Forest SAC/SPA was agreed with Natural England
2
. 

Authorities that granted consent for development within the 7 km ‘zone’ were required to 

provide a financial contribution to Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspaces (SANGs), and/or an 

access strategy (SAMM) for Ashdown Forest as well as a programme of monitoring and 

research.  This approach was supported by Natural England and the Ashdown Forest 

Conservators.  

2.2 In 2016 Footprint Ecology updated the visitor survey
3
 on behalf of the participating Councils. 

The survey was updated to provide comprehensive and up-to-date data on recreational use of 

Ashdown Forest to inform the strategic implementation of access management measures and 

the direction of strategic access management and monitoring; to assist in the design and 

ongoing management of SANGs to ensure they functionally divert recreational pressure from 

Ashdown Forest; and to assist local authorities in discharging their planning functions under the 

Habitats Regulations. That updated survey has resulted in a review of the zones agreed in 

2011, although the 7km zone is still recognised as a core zone for delivering mitigation.  

2.3 At the time of writing the implications of the visitor survey data for Tunbridge Wells Borough are 

under review. Therefore, for the time being the Council will continue to apply the existing 

approach agreed with Natural England, namely: 

i. Where proposed development would lead to a net increase in housing within 7km of the 

Ashdown Forest SAC, financial contributions will be sought to the SAMM strategy to 

mitigate the effects of increased recreational pressure on the SAC; 

 

ii. In the event that no financial contributions to the SAMM strategy are offered, applicants 

will be required to provide sufficient information to allow the Council, as competent 

authority, to carry out an appropriate assessment of the effects of the proposed 

development on the integrity of the SAC. 

 

iii. Beyond the 7km zone, SAMM contributions and/or appropriate assessment will not 

generally be required but may be sought where justified on a case-by-case basis.  

 

 

  

                                                                                                           
1
 Clarke RT, Sharp J & Liley D. 2010. Ashdown Forest Visitor Survey Data Analysis (Natural England Commissioned Reports, 

Number 048) 
UE Associates and University of Brighton. 2009. Visitor Access Patterns on the Ashdown Forest: Recreational Use and Nature 
Conservation 
2
 UE Associates. October 2011. Habitat Regulations Assessment for the Mid-Sussex District Plan 

3
 Liley, D., Panter, C. & Blake, D. (2016). Ashdown Forest Visitor Survey 2016. Footprint Ecology Unpublished report. Page 126

Appendix C



   

 

3 
 

3. Air quality 

Introduction 
3.1 The protected heathland in the Ashdown Forest SAC can be harmed by exhaust emissions 

from vehicles on roads which pass through and adjacent to the Forest. It is clear that planning 

permissions for development in Tunbridge Wells Borough can lead to additional vehicle 

movements on those key roads, thereby increasing exhaust emissions. 

3.2 Of most concern are oxides of nitrogen (NOx) which can lead to a harmful increase of nitrogen 

deposition on the protected heathland. Evidence from Wealden District Council suggests that 

the current level of nitrogen deposition is already above the ‘critical load’ and may already be 

having a negative effect on the SAC. One approach is therefore to conclude that likely 

significant effects on the SAC cannot be excluded where a planning application might lead to 

any additional vehicle movements through or adjacent to the SAC. However, the Council has 

been advised by its air quality consultants, AECOM, that that approach is not sound.  

3.3 Instead, the more appropriate approach is to consider the effect of an individual application in 

the context of the ‘in combination’ effect of planned growth in all authorities around Ashdown 

Forest over an extended period. This is because long-term trends in air quality for vegetation 

are more important than short-term fluctuations. The ecological effects of nitrogen deposition 

are associated with persistent long-term exposure over many years. A modelling exercise was 

therefore undertaken to assess the air quality impacts of growth in the region as a whole over 

an extended period.  

3.4 Appendix A presents the modelling undertaken for the Council by AECOM considering the air 

quality effects of growth in Tunbridge Wells Borough on Ashdown Forest SAC and SPA until 

2033. The traffic/air quality modelling considered the ‘in combination’ effect of growth in Lewes 

District, South Downs National Park, Tunbridge Wells Borough, Sevenoaks District, Wealden 

District, Mid-Sussex District, Tandridge District and authorities further afield. Growth in most 

authorities was included using the standard National Trip End Model Presentation Programme 

(TEMPro), adjusted as necessary to reflect expected housing growth rates to 2033. Growth in 

South Downs National Park, Lewes District, Sevenoaks District and Tunbridge Wells Borough 

was modelled using a bespoke AECOM model that manually assigned trips to the network. The 

outputs of these two models were then combined. 

3.5 At the time of the AECOM modelling, the Council was at an early stage of plan development 

and therefore did not have definitive site allocations to 2033. However, AECOM’s assumptions 

as to growth in Tunbridge Wells Borough were based on the Council’s Objectively Assessed 

Need together with guidance provided to it by the Council on an appropriate broad distribution 

of development across the Borough, including existing permissions. The borough was then 

broken down into a number of sectors for traffic modelling purposes. 

3.6 The model included the following growth in Tunbridge Wells Borough from 2017 to 2033: 

 An average of 790 dwellings per annum (13,430 dwellings total). This included delivery 

of existing uncompleted planning permissions, windfall and new 

applications/allocations. It took account of the Government’s recently published 

standardised method for calculating Objectively Assessed Need and included a 

possible 5,500 dwelling new settlement along the A21 northeast of Royal Tunbridge 

Wells
4
; 

 A total of 3,584 additional jobs; and 

 Planning application 17/02262/FULL, which was included at the specific request of the 

Council as it involved development other than conventional housing and employment. 

                                                                                                           
4
 This settlement and its location are not definitive since the plan is at an early stage of development. However, it 

was modelled as a worst-case since placing the new settlement further to the east of the borough would likely 
much reduce journey to work flows on the A26 through Ashdown Forest compared to that included in the AECOM 
model. Page 127

Appendix C



   

 

4 
 

3.7 Growth delivered in Tunbridge Wells Borough and other authorities prior to 2017 was also 

allowed for in the modelling by virtue of the base flows for each relevant road, since 

completions/occupations can be considered to already be contributing trips to the network.  

3.8 In summary, the assessment concluded that even on the roads where the 'in combination' 

increase in flows was expected to be greatest, there was forecast to be a net improvement in 

NOx concentrations, nitrogen deposition rates and acid deposition rates by 2033, 

notwithstanding the ‘in combination’ increase in flows deriving from Lewes District, South 

Downs National Park, Tunbridge Wells Borough, Sevenoaks District, Wealden District, Mid-

Sussex District, Tandridge District and authorities further afield. Calculations were also 

undertaken for intervening years between 2017 and 2033 in order to assess whether NOx 

emissions in any given year would increase for any period before a decrease was observed. 

The modelling indicated that emission rates are projected to fall year on year for each link 

included in the AECOM modelling approach despite the growth in traffic projected. The interim 

year emissions calculations demonstrate that there are no points where the increase in traffic 

due to growth or the local plan offsets the improvements in emission rates over time (using 

conservative assumptions on improvements in emission rates). The assessment also 

concludes that, while the in-combination effect of planned growth in the region is likely to retard 

the improvement in background nitrogen deposition rates, that retardation will not be 

ecologically significant and will not affect the improvement of species richness at the most 

affected area of heathland
5
. 

3.9 The AECOM analysis also concludes that ammonia concentrations at the closest areas of 

heathland to affected roads relevant to Tunbridge Wells (5m from the A275) are modelled to be 

below the relevant critical levels for protection of vegetation
6
.  

3.10 For the reasons set out in the document at Appendix A, the approach adopted in the AECOM 

model was precautionary and provides the Council with a high degree of confidence that it can 

rely on the results. Since a) air quality in 2033 is forecast to be significantly better than in 2017 

notwithstanding the precautionary assumptions made about both growth and improvements in 

vehicle emissions factors, b) no significant in combination retardation of vegetation 

improvement at the closest and most affected areas of heathland is expected and c) the 

contribution of Tunbridge Wells Local Plan to the 'in combination' scenario for those nearest 

areas of heathland is negligible, the modelling does not provide any basis to conclude that 

there will be an adverse effect on the integrity of the Ashdown Forest SAC or SPA as a result of 

planned growth in Tunbridge Wells Borough to 2033. Since no net adverse effect on integrity is 

forecast, no mitigation is required. 

Processing individual applications 
3.11 The air quality analysis in Appendix A will be relied upon when evaluating live and future 

planning applications for development in Tunbridge Wells Borough.  

3.12 Unless the specific circumstances of an application require further consideration by way of an 

appropriate assessment, likely significant effects on the Ashdown Forest SAC will be excluded 

for residential and/or conventional employment development at the screening stage of 

assessment, provided: 

 The sum total of development consented and completed in Tunbridge Wells Borough 

between the adoption of this Practice Note and 2033 (including outstanding 

permissions that are not already contributing traffic to the network) is not expected 

significantly to exceed 10,368 new dwellings or 3,584 additional jobs
7
; 

                                                                                                           
5
 The area of SAC that will experience the greatest nitrogen deposition due to forecast traffic flows is adjacent to the A26 at 

Poundgate but the nearest area of heathland is 40m from the road at this point, with the intervening habitat being woodland. 
Woodland is a feature of the SSSI but not the SAC or SPA. In the event that there a desire did emerge to establish heathland at 
this location in place of the woodland, the forecast deposition rates would not prevent the establishment of this habitat and 
deposition rates are still forecast to be lower in 2033 than is the case in 2017. 
6
 Considered to be 3 µm

-3
 given the absence of terricolous lichens in this location, although the model forecasts them to also be 

below the lower critical level for protection of lichens (1 µm
-3
) by 5m from the roadside 

7
 These were the growth assumptions for Tunbridge Wells Borough in the AECOM model. Page 128

Appendix C



   

 

5 
 

 Cumulatively, the distribution of all development consented in Tunbridge Wells Borough 

between the adoption of this Practice Note and 2033 is not significantly different from 

the distribution assumed in the AECOM model; and 

 Delivery rates of housing and employment growth in Tunbridge Wells Borough have 

remained generally in line with, or below, those assumed in the AECOM model; i.e. 

there has not been an unexpected front-loading or anomalous peak of delivery of 

planned development.  

3.13 The AECOM model modelled planned residential and conventional employment only. 

Accordingly applications that involve other types of development beyond residential and 

conventional employment would always need to be evaluated on a case-by-case basis
8
 as any 

vehicle movements generated would be additional to that modelled by AECOM. The scale of 

any such development (and thus the number of vehicles likely to be added to the network) 

would be a material consideration in that case-by-case evaluation. Without intending to lay 

down a fixed criteria, a development that was sufficiently small that it would make a change in 

flows through or adjacent to Ashdown Forest SAC of less than 10 AADT is unlikely to materially 

alter the air quality data reported in Appendix A, based on sensitivity testing of the model 

undertaken by AECOM. This for two reasons: 

 Firstly, daily traffic flows are not fixed numerals but fluctuate from day to day. The AADT 

for a given road is an annual average (specifically, the total volume of traffic for a year, 

divided by 365 days). It is this average number that is used in air quality modelling, but 

the 'true' flows on a given day will vary around this average figure. Small changes in 

average flow will lie well within the normal variation (known as the standard deviation or 

variance) and would not make a statistically significant difference in the total AADT. 

 Secondly, when converted into NOx concentrations, ammonia concentrations or 

nitrogen deposition rates, such small changes in AADT would only affect those decimal 

places that are never reported in air quality modelling to avoid false precision. For this 

reason, nitrogen deposition would generally not be reported to more than 2 decimal 

places at most (0.01kgN/ha/yr). Anything smaller would simply be reported as less than 

0.01 (< 0.01) i.e. probably more than zero but too small to model with precision.  

3.14 However, any significant accumulation of such developments not falling within the scope of the 

AECOM model would trigger the need for updated modelling. The AECOM model can be 

updated to include any development for which an operational/fully occupied trip generation can 

be provided in 24hr AADT for the relevant roads. 

3.15 As a general rule, it is recommended that the Council’s traffic and air quality models are 

referenced to evaluate any application, rather than requiring each application to undertake its 

own modelling. This will ensure consistency in assumptions and methodologies and avoid a 

proliferation of traffic and air quality models for the same geographic area. The potential 

exception may be for very large developments (e.g. hundreds or thousands of dwellings), or 

other forms of development that generate particularly large numbers of vehicle movements or 

unusual patterns of traffic generation for which a bespoke model is more likely to be justified. 

3.16 The Council will review this Practice Note at regular intervals to ensure that it remains up to 

date. Such reviews will include consideration of, inter alia, whether the assumptions in the 

AECOM model on housing delivery rates, distribution of development, and background 

improvements in air quality continue to reflect – in general terms - the actual (or a more 

precautionary) situation. Upon adoption of the new Local Plan, a new Practice Note may be 

required. 

                                                                                                           
8
 The exception to this is planning application 17/02262/FULL, which was specifically included in the AECOM 

model based on traffic generation data supplied by the applicant.  Page 129

Appendix C



   

 

6 
 

Appendix A 
Tunbridge Wells Borough: Ashdown Forest Air Quality Impact Assessment 
2018 

 

Page 130

Appendix C



Page 1 of 6 
DS May 2013 

 

Development Management Practice Note May 2013 
Habitat Regulations Assessment 
Ashdown Forest:  
Special Area of Conservation and Special Protection Area. 
 
 
This note set out what Tunbridge Wells Borough Council must to do in response to planning 
applications in respect of the Habitat Regulations Assessment.  A detailed Advice Note is 
attached but in essence the requirement is: 
 
 
Within 7 km 
New Residential development (net increase of 1 or more dwellings) 
Council carries out Appropriate Assessment focusing on adequacy of mitigation. Usually an 
Applicant will provide a “Report to Inform Appropriate Assessment”. 
 
 
Close to the 7km boundary – Current scope set at 8km 
New Residential development (net increase of 50 or more dwellings) 
Council carries out a HRA screening to determine whether there will be “likely significant 
effects”.  If yes then Council to carry out Appropriate Assessment as detailed above. 
 
HRA Screening report, which can be one page or less, should cover: 
 

 Introduction 

 Process/Methodology 

 Interest features and conservation objectives of the European sites 

 Likely Significant Effects of the project/plan or Appropriate Assessment (depending 
on the stage of HRA in question) 

 Other plans and projects 

 Conclusion 

 Confirmation that Natural England agree with that conclusion 
 

Very large development proposals in and around Royal Tunbridge Wells not included 

within the Local Plan HRA. 

Any large scale development proposals that are not included with the Local Plan DPDs such 

as major new housing estates or a new business park that might result in significant increase 

in traffic through the Ashdown Forest should be screened in relation to possible adverse 

effects on air quality. 

 

Note: 

i. Natural England must be consulted and their opinion must be taken into account.   

ii. The decisions and process must be recorded.   

iii. The Council is entitled to request from the applicant whatever information they need 

to form an opinion. 

If you require any further information or assistance please contact David Scully Landscape 
and Biodiversity Officer. 

 

Page 131

Appendix D



Page 2 of 6 
DS May 2013 

 

Advice Note: Regarding the Procedure for Habitat Regulations 
Assessment (HRA) of Planning Applications 
 
Note that throughout this document the phrase ‘Habitat Regulations Assessment’ 
(abbreviated to HRA) is used to refer generally to the entire process set out in the 
Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2010 (as amended). When referring to 
specific stages of that process the terms ‘HRA screening (likely significant effect test)’ or 
‘Appropriate Assessment’ are used for the first and second stage.  
 
 
 
Ashdown Forest Special Protection Area and Special Area of Conservation 
 
The European site of relevance to Tunbridge Wells is Ashdown Forest Special Area of 
Conservation & Special Protection Area.  The Forest is designated as a Special Area of 
Conservation for its heathland and population of great crested newt. The Forest is 
designated as a Special Protection Area for its populations of nightjar and Dartford warbler. 
 
The two impacts potentially requiring investigation that may arise from development in 
Tunbridge Wells borough are: 
 

 Recreational pressure on heathland habitat and SPA birds; and 

 Air quality effects on heathland habitat (and indirectly on the SPA birds which rely on 
that habitat) 

 
 

 

Recreational pressure 

Considerable work has been undertaken to identify zones of influence surrounding Ashdown 
Forest within which restrictions will be placed on residential development: 
 

1. Zone A (<400m): residential developments that result in a net increase of one or 
more dwellings will not be permitted unless exceptional circumstances can be 
demonstrated. 

2. Zone B (400m – 7km): residential developments that result in a net increase of 
one or more dwellings (i.e. not replacement dwellings) will be required to 
contribute to: a) the provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) 
to the level of 8ha per 1,000 net increase in population; b) the implementation of 
an Ashdown Forest Access Management Strategy; and c) a programme of 
monitoring and research at Ashdown Forest. 

 
The 7km zone does not cover the entire recreational catchment of the SPA/SAC but does 
cover the core catchment within which approximately 83% of regular visitors derive. The 
view is that a net change in population within this 7km zone has a realistic likelihood of a 
significant net change in visitor pressure within the SPA and thus could have an adverse 
effect. 
 
The 7km zone will cover the vast majority of circumstances within which recreational 
pressure on the SAC/SPA needs consideration as an impact. However, because the 7km 
zone is somewhat artificial it is conceivable that developments slightly outside this zone may 
still contribute to recreational activity to a material extent. For example, one can envisage a 

Page 132

Appendix D



Page 3 of 6 
DS May 2013 

 

situation in which a large housing development 7.2km from the SAC/SPA boundary could 
contribute materially to recreational pressure even though it is technically outside the 7km 
zone. It is to cover these circumstances that Wealden Council in particular are taking the 
approach that ‘large scale [housing] developments taking place outside Zone B but close to 
its boundary will be considered on a case by case basis for potential effects on Ashdown 
Forest and the need for avoidance and mitigation measures’1. 
 
‘Large scale’ and ‘close to its boundary’ are not defined but in the Thames Basin Heaths 
area ‘large scale’ is generally taken as planning applications that would result in a net 
increase of over 50 dwellings. ‘Close to the boundary’ is deliberately not defined as it is 
intended to be judgment-based, but clearly it is intended to capture large developments that 
lie just outside the 7km zone and would therefore otherwise avoid having to provide any 
mitigation on a technicality. It is clearly implied that circumstances within which large 
developments beyond 7km of the SPA/SAC will be likely to lead to a significant effect on the 
SPA/SAC will only occur rarely (otherwise the 7km zone would simply be broadened). 
 
Therefore for Tunbridge Wells Borough there are two circumstances in which Habitat 
Regulations Assessment for a planning application would be required to examine the issue 
of recreational pressure: 
 

(i) Where a planning application is submitted that would lead to a net increase in 
housing within 7km of the Ashdown Forest Special Area of Conservation and 
Special Protection Area (i.e. housing in the vicinity of Stone Cross and Ashurst) 
an Appropriate Assessment will be required. In this case the process would be as 
follows: 
 
a. The Council would need to undertake an Appropriate Assessment2 examining 

whether there would be adverse effects on the integrity of Ashdown Forest 
SAC/SPA, either alone or in combination with other projects and plans. 

b. The Appropriate Assessment would focus on evaluating the adequacy of 
proposed mitigation, since much of the impact analysis has essentially 
already been undertaken at a strategic level in defining the ‘zones of 
influence’ around Ashdown Forest in the first place.  

c. The first part of the Appropriate Assessment could therefore be a simple 
document confirming that the development would lead to a net increase in 
dwellings within Zone B around Ashdown Forest and that it has been 
confirmed from the previous studies that within Zone B an adverse effect on 
the integrity of the SPA/SAC in combination with other projects and plans will 
occur without provision of mitigation. 

d. The applicant would be required by the Council to provide the details of the 
intended ‘mitigation’ for this effect3. In many cases, the applicant may choose 
to do this as part of the planning application through including a ‘Report to 
Inform an Appropriate Assessment’. 

e. The Council would then take account of that mitigation in their Appropriate 
Assessment and decide whether it would be sufficient to enable a conclusion 
of ‘no adverse effect on the integrity of Ashdown Forest SAC/SPA’, with 
reference to the strategic mitigation requirements identified for the SAC/SPA. 

                                                           
1
 UE Associates (2011). Wealden District (Incorporating part of the South Downs National Park)  Local 

Development Framework: Assessment of the Core Strategy Under the Habitats Regulations 
2
 The HRA screening (likely significant effects test) has effectively already been completed strategically through 

the process that has defined the 7km zone in the first place 
3
 The physical delivery of the mitigation on the ground could be delivered either by the developer directly or by 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council using contributions from the developer 

Page 133

Appendix D



Page 4 of 6 
DS May 2013 

 

The Council must consult Natural England on the conclusion of the 
Appropriate Assessment. 

f. If the Council is able to conclude that there would be no adverse effects on 
integrity, either alone or in combination with other projects and plans, then 
planning permission could be granted. 

 
(ii) Where a planning application is submitted that would lead to a net increase of 

over 50 dwellings within 8km (or other distance determined by the Council and 
agreed with Natural England) of the SPA/SAC the Council would need to 
undertake HRA screening to examine whether there will be ‘likely significant 
effects’ on the interest features of Ashdown Forest SAC/SPA, either alone or in 
combination with other projects and plans. The Council is entitled to request 
whatever information they require from the applicant in making the judgment of 
likely significant effects. The Council must consult Natural England on the HRA 
screening. The outcome of the HRA screening would be either: 

 

a. There would not be a likely significant effect on the interest features of the 
SAC/SPA ‘in combination’ with other projects and plans. This could for 
example be due to a small amount of proposed housing coupled with the 
provision of a significant area of accessible natural greenspace as part of the 
application which will meet the needs of the new residents, or proximity to 
existing large areas of accessible natural greenspace other than the 
SPA/SAC, or the fact that the visitor survey data for the Ashdown Forest 
project indicates that people from that particular settlement only visit the 
Forest rarely; or 
 

b. That there would be a likely significant effect on the interest features of the 
SAC/SPA ‘in combination’ with other projects and plans. In that case, one 
would need to go through the Appropriate Assessment process described in 
point (i) above. 

 
Clearly in making the decision outlined in point (ii) the actual scale of net housing increase 
will be a very material consideration; a development of 50 dwellings, if it will be associated 
with new accessible natural greenspace or enhancement of access to or capacity of existing 
natural greenspace is less likely to result in a ‘likely significant effect’ than a development of 
200 dwellings that is not providing any new accessible natural greenspace or improving 
access to existing greenspace.  
 
 
 
Air quality 
 
The strategic analysis undertaken for the Ashdown Forest authorities and the HRA’s of the 
Tunbridge Wells Core Strategy and Site Allocations DPD have identified that development 
within Tunbridge Wells Borough is not likely to lead to a significant air quality effect on 
Ashdown Forest SAC/SPA. Following Department for Transport guidance, only applications 
that would lead to an increase in flows on the A26, A22 and A275 through Ashdown Forest 
SAC/SPA in excess of 1,000 Annual Average Daily Traffic or 200 Heavy Duty Vehicle 
movements per day have the potential to result in a large enough change in flows to affect 
air quality4. Given the distance between Ashdown Forest and the main urban areas of 

                                                           
4
 Department for Transport 2007. Design Manual for Roads and Bridges Volume 11, Environmental 

Assessment: Section 3 Environmental Assessment Techniques – Part 1 (HA207/07) Air Quality identifies these 
thresholds for defining an ‘affected road’ and concludes that ‘If none of the roads in the network meet any of 

Page 134

Appendix D



Page 5 of 6 
DS May 2013 

 

Tunbridge Wells Borough it is considered very unlikely that even the largest developments 
would increase flows on the relevant stretches of road by this order of magnitude. 
 
In the unlikely event that a sufficiently large planning application is submitted, the applicant 
should be required to confirm: 
 

a) That the contribution of their development (the process contribution) to changes in 
NOx concentrations, nitrogen deposition rates and acid deposition rates within 200m 
of the affected roads will not exceed 1% of the Critical Load for heathland and Critical 
Level for NOx; or 

b) That the contribution will exceed 1% of the Critical Level or Load but that the 
combined contribution of the new development and background air quality (the 
predicted environmental concentration) within 200m of the affected road will fall 
below 70% of the Critical Level or Load 

 
These are the screening thresholds set out in Environment Agency guidance (to which 
Natural England subscribes). Even if these thresholds are exceeded, this still does not mean 
that an adverse effect on the European site will result but it does mean that more detailed 
ecological/air quality analysis will be required from the applicant as part of a report to inform 
an Appropriate Assessment to demonstrate that an adverse effect on the integrity will not 
occur.  
 
Legal requirements of the Habitat Regulations Assessment process 
 
The Habitat Regulations Assessment process (including screening and Appropriate 
Assessment) is dictated by the Habitats Directive and Conservation of Habitats & Species 
Regulations 2010 (as amended). Procedurally, HRA is relatively straightforward in that there 
are only a small number of things one must do by law for an HRA to be valid: 
 

 The HRA must consider the interest features of the European site in question (i.e. the 
habitats and species for which it was internationally designated) within the context of 
their conservation objectives. The conservation objectives for Ashdown Forest are 
available on the Natural England website at 
http://www.naturalengland.org.uk/Images/UK9012181-Ashdown-Forest-SPA_tcm6-
32260.pdf 

 The HRA must consider the project not only in isolation but ‘in combination’ with 
other projects and plans. For example, a particular development proposal may in 
itself be considered not to lead to likely significant effects because of its small scale, 
but when considered ‘in combination’ with ten other similarly small projects within the 
same area a cumulative effect may arise. 

 The Council in its role as ‘competent authority’ must make a clear judgment as to 
whether there will be likely significant effects (when undertaking HRA screening) or 
adverse effects on the integrity (when undertaking Appropriate Assessment) and that 
judgment and the process leading up to it must be documented. The Council is 
entitled to request from the applicant whatever information they need to form that 
judgment, including the applicant’s own HRA assessment; and 

 The Council must consult Natural England and take account of Natural England’s 
opinion (although the competent authority is not required by law to defer to Natural 
England’s opinion). 

 

                                                                                                                                                                                     
the traffic criteria [as a result of the scheme] ...  then the impact of the scheme can be considered to be neutral 
in terms of local air quality and no further work is needed’. 

Page 135

Appendix D

http://www.naturalengland.org.uk/Images/UK9012181-Ashdown-Forest-SPA_tcm6-32260.pdf
http://www.naturalengland.org.uk/Images/UK9012181-Ashdown-Forest-SPA_tcm6-32260.pdf


Page 6 of 6 
DS May 2013 

 

That is the minimum that must be undertaken and if the project or plan is simple to evaluate 
then it is entirely possible that this process could be documented in a short single page file 
note. If it is very simple then even an email exchange between the Council and Natural 
England confirming that there will be no likely significant effects alone or in combination with 
other projects and plans may be adequate; however I would suggest at least a file note using 
the following headings: 
 

 Introduction 

 Process/Methodology 

 Interest features and conservation objectives of the European sites 

 Likely Significant Effects of the project/plan or Appropriate Assessment (depending 
on the stage of HRA in question) 

 Other plans and projects 

 Conclusion 

 Confirmation that Natural England agree with that conclusion 
 
If it is not possible to conclude with confidence5 that there will be no likely significant effects 
following the initial analysis then an Appropriate Assessment is required. The process is 
identical to that outlined above for determination of Likely Significant Effects except that one 
is examining ‘adverse effects on the integrity’ of the European site rather than likely 
significant effects.  
 
The law does not prescribe: 
 

 How HRA screening/Appropriate Assessment is undertaken or what data should be 
used to make the analysis; 

 The line between HRA screening and Appropriate Assessment (except in stating that 
an Appropriate Assessment is required if it cannot be concluded that there are no 
likely significant effects) 

 What plans and projects should be considered ‘in combination’; 

 Whether or not ‘mitigation’ proposed by the applicant can be taken into account in 
forming the initial ‘likely significant effects’ judgment;6 

 Who else to consult other than Natural England; 

 How long Natural England should be given to provide their consultation response; 

 How a Habitat Regulations Assessment should be presented. 
 
All of these are matters for local authority discretion. However, Natural England will normally 
ask for at least three weeks to respond to a consultation. Note that when progressing to the 
‘Appropriate Assessment’ stage, the analysis does not necessarily have to be elaborate or 
very detailed; it is quite literally ‘an assessment that is appropriate’. It only needs to be as 
detailed as is necessary to reach a firm defensible conclusion regarding effects on the 
integrity of the European site. For some projects an Appropriate Assessment may not need 
to be any longer than the HRA screening (likely significant effects). 

 

                                                           
5
 The phrase often used is ‘beyond reasonable scientific doubt’; this is intended to reflect the precautionary 

and risk identifying nature of the likely significant effect test so that effects are not dismissed too early without 
proper consideration. Do note the use of the word ‘reasonable’ rather than ‘any’ and that absence of 
‘reasonable scientific doubt’ is not the same as ‘absolute certainty’; it is rarely if ever going to be possible to 
make an ecological judgment with absolute certainty.  
6
 In fact, case law (the ‘Dilly Lane’ case) has established that it is perfectly legally acceptable to take what 

would otherwise be termed mitigation into account in making the judgment of likely significant effects, if that 
mitigation is embedded within the application and the competent authority and Natural England are of the 
view that it would be adequate to remove any effects 

Page 136

Appendix D



 

Full Council 25 April 2018 

Is the final decision on the recommendations in this report to be made at this meeting? Yes 

 

Community Safety Partnership Plan 2018/19 
 

Final Decision-Maker Full Council 

Portfolio Holder(s)  Councillor Lynne Weatherly – Portfolio Holder for 
Communities and Wellbeing 

Lead Director  Paul Taylor – Director of Change and Communities 

Head of Service Gary Stevenson – Head of Environment and Street Scene 

Lead Officer/Author Terry Hughes – Community Safety Manager 

Classification Non-exempt 

Wards affected All 

  

This report makes the following recommendations to the final decision-maker: 

 
That the Community Safety Partnership Plan 2018/19 be approved. 
 

  

This report relates to the following Five Year Plan Key Objectives: 

This report links to the Council’s community quadrant, in particular creating a confident 
borough. It also demonstrates how the Council works well with others in delivering 
confident communities. 

  

Timetable 

Meeting Date 

Community Safety Partnership 8 February 2018 

Management Board 28 February 2018 

Communities CAB 21 March 2018 

Overview & Scrutiny 9 April 2018 

Cabinet 12 April 2018 

Full Council 25 April 2018 

Page 137

Agenda Item 10



 

Community Safety Partnership Plan 2018/19 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The Community Safety Partnership Plan sets out how the Tunbridge Wells 

Community Safety Partnership (CSP) will address local priorities to reduce 
crime and disorder across the Borough. The plan is presented to Cabinet for 
recommendation and to Full Council for adoption. 

 
1.2 All CSPs are required by law to carry out a yearly in-depth analysis of crime, 

anti-social behaviour and other partnership data in order to produce an annual 
strategic assessment. This process identifies the priorities for the year ahead. 
The CSP partnership plan is then developed to set out how these priorities will 
be tackled. 

 
1.3 Based on the intelligence from the strategic assessment, the partnership plan 

actions have been developed in consultation with a range partners. The plan 
has also been designed to complement and support the delivery of the “Safer in 
Kent: the Community Safety and Criminal Justice Plan”, published by the Kent 
Police and Crime Commissioner, Matthew Scott. 

 
1.4 The priorities identified in the Tunbridge Wells Community Safety Partnership 

Plan were discussed at a CSP meeting on the 8 February 2018. 
 
1.5 The Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Constitution and the Local Government 

(Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 states that the 
partnership plan must be adopted by Full Council. 

 

 
2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Partners began working together to address crime and disorder in the early 

1990s. In 1998, the Crime and Disorder Act was published. This imposed a 
statutory duty on partners, known as the ‘Responsible Authorities’, to work 
closely together to reduce crime and anti-social behaviour and reduce the fear 
of crime. The partnership was formalised and became a Crime and Disorder 
Reduction Partnership (CDRP). It is now referred to as the 'Tunbridge Wells 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP)'. 

 
2.2 The partners referred to by the Act as ‘Responsible Authorities’ are Tunbridge 

Wells Borough Council, Kent County Council, Kent Police, Kent Fire and 
Rescue Service, National Probation Service, Kent Surrey and Sussex 
Community Rehabilitation Company the NHS West Kent Clinical 
Commissioning Group. The CSP also has many non-statutory partners 
including housing associations, voluntary and community sector organisations. 
The CSP meets on a quarterly basis. 

 
 

Page 138

Agenda Item 10



 

2.3 The Community Safety Unit (CSU), based in Tunbridge Wells Town Hall, was 
set up in 2010 as the operational delivery unit of the CSP. It is a multi-agency 
office staffed by officers from TWBC, KCC, Kent Police, and other agencies 
working together to reduce crime and disorder.  

 
2.4 This co-location of partner agencies has facilitated more effective joint working 

through daily briefings, improved sharing of information (within a formal 
protocol) and increased co-operation between agencies.  

 
2.5 In the 2017/18 financial year, we were again very well positioned within Kent, 

coming 1st, 2nd or 3rd in 13 of the 15 regularly measured crime categories 
making Tunbridge Wells the safest place to live in the county.  

 
2.6 The Responsible Authorities are required by the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

to formulate and implement a strategy for the reduction of crime and disorder in 
the area. This strategy takes the form of the partnership plan.  

 
2.7 Before formulating a strategy, the Responsible Authorities must carry out a 

review of the levels and patterns of crime and disorder in the area, and prepare 
and publish an analysis of the results of that review. This analytical document is 
called the strategic assessment and is an in-depth analysis of crime, anti-social 
behaviour and other partnership data over a one-year period. This analysis 
forms the priorities for the financial year. The strategic assessment, which was 
developed by the TWBC Community Safety Team with assistance from police 
and other partners, is available as a PDF upon request from Tunbridge Wells 
Community Safety Unit. 

 
2.8 In 2018/19 the key priorities for the CSP have been agreed as follows: 

 
1. Domestic abuse  
2. Road safety 
3. Alcohol and substance misuse 
4. Safeguarding: organised crime groups, CSE, modern slavery and gangs 

2.9 The partnership also has a duty to give due regard to the priorities of the Police 
and Crime Commissioner (PCC). The Tunbridge Wells Partnership Plan has 
been developed to continue to support the work of the PCC in delivering his 
Kent-wide priorities whilst we deliver on the local priorities for Tunbridge Wells. 

 
2.10 The Tunbridge Wells Community Safety Partnership Plan 2018/19 outlines how 

statutory and other agencies will address the key priorities shown above.  
 
2.11 The plan will be monitored on a quarterly basis by the CSP to ensure progress. 

The CSP will be responsible for holding agencies to account where they have 
failed to fulfil their actions within the plan. 

 
2.12 Under the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Constitution and the Local 

Government (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000, this 
plan must be brought to Full Council for formal adoption.  

 

 

Page 139

Agenda Item 10



 

3. AVAILABLE OPTIONS 
 
3.1 Under the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Constitution and the Local 

Government (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000, this 
plan must be brought in front of Full Council for formal adoption.  

 
3.2 The partnership plan presented outlines how the agencies within the CSP will 

work together to keep residents of the borough safe from crime and anti-social 
behaviour. 

 
3.3 Full Council has the option of approving the plan, amending the plan or 

requesting that a new plan be produced.   
 

 
4. PREFERRED OPTION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 This report is designed to inform members of the multi-agency activity which 

TWBC and partners have committed to undertake to reduce crime and disorder. 
The preferred option is for the plan to be considered and approved.   

 

 
5. CONSULTATION RESULTS AND PREVIOUS COMMITTEE FEEDBACK 
 
5.1 CSP partners were presented with a copy of the Strategic Assessment on 8 

February and invited to collaborate on the selection of this year’s priorities and 
made further contributions that will be taken forward into action plans for 
vulnerable victims (Priority 4). The CSP ratified the priorities identified at their 
meeting on 8 February 2018.  

 
 RECOMMENDATION FROM CABINET ADVISORY BOARD 
 
5.2 The Communities Cabinet Advisory Board was consulted on this decision on 21 

March 2018 and agreed the following recommendation: 
 

That the recommendations set out in the report be supported. 
 
 RECOMMENDATION FROM CABINET 
 
5.3 The Cabinet considered the report at its meeting on 12 April 2018 and resolved 

as follows: 
 

That Full Council be recommended: 
 

That the Community Safety Partnership Plan 2018/19 be approved. 
 

 
6. NEXT STEPS: COMMUNICATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE 

DECISION 
 
6.1 The plan will be made available on the CSU website and a link provided on the 

community safety section of the Council’s website. 

Page 140

Agenda Item 10



 

6.2 Partner commitments to the Plan will be monitored quarterly at CSP meetings 

6.3 Monitoring information is sent to the Office of the PCC for those priorities or 
actions funded from the PCC’s contribution to CSP funds.  

 

 
7. CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS 
 

Issue Implications Sign-off 

Legal including 
Human Rights 
Act 

At this stage there are no direct consequences 
arising from the recommendation that adversely 
affect individual’s rights and freedoms as set out in 
the Human Rights Act 1998. Potentially 
consequences could arise in the future 
implementation of the Plan that would need to be 
evaluated at the time. 

Keith Trowell, 
Interim Team 
Leader 
(Corporate 
Governance) 

16/02/2018 

Finance and 
other resources 

All actions within the plan will be undertaken from 
existing resources or funded by the CSP. Funded 
activity must show how it provides value for money 
and sustainability, for example through the use of 
volunteers. 

Jane Fineman, 
Head of Finance 
& Procurement 

16/02/2018 

Staffing 
establishment 

 Head of HR or 
deputy 

Risk 
management   

No direct risks arise from this report. Terry Hughes, 
Community 
Safety Manager 

16/02/2018 

Data protection  Head of Policy 
& Governance 

Environment  
and 
sustainability 

No direct implications. Karin Grey, 
Sustainability 
Manager 

19/02/2018 

Community 
safety 

 

The activity contained within this plan is designed 
to build safer communities by tackling the CSP’s 
priorities of: 

Reducing alcohol and substance misuse, 
addressing domestic abuse, improving road safety 
and improving services for victims while reducing 
risk for vulnerable people. 

Terry Hughes, 
Community 
Safety Manager 

16/02/2018 

Health and 
Safety 

The plan should help to have an overall increase in 
safety within the Borough. This would have a 
positive impact on the safety of staff of TWBC as 
well as showing that the council are taking their 
responsibilities seriously in regards to reducing 
anti-social behaviour. Making the communities 
safer and more secure to work and live for all. 

Mike Catling, 
Corporate 
Health and 
Safety Advisor, 

19/02/2018 

Page 141

Agenda Item 10



 

Health and 
wellbeing 

The actions contained within the plan should 
contribute to increased wellbeing, and the work to 
reduce the harm caused by alcohol and substance 
misuse should have a positive impact on the health 
of those affected. 

Stuart Smith, 
Health Team 
Leader 

20/02/2018 

Equalities Decision-makers are reminded of the requirement 
under the Public Sector Equality Duty (s149 of the 
Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to (i) 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, 
victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the 
Act, (ii) advance equality of opportunity between 
people from different groups, and (iii) foster good 
relations between people from different groups. 
The decisions recommended through this paper 
could directly impact on end users.  
The priorities identified support the aim of the 
public sector equality duty to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, harassment or victimisation by:  
providing support services for women and men 
who experience domestic abuse  
 
The priorities identified support the aim of the 
public sector equality duty to advance equality of 
opportunity by:  
continuing to reduce child road casualties as data 
previously showed that children are 
disproportionately affected compared with other 
age groups;  
targeting projects and initiatives aimed at tackling 
substance misuse and alcohol abuse, towards age 
groups including adults and young people.  
 
The strategic assessment has not identified any 
specific needs or disadvantage relating to the 
protected characteristics of disability, sexual 
orientation, pregnancy or maternity, marital or civil 
partnership status or gender reassignment. 

Sarah Lavallie, 

Corporate 
Governance 
Officer 

21/02/2019 

 
8. REPORT APPENDICES 
 
The following documents are to be published with and form part of the report: 
 

 Appendix A: Community Safety Partnership Plan 2018-19 

 Appendix B: Community Safety Partnership Plan 2018-19 Funding Allocations 

 Appendix C: Strategic Assessment 2017-18 
 

 
9. BACKGROUND PAPERS  
 

 None 

Page 142

Agenda Item 10



 

 
 

 
 

 

Partnership Plan 

2018 – 2019 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

For further information please contact: 

 Terry Hughes, Community Safety Manager, Community Safety Unit, Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge 

Wells, Kent, TN1 1RS  01892 554224  terry.hughes@tunbridgewells.gov.uk 

 

If you have difficulty reading this document and would like the 

information in another format please call 01892 554224 or email: 

terry.hughes@tunbridgewells.gov.uk 
  

Page 143

Appendix A

mailto:terry.hughes@tunbridgewells.gov.uk


 

1 
 

 

 

 

Contents   

Introduction          Page 1 

Review of 2017/18         Page 1 

Priority setting for 2018/19        Page 12 

Action plans for 2018/19        Page 13 

Introduction 

Each year, the Tunbridge Wells Community Safety Partnership (CSP) produces a Partnership Plan 

which sets out how partners will work to address crime and anti-social behaviour over the coming 

year. The plan is informed by a yearly Strategic Assessment which considers current data, trends and 

local knowledge to identify priorities for the borough to help reduce and tackle crime and anti-social 

behaviour.  

Review of 2017/18 

During the reporting period (December 2016 – November 2017) crime in Tunbridge Wells increased 

from 5,430 to 6,773 recorded offences; a rise of 24.7% on the previous year. The increase of 1,343 

crimes is the lowest recorded in Kent numerically and by population, maintaining our position as the 

safest borough in Kent.  

The 2016/17 priorities listed below were strengthened by objectives and priorities set by the Police 

and Crime Commissioner. 

During the year, the CSP undertook a variety of projects and initiatives linked to the priorities of: 

1. Domestic abuse 

2. Road safety 

3. Alcohol and substance misuse 

4. Vulnerable Victims 

The following pages outline key statistics for the year and the work done by the community safety 

team and CSP/CSU (Community Safety Unit) partners. 

It must be noted that inherent challenges exist in the way crime is recorded by police forces 

throughout the country. This is particularly true for complex crimes such as sexual offences, 

domestic abuse and hate crime. An Office of National Statistics report published in 2016 cautions the 

use of statistics for a variety of reasons. When recording hate crime for instance, it is possible for an 

offence to have more than one motivating factor, affecting the way it is categorised. 

Another factor cited in the report is improved compliance with the National Crime Recording 

Standard which may result in short-term movements in data as incidents are more appropriately 

Page 144

Appendix A



 

2 
 

recorded or re-categorised to provide a more realistic representation of an incident. This not only 

affects monthly data but makes long term trends less reliable. Further a 2017 review of crime 

recording in Kent by HM Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS) has 

contributed to changes in the way crimes, particularly serious crimes, are recorded. This will have 

had an effect on overall figures for 2017/18 and may be most noticeable when compared against 

relevant local authorities in our Most Similar Group (MSG) outside of Kent. 

Similarly, in January 2016 Kent Police adopted a new system for recording and reporting road traffic 

collision and casualty information called CRASH (Collision Recording and SHaring). The CRASH 

reporting system was devised by the Home Office with the purpose of reducing the ‘lag time’ taken 

to report collision data nationally and to improve data capture and quality. As a result of this, the 

collision and casualty figures recorded for Kent for 2016 are not directly comparable against figures 

recorded in previous years. 

Domestic abuse  

Identified as a priority for 2017/18. The following activities were undertaken:  

 DAVSS (Domestic Abuse Volunteer Support Services) received 192 referrals in Q1 - Q3 of 

which 24 were graded high risk and 168 standard or medium risk. 

 82 new cases and 16 repeat cases were referred to a Multi-agency Risk Assessment 

Conference (MARAC). 

 During Q1 – Q3 10 Tunbridge Wells residents undertook 29 Freedom Programme sessions 

(which examines the influence of attitudes and beliefs on the actions of abusive men and the 

responses of victims and survivors). A further programme was scheduled for Q4. 

 Unusually, no males from Tunbridge Wells took part in CDAP (Community Domestic Abuse 

Programme – for male perpetrators of domestic abuse) during the first three quarters of the 

financial year. Over the past 5 years Tunbridge Wells has contributed 50% of all the males 

who undertaken the intensive domestic abuse programme. 

 40 victims of sexual abuse were supported by the Independent Sexual Violence Advisor 

during Q1 – Q3. 

 Nine victims of domestic abuse were supported through the Sanctuary Scheme which 

secures properties to allow victims to remain in their own home. 

 A twice-monthly One-Stop-Shop (OSS) was trialled during the fourth quarter. 

 The Borough Council was successful in its bid to the Home Office for £126,000 to address 

violence against women and girls (VAWG). The VAWG Fund will enable DAVSS to provide 

new and extended services for a period of three years. This is a joint arrangement between 

us, SDC and TMBC. 

Analysis: During the 12 months from October 2016 to September 2017, there were 1,556 incidents 

of domestic abuse reported to Kent Police within the borough. This is an increase of 11% over the 

12-month period following a 6% rise during the previous period. There were 408 recorded repeat 

incidents of domestic abuse during the same period. All districts in Kent experienced an increase in 

recorded domestic abuse offences over the period. 

Figures for this period show repeat domestic abuse offences accounted for 25% of all reported 

domestic abuse crimes in Tunbridge Wells. 

Page 145

Appendix A



 

3 
 

Recommendation  

Victims of domestic abuse, in particular, are strongly encouraged to report incidents and 

improvements continue to be made to the way such calls are handled. 

We will aim, through the Domestic Abuse Forum, to reduce the repeat victimisation rate and work 

to increase the number of male offenders attending CDAP. 

We recommend making tackling domestic abuse a priority for 2018/19. 

Case Study - ‘Anna’ 

(name and some details altered to preserve anonymity. Published with the permission of the client – 

January 2018) 

Anna was referred to DAVSS and to Social Services by the Police following a violent physical incident 

when her ex-partner was arrested for assault and attempted criminal damage. 

During the relationship she experienced a pattern of emotional and psychological abuse, physical 

violence with threats to kill her and repeated demands for money to support his drug addiction. She 

experienced repeated threats of violence, including threats with knives, together with threats that 

he was going to kill himself, a known controlling pattern to induce submission. 

Anna has one small daughter (father unidentified) and due to difficult teenage years and previous 

abusive relationships had low self-esteem and lacked the confidence to deal with this challenging 

situation. She had plucked up the courage to end this particular relationship just before she was 

referred to DAVSS, but was very anxious that she might be coerced into resuming contact with him. 

She said that the support provided by her Case Worker and her Social Worker prevented her from 

doing this and she was very appreciative. 

Due to the violence which Anna has encountered, Social Services placed her daughter on a Child 

Protection Plan. This was stressful for Anna who felt that it reflected on her abilities as a mother. 

Despite this, she did her utmost to provide her daughter with a safe and secure home life, including 

arranging beneficial activities and interaction with other children. This was acknowledged by Social 

Services who congratulated her on the efforts and progress she had made. 

As part of her personal support plan with DAVSS, Anna was referred to the Freedom Programme 

which she attended regularly and reported a positive change in her perception about the underlying 

causes of domestic abuse and how to deal with it. 

During this period she met another man and was hopeful of a new positive relationship. However, 

after a few dates she recognised the early signs of abusive and controlling behaviour which she says 

she would not have done before. She ended the relationship at once, and felt confident enough to 

be able to share this with others at the Freedom Programme where the situation was discussed and 

a new safety plan agreed. 

Purpose 

• To ensure the safety of the client  

• To advise the client of the legal options open to her  

Page 146

Appendix A



 

4 
 

• To support the client at meetings with Social Services 

• To support her through the stress of her situation and the impact this was having on her 

mental health  

Action taken 

• SafeLives/DASH checklist assessed as High risk   

• A MARAC referral was made by the Police and DAVSS represented her when the case was 

discussed 

• A Personal Safety Plan was completed and updated as necessary 

• Legal options including the process of obtaining a Non Molestation Order were discussed 

with her in detail.  

• A Freedom Programme referral was made 

• A Counselling referral was made to a local Charity. 

Successful Outcomes 

• Anna attended the Freedom Programme regularly and found this very helpful. 

• Social Services congratulated Anna on the progress she had made in successfully caring for 

her daughter and keeping her safe. 

• Anna was also supported successfully by the Health Visitor who commented favourably on 

the progress made by Anna’s daughter, now in advance of all her milestones 

• Anna reported that her anxiety and stress had reduced significantly. 

• Anna’s housing remained secure throughout the period following her     separation from her 

former partner.   

• Anna reported that the Counselling Service (a local charity) has been very helpful to her. 

• The partnership working on this case was greatly appreciated by DAVSS and contributed 

significantly to Anna’s progress 

Unexpected difficulties and action taken 

• Anna commenced a new relationship which also turned out to be another abusive situation. 

She was supported to apply learning from the Freedom Programme and end the relationship 

immediately the situation became clear. 

• Legal options were discussed with Anna together with the importance of gaining a 

Protective Injunction. Anna discussed this with a Solicitor but did not feel able to go through 

with it even though support to court was offered to her. A specific safety plan was drawn up 

with agreed actions if her ex-partner attempted to come to her house again. In fact, no such 

attempt was reported. 

Unexpected benefits 

• Anna reports that her mental health has improved following the reduction in stress caused 

by the domestic abuse and she feels better equipped to handle any future relationship.   

• Anna’s confidence returned to such a degree that she was able to end a new relationship as 

soon as she recognised the early signs of abusive behaviour and acted on it immediately. 

Page 147

Appendix A



 

5 
 

• Anna is now exploring training and volunteering opportunities and has offered to share her 

experiences at a future Freedom Programme to assist as a real life case study for the benefit 

of other service users. 

• Anna has asked to become a ‘Friend of DAVSS’ 

• Anna has asked to be referred to the new Support Plus Transformation (SPT) Project which 

provides for a survivors drop in, shortly to commence. (SPT is funded by the Violence Against 

Women and Girls Transformation Fund and is already making a difference.) 

• Anna has accepted a referral to the next Recovery Toolkit course 

Anna was very appreciative for the support provided by DAVSS and particularly the help she received 

at the Freedom Programme.  She emailed us as follows: 

“I would like to say that I am a changed person;  

I believed I was beyond help and that was life now; so alone!  

I cannot thank DAVSS, the freedom programme and course facilitators enough, and of course my 

support/case worker.  

What a woman, she has taught and showed me I am worth something, she has showed me I am not 

mad or crazy, and most importantly I am not alone or beyond help.  

In the year of support I have received, my caseworker has been there for me in the most 

compassionate yet honest way. I wasn’t judged and she proved to me I can do things by myself and 

move on with my life from the victim I was to a blossoming young mother with the world at her feet, 

she also has herself and with the experience she has showed me that I can live without the man I 

thought I would die at the hands of and that in fact I wasn’t in love at all!  

Freedom program was amazing, it brought me back to reality and gave me a safe place to unpick the 

traumatic memories and make sense of it! It wasn’t quick or long winded just the perfect amount of 

weeks to recover and leave with new friends and bags of confidence in my own skin, which I hadn’t 

felt in over 5 years!  

I have achieved so much for my daughter since January I am so proud of myself!”   

Page 148

Appendix A



 

6 
 

Road safety 

Identified as a priority for 2017/18. The following activity was undertaken:  

 Kent Fire and Rescue Service (KFRS) promoted pedestrian safety during road safety 

week/month in June. 

 Over 650 Speed Watch sessions were held in eight wards, parishes and towns during the first 

three quarters of 2017/18. as a result of these sessions 1,125 speeding drivers received an 

advisory letter from Kent Police. 

 Kent Police commit to attend a Speed Watch operation at least once every month and work 

closely with Speed Watch schemes supporting them all year round. 

 KCC Wardens continue to enforce road safety messages at schools, coffee mornings, 

residents groups, family fun days, youth clubs, social care groups and at other gatherings 

and events throughout the year. On at least one occasion this stretched to providing road 

safety and safe cycling advice to a specific refugee family as part of their orientation to life in 

the UK. 

 Road safety advice to school children (and staff) at primary schools is of particular value and 

is often reinforced by KCC Wardens providing advice to parents outside the schools gates 

where inconsiderate parking occasionally contributes to unsafe crossing conditions for pupils 

as well as increased danger to other road users. 

 KCC Wardens involved themselves in the annual Safety in Action event at Salomans Estate, 

organised by Salus.  

 Safety in Action attracted 508 Year 6 pupils from 19 Tunbridge Wells schools to Salomons 

Estate in May 2017. The interactive event delivers a range of scenarios designed to highlight 

safety issues and how to deal with them; road safety being one of many topics presented. 

 KFRS Licence to Kill programme attracted 36 students from Skinners Kent Academy. 

 KFRS provided funding to the CSU to support the schools’ education programme (Road 

Safety Show) which ran during November’s national Road Safety Week (RSW is co-ordinated 

by Brake the road safety charity). The ‘Captain Safety’ show was presented to approximately 

500 KS1 and KS2 students at the Assembly Hall Theatre and Cranbrook Primary School. 

 In respect of the new Road Safety Centre, all Tunbridge Wells schools have been encouraged 

by KFRS and the CSU to make use of this valuable resource. This year three schools attended 

from Tunbridge Wells. 

 
Analysis: Data from January 2016 – December 2016 saw a further 13% reduction in casualties on top 

of last year’s 12% reduction. That’s 65 fewer casualties in 2016. 

While this further reduction is encouraging, district data from July 2016 – June 2017 (the latest 

district-based data available) does show an increase of 13% over the preceding (July-June) period.  

Further research shows this to be due to monthly fluctuations and minor changes to historical data 

but it does demonstrate a need to remain focussed on road safety with greater attention given at 

particular times of the year.  

When calculated against population, Tunbridge Wells is just below the Kent average of 3.98 

casualties per 1000 residents 

Page 149

Appendix A



 

7 
 

We continue to rely on (and direct, to some degree) our KCC Wardens to provide positive messages 

in villages and around schools. 

Through KCC Wardens, police, borough council’s Community Safety team, KFRS and Salus (Safety in 

Action) we continue to engage and educate the public on the subject of road safety. 

Recommendation 

The borough council has a role to play in contributing to the education strand of the three E’s 

(education, engineering and enforcement). We are able to engage with hundreds of young people 

through Safety in Action week, KCC Warden visits to schools, Captain Safety performances and other 

road safety education programmes. We are also able to engage with inconsiderate drivers through 

KCC Warden interventions and Community SpeedWatch Groups. We also are able to influence work 

undertaken by KCC Wardens to address parking issues around schools and local shopping areas. 

Road safety remains a priority for many communities and we recommend road safety continues to 

be a priority for 2018/19 

  

Page 150

Appendix A



 

8 
 

Alcohol and substance misuse 

Identified as a priority for 2017/18. The following activity was undertaken:  

 During Q1 – Q3 street pastors engaged with over 2,000 people during weekend evenings 

(Thurs-Sat) and into the early hours of the morning. As well as providing advice and, in some 

cases, comfort to late night revellers, street pastors helped people keep safe by calling for an 

ambulance on six occasions and the police 19 times. They enlisted the help of CCTV 

Operators on 14 occasions using the two 2-way radios provided free of charge by the Safe 

Town Partnership. 

 Eight Safe Town Partnership exclusions for violence were put in place during Q1 – Q3 adding 

to the 18 exclusions already in place. All the new exclusions were male and were banned 

from Safe Town members’ premises for violent behaviour against members of the public (6) 

and door staff (3). 

 During Q1 – Q3 Pubwatch members contacted CCTV 120 times to assist with prevention and 

detection of criminal or anti-social behaviour, by sharing intelligence between 

licensees/retailers, CCTV control room and police. 

 During Q1 – Q3 CCTV monitored a total of 111 incidents graded as violent. These incidents 

range from assaults and domestic violence to public order and racial incidents. Violent 

incidents are routed to the police in real time for immediate attention. 

 During Q1 – Q3 Kent Police Licensing Officer delivered five training sessions to staff from 15 

licensed premises on subjects ranging from counter-terrorism through drug-awareness and 

under-age sales. 

 During Q1 – Q3 CGL (Change, Grow, Live - a voluntary sector organisation specialising in drug 

and criminal justice intervention projects) offered structured treatment programmes 

covering 450 engagements with Tunbridge Wells residents with substance abuse issues. 

 During Q1 and Q2 Addaction engaged 62 young people in substance misuse early 

intervention services. Ten young people started structured treatment while 19 left 

treatment (26 in active treatment in total). 

 Other referrals through Addaction saw six young people picked up by Kent Youth Drug 

Intervention Scheme (KYDIS) and a further nine engaging with specialist treatment. 

 During the first half of 2016/17 Kenward Trust delivered outreach work to over 470 young 

people in car parks, recreation grounds and other open spaces (including Rusthall, Hilbert 

Rec, Showfields, Calverley Grounds, Great Hall and Torrington car parks and Paddock Wood). 

 During Q1 – Q3 26 staff at Early Help, West Kent YMCA and Tunbridge Wells Borough 

Council were trained to use Drug Use Screening Tool (DUST). 

 In Q2 two males associated with a Lambeth-based gang were arrested on the A26 in 

Southborough and charged with the supply of Class A drugs. One male was arrested on 

Camden Road and charged with supply of cocaine. The male is an Albanian national and a 

member of an Organised Crime Group who was also wanted by the Metropolitan Police. 

 During Q2 four males linked to London gangs were arrested in Tunbridge Wells for offences 

including Class A drug supply and murder. Subsequently, one of these males was remanded 

in custody for the supply of crack cocaine and heroin and was further charged with murder. 

Two others were charged with supply of Class A drugs - one pled guilty and received a prison 

sentence of 32 months. The fourth male was just 16 years old. He was released without 

Page 151

Appendix A



 

9 
 

charge and treated as a victim of Modern Slavery having been trafficked to Tunbridge Wells 

to supply drugs. 

 During Q1 the Young People’s Bus Service (YPBS) deployed the double-decker Street Cruizer 

between Calverley Grounds and Great Hall car park on Friday evenings from 4-6pm 

attracting between 11-27 young people per session. YPBS provide two staff but KCC were 

unable to provide a youth worker for these sessions. In total, 11 weekly sessions enabled 

213 engagements with young people who enjoyed video games, music entertainment and 

soft refreshments. 

 During Q1 – Q3 19 rough sleepers with alcohol or drug-related issues were reported as 

having positive outcomes by engaging with drug or rehabilitation services. 

 During last year’s Winter Shelter (Jan/Feb 2017) six individuals with substance misuse issues 

used the shelter. Four of these had positive outcomes through attendance at appointments 

with CGL or other appropriate medical providers. 

 During Q3 Patrols by security company JS Secure were resourced for some key dates around 

Christmas to provide a visible presence in the town centre during a time when shoplifting 

and ‘purse dipping’ have been known to increase. Part of their remit included visiting parks, 

car parks and other open spaces to deter young people known to gather to drink alcohol and 

smoke cannabis. 

Analysis 
Substance misuse: Between December 2016 and November 2017, there were 1.3 recorded drug 

offences per 1,000 population in Tunbridge Wells. This is a slight improvement on last year’s 1.7 

offences per 1000 residents and just below the Kent district average for 2016/17 of 1.4. 

After two consecutive annual reductions Tunbridge Wells is now 5th out of 12 Kent districts (9th last 

year). 

There was an increase in trafficking (dealing) offences during the period, up from 29 to 38, following 

a reduction last year (47 to 27). Monthly fluctuations place Tunbridge Wells variously above and 

below the Kent average of 0.4 crimes per 1000 residents. We are now 5th in Kent, faring slightly 

worse than our 3rd position last year. 

It is worth noting that Tunbridge Wells Community Policing Team has a particular focus on substance 

misuse – particularly Class A drug dealing involving members of South London gangs looking to 

expand their market beyond their London boroughs. 

Possession of drugs offences were down by 58 to 109 following a small reduction of three offences 

last year, Tunbridge Wells is slightly below the Kent average and fifth lowest in the county (11th last 

year). This does represent an improvement of the preceding period and a continuation of a gradual 

downward trend over a longer period. 

There were 402 hospital admissions (relating to 325 individuals) for mental and behavioural 

disorders due to psychoactive substance misuse. This follows a reduction of 94 admissions last year. 

Alcohol abuse: Arrests for drunkenness fell again this year from 56 in 2016 to 50 in 2017. 36 of these 

arrests occurred in and around Tunbridge Wells town centre. Additionally there were two arrests 

made on St John’s Road, two on Silverdale Road and one on Ferndale. Single occurrences were 

recorded in Sherwood, Southborough and High Brooms, Rusthall, Pembury, Cranbrook and Paddock 

Page 152

Appendix A



 

10 
 

Wood, There was an arrest made at Tunbridge Wells Hospital and two arrests in an unidentified 

location. 

There were 70 hospital admissions due to the toxic effects of alcohol during the period September – 

August 2017. This was an increase of 10 over the preceding period. Culverden, St James and 

Southborough and High Brooms were the highest with 8 admissions over the period. Hawkhurst and 

Sandhurst had 7 admissions while Rusthall and Benenden and Cranbrook both had 6. All other wards 

had 4 or less. 

Kenward Trust Outreach, Street Pastors, Youth Service, the Street Cruizer, police operations and 

private security teams continue to engage with and deter young people from taking drugs and 

drinking alcohol in open spaces. 

In summary: Alcohol abuse and substance misuse are key themes that stand alone as issues of 

personal wellbeing but they’re also a factor in several other thematic areas. While we may have seen 

an improvement overall for drug offences this is a very difficult area to gauge. For instance 

possession offences may be more prevalent but because there is no victim, as such (unlike, perhaps, 

a burglary, vehicle theft or robbery) many incidents of possession may go unreported. Similarly, our 

‘poor performance’ in respect of drug-dealing offences may be higher in Tunbridge Wells than other 

areas because of pro-active local policing, which the borough may in fact benefit from. 

Reports of young people hanging around open spaces in the town centre and some neighbourhoods 

often include cite cannabis use as a factor. Kenward Trust reports frequent engagements with young 

people who consider cannabis to be harmless or, at the very least, less harmful than alcohol. 

We’re also aware of the dangers of teenagers and young adults (and sometimes primary school 

children) becoming blackmail victims of out-of-town drug dealers. This is purportedly having an 

impact on individuals from all socio-economic groups, but gangs will target affluent areas to get 

teenagers with wealthy parents to run up drug debts, which they can then also blackmail the parents 

with. Wealthy parents may be more inclined to pay off a drug debt than seek help because of the 

perceived stigma involved. 

There is little direct evidence of this affecting Tunbridge Wells at this time but it may be a hidden 

harm and a lack of awareness for all those involved would provide an environment where such 

behaviour could thrive. 

On a more positive note, we’re pleased to note that very few incidents of public consumption of new 

psychoactive substances (NPS – or ‘legal highs’) have reached us over the past twelve months.  

Recommendation 

Actions to tackle alcohol and substance misuse to remain a priority for 2018/19. 

  

Page 153

Appendix A



 

11 
 

Vulnerable Victims 
This overarching theme was included as a priority for 2017/18 following a workshop exercise at the 

February 2017 quarterly Community Safety Partnership meeting. The workshop was prompted by 

the outcome of the MoRiLE assessment undertaken several weeks prior which highlighted areas 

such as child sexual exploitation, modern slavery, gangs, organised crime groups and counter-

terrorism where those involved in such activities were as likely to be victims as perpetrators. 

MoRiLE (Management of Risk in Law Enforcement) assesses crimes that primarily are analysed by 

volume, the affected population and location to identify and prioritise levels of threat, harm and 

risk. The focus remains on the victim but additional scoring methods assess community, financial and 

environmental impact, as well as an organisation's capacity and capability to respond. The 

framework ultimately generates a ranking that measure harm and risk. 

While much work is undertaken by police colleagues and others to address these issues and to bring 

them to greater awareness there appears to be less oversight from a partnership perspective. This 

audit is what we hoped to address with this priority during 2017/8 in order to promote awareness 

and identify any gaps that exist in areas where individuals may be susceptible to victimisation.  

Work on all the above themes continued throughout the year, and issues brought to our attention 

were worked through at bi-weekly multi-agency Vulnerability Board meetings. However, challenges 

brought about by resourcing issues and competing priorities stymied our efforts to provide partners 

with a comprehensive picture. 

Recommendation 

Under the umbrella of ‘safeguarding’ we recommend the following priorities for 2018/19. 

Safeguarding: 

 Gangs 

 Organised Crime Groups 

 Modern Slavery 

 Child Sexual Exploitation 

  

Page 154

Appendix A



 

12 
 

Priority setting for 2018/19 

This year the CSP has agreed to focus on the following issues:  

1. Domestic abuse  

2. Road safety 

3. Alcohol and substance misuse 

4. Safeguarding – Gangs, Organised Crime Groups, Modern Slavery, Child Sexual Exploitation 

These priorities meet the shared goals outlined in the following documents published by the Kent 

Police & Crime Commissioner (PCC) and Kent County Council, respectively: 

 Safer in Kent: The Community Safety and Criminal Justice Plan (April 2017 to March 2021) 

 Kent Community Safety Agreement (April 2017) 

The PCC has committed to a 10% increase in funding this financial year, raising his contribution to 

£31,332. Our priorities reflect the Commissioner’s strategic vision of placing an emphasis on victims 

and tackling the misery caused by abuse and substance misuse. 

During 2016/17 the CSU made significant changes to the structure of regular daily, weekly and 

monthly meetings. We now chair ‘victim-led’ meetings with agendas developed against the measure 

of threat, harm and risk to individuals and communities; with a stronger emphasis on harm over 

volume. These meetings offer better value for our partners and consequently, and by way of the 

Kent and Medway Information Sharing Agreement, we have better representation from key 

agencies, such as mental health and social care. 

This structure was further embedded during 2017/18 and was strengthened by the appointment of 

specialist PCSOs to focus on youth, vulnerable adults and domestic abuse. 

A new monthly meeting to focus on Organised Crime Groups will address a range of issues that will 

encompass our safeguarding strategy, such as the organised supply of drugs, organised child sexual 

exploitation, modern slavery, financial crime and cybercrime. The meeting will also focus on repeat 

offending patterns and the issues that may lead individuals to become victims, such as upbringing, 

lifestyle, social factors, drugs addiction and other vulnerabilities that lead to youth exploitation. 

Statutory partners, other agencies and voluntary services also have a role in addressing these 

themes around improved awareness, education, data sharing and safeguarding.  

Page 155

Appendix A



 

13 
 

Actions and recommendations for 2018/19 

Priority 1: Domestic abuse  

Action Primary agency/agencies Measure 

Provide DA support services to men and women 
at all levels of risk. Encourage early reporting by 
promoting the helpline and available services. 
Provide workshops/training aimed at awareness 
raising and prevention. 

DAVSS 

Number of referrals. Number of 
high, medium and standard risk 
referrals dealt with. 

Number/types of training 
provided. 

Prioritise and refer all high risk cases to a Multi-
Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC), 
and regularly assess volatility of risk levels in all 
other cases and refer to MARAC as necessary. 

DAVSS, Kent Police, West Kent 
MARAC Co-ordinator 

Number of cases referred 
to/supported at MARAC number 
of repeat cases. 

Refer women to the Freedom programme for 
domestic abuse awareness and support. 

DAVSS, DA Forum Number of programmes run. 

Provide support to perpetrators of domestic 
abuse to change their behaviour through the 
Community Domestic Abuse Programme (CDAP). 

Kent CDAP 
Number of men supported 
through CDAP. 

Provide support to victims of sexual abuse 
through the independent sexual violence advisor. 

Family Matters Number of victims supported. 

Evaluate the provision of the One Stop Shop 
running in Tunbridge Wells. 

DA Forum Number of clients attending.  

Provide the sanctuary scheme to victims of DA, 
securing properties to allow them to remain in 
their own home. 

TWBC Housing, Look Ahead Number of properties secured. 

Other recommendations 

 Work with others to ensure the West Kent service directory is kept updated. 

 Raise awareness of DA with partners and continue to ensure signposting information is current. 

 Work to increase numbers attending CDAP and Freedom programmes. 

 Work with Offender Management (Probation, KSSCRC) to address DA related issues within cohorts.  

 Consider a West Kent DA Forum to make better use of available resources (principally, officer time). 

 Ensure Home Office funded VAWG (Violence against Women and Girls) project (Support Plus Transformation) is 

suitably implemented by DAVSS and extended to West Kent partners. 

Overall target: To reduce the harm caused by domestic abuse incidents. 

Specific target: To see a reduction in the number of repeat cases of domestic abuse. 

 

  

Page 156

Appendix A



 

14 
 

Priority 2: Road safety  

Action 
Primary 

agency/agencies 
Measure 

Convene a Task and Finish group to plan this year’s 
events and better understand statistics around 
child casualties. 

CSU, KFRS, KCC, Kent 
Police 

Group convened on one or more 
occasions. Underlying data establishes 
a focus. 

Education in schools and community groups to 
include Licence to Kill campaign. 

KFRS 
KCC Wardens 

Projects completed and feedback 
provided. 

Work with KCC and KFRS to promote messages 
locally and link in with national and local 
campaigns including Road Safety Week 

CSU Number of campaigns supported. 

Involve Tunbridge Wells students in innovative 
new Road Safety Experience (RSE) at Rochester. 
 
CSU to support efforts to engage schools. 

KFRS, CSU 
Number of sessions held. 
 
Sessions held and feedback received. 

During Road Safety Week: 
Provide safety message to primary school children  
Organise activity with partners to tackle all road 
users. 

CSU 
 
KRFS 

Number of presentations/activities. 

Organise two restorative justice road checks. KFRS, Kent Police 
Road checks held and drivers engaged 
with. 

Direct KCC Warden public engagement 
opportunities on road safety topics, particularly 
around schools. 

CSU, KCC Wardens 
Number and type of engagements, 
attendee numbers. 

Locally engage Tunbridge Wells residents with RSE 
resources (Engagement Van, Seatbelt Slide demo). 

KFRS, CSU 
Number/type of events and 
number/type of attendees 

Investigate programs such as ‘Good Egg Guide’ and 
‘Beep Beep Day’ for young people to address child 
casualties. 

CSU, program providers 
Identification and implementation of 
youth-related programs. 

Run Captain Safety event during Road Safety Week 
for KS1 and KS2 students 

CSU, Dave Allen 
Number of schools/students attends. 
Student/school feedback 

Contribute funding for Safety in Action event for Yr 
6 students transitioning to high school. 

CSU, Project Salus 
Number of Tunbridge Wells students 
attending. 

Overall target: Increase road safety for all road users and contribute to KCC’s 2020 target to reduce killed 

and seriously injured casualties. 

Specific target: To see a reduction in child casualties of road traffic collisions. 

  

Page 157

Appendix A



 

15 
 

Priority 3: Substance misuse and alcohol abuse (including in the night-time economy) 

Action Primary agency/agencies Measure 

To deploy substance misuse workers to hotspots 
within the borough to carry out one-to-one and 
group work with young people. 

Kenward Trust Number of individuals engaged with. 

Carry out targeted work for those identified with 
substance-related offending/ASB. 

CGL 
Individuals engaged through group 
and one-to-one work. 

Provide drug and alcohol misuse services for 10-17 
year olds including 1:1 work, group work within 
schools (including RisKit), Kent Youth Drug 
Intervention Programme (KYDIS) and family work. 

Addaction, Kent Police 

Number of young people worked with 
through 1:1s and early help. 

Number of referrals to KYDIS. 

Deliver Drug Use Screening Tool (DUST) training to 
professionals. 

Addaction Number of professionals trained.  

Support the Winter Shelter, in particular those 
NFAs with needs around substance misuse and 
offending.  

Churches for Tunbridge 
Wells, TWBC, CSU 

Number of positive outcomes related 
to clients’ substance misuse issues. 

Replace Alcohol Control Zones with Public Spaces 
Protection Orders with an additional prohibition 
related to new psychoactive substances. 

TWBC, CSU 
Prohibitions in place. 
Number of enforcements made. 

Ensure frontline officers access IBA training 
(Identification and Brief Advice to Reduce Risky 
Drinking). 

PHE Number of professionals trained. 

Exclude individuals convicted of violence offences 
from Pubwatch members' licensed premises. 

Safe Town Partnership (STP), 
CCTV, Kent Police 

Number of exclusions in force. 

Use Safe Town radios to prevent and detect 
violent crime, by sharing intelligence between 
licensees/retailers, CCTV control room and police. 

STP, TWBC CCTV, Kent Police 
Pubwatch instigated incidents 
monitored by CCTV. 

Use CCTV to assist with detecting violent crime. TWBC, Kent Police Violent offences monitored. 

Provide a positive presence in the night time 
economy. 

Street Pastors 
Number of people engaged. 
Number of ambulances called. 
Number of police call-outs. 

Tackle criminal gangs that target Tunbridge Wells 
residents. 

Kent Police 

Number of arrests and prosecutions 
of gang members. 
Reduction in ASB linked to gang drug 
dealing. 

Provide licensing training to staff around 
responsibilities when serving alcohol, including: 
making sure they adhere to the licensing act, 
under-age sales, legal highs and drug use. 

Kent Police, STP 
Number of training sessions offered 
by Kent Police. 

Work with Trading Standards on a joint 
Community Alcohol Partnership (CAP) with TMBC 
to identify and address issues around underage 
drinking, responsible drinking for 18-25s, street 
drinking and proxy purchases. 

Trading Standards, TWBC 
(CSU, Health) 

Identification and location of issues. 
Programs in place to address hotpots 
and relevant cohorts. 

Other recommendations 

 Promote Alcohol Awareness week  

 Use social media to provide information to residents 

 Police, Wardens and PCSOs to continue to gather intelligence on underage and proxy sales 

 Encourage frontline professionals to promote the Know Your Score online evaluation tool for alcohol consumption 
for over-18 

 

Specific target: To engage youths caught with small amounts of illegal substances to engage with support 
services. 

Page 158

Appendix A



 

16 
 

 

Priority 4: Safeguarding (Organised Crime Groups, CSE, modern slavery and gangs) 

Action 
Proposed primary agency* / 

Other agencies 
Outcome/measure 

Scope agency knowledge and 
awareness of issues, reporting routes 
and safeguarding lead. 

Community Safety Team* 
(CST), statutory partners, key 
agencies 

An understanding of agency needs/gaps and 
relevant contacts established with key agencies. 

Identify education and awareness 
training already in place. 

CST*, statutory partners and 
key agencies 

Awareness of current used resources and levels 
of staff take-up across partner agencies. 

Identify the availability of online and 
classroom-based awareness and 
education training programmes. 

CST*, police, KSCB 
Awareness of available resources for agency 
staff and the public, including young people. 

Identify multi-agency staff appropriate 
for awareness training. 

CST*, local agencies 
Staff roles and numbers collated for rolling 
training programmes. 

Focus awareness campaigns around 
Awareness Weeks: E.g. National Child 
Sexual Exploitation Awareness Day 
(March) and Anti-Slavery Day (Oct). 

CST*, police, key agencies 
Many agencies focus positive messages and 
promote broader awareness of these issues 
during these times. 

Acquire promotional materials to 
support campaigns, action days/weeks 
and other agency engagement 
opportunities.  

CST*, police, KCC 
The CSU already has a variety of posters and 
leaflets that cover some of these themes. 
Others will be sought. 

Drive to raise awareness in schools, 
pupil referral units and other training 
providers (e.g. Horizon Project). 

CST, EH, KCC, key agencies 

Embedding awareness training at schools and 
other educational establishments will ensure 
positive messages reach those who may be at 
greater risk or vulnerability. 

Collate national and regional action 
plans. 

CST* To feed into local action plans. 

Ensure agencies link in with 
Vulnerability Board and OCG Board to 
raise awareness of victims and 
suspected perpetrators, addresses (and 
CSE hotspots). 

CST*, police 

Ensure victims’ needs are addressed and 
perpetrator/location information is shared in a 
multi-agency environment to help reduce 
further risk.  

Meet with representatives of key 
agencies to formulate the above into 
rolling Action Plans, based around the 
government’s model of: PURSUE, 
PROTECT, PREVENT and PREPARE. 

Subjects to be covered under these 
categories will be drawn from national 
action plans and supplemented by 
outcomes from Task and Finish groups. 

CST*, statutory and key 
agencies 

Task and Finish groups to establish actions plans 
for the key themes of Prevent, CSE, Modern 
slavery and London gang-based activity in 
Tunbridge Wells.  

Regular attendance at county or 
regional meetings. 

CST*, police*, key agencies  
To feed into the national picture, pick up best 
practice from around Kent and to seek support 
for local action plans and ongoing work. 

Consider a West Kent approach to 
these thematic areas.  

West Kent Community 
Safety Managers  

To improve work streams and make better use 
of resources. 

Specific target: To ensure the local authority and partner agencies comply with statutory requirements and 

offer support to vulnerable individuals in helping to address and reduce the risks associated with these themes 

 

 

Page 159

Appendix A



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

PRIORITY 1: DOMESTIC ABUSE 

ACTION 
PRIMARY 
AGENCY/AGENCIES 

PCC TWBC OTHER NOTES 

Provide DA support to men and women at STANDARD and HIGH levels 
of risk. 

DAVSS X 6,000  For DAVSS 

Provide DA support to men and women at MEDIUM levels of risk. DAVSS 6,000 X X For DAVSS 

Provide workshops/training aimed at awareness raising and prevention DAVSS 1,000 1,000  For DAVSS 

Prioritise and refer all HIGH risk cases to a Multi-Agency Risk 
Assessment Conference (MARAC), and regularly assess volatility of risk 
levels in all other cases and refer to MARAC as necessary. 

DAVSS, Kent Police, West 
Kent MARAC Co-ordinator, 
Social Care Services 

X 1,000 1,000 
For DAVSS 
Supported by Project Funding 

Refer women assessed at MEDIUM level of risk to the Freedom 
Programme for domestic abuse awareness and support. 

DAVSS 1,000 X X For DAVSS 

Refer women assessed at STANDARD and HIGH levels of risk to the 
Freedom Programme for domestic abuse awareness and support. 

DAVSS X 1,000  For DAVSS 

Provide support to perpetrators of domestic abuse to change their 
behaviour through the Community Domestic Abuse Programme (CDAP). 

Kent CDAP 2,000 X X For CDAP 

Provide support to victims of sexual abuse assessed at STANDARD level 
of risk through the independent sexual violence advisor. 

Family Matters X 1,000  For Family Matters 

Provide support to victims of sexual abuse assessed as MEDIUM level of 
risk through the independent sexual violence advisor. 

Family Matters 1,000 X X For Family Matters 

Provide support to victims of domestic abuse through the One Stop 
Shop signposting to DAVSS, MARAC and Freedom Programme. 

DA Specialist PCSO 200   
For One Stop Shop marketing, venue, 
ad hoc needs. 
Supported by Project Funding 

Provide the sanctuary scheme to victims of DA, securing properties to 
allow them to remain in their own home. 

TWBC Housing 

 

  
Funded by TWBC Housing 

  £11,200 £10,000 £1,000  

P
age 161

A
ppendix B



2 
 

 

PRIORITY 2: ROAD SAFETY 

ACTION PRIMARY AGENCY/AGENCIES PCC TWBC OTHER NOTES 

Education in schools and community groups to include 
Licence to Kill, and pedestrian and cycle safety. 

KFRS, KCC Wardens £300 
 

 
Funded by KRFS, KCC and PCC (cycle security 
marking materials at events) 

Work with KCC road safety to promote messages locally. CSU 
  

 
 

Involve Tunbridge Wells students in innovative new 
Road Safety Centre at Rochester. 

KFRS 
  

 Funded by KFRS 

Expand Speed Watch by identifying a cohort of 
volunteers within high-profile wards. 

Kent Police, CSU     

Provide support for the '20’s plenty' campaign group 
and the installation /promotion of 20pmh zones. 

TWBC, CSU  
 

 
 

Hold 'Safety in Action' week for local schools. Project Salus £1,250 
 

 For Project Salus 

Locally engage Tunbridge Wells residents with RSE 
resources (Engagement Van, Seatbelt Slide demo). 

CSU, KFRS £200   
For promotional costs and suitable road 
safety give-aways 

Direct KCC Warden public engagement opportunities on 
road safety topics, particularly around schools. 

CSU, KCC Wardens £200   
For promotional costs and suitable road 
safety give-aways 

During Road Safety Week: 
Provide safety message to primary school children  
Organise activity with partners to tackle all road users.  

CSU, KRFS £700 
 

 Allocated for RSW activities (Dave Allen) 

Organise two restorative justice road checks. KFRS, Kent Police     

  £2,650 £   0 £   0  

  

P
age 162

A
ppendix B



3 
 

PRIORITY 3: SUBSTANCE MISUSE AND ALCOHOL ABUSE 

ACTION 
PRIMARY 
AGENCY/AGENCIES 

PCC TWBC OTHER NOTES 

To deploy Substance Misuse workers to hotspots within the 
borough to carry out 1:1 and group work with adults and young 
people. 

CGL, Kenward Trust £7,020   For Kenward Trust (£270 x 26) 

To deploy the Street Cruizer to areas identified with drug use and 
ASB supporting Kenward Outreach where possible. 

Young People’s Bus 
Service, KCC EH 

   For YPBS (£80 x 12) subject to suitability 

Run targeted high-vis operations in locations noted for drug 
misuse (inc. NPS) or at times/dates associated with excessive 
alcohol intake. 

SIA-registered security 
team. 

   
For town centre, car parks and parks SIA 
patrols Supported by Project Funding 

Targeted work for those identified with substance-related 
offending. 

CGL    Funded by CGL 

Provide drug and alcohol misuse services for 10-17 year olds 
including one to one work, group work within schools (including 
RisKit) early intervention, Kent Youth Drug Intervention 
Programme (KYDIS) and family work. 

KCA    Funded by KCC 

Deliver Drug Use Screening Tool (DUST) training to professionals. KCA    Funded by KCC 

Support the Winter Shelter, in particular those NFAs with needs 
around substance misuse and offending. 

Churches for Tunbridge 
Wells, TWBC, CSU 

£3,000   For Winter Shelter 

Exclude individuals convicted of violence offences from 
Pubwatch members' licensed premises. 

Safe Town Partnership 
(STP), CCTV, Kent Police 

    

Use STP radios to prevent and detect violent crime, by sharing 
intelligence between licensees/retailers, CCTV Ops and police. 

STP, TWBC CCTV, Kent 
Police 

     

Use CCTV to prevent and detect violent crime. TWBC, Kent Police      

Provide a positive presence in the night time economy. Street Pastors £2,500   For Street Pastors training/expenses 

Tackle criminal gangs that target Tunbridge Wells borough. Kent Police      

Provide licensing training to staff around responsibilities when 
serving alcohol, including: making sure they adhere to the 
licensing act, under-age sales, legal highs and drug use. 

Kent Police, STP    Funded by Kent Police 

  £12,520 £   0 £   0    
 

  

P
age 163

A
ppendix B



4 
 

PRIORITY 4: SAFEGUARDING - ORGANISED CRIME GROUPS, CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION, MODERN SLAVERY AND GANGS 

ACTION 
PRIMARY 
AGENCY*/AGENCIES 

PCC TWBC OTHER NOTES 

Performance and workshops that affect lasting change for young 
people by addressing grooming, exploitation and extremism. 

Suitable theatre 
company or agency 

£1000   
 

Scope agency knowledge and awareness of issues, reporting 
routes and safeguarding lead. 

Community Safety 
Team* (CST), statutory 
partners, key agencies 

    

Identify education and awareness training already in place. 
CST*, statutory partners 
and key agencies 

    

Identify the availability of online and classroom-based awareness 
and education training programmes. 

CST*, police, KSCB     

Identify multi-agency staff appropriate for delivery of awareness 
training. 

CST*, local agencies     

Focus awareness campaigns around Awareness Weeks: E.g. 
National Child Sexual Exploitation Awareness Day (March) and 
Anti-Slavery Day (Oct). 

CST*, police, key 
agencies 

    

Acquire promotional materials to support campaigns, action 
days/weeks and other agency engagement opportunities.  

CST*, police, KCC £200    

Drive to raise awareness in schools, pupil referral units and other 
training providers (e.g. Horizon Project). 

CST, EH, KCC, key 
agencies 

    

  £1,200 £   0 £   0  
 Total Funding Allocated: £27,570 £10,000 £1,000  

 Total Funding Provided £31,332 £10,000 -  

 2018-19 Tactical Pot   £3,762 - -  

 

P
age 164

A
ppendix B



 

 

 

Strategic Assessment  

2017/18 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Produced by Terry Hughes, Community Safety Manager, Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Please contact terry.hughes@tunbridgewells.gov.uk 

CSP Sign-off: 8th February 2018 

Page 165

Appendix C

mailto:terry.hughes@tunbridgewells.gov.uk


 

 

 

  

Page 166

Appendix C



Contents 
Introduction ............................................................................................................................... 1 

Legislation .............................................................................................................................. 1 

The aim of this Strategic Assessment .................................................................................... 1 

Part 1 - Analysis .......................................................................................................................... 2 

All recorded crime 2017/18 ............................................................................................... 2 

Priority 1: Domestic abuse  ................................................................................................ 9 

Priority 2: Road safety  ..................................................................................................... 12 

Priority 3: Substance misuse and alcohol abuse  ............................................................ 18 

Part 2 - Conclusion ................................................................................................................... 26 

Recommended priorities ..................................................................................................... 26 

Domestic Abuse ................................................................................................................... 26 

Road Safety .......................................................................................................................... 27 

Substance Misuse and Alcohol Abuse ................................................................................. 27 

Safeguarding – Gangs, Organised Crime Groups and Modern Slavery ............................... 28 

Safeguarding – Child Sexual Exploitation ............................................................................. 28 

 

  

Page 167

Appendix C



1 
 

Introduction 
The 2017/18 Strategic Assessment produced for the Tunbridge Wells Community Safety 

Partnership (CSP) helps establish priority themes for the 2018/19 Partnership Plan.  

Legislation 

The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 gave statutory responsibility to local authorities, the 

police, and key partners to reduce crime and disorder in their communities. Under this 

legislation, the responsible authorities (commonly referred to now as Community Safety 

Partnerships), were required to carry out three yearly audits and to implement crime 

reduction strategies. 

The Police and Justice Act 2006 introduced scrutiny arrangements in the form of the Crime 

and Disorder Scrutiny Committee, as well as introducing several amendments to the 1998 

Act including the addition of anti-social behaviour (ASB) and substance misuse within the 

remit of the CSP strategies. Reducing reoffending was subsequently added by the Policing 

and Crime Act 2009. The Crime and Disorder (Formulation and Implementation of Strategy) 

Regulations 2007 set out further revisions to the 1998 Act. 

The aim of this Strategic Assessment 

The data provided by partners and the analysis of this data enables the strategic partners to 

set clear priorities for the coming year, thereby addressing the requirement within the 

National Standards for CSPs that Partnership Plans be intelligence driven. 

Part 1 analyses police and partner data for last year’s priorities covering the period October 

2016 - September 2017. For some crime types more recent data is available and this been 

appropriately indicated. 

Funding for these priorities was provided, in part, by the Kent Police & Crime Commissioner 

in accordance with the priorities set out in his Safer in Kent: The Community Safety and 

Criminal Justice Plan. Our priorities reflect the Commissioner’s strategic vision of placing an 

emphasis on victims and tackling the misery caused by abuse and substance misuse. 

Part 2 draws some conclusions from the data and recommends the priorities for the 

partnership for the coming financial year. 

 

 

The Responsible Authorities are: Kent Police; County & District Councils; Clinical 

Commissioning Groups (CCGs), Kent Fire & Rescue Service, National Probation 

Service (Kent), Kent, Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company 

 

Page 168

Appendix C



2 
 

 

  

Part 1 - Analysis 

All recorded crime 2017/18  
 

Current figures for the 12-month period December 2016 – November 2017, unless stated 

Level of Crime 6,773 (previous period 5,430) 

Peer Comparison Best out of 12 Kent areas (lowest by volume)  

Annual Change An increase of 1,343 crimes (25%) - The smallest increase in 12 Kent areas 

3-Year trend  - per 1000 

residents 

October 2014 to September 
2017 

Thin Red Line: Kent Average 
Thick black line: Tunbridge 
Wells 

 

Kent comparison - per 1000 

residents 

October 2016 to September 
2017 
 
Black line – Force average 

 

Tunbridge Wells had the lowest overall crime rate in Kent in 2017. 

All recorded crime in the borough increased by 24.7% over the preceding 12-month reporting period. 
While the increase of 1,343 crimes is seemingly high it is the lowest in Kent numerically and by 
population, maintaining our position as the safest borough in Kent.  

The overall picture for the past three years has shown rates of crime to be fairly steady, though with a 
slight upward trend. The 2017 financial year saw a sharper increase over the first three month followed 
by a steady decline from July through September.  

This trend closely follows the Kent district average, which we remain well below reflecting our position 
as the safest local authority area. 

The table on the next page provides a breakdown of the all crimes category into various crime types. It 
clearly shows significant changes in both directions and compares our county position to the same 
period last year. 

0

2

4

6

8

10

O
c
t 

1
4

N
o

v
 1

4
D

e
c
 1

4
J
a
n

 1
5

F
e

b
 1

5
M

a
r 

1
5

A
p

r 
1
5

M
a

y
 1

5
J
u
n

 1
5

J
u
l 
1
5

A
u

g
 1

5
S

e
p
 1

5
O

c
t 

1
5

N
o

v
 1

5
D

e
c
 1

5
J
a
n

 1
6

F
e

b
 1

6
M

a
r 

1
6

A
p

r 
1
6

M
a

y
 1

6
J
u
n

 1
6

J
u
l 
1
6

A
u

g
 1

6
S

e
p
 1

6
O

c
t 

1
6

N
o

v
 1

6
D

e
c
 1

6
J
a
n

 1
7

F
e

b
 1

7
M

a
r 

1
7

A
p

r 
1
7

M
a

y
 1

7
J
u
n

 1
7

J
u
l 
1
7

A
u

g
 1

7
S

e
p
 1

7

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

T
u
n

b
ri
d

g
e

W
e
lls

T
o
n

b
ri
d

g
e

a
n

d
 M

a
lli

n
g

S
e
v
e
n
o

a
k
s

A
s
h

fo
rd

M
a

id
s
to

n
e

S
h
e
p

w
a
y

D
o

v
e

r

C
a

n
te

rb
u

ry

S
w

a
le

M
e

d
w

a
y

D
a

rt
fo

rd
 a

n
d

G
ra

v
e
s
h
a
m

T
h
a

n
e
t

Page 169

Appendix C



3 
 

Crime types with direction of travel and county position (Dec 2016 – Nov 2017): 

 

*It should be noted that the repeat victimisation rate for DAVSS (Domestic Abuse Volunteer Support 

Services) clients in West Kent fell by 3% to 10% during Q3. 

Changes to the way Kent Police record and categorise crimes can adversely affect the way 

we use police data to identify trends over time. A 2017 review of crime recording in Kent by 

HM Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS) has contributed to 

changes in the way crimes, particularly serious crimes, are recorded. It is apparent that as a 

result of these changes all districts have seen higher numbers recorded for many crime 

types. 

Further, due to changes in Home Office counting rules Burglary Dwelling and Burglary Other 

than Dwelling only apply to offences up to 31st March 2017. From 1st April 2017 the new 

categories are Burglary Residential and Burglary Business and Community. As such it is not 

possible to provide a comparison over the previous period. However, we are still well-placed 

in terms of county comparison. 

Noticeable in this data are: 

 A strong county position in all but drug offences. 

 A reduction in anti-social behaviour with a slight improvement in county position. 

 Domestic abuse low in Kent with a modest improvement - though it continues to rise.  

Crime / Disorder Type Recorded Offences/Incidents County Position 

  This Year Last Year Change Direction 2016 2017 

All crime 6773 5430 25% ↑ 1 1 

Victim-based crime 5995 4908 22% ↑ 1 1 

Violent crime 2802 2020 39% ↑ 2 2 

Anti-social Behaviour  1817 2236 -19% ↓ 3 2 

Burglary - Residential 233         1 

Burglary - Business 121     1 

Criminal damage 931 810 15% ↑ 1 1 

Domestic abuse incidents 1668 1428 17% ↑ 2 1 

DA repeat victims 408 364 12% ↑ 2 2  

DA repeat victims % * 24% 25% 1% ↑     

Drugs - Possession 108 167 -35% ↓ 10 5 

Drugs - Trafficking 40 29 38%   4 6 

Robbery 24 24 0%   2 1 

Sexual offences 250 179 40% ↑ 3 3 

Shoplifting 494 437 13% ↑ 2 2 

Theft from a motor vehicle 188 200 -6% ↓ 1 1 

Theft of motor vehicle 107 92 16% ↑ 1 2 

Theft of pedal cycle 45 44 2% ↑ 1 1 

Page 170

Appendix C



4 
 

 Seemingly sharp increases in a number of crimes types, including violent crime and sexual 

offences. 

 A reduction in drug possession offences but a rise in trafficking offences and poor when 

compared to other districts. 

Although crime has again risen by a double-figure percentage, all things being equal it may 

be more revealing to compare the rise against other Kent districts to understand if there is 

evidence of a clear rise in crime.  

The following four charts compare the percentage rise in the categories all crime, victim-

based crime, violent crime and sexual offences. 

Percentage rise in all crime 
over the preceding period 

December 2016 to 
November 2017 
 

 

Percentage rise of victim-
based crime over the 
preceding period 

Victim based crimes, 
including violence against 
the person, sexual offences, 
robbery, theft offences and 
criminal damage and arson 
offences. 

December 2016 to 
November 2017 
 

 

Page 171

Appendix C



5 
 

 

It is clear from the charts above that all Kent districts have experienced significant increases 

in key crime types. A further analysis of violent crime shows that just over 16% of violence 

offences occur in licenced premises. 

Overall, Tunbridge Wells is fortunate to be a low crime area, by volume and by population, 

and the increases shown in the table on page 3 are not high in comparison and not exclusive 

to our district. 

Ward data 

The charts on the following pages provide crime figures for residential burglaries, criminal 

damage and anti-social behaviour two pages broken down by ward. With the caveat already 

established that high numbers may not offer a true picture of crime these charts may 

provide for a ward comparison to determine if attention should be given to a particular area 

or theme. 

Further details of other crime types follow the charts. 

Percentage rise of violent 
crime over the preceding 
period 

Violent crime covers a wide 
range of offences, from 
minor assaults such as 
pushing and shoving that 
result in no physical harm 
through to serious incidents 
of wounding and homicide, 
and sexual offences. 

December 2016 to 
November 2017  

Percentage rise of sexual 
offences  over the preceding 
period 

Sexual offences include rape, 
sexual assault and unlawful 
sexual activity against adults 
and children, sexual 
grooming and indecent 
exposure. 

December 2016 to 
November 2017 

 

Page 172

Appendix C



6 
 

Burglary residential 

April-November 2017 

 
Criminal Damage 

April-November 2017 

 

Page 173

Appendix C



7 
 

Anti-social behaviour 

April-November 2017 

 
 

Other Ward data of note for the time period April – November 2017: 

Brenchley and Horsmonden (22) and Sherwood (21) recorded the highest number of 

residential burglaries. Brenchley and Horsmonden (13) had the highest number of burglaries 

(business and community) for the period with Goudhurst and Lamberhurst (12) and Pantiles 

and St Mark's (11) close behind. 

Culverden (67) and Sherwood (67) saw the highest number of criminal damage reports with 

Southborough and High Brooms the next highest by volume (57). 

Shoplifting is expectedly higher in ‘town wards’ than other areas with Park and Culverden at 

100 and 57, respectively. Sherwood, which includes North Farm and Knights Park, also saw a 

high number of shoplifting events at 78. 

Thefts from motor vehicles were higher in Broadwater (16) than other wards with Benenden 

and Cranbrook next on 13. 

Violence against the person is perhaps expectedly higher in town centre wards with Park at 

225 and Culverden at 208. Also high for this crime type is Sherwood at 183. 

The highest wards for violent crime (which includes violence against the person, robbery 

and sexual offences) were Park (238), Culverden (234) and Sherwood (196), with 

Southborough and High Brooms not far behind on 170. 

In terms of ASB, 198 reports were recorded for Sherwood with Culverden on 154 and Park 

on 124. 

Page 174

Appendix C



8 
 

Hate Crime 

The chart below shows the level of hate crime across Kent from April to November 2017 

during which time 93 incidents were recorded in Tunbridge Wells. 

 

Kent Police's Community Liaison Officer (CLO) is based in the CSU and reviews all hate 

crimes within the borough putting into place suitable interventions, signposting and making 

referrals where appropriate. In the first three quarters of 2017/18 the CLO logged 117 cases 

where hate was either a primary or secondary element (some of these cases involve repeat 

victims or repeat offenders – we expect these details to be made available imminently). 

Of these 117 cases 75 were racially motivated while 16 were motivated by a victims’ 

disability and a further 7 were motivated by the victims’ sexual orientation. 

 

HATE CRIME REPORTS JANUARY 2015 TO NOVEMBER 2017 

The chart above shows an overall trend over a near-three year period. While an Office of 

National Statistics report of 2016 recommends caution when viewing long term trends it is 

interesting to note it is often the case that racially-motivated incidents increase following 

high-profile or local terrorist attacks, such as Borough Market in June 2017 which may have 

contributed to the peaks in June and July 2017. This is replicated in other Kent districts but it 

is certainly not a clear picture. 

While hate crime is not seen as a priority for Tunbridge Wells, Kent Police’s CSU-based 

Community Liaison Officer has daily sight of all hate crime reports and is able to advise or 

initiate community-based responses following incidents that generate additional reports. 

Page 175

Appendix C



9 
 

 

The Government defines domestic abuse as ‘Any incident of threatening behaviour, violence 

or abuse (psychological, physical, sexual, financial or emotional) between adults who are or 

have been intimate partners or family members, regardless of gender or sexuality.’ This 

includes coercive and controlling behaviour, harassment and can include assault. Research 

shows domestic abuse has clear links with alcohol and, to a lesser extent, drug use.  

During the 12 months from October 2016 to September 2017, there were 1,556 recorded 

incidents of domestic abuse reported to Kent Police within the borough. This is an increase 

Priority 1: Domestic abuse  
 

Current figures refer to the 12-month period from October 2016 – September 2017 

Level of Crime 1,556 crimes (last year 1,403) 

Peer Comparison Lowest out of 12 Kent areas 

Annual Change Increase of 153 crimes (+11%) 

Kent comparison 

Tunbridge Wells’ total of 1,556 is an 
increase of 153 incidents (11%) over the 
same period last year. 

 

Repeat victims 

Percentage of monthly repeat victims. 

 

West Kent 

Six year comparison of domestic abuse 
incidents. 
 
% rise over the previous period: 
 
Sevenoaks: 10.8% 
Tonbridge: 5.4% 
Tunbridge Wells: 10.9% 

 

Page 176

Appendix C



10 
 

of 11% against a 6% increase over the previous period. All districts in Kent experienced an 

increase in recorded domestic abuse offences over the 2016/17 period. 

While we have the lowest recorded crimes per-1000 residents in Kent, an 11% rise 

continues a trend of similar increases over the past four years; the three preceding years 

showed a steady decrease. Similar increases have been recorded across all Kent districts 

across all these years. 

Repeat victims 

Figures for the period October 2016 to September 2017 show repeat domestic abuse 

offences account for 26% of all reported domestic abuse crimes in Tunbridge Wells. The 

Kent average is 25%. 

When calculating repeat offences for last year’s Strategic Assessment, monthly data made 

available for the periods April to November 2015 and 2016 showed a repeat rate of 37% 

41%, respectively; with a Kent district average for both periods of 38%. 

Following a review of this metric, the repeat victim rate has been re-calculated to fall in line 

with the Home Office definition of a repeat victim; whereas previously this measure had an 

element of double counting due to the numbers of victims and total numbers of incidents 

being considered. 

The repeat rate is now based on the number of individuals who have more than one 

recorded crime in 12 months against the number of total victim-based crimes for the rolling 

year period. The figures used for this year’s Strategic Assessment better reflect the picture 

of repeat instances of domestic abuse across the borough. 

It should be noted that the repeat victimisation rate for DAVSS clients in West Kent fell by 

3% to 10% during Q3. 

Funded outcomes 

Provider Funding 

Domestic Abuse Volunteers and Support Service (DAVSS) £20,000 

Service: Provide domestic abuse support services to men and women at all levels of risk. 

Encourage early reporting by promoting the helpline and available services. Provide 

workshops and training to raise awareness and promote prevention. 

Outcomes: DAVSS received 192 referrals in Q1 - Q3 of which 24 were graded high risk and 

168 standard or medium risk. 

Service: Prioritise and refer all high risk cases to a Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference 

(MARAC), and regularly assess volatility of risk levels in all other cases, escalating to MARAC 

where necessary. 

Outcomes: 82 cases were referred to MARAC of which 16 were repeat cases. 

Page 177

Appendix C



11 
 

Service: Refer women to the Freedom Programme for DA awareness and support. 

Outcomes: During Q1 and Q2 five Tunbridge Wells' residents undertook and completed the 

Freedom Programme. A further five residents completed the course in Q3. 

Provider Funding 

Community Domestic Abuse Programme (CDAP) £3,000 

Service: Provide support to perpetrators of domestic abuse to change their behaviour 

through the Community Domestic Abuse Programme (CDAP) 

Outcomes: Although 11 men attended CDAP during Q1-Q3 there were no Tunbridge Wells 

attendees. 

Provider Funding 

Family Matters £2,000 

Service: Provide support to victims of sexual abuse through the Independent Sexual 

Violence Advisor. 

Outcomes: 22 victims of domestic abuse were supported during the first two quarters of 

2017. 

Provider Funding 

Kent Police Domestic Abuse Specialist PCSO £500 

Service: Provide support to victims of domestic abuse through the One Stop Shop (OSS) 

signposting attendees to DAVSS, MARAC and Freedom Programme. 

Outcomes: These funds were initially allocated to West Kent Refuge as the lead agency prior 

to the introduction of a Kent Police DA Specialist (PCSO). The DA Specialist now runs a 

monthly OSS in Tunbridge Wells. The Domestic Abuse Forum has picked this up as an area of 

focus and will monitor progress. 

Funding was used to promote the OSS and to provide handouts/freebies at public 

engagements, such as the January 2018 public engagement in Southborough. 

 

 

  

Page 178

Appendix C



12 
 

Priority 2: Road safety  

Current figures refer to the 12-month period from January 2016 – December 2016 

Level of Concern 358 Casualties (last year 423) 

Peer Comparison Best out of 12 Kent areas 

Annual Change Reduction of 65 casualties (13%) 

 

 

All ages 
All casualties 

 
Casualty: A person killed or injured 
in an accident. Casualties are sub-
divided into killed, seriously injured 
and slightly injured 

 

All ages 
Killed or Seriously Injured (KSI) 

Examples of serious injury are: 

Fracture, internal injury, severe cuts, 
crushing, burns, concussion, sever 
shock requiring hospital treatment 
and detention in hospital as an in-
patient, either immediately or later. 

 

Children under 16 years of age 
All casualties 
 

 

 

Page 179

Appendix C



13 
 

 

Data from January 2016 – December 2016 saw a further 13% reduction in casualties on top 

of last year’s 12% reduction. That’s 65 fewer casualties in 2016. 

While this further reduction is encouraging, district data from July 2016 – June 2017 (the 

latest district-based data available) does show an increase of 13% over the preceding (July-

June) period.  Further research shows this to be due to monthly fluctuations and minor 

changes to historical data but it does demonstrate a need to remain focussed on road safety 

with greater attention given at particular times of the year.  

When calculated against population, Tunbridge Wells is just below the Kent average of 3.98 

casualties per 1000 residents. 

As with the steady improvements to the way Kent Police record crimes so too collision data 

is undergoing similar changes so that in future years (starting with the current 2016 period) 

the true picture of road traffic collisions and casualty numbers might be better reflected in 

the data. 

In January 2016 Kent Police adopted a new system for recording and reporting road traffic 

collision and casualty information called CRASH (Collision Recording and SHaring). The 

CRASH reporting system was devised by the Home Office with the purpose of reducing the 

‘lag time’ taken to report collision data nationally and make use of technological 

Children under 16 years of age 
Killed or Seriously Injured 
 

 

Kent view 

Proportion of casualties (all 
categories) by district. 

 

Page 180

Appendix C



14 
 

developments to improve data capture and quality. At the time of writing it has been 

adopted by half of the police authorities in England. 

Since the roll out of CRASH a number of highway authorities using the system (including 

Kent County Council) have seen an uplift in the number of serious casualties being reported. 

The Department for Transport (DfT) have advised that part of the increase is likely to be 

related to the CRASH system where previous categorisation of some slight injuries may now 

mean they are recorded as serious injuries. 

However, it is important to note the move to CRASH may have reduced an historical 

underreporting of serious injuries. So while 2016 has seen a departure from previous 

serious injury trends reducing, it is possibly a more accurate reflection of the severity of 

injuries suffered on the road network according to Department of Transport definitions. 

As a result of this, the collision and casualty figures recorded for Kent for 2016 are not 

directly comparable against figures recorded in previous years and therefore the current 

2004-2008 base line figure and 2020 targets are not suitable comparators for progress for 

2016 data. 

Casualty reductions experienced during the previous year (2015) saw Tunbridge Wells back 

within the 2004-2008 baseline and on target for the 2020 figure.  

Given the caveats above it may still be beneficial to see how casualties are distributed 

amongst some types of road user. The charts below are provided for this purpose along with 

figures recorded for 2014 and 2015. 

 

 

Page 181

Appendix C



15 
 

Ward reports 

During this period one fatality was recorded, a car driver in the over-65s category died as a 

result of a road traffic collision in Benenden and Cranbrook. The charts below show the 

distribution of slight and serious injuries across Tunbridge Wells wards during 2016 calendar 

year. 

Ward report 

Slight injuries 2015 vs 
2016 

January - December 

 
Ward report 

Serious injuries 2015 vs 
2016 

January - December 

 

Page 182

Appendix C



16 
 

 Funded outcomes 

Provider Funding 

Dave Allen, TWBC Community Safety Team £700 

Service: The Captain Safety Show runs in November and is offered to primary schools for 

children KS1 and KS2. 

Outcome: Held in November at the Assembly Hall Theatre for urban schools and Goudhurst 

School for rural pupils. Around 800 children attended from across the borough. 

In 2017, 12 schools attended in total (9 urban schools and 3 rural schools). The rural show 

was held at Cranbrook Primary School. Approximate number of attendees in 2017 was 500 

across both venues.  

It should be noted that in 2016 Claremont Primary School brought approximately 320 pupils 

which accounted for almost the whole school and this really increased the number of 

attendees. In 2017 Claremont School did not attend, however new attendees were 

Tunbridge Wells Free School, Skinners Kent Primary School and St John’s Primary School 

who were also involved in the “20’s Plenty” campaign for the St John’s area. 

For those schools that do not attend, the main objection is the cost associated with 

transporting the children to the venues where the children cannot walk to the event.  

For those schools that do attend, the feedback is always very positive. The children remain 

completely engaged for the entire show and participate well. Following the show some 

schools have dedicated time in an assembly to road safety so the attending children can 

pass on their experience to the rest of the school. 

Previous years 

In 2015, 14 schools (10 urban / 4 rural) sent 675 children. The rural show was held at 

Hawkhurst Primary School. 

In 2016, 13 schools (10 urban / 3 rural) sent 900 children. The rural show was held at 

Goudhurst and Kilndown Primary School. 

Other outcomes 

KCC Wardens continue to enforce road safety messages at schools, coffee mornings, 

residents groups, family fun days, youth clubs, social care groups and at other gatherings 

and events throughout the year. On at least one occasion this stretched to providing road 

safety and safe cycling advice to a specific refugee family as part of their orientation to life 

in the UK. 

Road safety advice to school children (and staff) at primary schools is of particular value and 

is often reinforced by advice to parents outside the schools gates where inconsiderate 

Page 183

Appendix C



17 
 

parking occasionally contributes to unsafe crossing conditions for pupils as well as increased 

danger to other road users. 

Other advice given relates to the use of mobility scooters, bike scooters and hover-boards in 

rural areas. 

Provider Funding 

Safety in Action, Project Salus £1000 

Safety in Action attracted 508 Year 6 pupils from 19 Tunbridge Wells schools to Salomons 

Estate in May 2017. The interactive event delivers a range of scenarios designed to highlight 

safety issues and how to deal with them; road safety being one of many topics presented. 

Funding is provided by Tunbridge Wells Borough Council, Tonbridge & Malling Borough 

Council, Sevenoaks District Council and Kent Fire and Rescue Service. 

Two of our KCC Wardens were also in attendance. 

  

Page 184

Appendix C



18 
 

 

Priority 3: Substance misuse and alcohol abuse  
 

Current figures refer to the 12-month period from December 2016 – November 2017 

Drug Offences (Possession) 109 incidents (last year 167) 

Peer Comparison Fifth lowest out of 12 Kent areas (previously 11th) 

Annual Change Down 58 (37%) compared to last year 

3-year trend (possession) 
 
 
Thin Red Line: Kent Average 
Thick black line: Tunbridge Wells 

 

Kent comparison 
 
Possession offences per 1000 
residents 
 
Black line: Force average 

 

Drug Offences (Trafficking) 38 incidents (last year 29) 

Peer Comparison Sixth lowest out of 12 Kent areas (previously 4th) 

Annual Change Up 9 (31%) compared to last year 

3-year trend (trafficking) 
 
In the context of this measure the 
term trafficking means ‘dealing’. 
 
 
Thin Red Line: Kent Average 
Thick black line: Tunbridge Wells 
 

 

Page 185

Appendix C



19 
 

Kent comparison 
 
Trafficking offences per 1000 
residents 
 
Black line: Force average 

 

Hospital admissions (substance) 

West Kent comparison – hospital 
admissions for Mental and 
behavioural disorders due to 
psychoactive substance misuse 
 
September 2016 – August 2017 

 

Hospital admissions (alcohol) 

West Kent comparison – hospital 
admissions for toxic effects of 
alcohol. 
 
September2016 – August 2017 

 

Drunkenness arrests by age range 

January 2017 to December2017 

 

 

 

Page 186

Appendix C



20 
 

Arrests for drug offences (combined possession and trafficking offences) 

Between December 2016 and November 2017, there were 1.3 recorded drug offences per 

1,000 population in Tunbridge Wells. This is a slight improvement on last year’s 1.7 offences 

per 1000 residents and just below the Kent district average for 2016/17 of 1.4. 

After two consecutive annual reductions Tunbridge Wells is now 5th out of 12 Kent districts 

(9th last year). 

Trafficking 

There was an increase in trafficking offences during the period, up from 29 to 38, following a 

reduction last year (47 to 27). Monthly fluctuations place Tunbridge Wells variously above 

and below the Kent average of 0.4 crimes per 1000 residents. We are now 5th in Kent, faring 

slightly worse than our 3rd position last year. 

It is worth noting that Tunbridge Wells Community Policing Team has a particular focus on 

substance misuse – particularly Class A drug dealing involving members of South London 

gangs looking to expand their market beyond their London boroughs. 

In May 2017 two males were arrested on the A26 in Southborough and charged with the 

supply of Class A drugs (heroin and crack cocaine). They are members of a Lambeth-based 

gang. 

Also in May a male was arrested on Camden Road and charged with supply of cocaine. The 

male is an Albanian national and a member of an Organised Crime Group who was also 

wanted by the Metropolitan Police for similar offences. He pleaded guilty and received a 

prison sentence of three years. 

During Q2 2017 four males linked to London gangs were arrested in Tunbridge Wells for 

offences including Class A drug supply and murder. Subsequently, one of these males was 

remanded in custody for the supply of crack cocaine and heroin and was further charged 

with murder. Two others were charged with supply of Class A drugs - one pled guilty and 

received a prison sentence of 32 months. 

The fourth male was just 16 years old. He was released without charge and treated as a 

victim of Modern Slavery having been trafficked to Tunbridge Wells to supply drugs. 

Possession 

Possession of drugs offences were down by 58 to 109 following a small reduction of three 

offences last year, Tunbridge Wells is slightly below the Kent average and fifth lowest in the 

county (11th last year). This does represent  an improvement of the preceding period and a 

continuation of a gradual downward trend over a longer period. 

Arrests for drunkenness 

Arrests for drunkenness fell again this year from 56 in 2016 to 50 in 2017. 36 of these 

arrests occurred in and around Tunbridge Wells town centre. Additionally there were two 

Page 187

Appendix C



21 
 

arrests made on St John’s Road, two on Silverdale Road and one on Ferndale. Single 

occurrences were recorded in Sherwood, Southborough and High Brooms, Rusthall, 

Pembury, Cranbrook and Paddock Wood, There was an arrest made at Tunbridge Wells 

Hospital and two arrests in an unidentified location. 

We deploy Kenward Trust Outreach workers work to advise young people on the dangers of 

using illegal drugs and the anti-social behaviour often associated with drug use in public 

spaces.  A snapshot of their work during October and November 2017 is show in the table 

below (some details have been removed): 

Kenward Trust Outreach –Oct/Nov 2017 

Day/ Time Location No. in 
group 

offere
d 
advice 

offered 
support 

Ages Notes: (include awareness of 
possible issues) 

Monday 
1530-
1830 
 
 

Rusthall 
Hilbert 
Rec 

27 22 27 14-21 Worker met a young male in 
Rusthall following request by 
Early Help. We met up to 27 
young people who were 
smoking or smoking cannabis. 
We spoke about the issues of 
this and the concerns of the 
community.  

Thursday  
1830-
2100 

Showfields 
Calverley 
Grounds 

18 15 15 16-21 Some issues of drug dealing. 
From conversations we warned 
about the issues of this and 
spoke about drug laws and 
making right choices. 

Friday  
1600-
1900 
 

Rusthall  
Calverley 
Grounds 
GH car 
park  

16 16 7 14-18 Lot of cannabis smoking and talk 
of other drugs such as ketamine 
and Spice. Spoke on the issues 
of Spice and things being seen 
from people using this drug. 
One of the workers who is still a 
serving at ESP spoke about the 
issues of Spice in prison and 
what it is doing to people.   

Monday  
1600-
1830 

Calverley 
Grounds 

15 9 9 13-20 Delivered public awareness, 
drug awareness and the issue of 
prison life and smoking tobacco. 

Friday  
1630-
1930 

Calverley 
Grounds 
and local 
area 

37 30 12 13-21 Delivered a range of information 
from drug testing, 
consequences of prison life and 
information on cannabis and 
smoking and other drugs. A lot 
of young people about who 
listened.   

Page 188

Appendix C



22 
 

Monday 
1600-
1830 

Calverley 
Grounds  

9 3 3 13-21 Substance misuse information 
and public awareness due to 
issues observed. 

Friday 
1630-
1900 

Calverley 
Grounds 

15 7 7 14-19 Main issue smoking cannabis. 
Seven young people engaged 
well. 

 

Hospital admissions for toxic effects of alcohol 

There were 70 hospital admissions due to the toxic effects of alcohol during the period 

September – August 2017. This was an increase of 10 over the preceding period.  

Culverden, St James and Southborough and High Brooms were the highest with 8 

admissions over the period. Hawkhurst and Sandhurst had 7 admissions while Rusthall and 

Benenden and Cranbrook both had 6. All other wards had 4 or less. 

During the period 2015/16 Culverden (9), St James (7) and Sherwood (6) had the highest 

number of admission. Broadwater and St John’s had 5 and all other wards had 4 or less. 

Admissions for alcohol specific conditions in the under-18 age group are similar in Tunbridge 

Wells to Kent as a whole. 

The table on the following page lists the total number of hospital admissions (including 

repeat admissions) due to evidence of alcohol involvement by blood alcohol level or level of 

intoxication. These 70 admissions relate to 66 individuals. 

Hospital admissions due to psychoactive substance misuse 

Following a reduction of 94 admissions in 2015/16 this year there has been an increase of 

108 hospital admissions for substance misuse bringing the total to 402. 

The table below lists the total number of hospital admissions (including repeat admissions) 

for mental and behavioural disorders due to psychoactive substance misuse. These 402 

admissions relate to 325 individuals. 

Page 189

Appendix C



23 
 

 

The table below shows wards with appreciable increases in hospital admissions for 

psychoactive substance misuse. 

 

Funded outcomes 

Provider Funding 

Kenward Trust £7,000 

Service: To deploy substance misuse workers to hotspots within the borough to carry out 

1:1 and group work with adults and young people. 

Outcomes: 26 sessions providing two or more outreach workers to locations identified with 

young people drinking alcohol and smoking cannabis where anti-social behaviour may also 

be a factor. 

Page 190

Appendix C



24 
 

Provider Funding 

Young People’s Bus Service (YPBS) £1,280 

Service: To deploy the Street Cruizer youth bus to areas identified with drug use and 

associated anti-social behaviour, supporting Kenward Trust outreach where possible. 

Outcomes: The bus was deployed between Calverley Grounds and Great Hall car park on 

Friday evenings from 4-6pm attracting between 11-27 young people per session. YPBS 

provide two staff but KCC were unable to provide a youth worker for these sessions. In total 

11 weekly sessions during Q1 enabled 213 engagements with young people who enjoyed 

video games, music entertainment and soft refreshments. 

Provider Funding 

Churches Together Winter Shelter, TWBC (Jan-Feb 2017) £3,000 

Service: Support the Winter Shelter, in particular those who attend who are NFAs and have 

needs around substance misuse and offending to support their habit. 

Outcomes: Number of offenders and individuals with substance misuse issues using shelter: 

Six. Number with positive outcomes: Four - two attended appointments with CGL or other 

appropriate medical providers while two others had significant issues with language (they 

were both Polish) and it was not possible to find appropriate help for them in the time 

available. 

Provider Funding 

Safe Town Partnership / JS Secure £1,344 

Service: Run targeted high visibility police operations in locations highlighted for drug use in 

repeat locations. 

Outcome: Patrols by security company JS Secure were resourced for some key dates around 

Christmas period to provide a visible presence in the town centre during a time when 

shoplifting and ‘purse dipping’ have been known to increase. Part of their remit included 

visiting parks, car parks and other open spaces to deter young people known to gather to 

drink alcohol and smoke cannabis. 

Provider Funding 

Street Pastors Tunbridge Wells £2,500 

Service: Provide a positive presence in the night time economy. 

Outcomes: During Q1-Q3 street pastors engaged with over 2000 people during weekend 

evenings (Thurs-Sat) and into the early hours of the morning. As well as providing advice 

and, in some cases, comfort to late night revellers, street pastors helped people keep safe 

by calling for an ambulance on 6 occasions and the police 19 times. They enlisted the help of 

Page 191

Appendix C



25 
 

CCTV Operators on 14 occasions using the two 2-way radios provided free of charge by the 

Safe Town Partnership. 

 

  

Page 192

Appendix C



26 
 

Part 2 - Conclusion 
This strategic assessment (SA) sets out the priorities that the Community Safety Partnership 

(CSP) should focus on for the financial year and determines what service should be funded 

to address those priorities. The SA has evolved over time to further identify emerging trends 

and other quality of life issues at an increasingly local level. 

Tunbridge Wells had the lowest overall crime rate in Kent in 2017. Although crime figures 

are presented here with significant caveats, particularly with respect to long-term trends, 

we remain below the Kent district average for combined crime types and well placed in 

most individual categories when compared to other Kent local authorities. 

When comparing significant rises in some crime types, particularly violent crimes, it is 

perhaps sobering to note that similar, and in many cases larger, increases have been 

recorded elsewhere in Kent strongly suggesting this is not a Tunbridge Wells issue.  

However, while we rank second for violent crime in Kent we rank 12th out of 15 in our Most 

Similar Group (MSG), as reported quarterly at CSP meetings; a category which includes 

sexual offences and violence against the person. In an effort to understand why this is so we 

have begun conversations with community safety teams in local authorities in our MSG who 

rank highly for violent crime types. 

We are well placed in terms of other crime types, though a disparity in criminal damage 

offences (1st in Kent, 10th in MSG) may be worthy of further analysis. 

Tunbridge Wells is also well-placed in terms of road safety when compared to other Kent 

local authorities. Data for this category carries similar health warnings with new reporting 

procedures perhaps skewing figures used to determine long term trends. Noticeable, 

perhaps, is an increase in slight injuries to children under-16. 

Recommended priorities 

Domestic Abuse 

Whilst Tunbridge Wells is well-placed amongst Kent local authorities in terms of numbers of 

incidents, and repeats, we benefit from an excellent West Kent DA service provided by 

Domestic Abuse Volunteer Support Services (DAVSS). We will continue to fund DAVSS to 

provide support for DA victims under a combined service level agreement with Sevenoaks 

District Council and Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council. 

To ensure value for money going forward we will, in 2018/19, look to combine DA Forum 

meetings and consider what other resources can be shared between the three authorities. 

 Review current monitoring 

 Maintain level of funding 

 Closer West Kent working 

Page 193

Appendix C



27 
 

 Continue to target a reduction in repeat victimisation 

 Work to improve take-up of an offender programme 

Road Safety 

Local authorities, along with partners, can have a significant impact on the education 

element of the three E’s approach to improved road safety (enforcement and engineering 

being the other two). Our police partners will continue to enforce the law on issues such as 

speeding, seat belts and mobile phone while also supporting Community Speedwatch 

Groups. 

KCC Wardens provide significant input into road safety education and their regular presence 

at morning briefings, and other partnership meetings, ensures we can direct the service into 

areas of need. 

During the coming year we fully expect KFRS to play a key role in bringing road safety issues 

to schools and local interest groups.  

 Review current monitoring and funding 

 Work with KFRS to raise awareness to address casualty rates 

 Set up Task and Finish Group to plan 2018/19 actions 

 Work with Highways intel team to focus resources to areas of need 

 Look to make close ties with CSW 

Substance Misuse and Alcohol Abuse 

Although there was an overall reduction in drug offences in Tunbridge Wells this past year 

we rank 5th in Kent and 5th in our MSG. Historically, we have fared poorly for drug-dealing 

offences but as we have a very active Community Policing Team this is perhaps a sign of 

some of the proactive work that has taken place in Tunbridge Wells over a number of years.  

An active Night Time Economy also draws into the town centre revellers from other parts of 

the county as well as our own residents. 

With schools reporting issues with a variety of illegal drugs and other pharmaceuticals there 

is much that can be done from an educational perspective with our partners, specialist 

services and voluntary agencies. 

 Consider funding additional services towards targeted health-related education and 

personal risk awareness 

 Closer ties to Health Team and LCPG 

 Raise awareness with schools of ties to Gangs and subsequent consequences 

 Consider closer West Kent ties for awareness raising through Kenward Trust 

 Work with TS on Community Alcohol Partnership for TWBC and TMBC 

 Task and Finish Group to consider priority areas with potential for quarterly or bi-

monthly meetings 

Page 194

Appendix C



28 
 

 

Safeguarding – Gangs, Organised Crime Groups and Modern Slavery 

One of the main issues for Kent is the use of “county lines”. County lines enterprises almost 

always involve gang violence and exploitation, including sexual exploitation. Typically, gangs 

use mobile phone lines to facilitate drug orders and supply to users. They also use local 

properties as a base; these often belong to a vulnerable adult and are obtained through 

force or coercion (known as 'cuckooing'). Runners and local dealers, often young people, are 

then brought into the fold through recruitment by exploitation.  

This is not a new phenomenon with gangs from other major cities such as Birmingham, 

Manchester and Liverpool extending their markets into nearby suburban towns. 

Three London street gangs are linked to the borough with seven drug networks potentially 

linked to these and other London street gangs. 

 Monthly partnership meetings to focus on these themes and to pick up on the good 

work currently undertaken by the monthly Vulnerability Board (VB) 

Safeguarding – Child Sexual Exploitation 

Child sexual exploitation is a form of child sexual abuse. It occurs where an individual or 

group takes advantage of an imbalance of power to coerce, manipulate or deceive a child or 

young person under the age of 18 into sexual activity in exchange for something the victim 

needs or wants, and/or for the financial advantage or increased status of the perpetrator or 

facilitator.  

The victim may have been sexually exploited even if the sexual activity appears consensual.  

Child sexual exploitation does not always involve physical contact; it can also occur through 

the use of mobile technology. 

Vulnerable females (in particular) are at potential risk of CSE. Gang association in girls was 

also found to be linked to substance misuse, poor mental health and domestic abuse. 

During the first half of 2017/18 four CSE crimes were recorded and a further 11 secondary 

incidents were categorised as such. A further 18 children were identified as being at risk of 

CSE; primarily female in the age range 13-17. The most prevalent model is identified as 

inappropriate relationships.  

Much work is done to address the risks of CSE being perpetrated in locations such as hotels, 

fast food outlets and the like, although no specific locations were identified when the most 

recent report was produced (Nov 2017). 

 Thematic areas, such as CSE and Gangs, require high levels of partnership 

engagement. 

Page 195

Appendix C



29 
 

 Much of the work to support partners in addressing these themes will likely be 

around improved awareness, education, data sharing and safeguarding policies.  

 raise awareness of referral mechanisms to CSET team 

 Improve profile at VB or new Partnership Safeguarding meeting 

The Partnership is also pleased to welcome specialist PCSO roles covering issues of Domestic 

Abuse, Young People and Vulnerability. Each of these experiences PCSOs will have a part to 

play in building and delivering action plans around these important themes. 

 

Page 196

Appendix C



 

Full Council 25 April 2018 

Is the final decision on the recommendations in this report to be made at this meeting? Yes 

 

Public Spaces Protection Order Implementation 
 

Final Decision-Maker Full Council 

Portfolio Holder(s)  Councillor Lynne Weatherly – Portfolio Holder for Communities 
and Wellbeing 

Lead Director  Paul Taylor – Director of Change and Communities 

Head of Service Gary Stevenson – Head of Environment and Street Scene 

Lead Officer/Author Terry Hughes – Community Safety Manager 

Classification Non-exempt 

Wards affected All 

  

This report makes the following recommendations to the final decision-maker: 

 

1. That the creation of appropriate Public Spaces Protection Orders under the Anti-
Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 incorporating the prohibition and 
positive requirements set out in Section 4.4 of the report be approved. 

 

2. That authority be delegated to the Head of Environment and Street Scene, in 
consultation with the Head of Legal Partnership and the Portfolio Holder for 
Communities and Wellbeing, to finalise the drafting of the Public Spaces Protection 
Orders including the commencement date(s). 

 

  

This report relates to the following Five Year Plan Key Objectives: 

This report links to the Council’s “confident borough’ objective in that it addresses the 
concerns of residents and those visiting the borough for work or leisure. It also 
demonstrates how the Council works well with others to help deliver confident 
communities. 

  

Timetable 

Meeting Date 

Leadership Board 19 February 2018 

Management Board 28 February 2018 

Portfolio Holder 6 March 2018 

Cabinet Advisory Board 21 March 2018 

Cabinet DART 29 March 2018 

Cabinet 21 April 2018 

Full Council 25 April 2018 

Page 197

Agenda Item 11



 

Public Spaces Protection Order Implementation 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to recommend the introduction of Public Spaces 

Protection Orders to address quality of life issues and tackle anti-social 

behaviour.  

 

1.2 Sections 59 to 65 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 

introduced the Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) to protect public spaces 

from persistent anti-social behaviour. 

 

1.3 The PSPO replaces the Designated Public Place Order (DPPO) – known locally 

as an Alcohol Control Zone. 

 

1.4 Effective October 2017, Alcohol Control Zones operating in Tunbridge Wells 
town centre, parts of Southborough, Grosvenor & Hilbert Park, St Johns 
Recreation Ground and Calverley Grounds became Public Spaces Protection 
Orders for a period of no more than 3 years. 

 
1.5 PSPOs also replace Dog Control Orders and Gating Orders (neither of which 

are in place in Tunbridge Wells) and provide for the imposition of additional 

prohibitions and positive requirements to address other forms of anti-social 

behaviour. 

 

1.6 A PSPO can be made by the council if they are satisfied on reasonable grounds 

that the activities carried out, or likely to be carried out, in a public space: 

 

1.6.1 have had, or are likely to have a detrimental effect on the quality of life of 

those in the locality; 

 

1.6.2 is, or is likely to be, persistent or continuing in nature; 

 

1.6.3 is, or is likely to be, unreasonable; and 

 

1.6.4 justifies the restrictions imposed. 

 

1.7 This report is being presented to seek approval for the implementation of a 

PSPO to address the following issues: 

 

1.7.1 Dog fouling – Increase the borough-wide penalty imposed upon a 

person in charge of a dog who fails to pick up after the dog. 

 

Page 198

Agenda Item 11



 

1.7.2 Dog exclusion – Exclude dogs from fenced children’s play areas 

managed by the Borough Council, parish councils and town councils.  

 

1.7.3 Dog control – Dogs brought into St Marks Recreation Ground and The 

Nevill Ground must be kept on a lead. 

 

1.7.4 Alcohol control – To re-designate the areas currently defined as Alcohol 

Control Zones. 

 

1.7.5 New Psychoactive Substances – To prohibit the use of intoxicating 

substances defined as New Psychoactive Substances or ‘legal highs’. 

 

1.7.6 Begging – To prohibit begging in Tunbridge Wells town centre where 

there is associated anti-social behaviour or where the person begging is 

not engaging with support services. 

 

1.7.7 Rough sleeping – To prohibit rough sleeping in Tunbridge Wells town 

centre where there is associated anti-social behaviour or where the 

person sleeping rough is not engaging with services. 

 

1.7.8 Amplified music – To enable us to act when we receive complaints of 

amplified music in public spaces. 

 

1.8 The penalty for failing to comply with a PSPO without reasonable excuse is a 

fine, on conviction, not exceeding £1,000. A fixed penalty notice can be used as 

an alternative to prosecution to a maximum value of £100. 

 

1.9 It is an offence to fail to comply with a request to cease drinking or surrender 

alcohol in a controlled drinking zone punishable on summary conviction by a 

fine not exceeding £500. If alcohol is confiscated, it can be disposed of. 

 

1.10 Enforcement of current alcohol prohibitions and new psychoactive substances 

prohibition will be undertaken by police officers, police community support 

officers and special constables. 

 

1.11 Enforcement of dog control prohibitions and requirements will be undertaken by 

Street Scene Enforcement Officers and contract enforcement staff. 

 

1.12 Enforcement of begging and rough sleeping prohibitions will be undertaken by 

Street Scene Enforcement Officers, contract enforcement staff and authorised 

Council officers. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 199

Agenda Item 11



 

2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 PSPOs were introduced in the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 

2014. They have been used by local authorities around the country to address a 

variety of public space issues. 

 

2.2 Public Spaces Protection Orders can have effect for a period of not more than 3 
years but can be extended if necessary if activities continue or increase. 

 
2.3 An interested person (someone who lives in, regularly works in, or visits the 

restricted area) can challenge the validity of a PSPO in the High Court within six 

weeks of it being made, on two grounds: 

 

i. That the Council did not have power to make the order, or to include 

particular prohibitions or requirements. 

 

ii. That one of the requirements (for instance, consultation) had not been 

complied with. 

 

2.4 A Public Spaces Protection Order may be discharged by the local authority that 
made it. 

 
2.5 Where an order is discharged, a notice identifying the order and stating the date 

when it ceases to have effect must be published in accordance with regulations 
made by the Secretary of State. 

 
2.6 Where a public spaces protection order is in force, the local authority that made 

the order may vary it by increasing or reducing the restricted area or by altering 
or removing a prohibition or requirement included in the order, or adding a new 
one. 

 
2.7 The process to vary an order is the same as the process to impose an order. 
 

 
3. AVAILABLE OPTIONS 
 
3.1 Following consultation with the public and various stakeholders, and having 

considered official guidance documents and how other councils have 

successfully implemented PSPOs, it is suggested that there are two options: 

 

3.1.1 Do nothing. The existing Alcohol Control Zones will continue to exist and 

are enforceable by Kent Police until October 2020; that is, ‘If you 

continue to drink alcohol in this area when asked not to do so by a police 

officer, you risk arrest and a fine of £500.’ A person not clearing up after 

their dog will continue to risk a fine of £50 (lower than the penalty for 

littering). Other proposed conditions will not be imposed. 

 

 

Page 200

Agenda Item 11



 

3.1.2 Introduce a Public Spaces Protection Order for a period of three years to 

implement some or all of the controls defined in section 1.7. 

 

 
 
4. PREFERRED OPTION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

4.1 The preferred option is to replace existing Alcohol Control Zones and introduce 

further prohibitions and requirements as defined in section 1.7. This is the 

option set out in paragraph 3.1.2 above. 

 

4.2 Before implementing a PSPO the Council must be satisfied on reasonable 

grounds that two conditions have been met: 

 

4.2.1 Activities carried on in a public place within the authority’s area have had 

a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality, or it is 

likely that activities will be carried on in a public place within that area 

and that they will have such an effect. 

 

4.2.2 The effect, or the likely effect, of the activities is, or is likely to be, of a 

persistent or continuing nature such as to make the activities 

unreasonable, and justifies the restrictions imposed by the order. 

 

4.3 We believe that for the recommendation we are making in terms of locations 

and prohibitions we meet the conditions set out in 4.2.1 and 4.2.2. 

 

4.4 Our recommended prohibitions/requirements are listed below. 

 

4.4.1 Dog fouling – If a dog defecates at any time on land to which this order 

applies a person who is in charge of the dog at the time must remove the 

faeces from the land. This would be a borough-wide prohibition. This was 

strongly supported in the public consultation. Not clearing up after your 

dog is already an offence but the PSPO would see the penalty increased 

from £50 to £100. 

 

4.4.2 Dog exclusion – A person in charge of a dog must not allow it into 

Council-owned fenced children’s playgrounds. This was strongly 

supported in the public consultation. Penalty notice for breach £100. 

 

4.4.3 Dog control – A person in charge of a dog must not take it to St Marks 

Recreation Ground or The Nevill Ground unless the dog is leashed and 

remains leashed during the time spent in these two locations. An outright 

ban on dogs in these sports grounds was not strongly supported in the 

public consultation. The proposed option of keeping dogs on a leash in 

these two locations takes account of the results of the consultation. 

Penalty notice for breach £100. 

Page 201

Agenda Item 11



 

4.4.4 Alcohol – A constable or authorised person may require a person not to 

consume alcohol, or anything which the constable, or authorised person, 

reasonably believes to be alcohol. We recommend current Alcohol 

Control Zones are re-designated. This was strongly supported in the 

public consultation. Evidence of disorder related to other locations is 

sporadic. Penalty notice for breach £100. 

 

4.4.5 New psychoactive substances – Person(s) within the designated area 

will not: prepare, possess, ingest, inhale, inject, smoke or otherwise use 

intoxicating substances. This was strongly supported in the public 

consultation. The area to which this would apply is the Tunbridge Wells 

town centre Alcohol Control Zone. Penalty notice for breach £100. 

 

4.4.6 Begging – All persons are prohibited from approaching another person 

either in person or verbally in order to beg from the other person, and all 

persons are prohibited from sitting or loitering in a public place with any 

receptacle used to contain monies for the purpose of begging. Discretion 

will apply where there is no associated anti-social behaviour or where the 

person begging is engaging with services. This was well supported in the 

public consultation. The area to which this would apply is the Tunbridge 

Wells town centre Alcohol Control Zone. Penalty notice for breach £100. 

 

4.4.7 Rough Sleeping – All persons are prohibited from sleeping rough in 

Tunbridge Wells town centre where there is associated anti-social 

behaviour. Discretion will apply where there is no associated anti-social 

behaviour or where the person begging is engaging with support 

services. This was well supported in the public consultation. Penalty 

notice for breach £100. 

 

4.4.8 Amplified music – Persons can be prohibited from playing amplified 

music when the Council receive complaints from businesses or residents 

that the music is assessed to be causing a disturbance in Tunbridge 

Wells town centre. This was well supported in the public consultation. 

Penalty notice for breach £100. 

 

 
5. CONSULTATION RESULTS AND PREVIOUS COMMITTEE FEEDBACK 
 

5.1 Borough-wide survey 2015: 

 

 61% would approve of a ban on street drinking. 

54% would approve of a ban on charity collectors who ask for personal data. 

53% were in favour of a ban on psychoactive substances. 

40% were in favour of a ban on begging. 

30% would approve dogs being kept on leads in parks. 

Page 202

Agenda Item 11



 

14% would approve a ban on amplified music / busking. 

21% would not approve any of the prohibitions or requirements. 

 

5.2 The consultation was publicised through social media by our Communications 

Team and local residents, in the local newspaper, with posters and postcards 

given out in the town centre and at the Tunbridge Wells train station. 

 

5.3 A technical glitch with the consultation portal meant that any responses 

submitted between 6 November and 16 November weren’t captured. We 

reacted at the time, extending the consultation to 7 January and publishing that 

anyone submitting during this time should resubmit their comments. 

 

5.4 160 responses were eventually received via the online consultation portal, 

together with statutory, stakeholder and landowner responses (See appendix B). 

 

5.5 Public consultation summary: 

 

Areas currently designated as Alcohol Control Zones were given: 

 Tunbridge Wells town centre: Current alcohol control zone map, includes 

The Common. 

 Southborough: London Rd (between Speldhurst Road and Pennington 

Road), Springfield Road, Meadow Road, Holden Park Road, Ridgewaye 

Playing Field. 

 Other open spaces: St John’s Recreation Ground, Grosvenor and Hilbert 
Park. 

 

Q1 Who are you responding as? 
68% of respondees are Tunbridge Wells residents who live in the designated 

areas (35%) or outside of the local areas (33%), 10% are visitors (e.g. a 

shopper or tourist), 7% work in the area 

 

Q2 How often do you visit? 
70% live in or visit the areas every day 

A further 22% visit at least once a week 

 

Q3 What do you use Tunbridge Wells town centre for? 
84% use the area for shopping, bars, restaurants, entertainment, family events 

7 respondees specifically cited dog walking as a reason for visiting the areas 

given 

 

Q4 How much of a problem are the following? 
 

On the question of drunk/rowdy people in public spaces 

 39% say it is a very or fairly big problem 

 57% say it is not a very big problem or not a problem at all 

 

 

Page 203

Agenda Item 11



 

On the question of people (e.g. beggars) loitering in a public place 

 41% say it is a very or fairly big problem 

 56% say it is not a very big problem or not a problem at all 

 

People lying in or sleeping in a public place 

 49% say it is a very or fairly big problem 

 49% say it is not a very big problem or not a problem at all 

 

Buskers using amplifiers in the town centre 

 28% say it is a very or fairly big problem 

 68% say it is not a very big problem or not a problem at all 

 

The presence of mattresses, duvets, sleeping bags and other items in 
shop doorways and other public areas 

 50% say it is a very or fairly big problem 

 46% say it is not a very big problem or not a problem at all 

 

Following the above questions we asked respondees to consider whether they 

would support measures to address those town centre issues.  

 

We also canvassed opinion on whether a Public Spaces Protection Order 

should be used to address dog-related issues, such as (1) an increase in the 

penalty notice imposed on dog owners who do not clean up after their dogs, (2) 

compelling dog owners to carry the means with which to clean up after their 

dogs and (3) creating areas where dogs would be excluded. This is summarised 

as follows: 

 

Measure 1 – Continuation of Alcohol Control Areas 
For: 81%  Against: 11% 
 
Measure 2 – To address anti-social behaviour associated with begging 
For: 66%  Against: 26% 
 
Measure 7 – To address anti-social behaviour associated with rough 
sleepers 
For: 64%  Against: 23% 
 
Measure 3 – Increase the charge for dog-fouling fixed penalty notice 
For: 84%  Against: 13% 
 
Measure 4 – Dog walkers to carry with them the means to pick up after 
their dog has fouled 
For: 82%  Against: 15% 
 
Measure 5 – Exclude dogs from The Nevill Ground, St Marks Rec and 
children’s playgrounds 
For: 47%  Against: 47% 
 

Page 204

Agenda Item 11



 

Measure 6 – Enable us to act when we receive complaints of amplified 
music in public spaces 
For: 61%  Against: 22% 
 
Measure 8 – Prohibit the possession and use of New Psychoactive 
Substances (‘Legal Highs’) 
For: 81%  Against: 8% 

 
5.6 Full consultation details can be found at Appendix F. 

 
RECOMMENDATION FROM CABINET ADVISORY BOARD 
 

5.7 The Communities Cabinet Advisory Board was consulted on this decision on 21 

March 2018 and agreed the following recommendation: 

 

That the recommendations set out in the report be supported subject to 

amendments to the Discretionary Guidance Document to clarify and define the 

extent of discretion applicable when enforcing rough sleeping and begging 

restrictions. 

 

5.8 The Discretionary Guidance Document has been updated accordingly and the 

revised copy is attached at Appendix C to this report. 

 

RECOMMENDATION FROM CABINET 

 

5.9 The Cabinet considered the report at it meeting on 12 April 2018 and resolved 

as follows: 

 
 That Full Council be recommended: 
 

That the prohibitions and positive requirements for Public Spaces 
Protection Orders, as set out in paragraph 1.7 and further detailed in 
paragraph 4.4 of the report, be agreed. 

 
5.10 The recommendation in the report has since been clarified to identify the 

authority under which the order is made and who is to formalise implementation. 
 

 
6. NEXT STEPS: COMMUNICATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE 

DECISION 
 
6.1 Subject to consideration by the Communities Cabinet Advisory Board and 

Cabinet it will be recommended to Full Council that a PSPO is created to cover 
the activities in paragraph 1.7. 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 205

Agenda Item 11



 

7. CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS 
 

Issue Implications Sign-off 

Legal including 
Human Rights Act 

The Community Safety Manager and officers from the 
legal team are considering the wording of the 
prohibitions and positive requirements for approval by 
Head of Environment and Street Scene in consultation 
with the Head of Legal Partnership and the Portfolio 
Holder for Communities and Wellbeing. 

Terry Hughes 
Community 
Safety Manager  

16/04/2018 

Finance and other 
resources 

Costs will be met from within the Council’s existing 
budget 

Lee Colyer, 

Director of 
Finance, Policy 
and 
Development 

28/02/2018 

Staffing 
establishment 

 Head of HR or 
deputy 

Risk 
management   

In terms of the establishment of PSPOs there is a well-
established framework which is being followed to 
ensure compliance with the requirements of the act.  

Potential challenges to the prohibitions have been 
identified from other local authorities and processes 
put in place from their ‘lessons learnt’. 

Public expectation for enforcement is considered a 
risk. 

Terry Hughes 

Community 
Safety Manager 

28/02/2018 

Data protection A Data Protection Impact Assessment will be 
undertaken In respect of data collected on the Rough 
Sleeping and Begging Assistance Form used when 
engaging with persons begging or rough sleeping prior 
to these engagements starting. 

Terry Hughes 
Community 
Safety Manager  

16/04/2018 

Environment  
and sustainability 

 Sustainability 
Manager 

Community 
safety 

 

This report links to the Council’s “confident borough” 
objective in that it addresses the concerns of residents 
and those visiting the borough for work or leisure. It 
also demonstrates how the Council works well with 
others to help deliver confident communities. 

Terry Hughes 

Community 
Safety Manager 

28/02/2018 

Health and 
Safety 

 Health and 
Safety Advisor 

Health and 
wellbeing 

 Healthy 
Lifestyles Co-
ordinator 

Equalities Decision-makers are reminded of the requirement 
under the Public Sector Equality Duty (s149 of the 
Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to (i) eliminate 
unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Act, (ii) advance 
equality of opportunity between people from different 
groups, and (iii) foster good relations between people 
from different groups.  An equality impact assessment 

Sarah Lavallie 

Corporate 
Governance 
Officer 

16/04/2018 

Page 206

Agenda Item 11



 

had been completed (attached at Appendix E) and the 
findings are summarised below. 

With regard to the first aim of the general equality duty, 
we do not consider that the proposed policy is 
unlawfully discriminatory. Although there is potential 
for people with mental health disabilities to be affected 
by the proposals for begging and rough sleeping, we 
propose to mitigate this by taking a proportionate 
response to individual cases and monitoring the 
impact of our proposals through completion of a 
Rough Sleeping and Begging Assistance Form. 

With regard to the second aim of the general equality 
duty, the proposals take account of the needs of 
people with disabilities with regards to making 
exceptions for assistance dogs in dog exclusion 
zones, where appropriate. We have also taken 
account of the needs of different age groups with 
regards to dog exclusion zones and revised our 
proposals following feedback from the consultation.  
We will monitor the impact of this by monitoring if any 
complaints are received for age-related issues. 

With regards to fostering good relations the proposals 
seek to introduce a reasonable and proportionate 
response to issues of anti-social behaviour that 
balances the needs of all those who use the areas 
where such behaviour may occur. 

 
8. REPORT APPENDICES 
 
The following documents are to be published with and form part of the report: 

 Appendix A: PSPO Current Alcohol Control Zone maps 

 Appendix B: PSPO Statutory and stakeholder consultation summary 

 Appendix C: Rough sleeping and begging discretionary guidance DRAFT 

 Appendix D: Reasonable Behaviour Agreement for persons begging or rough 
sleeping DRAFT 

 Appendix E: PSPO Equalities Impact Assessment 

 Appendix F: Public Consultation – Charts and detailed responses 
 

 

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS  
 

None 

Page 207

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



MAP 1: TUNBRIDGE WELLS TOWN CENTRE ALCOHOL CONTROL AREA 

  

Page 209

Appendix A



MAP 2: SOUTHBOROUGH ALCOHOL CONTROL AREA 

  

Page 210

Appendix A



OTHER ALCOHOL CONTROL ZONES 

 

MAP 3: ST JOHN’S RECREATION GROUND 

 

 

 

MAPS 4 & 5: GROSVENOR AND HILBERT RECREATION GROUNDS  

Page 211

Appendix A



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

STATUTORY, STAKEHOLDER AND LANDOWNER RESPONSES 

KENT’S POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER MATTHEW SCOTT 

Would like further details on the impact to frontline policing in respect of conditions applicable to 

rough sleeping, begging and NPS and has suggested we consult with the Chief Inspector to this end. 

Police officers will not be required to enforce rough sleeping and begging conditions but police 

attendance may be requested on occasions where a risk assessment suggests attendance is 

necessary. This will be resourced through police officers based in the Community Safety Unit and the 

town centre policing team by way of the CSU Sergeant or Inspector. 

Discussions of how NPS is enforced are ongoing but incidents since 2015 when this restriction was 

first considered have reduced to almost zero. It may also be the case that incidents of suspected NPS 

use is managed through the Misuse of Drugs Act. However, there is still scope for enforcement by 

PCSOs through the use of penalty notices. Acting Inspector Richard Pringle is following this up with 

policy makers at police HQ and the new District Commander Peter Steenhuis. 

The PCC will be updated as a result of this report and discussions with working level leads. 

KENT POLICE’S DISTRICT COMMANDER FOR TUNBRIDGE WELLS AND TONBRIDGE 

Inspector Chris Mayers in his role as acting District Commander provided the following feedback: 

“A partnership agreement on police support for enforcing rough sleeping and begging would create a 

clear understanding of how this support will be provided.” 

Police support will be requested to prevent a breach of the peace following a risk assessment. This 

will be agreed through discussions with the CSU Inspector or Sergeant. 

Following the introduction of the Psychoactive Substances Act 2016 and the closure of many ‘head 

shops’ selling legal highs, Tunbridge Wells and many other districts has seen a dramatic reduction in 

reports of these substances being used in open spaces. Police may use the Misuse of Drugs Act to 

address issues of NPS as they frequently contain illegal substances such as cannabis and cocaine. 

Discussions are ongoing with senior police officers as to how this may be addressed and changes to 

this prohibition may results from these discussions. 

Alcohol Control Zones have proved to be successful over a number of years and a furtherance of the 

current zones is agreeable 

CHIEF CONSTABLE – KENT POLICE 

Chief Constable Alan Pughsley has had sight of the consultation and has asked Inspector Terry 

Newman, as Strategic Partnerships lead, and Chief Inspector Pate to provide detailed feedback.   

As mentioned above the Chief Inspector has provided feedback through the CSU Inspector.  

Inspector Newman has confirmed his involvement and his close working relationship with the CSU 

Inspector in this regard. Inspector Newman expects to have further input now that the consultation 

has closed and we move towards firm proposals of conditions. 

Page 213

Appendix B



2 
 

JESS HUTTON, CAMPAIGNS ASSISTANT, DOGS TRUST 

FOULING OF LAND BY DOGS 

Dogs Trust consider ‘scooping the poop’ to be an integral element of responsible dog ownership and 

would fully support a well-implemented order on fouling. We urge the Council to enforce any such 

order rigorously. In order to maximise compliance we urge the council to consider whether an 

adequate number of disposal points have been provided for responsible owners to use, to consider 

providing free disposal bags and to ensure that there is sufficient signage in place.  

We question the effectiveness of issuing on-the-spot fines for not being in possession of a poo bag 

and whether this is practical to enforce. 

 
DOG EXCLUSION 

Dogs Trust accepts that there are some areas where it is desirable that dogs should be excluded, 

such as children’s play areas, however we would recommend that exclusion areas are kept to a 

minimum and that, for enforcement reasons, they are restricted to enclosed areas. We would 

consider it more difficult to enforce an exclusion order in areas that lack clear boundaries.  

Dogs Trust would highlight the need to provide plenty of signage to direct owners to alternative 

areas nearby in which to exercise dogs. 

THE KENNEL CLUB 

DOG FOULING 

The Kennel Club strongly promotes responsible dog ownership, and believes that dog owners should 

always pick up after their dogs wherever they are, including fields and woods in the wider 

countryside, and especially where farm animals graze to reduce the risk of passing Neospora and 

Sarcocystosis to cattle and sheep respectively. We would like to take this opportunity to encourage 

the local authority to employ further proactive measures to help promote responsible dog 

ownership throughout the local area in addition to introducing Orders in this respect. These 

proactive measures can include: increasing the number of bins available for dog owners to use; 

communicating to local dog owners that bagged dog poo can be disposed of in normal litter bins; 

running responsible ownership and training events; or using poster campaigns to encourage dog 

owners to pick up after their dog. 

DOG FOULING - REQUIREMENT TO BE IN POSSESSION OF MEANS TO PICK UP  

Whilst the Kennel Club supports proactive efforts on behalf of local authorities to encourage 

responsible dog ownership and to ensure that those who are not picking up after their dogs are 

brought to book, this has to be fair and proportionate and we would not like to see responsible dog 

owners penalised unfairly. The Kennel Club has concerns over proposals to introduce an offence of 

not having the means to pick up. 

DOG EXCLUSION 

Page 214

Appendix B



3 
 

The Kennel Club does not normally oppose dog exclusion or dog on lead orders in playgrounds, or 

enclosed recreational facilities such as tennis courts or skate parks, as long as alternative provisions 

are made for dog walkers in the vicinity.  

With regards to playing fields, we ask local authorities to consider whether or not access restrictions 

are absolutely necessary. 

It is also worth noting that compliance with such an order can be difficult for a dog walker if there 

are no boundaries around the playing field as when exercising their dogs off lead, dogs will not 

recognise the difference between playing fields and other grassed areas. 

The council should consider whether alternative sites for dog walkers are suitable and can support 

an increase in the number of dog walkers using them. 

To be complaint with the public sector Equality Duty we submit the council should consider the 

accessibility of restriction free alternatives for those with reduced mobility (including but not limited 

to those with a disability or elderly persons for instance. 

MARK WILLIAMS, CRICKET CLUB CHAIRMAN, NEVILLE GROUND 

As has been mentioned Tunbridge Wells Cricket Club, the Hockey Club and the Harriers have been 

pushing for some time to have dogs excluded from all playing surfaces at the Nevill. It is a great 

shame that we have had so many issues with owners who do not pick up after their dog and leave 

the dog mess in areas where children and adults play sport. But it is for this reason why all the 

schools in this area have now excluded all dogs from school playing fields so that the school users 

are safeguarded. 

As Chairman of the cricket club we have a commitment we have to give to all our members and the 

ECB with regard to health and safety and so it is vital that the Council do put an order to protect the 

Nevill. This will be consistent with other areas such as Brighton that have addressed this and 

protected sports grounds like the Nevill 

The groundsman at the Nevill is very keen to make sure the playing surfaces do not have dogs as it is 

interfering with his preparation for the season and so the sooner the order can be put in place the 

better please. 

ROGER CLARKE, CHAIRMAN, TUNBRIDGE WELLS RFC 

We are a Sports Club with some 700 youngsters from the age of 6-18 using the sports pitches for 

Rugby at St Marks. Over 160 adults also use these pitches for rugby purposes. 

In addition, in the summer over 100 youngsters and 30 adults use the pitches for cricket. Community 

activities for primary schools and for local businesses also take place and include cross country, tag 

rugby and cricket. We have liaised with the Council to try and reduce the amount of dog fouling at 

our ground. We have notices supplied to encourage owners to keep dogs on leads in order for them 

to be aware when their dog defecates and are therefore able to remove from sports playing areas 

and the grass in general. The majority comply but a large minority refuse to have their dogs on leads 

or pay attention to what their dogs are doing. 

Page 215

Appendix B



4 
 

At the beginning of the 2017-18 season the Club cleared up 65 different dog faeces from the playing 

areas. A week later the exercise was repeated and another 35 were removed from land owned by 

the Council and the Club. In October a First XV League game against Hertford was halted by the 

match official on two separate occasions to remove dog faeces from the pitch. Dog faeces on sports 

playing areas are a serious health problem. Recently a player at Crowborough RFC suffered a very 

serious eye infection diagnosed as being caused by dog faeces. We owe it to our players, young and 

old, to ensure we do not suffer the same experience. For this reason we support a ban on dogs being 

exercised anywhere on the playing area. 

COMMONS CONSERVATORS 

The whole of Tunbridge Wells Common would benefit from being part of the alcohol control zone. 

Dog fouling - This is a persistent problem on the paths of the Common. Enforcement officers rarely 

patrol the Common. There are dog bag dispensers at all main entrances to the Common. 

In a separate letter to Chief Executive William Benson: The Conservators asked me to write to you on 

their behalf to express their support for the measure which should help to improve life in the town 

and on the Common - Rodney Stone, Clerk. 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL – COMMUNITY SAFETY UNIT  

KCC CSU acknowledged receipt of the consultation letter and provided further instruction to notify 

other KCC departments where they would be considered a key stakeholder. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 216

Appendix B



 

1 
 

Public Spaces Protection Orders should not be used to target people based solely on the fact 
that someone is homeless or rough sleeping, as this in itself is unlikely to mean that such 
behaviour is having an unreasonably detrimental effect on the community’s quality of life which 
justifies the restrictions imposed.  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/anti-social-behaviour-crime-and-policing-bill-anti-
social-behaviour 

 

PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER GUIDANCE FOR AUTHORISED 
OFFICERS WHEN ADDRESSING ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR ASSOCIATED 
WITH BEGGING AND ROUGH SLEEPING 

Context  

The summer of 2017 saw an increase in small daytime pitches around the town comprised 
of mattresses, sleeping bags, suitcases, holdalls, rucksacks, and all manner of personal 
items. We received complaints from retailers who felt their business was being affected by 
the pitch and by the behaviour of others attracted to the location. Pitches were often in place 
for days on end and it was clear that in many cases the occupant was both begging and 
rough sleeping in the same location. Complaints that were often compassionate and 
restrained, but they were complaints nonetheless.  

Further, pitches were often left unattended for hours at a time. We asked a number of 
individuals to remove as much of their belongings as possible (particularly bedding), with 
varying success. Consequently, we cleared a number of pitches during the summer and 
autumn months, including three mattresses, after either speaking with the occupants or 
leaving multiple notices over a period of days. 

Occasionally, rucksacks and bags-for-life were left in shop doorways or under benches and 
this is something we should not find acceptable, even if the bags and such are accompanied 
by a bowl or other receptacle. 

Torrington car park was particularly affected by anti-social behaviour in 2017, drawing many 
complaints from the public. The cleaner was often unable to perform his duties and received 
verbal abuse from the rough sleeping occupants. Other Council officers and outreach 
workers were also verbally abused when attempting to assist with the needs of the dozen or 
so individuals who chose to sleep there. 

The implementation of a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) is not intended to provide 
the means by which the Council can punish people for begging or for rough sleeping. It is 
not a ban on rough sleeping or begging. The Order is intended to address anti-social or 
unacceptable behaviour clearly associated with persons begging or rough sleeping. 

Revised statutory guidance published in December 2017 makes this clear: 

The guidance further advises that in deciding to place restrictions on a particular public 
space, councils should consider the “knock on effects of that decision and ensure that this is 
a reasonable and proportionate response to incidents of anti-social behaviour in the area”. 

This document sets out how this might be achieved.  

Page 217

Appendix C

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/anti-social-behaviour-crime-and-policing-bill-anti-social-behaviour
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/anti-social-behaviour-crime-and-policing-bill-anti-social-behaviour


 

2 
 

AUTHORISED OFFICER GUIDANCE FOR A DISCRETIONARY APPROACH 

Summary  

It is not the intention of this Council to penalise people who are begging or sleeping rough. 

We seek to resolve through the PSPO associated persistent anti-social behaviour and non-

engagement with support services. 

If an individual is not causing issues for other users of the public space or for the Council, 

and they are known to be engaging with support services we are minded to address any 

issues of anti-social behaviour through negotiation with the individual. 

WHAT DISCRETION MIGHT LOOK LIKE FOR A PERSON BEGGING 

If the person begging: 

 Is known to be working with support agencies 

 Has responded to questions that form part of the Rough Sleeping and Begging 

Assistance Form 

 Is known not to cause anti-social behaviour either during the course of begging or as 

a result of their lifestyle 

 Has a realistic opportunity to acquire accommodation (if needed) in Tunbridge Wells 

And the behaviour of the person begging does not include 

 Verbally abusing the authorised officer attempting to engage with them 

 Asking for monies from passers-by 

 An unreasonable accumulation of belongings 

 Bedding forming part of their pitch 

 Bedding and belongings being left unattended for unreasonable periods 

 Causing an obstruction 

 Unleashed animals 

 Littering, food waste or human waste 

 Causing complaints to be made to authorities in respect of their behaviour 

If the authorised officer is satisfied that the person begging is not breaking the law or causing 

anti-social behaviour as a result of their lifestyle and the details of the individual are already 

known or have been provided to the authorised officer to complete the Rough Sleeping and 

Begging Assistance Form then discretion may be applied. 

While authorised officers include contract enforcement staff they will not enforce the PSPO 

through a fixed penalty notice unless Council staff have first established that persistent anti-

social behaviour is an issue and anti-social behaviour is a factor at the time they engage with 

an individual. 

Regardless of whether the individual is known or is willing to engage there would be 

an expectation that the individual would resolve any issues brought to their attention 

or move on if asked to do so if such requests are reasonable. 

  

Page 218

Appendix C



 

3 
 

WHAT DISCRETION MIGHT LOOK LIKE FOR A PERSON SLEEPING ROUGH 

If the person sleeping rough: 

 Has a local connection 

 Is known to be working with support agencies 

 Has a realistic opportunity to acquire accommodation in Tunbridge Wells or 

elsewhere within an agreeable timescale 

And the Behaviour of the person rough sleeping does not include: 

 Bedding and other belongings left unattended 

 Causing an obstruction 

 Preventing a Council employee from performing their duties 

 Attracting others regularly to loiter in the area 

 An unreasonable accumulation of belongings 

 Unleashed animals 

 Littering, food waste or human waste 

 Causing complaints to be made to authorities in respect of their behaviour 

If the authorised officer is satisfied that the person sleeping rough is not breaking the law or 

causing anti-social behaviour as a result of their lifestyle and the details of the individual are 

already known or have been provided to the authorised officer to complete the Rough 

Sleeping and Begging Assistance Form then discretion may be applied.  

Regardless of whether the individual is known or is willing to engage there would be 

an expectation that the individual would resolve any issues brought to their attention 

or move on if asked to do so if such requests are reasonable. 

WORKING WITH SUPPORT AGENCIES 

Through engagement with an individual we would expect the following to be established or 

we would seek to establish the following during contact and prior to any enforcement: 

 Agencies know why a person is begging or sleeping rough 

 Agencies have verified a person’s housing situation, and housing needs if homeless 

 Agencies are aware of any alcohol or substance addictions 

 Agencies are aware of any diagnosed or perceived mental health issues 

 Agencies are aware of any family (or other) support available to them 

 The person begging or sleeping rough is accessing support in this borough, or 

 They will accept support (alcohol/substance/mental health/housing etc.) or provide 

reasons why they will not or cannot engage 

Regardless of whether the above details are known or provided there would be an 

expectation that an individual would resolve any issues of anti-social behaviour or move on if 

asked to do so if those requests are reasonable. 

 

Page 219

Appendix C



 

4 
 

WHEN ENGAGING WITH AN INDIVIDUAL ON BEHALF OF THE COUNCIL OR IN 
RESPONSE TO PUBLIC COMPLAINTS: 

 Use Body Worn Video camera 

 Contact CCTV Control Room and request monitoring for the duration of the 

engagement (where applicable) 

 Seek to identify the individual through engagement and through contact with the 

Borough Council’s Housing Options team, CSU officers or CCTV Control Room 

 Through contact with the Housing Options team: 

o Establish if it is known that the individual has a local connection 

o Establish if it is necessary to complete a Rough Sleeping and Begging 

Assistance Form 

 If not, complete the form with the individual 

o Establish if the individual has been provided with a Reasonable Behaviour 

Agreement. 

 If not, provide the individual with a copy of the Agreement 

 Respectfully make reasonable requests of the individual to resolve any of the issues 

which may already breach the Reasonable Behaviour Agreement.  

 

Page 220

Appendix C



 

 

 

REASONABLE BEHAVIOUR AGREEMENT 

FOR PERSONS BEGGING OR ROUGH SLEEPING 

This Agreement sets out standards of behaviour that may be expected of 

anybody living in our community – housed or otherwise. It does not replace 

government legislation. To ensure all users of our open spaces are able to 

enjoy areas that are open to the public we respectfully expect you to comply 

with this Agreement. 

THE REASONABLE BEHAVIOUR AGREEMENT: 

 Look after the area you are in and respect other users of the area. 

 Keep animals on a leash and under control at all times. 

 Dispose of litter and other rubbish properly. 

 Do not allow the accumulation of unreasonable amounts of belongings. 

 Land or adjoining land not to be used as a toilet. 

 Do not start fires as this may cause a nuisance or danger to self or others. 

 Do not cause harassment, alarm or distress to residents, members of the 

public, businesses, workers or authorised officers. 

 PLEASE NOTE: This is an Alcohol Control Area and you may be asked to 

surrender alcohol to a police officer or police community support officer. 

BEHAVIOUR THAT WILL NOT BE TOLERATED: 

 Failing to comply with this Agreement. 

 Interfering with the rights and freedoms of other members of the public 

including interrupting the operation of legitimate businesses. 

 Causing any damage at the location, or property on it. 

 Using or dealing drugs. 

 Use of the area as a toilet. You must not deposit or leave human waste 

openly in any public places, including car parks. 

 Abuse, intimidation or harassment of any persons lawfully using the area. 

 Excessive noise or other forms of anti-social behaviour. 

 Animals that are not kept under control or that attack persons lawfully on 

the land, or nearby or allowing dogs to foul or stray. 

 Interference with electrical, water or gas supplies, elevators, lighting, 

signage and other publicly owned or privately owned fixtures and features. 

WHILE YOU ARE OCCUPYING PUBLIC SPACES IT IS YOUR 

RESPONSIBILITY TO KEEP THE AREA CLEAN AND TIDY 

PLEASE ABIDE BY THE CONDITIONS SET OUT IN THIS 

AGREEMENT TO AVOID ENFORCEMENT ACTION BEING TAKEN 

Page 221

Appendix D



This page is intentionally left blank



Equality Impact Assessment Template 
Summary of decision to be made: Introduction of Public Spaces Protection Orders to address quality of life issues and tackle anti-social 

behaviour.    

Lead Officer (job title): Corporate Governance Officer, Community Safety Officer 

Date the final decision is due to be made: 25/04/2018 Date this assessment commenced: 08/02/2018 

Is the decision relevant to the aims of the Public Sector Equality Duty to: 

Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation Yes  

Advance equality of opportunity Yes  

Foster good relations Yes  

Background: 

Implementation of a Public Space Protection Order is proposed to address: 
Dog fouling 
Dog exclusion 
Dog control 
Alcohol control 
New psychoactive substances 
Begging 
Rough sleeping 
Amplified music 
 
This equality impact assessment will consider the above issues and whether there are any particular issues with regards to the protected characteristics. 
 
Overall findings from the Residents’ Survey (2015) are summarised in paragraph 5.1 of the committee report.  Findings from the consultation are 
summarised in paragraph 5.5 of the committee report. 
 
Relevance to the three aims of the Public Sector Equality Duty 
1. The need to ensure that implementation of a PSPO is not unlawfully discriminatory is relevant to the first aim of the duty to eliminate discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation.  

2. The need to consider how we can take steps to meet the needs of people with protected characteristics, who may be affected by the implementation 

of the PSPO is relevant to the second aim of the duty to advance equality of opportunity. 

3. The way the Council operates the PSPO could also be relevant to fostering good relations with regard to maintaining the confidence and trust in the 

local authority by people with protected characteristics. 

For each of the following characteristics: Summarise available data, statistics 
or consultation findings. 

State how the proposal will 
impact on people.  

What action will be taken to 
reduce or mitigate any 
potential negative impacts 

Disability Residents’ Survey (2015) 
There were no differences between 
respondents with disabilities and 

Dog fouling: 
The proposals seek to increase 
the fines, which are already in 

 
 
 

P
age 223

A
ppendix E



Equality Impact Assessment Template 
respondents without disabilities with 
regards to anti-social behaviour 
issues. 
 
Consultation on the PSPO 
(2017/18) 
5% of respondents had a long-term 
health problem or disability.  8% 
‘preferred not to say’ whether they 
had a long-term health problem or 
disability.  Individual comments 
relating to the proposals are 
described below. 
 
Dog fouling: 
- A scooter user is able to use a 

grabber to clear up after a dog and 
dispose in the bin or at home.  
However, they sometimes have 
difficulties in cleaning up after their 
dog and a fine would not change 
this.  They also made a comment 
about the availability of dog bags 
at machines. 

 
Dog exclusion: 
- Consider the accessibility of 

restriction free alternatives for 
those with reduced mobility.   

- The Council to allow some 
flexibility when considering 
whether a disabled person's dog is 
acting as an assistance dog  

 
Psychoactive substances: 
- The current measures will not 

address the issue of drug use by 
people with mental health 
disabilities who self-medicate. 

place for dog fouling.  We do not 
consider that the proposals will 
unlawfully discriminate or put 
people with disabilities at a 
disadvantage. 
 
Dog exclusion:  
The proposals restrict the 
exclusion zones to Council-
owned fenced children’s 
playgrounds only, with 
exceptions to be made for 
assistance dogs, where 
appropriate.     
 
Psychoactive substances: 
The comments received in the 
consultation do not suggest that 
the proposals will unlawfully 
discriminate or put people with 
disabilities at a disadvantage. 
 
Begging and rough sleeping: 
There is potential that people 
with mental health disabilities 
could be affected.  It is not the 
Council’s intention to penalise 
people who are begging or 
sleeping rough but to take a 
reasonable and proportionate 
response based on whether an 
individual is causing issues for 
other users of the public space 
and whether they are already 
engaging with support services.  
Cases of begging or rough 
sleeping will be considered on 
an individual basis and 
discretion will be applied.  We 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Begging and rough sleeping: 
Authorised officers will 
complete a rough sleeping and 
begging assistance form.  This 
will capture where an individual 
is engaging with support 
services (housing, mental 
health, alcohol or drug 
treatment) or whether they are 
willing to accept support.  We 
will use this form to monitor 
those affected who are 
engaging with mental health 
services.  We will review this 
information alongside a review 
of the PSPO after one-year. 

P
age 224

A
ppendix E



Equality Impact Assessment Template 
 
Begging and rough sleeping: 
- Health and safety issues for elderly 

and disabled people where people 
begging cause obstructions in 
particular locations. 

 

have produced guidance which 
sets out reasonable behaviour 
and behaviour which will not be 
tolerated.  Authorised officers 
will not issue a fixed penalty 
notice unless Council staff have 
established persistent anti-social 
behaviour.  

Race Residents’ Survey (2015) 
There were no differences by 
ethnicity with regards to anti-social 
behaviour issues. 
 
Consultation on the PSPO 
(2017/18) 
1% of respondents gave their ethnic 
group as ‘other’ and 1% as 
‘mixed/multiple ethnic group’.  10% 
preferred not to give their ethnic 
group.   No issues were raised in 
relation to ethnicity. 

We have not identified any 
issues in relation to the Public 
Space Protection Order. 

None 

Sex Residents’ Survey (2015) 
There were no differences between 
males and females with regards to 
anti-social behaviour issues. 
 
Consultation on the PSPO 
(2017/18) 
40% were females and 55% were 
male.  5% preferred not to say.  No 
issues were raised in relation to 
males and females. 

We have not identified any 
issues in relation to the Public 
Space Protection Order. 

None 

Age  Residents’ Survey (2015) 
A significantly higher proportion of 
residents aged 55 were in favour of 
the Council influencing all suggested 
behaviours (which included street 
drinking, psychoactive substances, 
begging, dogs being kept on leads in 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 225

A
ppendix E



Equality Impact Assessment Template 
parks, and amplified music) 
 
Consultation on the PSPO 
(2017/18) 
The proportion of respondents in 
each age group were: 
18-24: 2% 
25-34: 4% 
35-44: 13% 
45-54: 27% 
55-64: 17% 
65+: 30% 
Prefer not to say: 7%. 
Individual comments relating to the 
proposals are described below. 
 
Dog fouling: 
- There are existing problems with 

dog fouling on sports/play areas 
used by young people. 

- Concerns about dog walking being 
portrayed as ‘anti-social’ when it 
has health and social benefits, 
particularly for the elderly who use 
the areas in question to walk their 
dogs. 

 
Dog exclusion: 
- Concerns about the impact on the 

elderly and where they will be able 
to walk their dogs if they are 
banned from parks. 

- Concerns about the impact on 
young families with dogs who will 
not be able to bring their dogs to 
the areas in question. 

- Concerns that there have been 
instances of young children being 
frightened by dogs that are 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dog fouling: 
Whilst the comments raise 
conflicting issues, the proposals 
were supported by 84% of 
respondents overall.  The 
proposals seek to increase the 
fines, which are already in place 
for dog fouling.  Whether this will 
encourage more people to clean 
up after their dog, including on 
sports/play areas, is unknown. 
There is no evidence to suggest 
that the proposals will unlawfully 
discriminate or put particular 
age groups at a disadvantage. 
 
Dog exclusion: 
Following consultation on the 
proposals, we have revised the 
exclusions zones so that dogs 
on leads will be permitted St 
Marks Recreation Ground and 
The Nevill Ground.  There are 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dog exclusion: 
We will monitor any complaints 
received for age-related 
issues. 

P
age 226

A
ppendix E



Equality Impact Assessment Template 
currently walked in the areas 
concerned. 

 
Alcohol Control: 
- Query about why is there no 

Alcohol Control Area on the 
Hawkenbury Recreation Ground 
(as a magnet for young drinkers). 

- The issue of young people drinking 
should be addressed.  
 

Psychoactive substances: 
- Drug consumption by young 

people reported by residents in 
their areas. 

- Concerns over rough sleepers and 
people begging scaring young 
children by openly injecting drugs. 

 
Begging and rough sleeping: 
- Health and safety issues for elderly 

and disabled people where people 
begging cause obstructions in 
particular locations. 

 

also areas near to these 
locations where dogs can be let 
off their leads. 
 
Alcohol Control: 
Alcohol control zones are 
already operating in parts of the 
borough.  The comments 
received in the consultation do 
not suggest that the proposals 
will unlawfully discriminate or 
put particular age groups at a 
disadvantage. 
 
Psychoactive substances: 
The comments received in the 
consultation do not suggest that 
the proposals will unlawfully 
discriminate or put particular 
age groups at a disadvantage. 
 
Begging and rough sleeping: 
The comments received in the 
consultation do not suggest that 
the proposals will unlawfully 
discriminate or put particular 
age groups at a disadvantage. 

Religion / Belief Residents’ Survey (2015) 
Information about religion/belief was 
not captured in the survey.  
 
Consultation on the PSPO 
(2017/18) 
Religion/belief questions were not 
asked of people responding to the 
consultation, so we are unable to 
determine whether there were any 
differences in responses based on 
this protected characteristic.  No 

We have not identified any 
issues in relation to the Public 
Space Protection Order. 

None 

P
age 227

A
ppendix E



Equality Impact Assessment Template 
issues were raised in relation to 
religion/belief. 

Sexual Orientation Residents’ Survey (2015) 
Information about sexual orientation 
was not captured in the survey.  
 
Consultation on the PSPO 
(2017/18) 
Sexual orientation questions were 
not asked of people responding to 
the consultation, so we are unable to 
determine whether there were any 
differences in responses based on 
this protected characteristic.  No 
issues were raised in relation to 
sexual orientation. 

We have not identified any 
issues in relation to the Public 
Space Protection Order. 

None 

Pregnancy / Maternity Residents’ Survey (2015) 
Information about pregnancy/ 
maternity was not captured in the 
survey.  
 
Consultation on the PSPO 
(2017/18) 
Pregnancy/maternity questions were 
not asked of people responding to 
the consultation, so we are unable to 
determine whether there were any 
differences in responses based on 
this protected characteristic.  No 
issues were raised in relation to 
pregnancy/maternity. 

We have not identified any 
issues in relation to the Public 
Space Protection Order. 

None 

Marital or Civil Partnership Status Residents’ Survey (2015) 
Information about marital or civil 
partnership status was not captured 
in the survey.  
 
Consultation on the PSPO 
(2017/18) 

We have not identified any 
issues in relation to the Public 
Space Protection Order. 

None 

P
age 228

A
ppendix E



Equality Impact Assessment Template 
Marital or civil partnership status 
questions were not asked of people 
responding to the consultation, so 
we are unable to determine whether 
there were any differences in 
responses based on this protected 
characteristic.  No issues were 
raised in relation to marital or civil 
partnership status. 

Gender reassignment Residents’ Survey (2015) 
Information about gender 
reassignment was not captured in 
the survey.  
 
Consultation on the PSPO 
(2017/18) 
Gender reassignment questions 
were not asked of people responding 
to the consultation, so we are unable 
to determine whether there were any 
differences in responses based on 
this protected characteristic.  No 
issues were raised in relation to 
gender reassignment status. 

We have not identified any 
issues in relation to the Public 
Space Protection Order. 

None 

Armed Forces Community  To be considered as part of the 
commitments within the Community 
Covenant to encourage support for 
the Armed Forces community 
working and residing in the borough. 

We have not identified any 
issues in relation to the Public 
Space Protection Order. 

None 

Please tick the outcome of this assessment: No impact Adjust the policy Continue the policy   Stop and remove the policy 

How will you summarise the impacts in the 
committee report: 

With regard to the first aim of the general equality duty, we do not consider that the proposed policy is 
unlawfully discriminatory.    Although there is potential for people with mental health disabilities to be 
affected by the proposals for begging and rough sleeping, we propose to mitigate this by taking a 
proportionate response to individual cases and monitoring the impact of our proposals through 
completion of a Rough Sleeping and Begging Assistance Form.   
 
With regard to the second aim of the general equality duty, the proposals take account of the needs of 
people with disabilities with regards to making exceptions for assistance dogs in dog exclusion zones, 

P
age 229

A
ppendix E



Equality Impact Assessment Template 
where appropriate.  We have also taken account of the needs of different age groups with regards to dog 
exclusion zones and revised our proposals following feedback from the consultation.  We will monitor the 
impact of this by monitoring if any complaints are received for age-related issues.   
 
With regards to fostering good relations the proposals seek to introduce a reasonable and proportionate 
response to issues of anti-social behaviour that balances the needs of all those who use the areas where 
such behaviour may occur. 

When will you review this assessment: 30/06/2019 or one year after implementation. 
 

P
age 230

A
ppendix E



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

1 
 

Note: as not all respondents answered every question, the total number of responses for each 

question may vary. Textual responses have been recorded verbatim and spelling and/or 

typographical errors have not been corrected. 

 

 

Other: 

 Restriction of dog walkers in local parks and play areas 

 England 

 My sons play sport on the Nevil 

 Kent Association of Cricket Officals 

 Player, supporter employee and volunteer at TWRFC (St Marks). 

35% 

33% 

7% 

4% 

10% 

1% 

6% 4% 

Question 1: Are you responding as ...? 

Local resident who lives in the marked area on the maps (see supporting
documents)
Local resident who lives outside the marked area on the maps (see
supporting documents)
Person who works in the marked area on the maps (see supporting
documents)
Local business owner/manager

Street entertainer in the marked area on the maps (see supporting
documents)
Visitor to the marked area on the maps (e.g. shopper, tourist)

Local Borough, Parish, Town or County Councillor

Representative of a local community or voluntary group (see below)

Other (see below)

Page 231

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

2 
 

 Member of TWRFC 

 Statutory non-governmental non-profit organisation 

 Volunteer crciekt coach 

 National Organisation 
 

 

 

Note: “Longer ago than twelve months” shows on the pie chart as 0%. This is due to the fact that the 

percentage for this response is under 0.5% and the percentages only show as whole numbers. 

 

31% 

39% 

22% 

3% 

3% 

2% 0% 

Question 2: How often do you visit the areas shown on the maps in 
Tunbridge Wells?  

I live in the marked area on maps 1 and 2 (Tunbridge Wells town centre and Southborough)

Almost every day

At least once a week

About once a month

Within the last six months

Within the last twelve months

Longer ago than twelve months

Never visited

Page 232

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

3 
 

  

Page 233

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

4 
 

 

Other: 

 I attend 4 classes each week at Adult Education, go to St Augustine’s Church and walk my 
dog several times a day. 

 I live there 

 Why are you trying to ban responsible dog walkers who clear up their dogs faeces in local 
parks and playing fields. You clearly have not spoken to the vast majority of dog walkers who 
take this issue very seriously. I trust that you will review your blanket ban on dog walkers in 
certain areas within the town. You clearly have made a decision without a proper 
consultation which affects hundreds of local dog owners. 

 Dog Walking 

 Attending meetings in Town Hall, and other locations 

 walking my dog 

 Cricket/Football 

 Visiting library, walking through to Common, cycling through to get to schools etc 

25% 

11% 

21% 

15% 

12% 

6% 
5% 5% 

Question 3: What do you use Tunbridge Wells town centre 
for? 

Shopping

Bars/nightlife

Restaurants/cafes

Entertainment/shows

Family events and activities

Tourist attractions

Work in Tunbridge Wells

Other (see below)

Page 234

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

5 
 

 Bars/nightlife - not often Restaurants/cafes - not often Work in Tunbridge Wells - volunteer 
Other - library 

 Playing in parks and on the sports facilities. 

 Sporting events 

 Interest in wildlife and nature. Also I have an interest in planning meetings for the local area. 
Also visit friends and Citizens Advice. 

 Cricket Matches at The Nevile 

 Walking the dog 

 dog walking 

 walking 

 Travel from and to the railway station. 

 Travel from and to the railway station. 

 Running with TW Harriers 

 Sports 

 Walking to exercise my dog and myself 

 Access to the railway station 

 Using railway stn 

 The Commons Conservators can only comment on the Common. 

 to attend Crescent Road car park to feed the homeless and vulnerable 

 Walking 

 Tunbridge Wells is a wonderful shopping destination outside London 

 childrens attend schools in TW 

 Visits to the library. Meetings and activities in the town hall. 

 Business and social activities including banking and property related transactions. 

 Banking property related issues 

 Volunteer 

 Travel from station 

 Railway - I commute to London 

 Visiting the Library, dentist and other services  Walking, cycling and jogging through to 
places where I volunteer, and for exercise and relaxation. 

  

Page 235

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

6 
 

Question 4: How much of a problem, if at all, do you think each of the following are to 

people living or working in or visiting the borough? 

 

 

 

12% 

27% 

45% 

12% 
4% 

Question 4 People being drunk and rowdy in public 
spaces 

A very big problem

A fairly big problem

Not a very big problem

Not a problem at all

Don't know/no opinion

14% 

27% 

42% 

14% 

3% 

Question 4 People (e.g. beggars) loitering in a public 
place 

A very big problem

A fairly big problem

Not a very big problem

Not a problem at all

Don't know/no opinion

Page 236

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

7 
 

 

 

15% 

34% 36% 

13% 

2% 

Question 4 People lying in or sleeping in a public 
place 

A very big problem

A fairly big problem

Not a very big problem

Not a problem at all

Don't know/no opinion

11% 

17% 

44% 

24% 

4% 

Question 4 Buskers using amplifiers in the town 
centre 

A very big problem

A fairly big problem

Not a very big problem

Not a problem at all

Don't know/no opinion

Page 237

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

8 
 

 

 

18% 

32% 
38% 

8% 4% 

The presence of mattresses, duvets, sleeping bags 
and other items in shop doorways and other public 

areas 

A very big problem

A fairly big problem

Not a very big problem

Not a problem at all

Don't know/no opinion

36% 

17% 
17% 

10% 

20% 

Question 4 Other (see below) 

A very big problem

A fairly big problem

Not a very big problem

Not a problem at all

Don't know/no opinion

Page 238

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

9 
 

Question 4: Other responses 

 I think that the presence of 'Enforcers' on the street is a big problem. Officials wandering 
around with the specific aim of trying to catch people dropping fag butts, litter or trying 
to stop beggars or buskers shows a creeping mentality of state control which I would 
have thought would have been contrary to the political position of most people on the 
Council.  

 Pavement parking, speeding, unsafe pedestrian crossings, the shared space near 
FiveWays, revised traffic priorities at Monson Road.  

 I don't think that beggars loitering in public spaces is a great problem; but groups of 
youths, on bikes, with skateboards or otherwise, hanging around seems to have grown. 

 People drinking in street and blocking pedestrian access.  Also chairs and tables 
obstructing pavement Amplified music from Pantiles which has become more frequent.  

 Drinking alcohol in public spaces, notably parks and benches by the car park in the town 
centre. The congregation of groups is threatening and unpleasant. 

 Restriction of dog walkers I think the council need to address drug taking, beggars and 
people sleeping rough in shop doorways first The town basically is going to the dogs  

 The lack of legality of the best drug in existence - marijuana.  

 Rowdy and disruptive, and some vandalism of property, by young teenagers Drug 
consumption [reported by residents] in their areas 

 Dog owners using sports grounds and not picking up dog litter 

 The presence of mattresses, duvets, sleeping bags etc in shop doorways and other public 
areas: Have noticed this getting worse in the last year or so. 

 Dog muck around the Nevil Ground is a health hazard to cricket players of all ages.  Lots 
of cricket is played on the Nevil and at regular times each week in summer the ground is 
devoted to school-age children. 

 Fly tipping (particularly plastic) 

 Dogs running all over and pooing on the various cricket pitches. 

 Dogs mess 

 Uncouth behaviour, especially swearing, is commonplace within the Calverley Precinct 
and Millenium Clock area and at the bus stops around the railway station/Great Hall 
Arcade.  Spitting is increasingly common and very unhygienic.  This portrays the town as 
full of yobs, which we know it isn't.  Some of those who are rowdy look under the 
influence of something or the other, although some I am sure are not. Furthermore, 
although not in the town centre, the same behaviour at Hawkenbury Recreation Ground 
is appalling bearing in mind the astroturf, from which the language emanates, is next to 
the children's play area. 

 Cyclists using walkways and foot paths designated for pedestrians only. The regular 
abuse by road traffic of the 20 and 30mph speed limits. Pavement parking. 

 No reference to dogs in this section - but assuming I cannot return then I am very 
strongly opposed to any restrictions on responsible dog walkers on sports grounds and 
open spaces. I fully support greater penalties on dog walkers who are not responsible - 
violent dogs, failing to pick up ( poop and scoop), dogs running around out of control 
bothering others etc. 

 The people lying/sleeping in public places is not a big problem in the sense that it isn't a 
nuisance. It is a significant problem in that there should be better support services 
available to look after people who are forced to do this. 

 Grafitti is becoming a major  in the borough without enough being done to curb it by 
both the council and the police. 

Page 239

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

10 
 

 It's a matter of proportion. The existing measures are adequate without the introduction 
of a public spaces protection order. 

 School children missing school, smoking and drinking under age. 

 Uneven pavements 

 I have no issues with rough sleepers.  They need compassion and protection as 
vulnerable people in our community.  If services were funded more, then it maybe 
would alleviate their suffering. Problems with alcohol don't seem an issue, any more 
than they have ever been in the 40 years I have lived here.  Although I am not someone 
who goes out in the evenings like I used to! 

 Some inconsiderate skateboard use, and fast cycling through the precinct, where young 
children can be running free. People should not have to be looking out for cyclists or 
skateboarders whizzing through the precinct at 15mph ('Fairly Big' rather than 'Very 
Big'). And I make this comment as a cyclist myself.  Anti social and dangerous driving 
behaviour, including driving along the pavement,  which is a danger to pedestrians. 
Reckless and inconsiderate driving deters people from cycling. Litter, and the 
abandonment of effective street cleaning outside the immediate town centre. 

 
 
 
 

Question 5 - How did these issues affect you? 
 

 Normal and far worse elsewhere, have you ever walked down Tonbridge High Street 

 I was very distressed to see beggars, and rough sleepers in the town. Distressed because it is 
becoming such a feature of daily life like food banks. The council should be actively trying to 
help them not suggesting penalities for non-compliance.  This is the sort of issue that brings 
a town like Tunbridge Wells into disrepute and puts the town open to mockery. One of the 
richest boroughs... attempting to fine beggars....... Private Eye, Have I Got News for You? On 
buskers, yes they can be too loud but is that a big problem to warrant the attention of the 
Borough Council? Surely there must be a softer way of dealing with them rather than an 
enforcer getting out his spot fine book. Drunken behaviour in the street? Aren't there laws 
for being drunk and disorderly? Do we really need to add to them? How many more rules 
and prohibitions do we want to live with?  

 Mattresses and people sleeping in doorways are unsightly.  We should fund our social 
services adequately to eliminate begging and rough sleeping.  Amplified music in the Pantiles 
Area is excessively loud and can be unpleasant to experience in Cumberland Gardens.  It is 
common for bottles, cans and glasses to be left in Cumberland Gardens and also in The 
Grove.  People drinking in the street particularly in Cumberland Walk and in the Pantiles 
often make it difficult to walk through these areas. 

 The above listed has not caused me problems, apart of amplified music. It is just too loud 
and not always to everyone's taste.   

 I avoid walking past King Charles church  near LAmore restarant because of beggars 

 They didn't affect me 

 Parks near me (the Grove, but more so, Calverley Grounds) can become intimidating at 
night, Calverley even by day, because of drunk and drug-taking adults and adolescents 
loitering in bushes, or even in plain sight.  We do need to walk our dog after dark in winter, 
since like most residents of central Tunbridge Wells, we don't have much of a garden, so the 
safety of our local streets and parks is important. Better lighting would help (and measures 
have been taken towards that end, but could be improved. There's little point in introducing 
bye laws if they cannot be enforced. Dog owners are easy targets, but that issue has been 

Page 240

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

11 
 

largely solved in the last 25 years. I remember writing to TWBC about pavement poo pushing 
a double buggy while taking my eldest to school, from Grecian Rd to St Peter's primary. I'm 
not too bothered about rough sleepers  per se, except my conscience is troubled that such 
things happen in a civilised rich country. It wasn't something I saw in the first 40 years of my 
life. I'm glad if they can make themselves comfortable. Each one of us, or our children 
could  end up homeless. 

 I understand their homeless problem but they are a nusience with begging and music 

 Yes; these people are menacing. 

 Shows the town in a bad light and feel uncomfortable to be in the same area. 

 I don't like to see people sleeping rough. It isn't very nice for the town but indeed, 
homelessness is a problem which needs to be addressed sensitively. There are also certain 
individuals with mental health issues who walk around the town and this need to be 
addressed in the right way. I have noticed people sleeping rough becoming a problem over 
the last year or two so don't know why it is an issue now in Tunbridge Wells, although 
perhaps nationwide the issue is growing. I am more offended by groups who loiter in public 
spaces after dark (and during the day at weekends in the town centre). There are very few 
visible PCSO's or Police Officers so groups can feel threatening. There is also an increase in 
litter in popular spots for loitering. I now will not walk home from the train station after 
around 10pm because the town centre feels rough and again, no apparent law enforcement. 
Noise in the area where I live has increased at night and there is often shouting from 
individuals late on a Friday and Saturday. 

 Have to walk round them and on occasions off pavement and into road. Amplified music 
makes it unpleasant to be in our garden 

 see answer to q4a. It means my wife cannot walk our dog throug Calverley Park when 
drunks are regularly present. The litter they leave behind is disgraceful. As no Police are ever 
seen there is one deterrenot. 

 They havnt particularly. I work in London where the problem is far worse and I don't think 
the issues in Tunbridge Wells town centre are nearly as bad! 

 Quite frankly I am disgusted I have been into the police station about  it 

 Not really been aware of any issues . Occasionally see rough sleepers in the town centre, but 
they are not a problem. Don't see them there the next time round. 

 Mattresses homeless people etc are slightly annoying but not as annoying as it must  be for 
these unfortunate people. However, marijuana being illegal is HIGHLY annoying. Granted, 
this is not a local issue but it affects local people. 

 Seeing beggars makes me sad. Can't remember ever seeing drunken / rowdy behaviour. 

 I am more concerned more about impact on others trying to undertake lawful/community 
activities - who can be scared off 

 Every town has these problems, so sadly we just except them, you see the same thing in 
towns all over the world, I don't think ithink the rough sleeping looks very nice in the main 
shopping areas though,  

 I think more could be done to help. We/the council should be reaching out to help people in 
need. Homelessness is complex. Often there are more serious underlying problems such as 
mental or physical health issues. When people in our community are vulnerable we should 
look to offer help and support. I find this survey a little distasteful. It trivialises a complex 
issue. The question only states the negative characteristics of a select few homeless people. 
Many/some will not be drunk and rowdy. It feels like the questions are lead by commerce, 
who probably have a very one sided view.  It does not feel like the best way to obtain 
feedback through a carefully worded survey, even though the wording has improved since 
the initial survey. To me, it is obvious, we should always reach out to help someone in need. 
If not as an individual we should definitely help as a community.  

Page 241

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

12 
 

 Although I'm very aware of people sleeping rough in the town centre and a certain amount 
of drunkeness and noise it's not a situation that is out of control. 

 It is more of a disturbance for shop owners and I feel very sorry for the homeless but shop 
entrances are not the appropriate place for them to stay.  There needs to be a drop in centre 
where they can go and be assisted with food and sleeping 

 Not a great deal.  I go into the centre of Tunbridge Wells during the day and whenever I have 
encountered a homeless person begging I have never encountered any aggression towards 
me as I explain why I will give to a local charity, eg;the Bridge Trust rather than directly to 
themselves.   However, I will often give their dog (if they have one) some biscuits! 

 I do not see these areas late evening, so my views relate to daytime use. I definitely consider 
that amplified music should not be allowed, as long as acoustic buskers are allowed if 
behaving reasonably. I am very concerned about homeless people being harassed or 
charged with offences. 

 Not at all 

 As to loud music from musicians in bands it put us off shopping in adjacent shops and caused 
to move away from any in the immediate area.Sole musicians are absolutely fine. 

 I was put off going into Sainsbury's (Great Hall) by someone sitting by the doorway. I feel 
guilty not giving to beggars, but I don't want to fund any addictions they may have. I give to 
the Salvation Army and feel that taxpayers' money should go towards helping these people 
overcome their addictions and help them with their mental health. I do feel intimidated by 
their presence a little. 

 They are unsightly, filthy and leave rubbish on the streets. 

 Obviously it is unpleasant 

 The behaviour of these people can be inappropriate when around small children. 

 blocking entrances to car parks and occupying empty shop fronts 

 It can sometimes be intimidating 

 More just sad to see...wish more could be done 

 People begging outside stores like Sainsburys Local sitting between the Great Hall brick door 
pillars in Mt Pleasant and Mt Pleasant Avenue often block the gaps between the Great Hall 
building and the supporting exterior brick pillars, thereby obstructing pedestrians' right of 
passage.  One often has to avoid being tripped by a blanket or piece of cardboard when 
entering Sainsburys Local.  These are obvious health and safety issues for elderly and 
disabled people. It seems to be an almost permanent problem these days. In Mt Pleasant 
Road and Calverley precinct several doorways seem to be constantly filled with duvets, 
mattresses, and general garbage - often left unattended in the daytime.  This is a blight on 
the town centre area. At night one is extremely concerned, when walking by a person 
sleeping rough in the doorway, as to whether that person might suddenly arise from 
seeming slumber and attack the passer-by especially if one is thinking of using a nearby 
ATM.   Amplified music and beggars outside the same stores everyday clearly have an effect 
on the stores' trade and staff as well as passers by.  I note that a mainly on-line company 
with only a minor outlet in the High Street that never suffers such problems seems to be 
supporting these anti-social activities. 

 Not at all 

 Prior to cricket matches all dogs mess needs to be cleared up 

 It is feels unsafe, especially around the station at night. Carparks after dark feel especially 
unsafe.  

 They don't effect me. 

 Unsightly 

Page 242

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

13 
 

 People being drunk/rowdy in the town centre makes me feel apprehensive. Seeing signs of 
homelessness (begging, rough sleepers and possessions in doorways) fills me with sympathy 
and some distress there is not more provision for people who have fallen on hard times in 
this affluent town. Some amplified music in the town centre is really enjoyable: I have heard 
some very talented musicians playing and sometimes stopped to listen. However, I 
appreciate that this may be annoying to staff working in the shops.   

 Not much and the people i have encountered are always polite, never agressive.  It is a 
reflection of the wider societal issues and much much worse in many other town. 

 It doesn't effect me at all 

 Can sometimes make me feel uncomfortable. Makes me feel sad for them. 

 Bad language,Un sightly, not pleasant for young children.etc 

 I have not been much affected but let us remember that the Council forced the Soup Run to 
close, so removing one key place where folks could meet. A a regular user of the Torrington 
Road car park for TW station, the stairwells are often in an appalling state and I don't know if 
that is connected, but the people who clear up are doing a marvellous job. 

 The initial impact is the sight and unpleasant smell of car park stair wells where people have 
been sleeping and presumably urinating in the same space. The ugly sight of waste materials 
including cigarette ends, ash, food wrappers and unwanted clothes and bedding.  

 It annoys me that (a) I have to look where I walk to make sure I am not stepping into 
someone's phlegm, and (b) I don't want unruly people running around shouting and 
swearing in public.  It portrays the town in a negative light. 

 Being approached. Asked for money. 

 Make you feel un safe. Especially passing through the patio area of the TN2 Centre. Day time 
drinkers and rough sleepers all over the place and by the sub post office and other shops 
intimidates you if you want to post a letter of visit the shops. Not nice to be confronted by 6 
to 8 day time drinkers shouting, swearing and being anti social 

 I a expect I expect normal problems not to be swept off the street, showing Tunbridge wells 
is a caring town       

 Not greatly affected currently ( i guess existing measure are working) but procedures need 
to be in place to ensure that homeless issues don't become a bigger problem. I would not 
like to be asked for money while out and about and would not like to have more of my 
council tax used for cleaning up mattresses etc . Yesterday I had a guy walk through the train 
asking for money. Fortunately the train was full but frightening if train empty.  

 Not at all - its sad for the people really . They should have a better life . 

 The main stairs and stairwell lobby of Torrington car park become unpleasant to use due to 
the areas being used as a toilet and by rough sleepers often in groups creating a threatening 
area to walk through on a regular basis. 

 The main stairs and stairwell lobby of Torrington car park become unpleasant to use due to 
the areas being used as a toilet and by rough sleepers often in groups creating a threatening 
area to walk through on a regular basis. 

 loud music, people begging, people sleeping rough. 

 During daylight it makes me feel uncomfortabl. After dark I feel vulnerable especially as a 
woman walking alone 

 Avoid shops in those areas. 

 Off putting, worrying, discouragin. Council should certainly deal with the  rowdiness, begging 
and sleeping rough. It makes the local community feel unsettled and apprehensive towards 
unfolding situation.  

 I feel very sorry for rough sleepers and people begging. If people are drunk and disorderly 
they should be dealt with under existing powers. Most drunk and disorderly are those on a 

Page 243

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

14 
 

Friday and Saturday night who have homes to go to. Please don't pick on the homeless. 
Matresses  in doorways may well be a nuisance to shop owners if the shop is in use, but can 
be dealt with, as drunk and disorderly, under existing powers. Ditto very loud music. But the 
normal buskers are a pleasure. 

 They do have a negative effect on the overall character of the town. Walking down the alley 
with the public toilets next to the Assembly Hall car park can be quite scary as the beggars 
tend to congregate near the entrance to the cafe at one end and on the benches near the 
recycling bins at the other, and they often approach you which can make one nervous. 
Amplified music in the town centre is a nuisance and likewise the "chuggers" in the precinct, 
whom this ban should also apply to.     

 It is sad to see and experience.   

 They haven't 

 I've felt nervous and frightened for my personal safety.  

 Felt quite scared and threatened by them, especially after dark. 

 A rough sleeper in a town centre car park scared my daughter. I have also seen rough 
sleepers and beggers injecting drugs openly - what kind of impact is that having on my young 
daughter. 

 disappointed that such an affluent town cannot look after them 

 Rowdy disturbance, hooligan behaviour, defacing and destruction of public furniture. 

 Noise dis turbance and littering (including broken glass) and bad role models for children - 
High Brooms Playground 

 Saddened that these less fortunate people have to resort to such practice as it appears very 
little help is available. Agreed that cyclists are safer using pavements and walkways but 
certainly less safe for me as a pedestrian Worried at crossing the road so specially at the 
pedestrian crossing where I have experienced near misses at the bottom of both Grove Hill 
Road and Frant Road when I had right of way 

 The noise levels of buskers is sometimes too loud!You have to shout above them to talk and 
if there is more than one its hell! Drunkeness is a problem in the evening and night.The 
worst problem are the homeless i called the police one night as one was aggressive with me 
while i was walking home from work in Mount Pleasant.They are anti social they throw 
cigarette ends on the ground while the rest of us get a fine.They dont care as they have no 
money.They say they have no money but have mobiles,cigarettes and alcohol.They drink 
and smoke and litter!It is detrimental for shops and for parents with children.We have a 
lovely town and as a council tax payer object to these people littering the streets.I hope as 
do many others it becomes an offence to collect money.As i write a man has taken up 
residence in BHS doorway sleeping on two wooden pallets and keeps his belongings in a 
shopping trolley.Great sight for all of us,not a good impression for visitors to the town! 

 Loud amplified music in the town centre causes me stress and may cut short my visit. Rowdy 
drunkenness, especially late at night, is alarming. 

 The amplified music is awful, and deters me from entering g the area. Homeless people 
sleeping g rough are distressing evidence of a society which does not provide adequate help 
for the vulnerable. Ditto regarding drug users and drinkers. 

 People sleeping rough on the Common intimidate the public and create a health hazard 
(human faeces, needles, etc). Drunk people smash bottles on rocks used by children. 

 It's different for me as I understand why people are rough sleeping so I don't see it as a 
problem, just very sad 

 Intimidated me and my daughter walking through a park 

 I haven't been affected at all. 

Page 244

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

15 
 

 It's really sad to see, and my children also feel very strongly, that more should be done for 
homeless/people sleeping rough 

 Very little 

 Should not be encouraged in town centre as devalues th standards of the town. Homeless 
should be cared for to keep them off the streets. 

 Thought it a shame  

 These have not affected me. 

 It feels like "running the gauntlet" sometimes returning from London late in the evening and 
going to my car through rough sleepers and their sleeping bags at the station and Torrington 
(ex Safeway) car park.  My wife has felt intimidated even though there were no adverse 
advances by the rough sleepers.  Drunks and beggars are an occasional problem in Dunorlan 
Park, once some East Europeans camped in the undergrowth for weeks (2017). Dog walkers 
have never been a problem. 

 I feel very intimidated  by large groups of mainly men in carpark stairwells often with loose 
dogs.  I note a lady was bitten recently by such a dog in Torrington car park and needed 
hospital treatment. 

 Intimidating for a woman 

 I'm not sure I have ever seem anyone seriously drunk/rowdy in the town centre. Amplified 
music is fine as it currently stands - it isn't obtrusive. People sleeping rough haven't affected 
me, but there should be better support services available to look after people who are 
forced to do this - and yes, I know it costs money, and I would be willing to pay more council 
tax if it helped sort this out. 

 There has periodically been evidence of rough sleeping (not on a large scale) in or near 
Grosvenor and Hilbert Park. 

 They were noticeable and you want to do something for people in this condition. 

 an increasing eye sore which detracts from Tunbridge Wells, these people should be looked 
after more than being discarded or fined 

 They are a nuisance  and some  can be aggressive and make one feel uncomfortable or 
insecure. Gives the location a bad immage. 

 When shopping in the pedestrian area the competing sound of buskers' amplifiers can be 
challenging especially if the shop you are in is also playing music. A licencing scheme for 
buskers that is properly enforced should be considered. More needs to be done to support 
homeless people to avoid the proliferation of old mattresses that can be seen in car parks 
and other areas. 

 Generally I don't find these activities to be much of a problem. 

 Not affected me other than to feel frustrated & embarrassed that I'm doing nothing to help. 
I feel angry that Government policies & local authority cuts mean the provision of social 
housing & support for people in need to so poor. It's immoral & shameful.  

 Homeless people should not be persecuted 

 Buskers annoy me and spoil the experience of being in the town centre. Mattresses make 
the town unsightly and lowers the standing ot TW. Drunks wake me and my family when 
leaving the town at night. 

 Feel harassed by unwanted begging and sleeping in doorways looks terrible, producing litter 
and mess. If allowed to continue will encourage others. 

 They make the place look unwelcoming, some can be intimidating and generally scruffy. 

 Begging - I give to charity but unsolicited approach is unwelcome  Drunk/rowdy behaviour - 
difficult to control but under age drinking should be restricted if possible 

 Make me wonder if the lovely area/ town I live in is slowly going down hill 

Page 245

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

16 
 

 I just feel very sad for these people and wish there was more support to help them get off 
the street. 

 I don't always feel safe 

 It made me sad that such an affluent town is doing NOTHING to help these poor people. 

 Unpleasant and threatening 

 I just think it's sad there are homeless people 

 there has been a noticeable increase, it has little effect, it's just noticeable 

 Can be intimidating later at night. 

 no problems.  I like buskers.  Adds a bit of liveliness to the town.  The precinct is quite 
depressing with the closed shops, so music picks it up. homelessness/rough 
sleepers/begging is a very sad thing to see.  I wish there were more services and safety for 
those that are vulnerable in our community. I would feel deeply dissatisfied if the Council 
took measures to shifting them elsewhere rather than dealing with the root causes. 

 The rowdiness at night leads to littering/damage to my office. It seems like most weeks that 
I am sweeping up broken bottles and collecting cans and half-eaten food containers from 
the front garden. We have also had groups hanging about drinking outside the office during 
the daytime which can be slightly intimidating when leaving/entering the building.  

 The bedding in doorways issue makes the town look very scruffy but it wouldnt be a 
problem if we had more provision for homeless people. Also it tends to only be in shop 
doorways where the shops are empty - another problem. The council shouod be 
encouraging shop owners by making rates more affordable  

 Not affected by any of these except that I am not keen on hearing amplified busking.  

 If I can I give money to people who are homeless hungry wet and cold. It breaks my heart.  

 It is clearly very sad.  But it is also not appropriate for people to beg or sleep rough in 
shopkeepers premises as it will affect there ability to trade. 

 They don't affect me, they just highlight how the local authority should be out actively 
helping the people in the community. 

 Apart from being unsightly, they don't really affect me.  I am fortunate to have a roof over 
my head. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 246

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

17 
 

Measures 
 

 
 
Have your say on alcohol control areas 
 

 People should be able to drink whereever these rules enable that. If they are causing a 
problem they lose it theynlose  

 no problem with it. Much underage drinking occurs in these areas. 

 You do not need more red tape just enforce current laws on drinking rowdy behaviour and 
litteringetc. 

 I don't really use these parks at night because I wouldn't feel them safe. During the day, if 
drinking is under control and as part of a civilised leisure activity then I don't see a great 
issue. 

 Would welcome the steps between Cumberland Gardens and Cumberland Walk and 
Cumberland Gardens itself becoming alcohol free as it is place people sit and drink.  

 As there is no patrolling of these areas by the police this is useless prevention. Include the 
areas around the car parks where drunks congregate 

 I think their should be a blanket ban on drinking alcohol in the town public places. 

81% 

11% 

8% 

Measure 1: Do you support the use of a Public Spaces Protection 
Order to maintain alcohol control areas in the areas listed above? 

This would include streets, open spaces and other public areas but 
not public houses, licensed premises or pavement cafes. 

Yes

No

Don't know

Page 247

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

18 
 

 Badly worded question, how would one know the answer unless you either witnessed a 
problem or saw data Would want to see the data on number of times the PSPO has had to 
be invoked before I could make a statement. More regulation is not usually the solution - 
more education generally is! 

 Yes, control them. Alcohol is a toxic, nasty substance with terrible pharmacodynamics and a 
very narrow window of therapeutic effect. Many people struggle with getting the dose right. 
We could legalise marijuana in these areas in stead (in principle I am well aware that in our 
backwards country it remains illegal... Oregon, Colorado, California and many other US 
states have legalised it.) 

 I am aware of drinkers' behaviour after coming out of drinking establishments (night clubs in 
particular) being a concern to local residents. 'Whether there are other spots around the 
town that need adding is something that may need attention. 'Whether this would change 
behaviours is of course another matter 

 I think the controls are fine as they are,' 

 Education and community engagement not penalty fines..... 

 These suggestions depend very much on how responsibibly they are policed. An adult 
enjoying a glass of wine with a picnic in the park is very different from a group of youths 
binge drinking . 

 Required to minimise trouble and maximise health and safety for all concerned. 

 Why is there no Alcohol Control Area on the Hawkenbury Recreation Ground?     This area is 
a magnet for young drinkers, especially around the Hawkenbury Pavilion.  

 This does not cause me a problem personally, but it could be for those using or living 
adjacent to the above areas, so I am open minded on this 

 There are often events in parks and public places which sell alcohol. It isn't a problem unless 
they are disturbing others and provided they dispose of their bottles/cans in bins. I don't 
know why some roads are included and not others - I haven't seen anyone drinking in the 
roads marked. 

 I live a few metres away from Hilbert Rec. There is a lot of evidence that people drink and 
use drugs in this park e.g. beer bottles left around the park and benches. I frequently see 
alcohol bottles left near my house near the Hilbert Rd gates.   

 There is an area adjoining Grosvenor Recreation Ground (between the Lake area and 
Grosvenor Bridge) that should be covered by an alcohol control area. In addition, this out-of-
date map does not cover the reopened Rochdale Road entrance area, which has seating and 
could possibly be attractive to people drinking. 

 This has never affected me. 

 Fine at public events, bar terrace, outside restaurants, but not otherwise. 

 I don't care for public drinking anywhere, but would have concerns that the drinkers will 
relocate to Calverley Grounds or other dark/ill-lit places unlikely to be adequately policed in 
the evening. 

 TN2 Centre (area which is laid out as a patio leading to 3 shops and is down below street 
level but at the access point to the YMCA and the TN2 centre as well as the three shops is 
often used as a street drinkers venue and needs to be added to the alcohol controlled area 

 If i would like to have a picnic in a park or on the common and i can't have a glass of wine or 
a beer that is sad ! People who are getting totally wasted at the same spot every day - that 
should not be allowed . I would support a PSPO for that reason .  

 I think the enforcement of this is difficult. If someone's drinking is not a nuisance, leave 
them be. If they are behaving badly, the powers of taking it from them should be enforced. 

 Why stop at Grosvenor and Hilbert? They should be expanded to include High Brooms 
Playground. 

Page 248

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

19 
 

 These areas are good in principle but how effective are such measures? 

 At present you do not enforce the alcohol ban at Five Ways. Most days there are drinkers 
there. No point having the ban if it is ignored! 

 At present you do not enforce the alcohol ban at Five Ways. Most days there are drinkers 
there. No point having the ban if it is ignored! 

 The whole of Tunbridge Wells Common would benefit from being part of the alcohol control 
zone. 

 If people want to drink they will drink and find a way around it.  Eg putting alcohol in a water 
bottle. 

 Consideration should be given extending the ban to other public spaces such as Woodbury 
Park Cemetery. 

 Will do nothing to solve the problem. 

 For them to be properly enforced we would need a police service with more staff than we 
have currently. It's all very well consulting on and then changing the rules, but if there is 
nobody there to enforce it, it's kind of pointless 

 The area covered in relation to Grosvenor and Hilbert Park should be updated to cover (a) 
the area of the park opened up by the Heritage Lottery Project that is between the Rochdale 
Road entrance and the Hub; and (b) the open space between the park entrance and the 
Camden Road end of the Grosvenor Bridge - ie around the rock sculpture.  There is 
continuing evidence of anti social behaviour in this latter area, with frequent finds of 
multiple discarded cans of alcohol.  

 The measure needs to be enforced to be effective and frankly I don't see much evidence of 
that. 

 The existing alcohol control areas seem to be working ok. 

 I have no experience of people drinking & causing a problem in Tunbridge Wells. If the above 
policy is applied pragmatically I don't see a problem. 

 Should be extended to more areas surrounding as in southbrough they just need to move 1 
road down and they can drink 

 There is also an issue with drinkers carrying on drinking outside establishments like One 
Warwick Park and the bar on the corner or Warwick Park and Nevill Street late at night - 
bottles and glasses are left behind on a Friday, Saturday and Sunday. 

 Virtually ineffective as I for one have never seen a police officer or community support 
officer in Tunbridge Wells 

 I believe the laws work well 

 it seems like common sense 

 Measures in place seem adequate. 

 I think this is a good idea. We have sometimes witnessed people hiding nearby while they 
decant alcoholic drinks into soft drink containers. (We were wondering why a particular 
corner of the garden was a repository of empty cans and bottles.) 

 I am not affected, but appreciate that it can be a problem. The issue of young people 
drinking should be addressed. 

 However the Police should be given the power to use their common sense. It should not be a 
one size fits all policy.  

 There is a need to control anti social behaviour /rowdiness and potential violence that 
impacts on owners and people generally 

 
  

Page 249

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

20 
 

 

 
 
Have your say on begging 
 

 It is wrong to use a fine as a sanction against begging. It will cost the state money to 
enforce it and will not help the problem. Difficult I know but historically there has 
always been this tension between tolerating beggars and penalising them and 
moving them on. Provide more solutions to deal with the symptoms. That is the 
challenge for the council..... not blaming the victims of the policies being pursued by 
central government. 

 unless an acceptable alternative is provided for rough sleepers, I'd rather accept the 
small inconvenience and the unpleasant guilt that I experience from the reminder 
that I have been very fortunate in life. •There but for fortune,go you and I. 

 I dont see the harm people can just walk past beggars. We dont need more laws  get 
rid of the beggars harassing  people by   enforcing current  laws to move them not 
picking on harmless ones ones sitting quietly. 

 More should be done to get these people off the street and into accomodation. 

 I agree that leaving items unsupervised by whomever is totally unacceptable under 
any circumstances and that speaking to people aggresivley is also wrong.  I also think 
that if I were a business owner I would be very perturbed by someone moving their 
personal items and/ or sleeping outside etc. I support measures being put in place to 
stop this, subject as above to sensitivity and the right organisations being involved. 

66% 

26% 

8% 

Measure 2: Do you support the use of a Public Spaces 
Protection Order to deter the unauthorised collecting of 

money in public spaces and address anti-social behaviour 
associated with begging in Tunbridge Wells town centre 

(Map 1)? 

Yes

No

Don't know

Page 250

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

21 
 

Obviously not all homeless people beg and simply must be helped to find 
accomodation. I would also ask about whether penalties can be enforced and 
whether there are resources to enforce fines. I would rather that smokers who drop 
cigarette butts, people who chuck down other litter, and those who park on 
pavements are fined on every occasion.  

 Consider it a minor problem.  

 Again no police prevention 

 It should be an offence which the individuals should be prosecuted. 

 Badly worded question, how would one know the answer unless you either 
witnessed a problem or saw data Would want to see the data on number of times 
the PSPO has had to be invoked before I could make a statement. More regulation is 
not usually the solution - more education generally is! 

 I would include CHUGGING in this (charity collectors) and my answer would then be 
yes. IF you mvoe beggars on you have to give them somewhere to move to though. 
Even chuggers. 

 some of the people who beg for money can be quiet intimidating 

 community engagement not fines 

 I am totally against the fining of anyone under these circunstances, last resort or not. 

 Who would be the ' contracted services' and who would monitor their behaviour and 
training? A number of these individuals on the street are extremely vulnerable and 
find themselves there due to our appauling mental health provision in the area. Are 
the council able to provide more assissted living accommodation where vulnerable 
people can receive somewhere to stay for a reasonable period of time whilst 
receiving help/ counselling  for addressing addictions, mental health problems and 
hopefully receive guidance and support to become a functioning member of the 
community?  

 This is very unfortunate but it has to be looked at to ease this problem. 

 Whilst I agree that begging can be a problem for many of the general public to cope 
with:   a) most people can say "No" b) fining beggars will get the council nowhere (as 
most beggars will not have the money to pay the fine in the first place) and the 
whole process will only cost council taxpayers a great deal of money;  who, on the 
council, thought up this stupid idea? 

 I have not had any problems with beggars. I am concerned that this could be a 
pretext for legalised harassment and forcing people into situations they don't want 
to be in. 

 The people who do this are desperate. No-one wants to be homeless. The benefit 
system is inadequate and housing is impossible in this area unless one has plenty of 
money. Is there room in hostels and would they take dogs? We need much more 
social housing. If the people are causing a disturbance then they should be dealt with 
in a caring manner. 

 But don't just move them on - rather talk to them and escort them to somewhere 
they can get help (with mental health and addictions). 

 Begging is unnecessary totally in the modern civilised UK environment. 

 Giving money to beggars only encourages them.  Most people that beg are not 
homeless. Food given to beggars outside stores is often discarded. Any money 

Page 251

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

22 
 

collected is more likely to be spent on alcohol, tobacco, and drugs. There is help 
available for genuinely homeless people. 

 These people do not cause anyone problems and should not be persecuted.  We 
should be compassionate in our dealings with people less fortunate than ourselves 

 nobody wants to see beggars in their town, I am sure that there are real issues 
regarding their need to beg and receive our care and support.  

 Whilst I appreciate that aggressive begging is offensive and intimidating, some 
people are left in a desperate situation. Constant government cuts to support 
services and benefits leave many "falling through the net". Using PSPOs seems like 
using a sledgehammer to crack a nut. 

 It would be really positive pr for the town to demonstrate constructive support for 
people who often ended up in this position through circumstance.  The beggars do 
not hassle and are always very polite in my experience. 

 No Begging. 

 I don't think that begging should be encouraged but normally beggers are not 
offensive in Tunbridge Wells.  

 This is an eternal blight, although I admit I have bought dog biscuits for the beggars' 
animals in the past.  They can't help belonging to a beggar. 

 They need to be moved on. If it means handing out fines then that is what must 
happen, but they need to be moved on 

 I believe strongly that people should be able to quietly beg, the only sort I have seen, 
and I do like to make a small contribution   

 I don't mind begging . But i would not like to see lots of beggars .  

 Unsightly in Royal Tunbridge Wells, drags the town down 

 I have a great deal of sympathy for people who find themselves homeless through 
no fault of their own but I also find it distasteful to see people lying on the pavement 
or in doorways in daylight hours. This does not encourage businesses in the town.  

 Begging is a social problem which will only increase with  the current trajectory of 
our economic situation in the UK . The homeless are at the bottom of the heap 
which could affect us all . Please do not do this. Put all the support you can into 
affordable housing and jobs. 

 Begging is a problem as it is bad for the town and potentially misleads people with 
the best intentions into accidentally funding drug use. 

 But don't support the issuing of penalties to people who can't afford a roof over 
their head, let alone a pointless fine that everyone knows they cannot pay! Just a 
waste of tax payers money on the admin of issuing the fine and trying to enforce it! 

 I won't go into shops where I have seen people sleeping outside them on filthy 
mattresses or bedding. I also feel intimidated by the aggressive begging - I won't go 
out in the dark in the town now. 

 Passive busking should not be equated with begging 

 It would help if certain organisation did not encourage them.For example the 
refreshments offered in Crescent Road car park 

 Not applicable to Common. 

 There is no need to beg in town as food is provided at lunchtime via the soup bowls 
and in the evening via the street teams, along with toiletries, clothes and sleeping 

Page 252

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

23 
 

bags if urgently needed.  Help is around, but engagement is the problem.  The 
general public don't understand what is being done behind closed doors by the 
council and other organisations. 

 I hope this is a joke. 

 Opinion differs about begging. On the one hand some people who are begging do 
have an immediate need and it is cruel to refuse let alone to use law and order to 
restrict their requests for help. On the other hand it is clear that some money that is 
begged end up being spent on alcohol or drugs. I think that it should only be 
constrained when it is aggressive and in which case it may constitute an offence 
already. One problem in all this is the shortage of police who have the obvious 
power to move someone on ro talk them into quitter behaviour. I do not think 
orders stemming from a local council are the right method. 

 If beggars are to be banned in this way other support services will be required and it 
is difficult to see how the Borough can afford this now that it has committed to the 
new Civic Centre and Theatre. 

 i would also like to see some support for the people who are being targeted by this 
measure - if their home is the Jacques Vert doorway, and we PSPO it, then what is 
the person we have fined/moved on meant to do?  We need solutions to the 
problem, not just measures to stop it happening in specific locations. 

 We do not see current evidence of any need to include Grosvenor & Hilbert Park in 
the designated area(s) where begging/unauthorised collection would be controlled 
by PSPO. 

 People are begging because they are in need.  The services offered need to be a 
viable alternative so that people do not have to beg.  Many are not capable of 
engaging with the benefits system for example.  The mere fact that you state you 
will fine people - whether the power intended to be used sympathetically or not 
shows an uncaring approach to human beings in crisis.  If there were a day-centre in 
the town where people could access food and other help then you could argue that 
no one would have a need to beg, but currently this is not the case. 

 I still don't like the idea of fixed penalties though and more support for these people 
should be given by the Council including supporting charities like the Bridge Trust for 
the homeless 

 We have to be careful here. People that are have a genuine need and whilst it is 
claimed in the narrative above that passive begging will be tolerated to a point if the 
PSPO is in place to prevent begging will passive begging be treated in the same way 
as the aggressive approach that some people that are homeless employ? I am also 
uncomfortable about the use of contractors as enforcement officers - they will need 
to be kept under close scrutiny and be expected to operate against a code of 
conduct. Sellers of The Big Issue should not be considered as beggars.    

 Again I think it is a matter of being proportionate. I disapprove of "aggressive" 
begging. I am not bothered about "passive" begging. 

 I'm curious to know what drives the increase in begging & homelessness & the action 
the council/government has in place to address this. Surely its useless issuing penalty 
notices & fines to homeless people who have no home or ability to pay. This is 
immoral & shameful. When the council has sufficient housing & support services for 

Page 253

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

24 
 

these people, then it would more appropriate to issue penalty notice & fines. Let's 
deal with the cause not the symptom. 

 Do not persecute people who are already desperate 

 If people leaving their belongings lying around is an issue, can the council offer 
secure lockers that homeless people can access 24 hours a day? 

 Some of these people are not genuinely in need and are using it as a way of getting 
money from people that feel sorry for them. 

 It would be better to follow Liverpool and provide services for these poor souls. 
There must be at least hall/building where they can sleep at night and relax in safety 
in Tunbridge Wells? 

 Sadly this does need to be managed, and I feel it's done in a sensitive way. 

 It seems like a good idea as long as support is provided to those affected and they're 
not just moved along. 

 absolutely not.  Waste funding on penalising the vulnerable?  Far better to offer 
funding for compassionate and caring services.  The imposed austerity has caused so 
many problems.  Maybe if the Council used money more appropriately it could help 
rather than hinder. Would much rather see the civic building money used to help 
those in need. 

 I think that there are some 'professionals' at work  - this was particularly noticeable 
at Christmas. The bulk of beggars though are probably in need of help. 

 Contrary to what is claimed above, begging and rough sleeping were exceptional in 
the past. The increase has been driven by government policies on housing and 
benefits. This is a national issue which will not be solved by criminalising people on 
the street.  If rough sleepers are to be moved on, does the Council provide 
accommodation and proper support to address their problems? If not, then this 
proposal could be viewed under certain circumstances as the licenced harassment of 
disadvantaged people. Present support seems to rely on volunteers picking up the 
pieces. I am absolutely against the use of contractors to deal with people with social 
and psychological problems. We have seen the consequences of this in prisons and 
immigration control. Services should be provided by individuals employed by and 
directly accountable to the Council, or approved voluntary organisations if they are 
willing. The Government and the Council should be asking why we have got into this 
situation, and looking to deal with the causes along with the symptoms. The problem 
needs more than initiatives by individual LA's, especially if these simply result in the 
individuals moving on to do the same somewhere else. 

 But if people choose to give without being asked then this is up to them. There 
should also be a three strikes system of some kind to avoid the persecution of the 
truly impoverished.  

 This is not the right way to collect money for causes  
 
  

Page 254

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

25 
 

 

 
 
Have your say on our dog fouling measures 
 

 As a dog owner there is no excuse for not picking up poop 

 Dog fouling is a different issue that should be dealt with. I agree that anyone seen allowing a 
dog to foul without clearing it up should be sanctioned.  

 Most definitively, yes please. It is sad that when walking with children, the ground in front of 
them has to be constantly monitored. And amazing "past time" activity of walking through 
the autumn leaves is out of question!   

 I thought TWBC already imposed higher fines for dog mess than for dropping chewing gum. 
One can be washed away, the other needs specialist contractors to remove. I always pick up 
my dog's faeces, though it is more difficult to find a small dog's excreta in autumn if TWBC 
doesn't clear the leaves in the park. Thank Goodness for iPhone torches!   

 I agree leaving dog mess is unpleasant and anti social but enforcing current laws would solve 
problem. Not increasing fines   

 Increase the maximum fine even further. 

84% 

13% 
3% 

Measure 3: While not clearing up after a dog is already against the 
law there is a higher penalty for littering than dog fouling. This order 
will increase the charge associated with fixed penalty notices for dog 

fouling within the borough 

Yes

No

Don't know

Page 255

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

26 
 

 i have been a dog owner and believe that even picking up the faeces leaves a residue on the 
grass that could be picked up by anyone playing sport on the same area. 

 Support enforcement 

 how will this be patrolled? 

 Of course we should be encouraging dog owners to clean up after their pets, but I live in 
Hawkenbury and walk my dog regularly on the Rec and associated sports fields and woods 
everyday. I consider the park and rec ground clean and full responsible dog owners who as a 
community care for and look after the grounds. The very useful dog nappy sacks are always 
full and there for everyone to use. I find it extremely hard to believe that dog walking in this 
area in particular has been considered or labelled anti-social when in fact it is quite the 
opposite. especially when the council are proposing pump tracks and bmx tracks which 
would only encourage and further exasperate what is ACTUALLY the problem of kids of all 
ages hiding in corners, drinking and smoking in the very same grounds.  This proposal needs 
to be carefully considered as it is entirely backward!!   

 You are penalising the majority of responsible dog owners who clear up their dogs 
defecates. It is a few irresponsible dog owners that need to be fined. A blanket ban on dog 
walkers in  . parks and play areas it not the answer. 

 Don't know how you would enforce this unless you employ people to go round the parks. If 
there are laws why not apply them rather than enact new ones 

 All good dog owners clean up after themselves. 

 Almost all dog owners 'responsible and pick up after their dogs 

 i have two dogs and always clear up after them, and on the whole I think most people do, 

 I feel that this penalty should be as high as is lawful. However it needs to be implemented in 
an effective manner as will only be useful as a deterrent if it is actively employed. 

 I feel in this instance education would be more appropriate than fining. 

 The Council have to bring in a Protection order the same as Schools have adopted to stop 
dogs being allowed on playing fields where children and adults play sport.  This would 
include the Nevill and the other local sports grounds. It is a severe health risk if this is not 
prevented.  There are plenty of alternative areas where dog owners can walk their dogs and 
where the safety of individuals is not put at so much risk such as dog parks or designated 
woods. 

 How do you propose policing this in areas outside the town? 

 Responsible owners should clean up after their dogs 

 Definitely. 

 Whether you leave the fine the same or increase the charge it doesn't matter unless you 
patrol and issue the fixed fines.  If this was already carried out this consult wouldn't be 
necessary to look at banning dogs from certain places.  Also putting up more 
obvious/thought provoking signs re. dog fouling/fines would be more of a deterrent.  I've 
seen a programme about this where a council put up different signs and it reduced the 
incidence of fouling/not clearing up considerably. 

 There is already a law to deal with this but I never hear of it being enforced 

 Some tolerance should a person genuinely miss picking up after their dog, if they can 
provide character witnesses to say they normally do. 

 The level of fines is far too low; £100 is not a deterrent - suggest you look at £500 instead. 

 Dogs should not be allowed in parks and playing fields where children play. It is simply a 
health risk and disgusting to boot. 

 As above.  Dog muck may contaminate hands and, even more so, a cricket ball which is 
handled by each eleven.  

 Stepping in dog mess is disgusting and extremely annoying for the person concerned. 

Page 256

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

27 
 

 How would you like it if your 11 year old slides to field a cricket ball through a pile of dog 
mess 

 Irresponsible owners should not ruin spaces for others.  

 There are still far too many dog owners who set out on a daily basis on a 'toilet trip' with no 
intention of cleaning up after the animal defecates. 

 I always pick up after my dog but I have been known to forget to take a bag with me. You 
cannot rely on the bags being available in the parks as the dispensers are often empty 

 This is a major problem and needs to be sorted out 

 There is no excuse for dog-fouling it is one of the many serious responsibilities of dog 
owners. As a parent who frequently uses Hilbert Rec / Grosvenor Park I would welcome any 
fryer deterrent. I am generally satisfied that most dog owners use the park responsibly.  

 Unhealthy, liable to pick up bacteria  

 Use Traffic wardens to clear it up and fine culprits. 

 With a higher penalty applied there should be more facilities available to dispense poo bags 
and more closed-in litter bins to deposit full bags. 

 I have to clear up after my dog so don't see why others shouldn't, although I have seen 
plenty who pretend not to notice. 

 Being a dog owner (responsible) I use what is best described as a 'grabber'... being disabled I 
use a mobility scooter and walk my St Bernard dog in various parts of Tunbridge Wells and 
Sherwood area. I am un able to get of the scooter unaided other then to be transferred to 
my power wheelchair. I still do my best to clean up using the grabber from the sitting 
position on the scooter. I put the dog mess in a plastic bag and dispose of in one of the red 
bins or at home.There has been the odd time I was not aware that the dog had done 
anything in the roadway which I have to often use due to the cars parked on the pavement. 
Such as the dog mess is not able to be picked up due to the consistency. But I do carry water 
on the scooter to try and wash down the mess. Being given a heavier fine will not make me 
do any more than I do now. So a fine is not the answer. there is not enough dog bag 
machines and those that are there are often empty. (Not filled up often enough).  

 effective gentle persuasion is needed , I doubt if this is this. peoples mania on this should not 
be encouraged. 

 While many dog owners are responsible there are still sadly many that are not. I have seen 
instances of dog fouling on playing fields and pitches that are regularly used by children for 
sport. Even enclosed pitches on private school grounds that are used for sport. (Skinners 
Southfields) . Public grounds such as The Nevill Cricket Ground are blighted by dog fouling. It 
is a great shame for the responsible dog walkers that others cause players to have to walk 
the pitch before games (or youth evenings where 150+ kids are there ) to clear up the 
weekly disgusting amount of dog faeces.  I support increases in penalties because it will 
reach the irresponsible owners only. Better still please exclude dogs from the pitches.  

 Its getting all a bit serious with the dog poo . Yes pick it up if its in town centre but not in 
woods or on the common . Plastic poo bags on trees is not a great sight. 

 I often clear dog shit bags fron the public footpath through Camden Park. It is a disgusting 
job which I would much rather not do.  

 Dog fouling is a real public nuisance and I support the counmcil on this one 

 Yes as it can cause a health hazard to adults and children alike. 

 This has increased markedly recently - personally I think £100 is insufficient.  But what is 
even more important is that it is enforced, and publicised that enforcement has happened. 

 I often see dog owners clearing up after their dogs.  Good social behaviour.  But it is very 
disappointing when others, who are clearly less community minded do not clear up after 
their dogs.  They should be made to do so. 

Page 257

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

28 
 

 As a dog owner, I find it abhorrent that anyone would consider leaving their dog's mess, and 
therefore fully support the penalty for non-removal of dog mess. I don't agree with the 
blanket banning of dogs from certain areas though! 

 Guilty dog owners act with impunity as they see little risk of being 
apprehended.  Enforcement is as important as is regulation  

 The order should apply to all public places in the borough - especially on main walking routes 
to schools e.g. round High Brooms Station and St Matthews Primary. 

 I believe that the campaign to get dog owners to clear up after their pets has been 
successful helped in no small measure by the multiple poo bag dispensers around the 
borough. However as a regular user of the Grove, litter appears to be a bigger problem and 
how do you propose to combat the use of the Grove's adjacent back alleys as a human 
toilet! 

 This is a persistent problem on the paths of the Common. Enforcement officers rarely patrol 
the Common. 

 If you have a dog, clear up after it , its not rocket science 

 It would appear that this protection order is in excuse to try and remove normal acceptable 
social behaviours because a couple of dog poo is happened and picked up. Dogs have lived 
with a man for thousands of years they provide comfort For the lonely in particular the 
elderly,security, Joy to their owners another people around them, and teach children how to 
behind behave kindly to animals but also this impacts on how they behave kindly to each 
other. The people living in the centre of the town who don"t have vehicle access turning so 
many sites for dog walking would distinctly alter the environment and community that we 
live within.  

 i am a responsible dog owner. 

 Yes dog poo is a bit disgusting, but after a few days it biodegrades away. Human litter on the 
other hand is normally plastic/metal and will typically last for decades (unless removed). I 
therefore believe human littering is a far worse crime as the damage is vastly more long 
term. 

 Dogs are unsuited to urban settings. If owners had to restrict their soiling to their own 
gardens they would appreciate the long term damage they inflict on the health and safety of 
people using parks and streets. 

 I support controls against irresponsible dog owners  

 I have been asked as the Chairman of the Tunbridge Wells RFC Limited Company to respond 
specifically on the Club/Company view on this topic. We are a Sports Club with some 700 
youngsters from the age of 6-18 using the sports pitches for Rugby at St Marks. Over 160 
adults also use these pitches for Rugby purposes. In addition in the Summer over 100 
youngsters and 30 adults use the pitches for cricket. Community activities for Primary 
Schools and for local businesses also take place and include cross country, tag rugby and 
cricket. We have liaised with the Council to try and reduce the amount of dog fouling at our 
ground. We have notices supplied to encourage owners to keep dogs on leads in order for 
them to be aware when their dog defecates and are therefore able to remove from Sports 
playing areas and the grass in general. The majority comply but a large minority refuse to 
have their dogs on leads or pay attention to what their dogs are doing. At the beginning of 
the 2017-18 season the Club cleared up 65 different dog faeces from the playing areas. A 
week later the exercise was repeated and another 35 were removed from land owned by 
the Council and the Club. In October a First XV League game against Hertford was halted by 
the Match official on two separate occasions to remove dog faeces from the pitch. Dog 
faeces on Sports Playing areas are a serious health problem. Recently a player at 
Crowborough RFC suffered a very serious eye infection diagnosed as being caused by dog 
faeces. We owe it to our players young and old to ensure we do not suffer the same 

Page 258

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

29 
 

experience. For this reason we support a ban on dogs being exercised anywhere on the 
playing area. 

 Dog fouling is again increasing in Warwick Park, upper and lower Neville cricket grounds. 

 Make it higher than £100. Make it £1000. Make it £2000. It needs to be a proper 
deterent.  But again, this is pointless without some kind of enforcement. How are you going 
to make this measure anything other than an exercise in admin for the person changing the 
signs/paperwork to read £100? The other measures talk about who is going to do the 
enforcement - who is going to do this one? And while we're at it - double the fine for the 
people who think that putting it in a bag and leaving it in the street/path/park is better than 
just leaving it. What about some kind of DNA testing? Create a database of dogs in the 
council area and test any matter found on the paths/parks. 
https://www.ibdna.com/tests/dog-poop-dna-testing/ for example 

 We do support the proposal to increase fine for failure to clear up after dog fouling, but 
think that, for consisency, the fine should be aligned with the fine for littering. Ultimately, 
however, publicised evidence of enforcement is likely to make more difference to dog 
fouling and other littering than the size of the fine. 

 As a dog owner who always clears up after us we totally agree with this. For the parks 
mentioned below there should be more enforcement without the banning of dogs which is 
clearly against the community as a whole 

 I have a dog and I am incensed by people who leave the dog poo bag hanging off of fences, 
trees, etc. I would rather they let the dog foul and flick the mess into the bushes although 
that is still not acceptable. The level of fines should be higher than £100 and if someone is 
caught leaving the poo bag behind then the fine should be at least £200. Other than 
children's play areas dog walkers should not be restricted from walking their dogs on any 
public space. More bins are needed and as has been a theme in my response better 
enforcement. The latter is the elephant in the room as I don't believe the Council can afford 
the necessary resource to effectively enforce PSPOs. Perhaps a dog license should be 
introduced to help fund the enforcement of dog fouling through education and 
campaigning?  

 Existing measures should be adequate. People should clean up if their dog fouls! Dog bins 
and plastic bags should be available, then there is no excuse for not cleaning up.   

 I have 2 dogs & accept my responsibility to have sufficient poo bags so I'm able to clear up 
after my dog. 

 Please focus on dog fouling and not on restricting access to responsible dog owners.  There 
is just no policing of littering and fouling and there needs to be more people around who can 
fine offenders. The park wardens and gardeners need to have the authority to fine someone. 
Could traffic wardens have a wider remit in this area for fouling on the street. We need 
more signs up warning people of their social responsibility in this regard.  More naming and 
shaming of offenders. 

 I have a dog myself but banning all dogs from certain areas will only result in more fouling on 
the streets. The people who don't clear up after their dogs are the ones that will let them 
foul anywhere. There should be bigger fines and more dog bins to stop people leaving Poo 
bags in the verges which is nearly as bad as not clearing up. 

 It is revolting and should not be tolerated. 

 Particular concern for children 

 I believe fouling is a worse offence than even littering 

 Dog fouling has the same consequences as littering but with additional hygiene 
considerations. It 'should' be a greater offence to cause dog fouling than littering. 

 There seems to be more littering not just fouling in and around high brooms now. Something 
needs to be done including clamping down on the local businesses. 

Page 259

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

30 
 

 keep raising fines!  But have more staff to enforce it. 

 I have a dog and always pick up after it. I have on occasion encouraged others not doing so 
to also. A higher penalty for not picking up is a good idea but always difficult to police. 
Maybe more cctv with a name and shame policy for those being anti social.  

 When you get a dog you make a comment to look after it, this is part of it.  

 Dog fouling The Kennel Club strongly promotes responsible dog ownership, and believes 
that dog owners should always pick up after their dogs wherever they are, including fields 
and woods in the wider countryside, and especially where farm animals graze to reduce the 
risk of passing Neospora and Sarcocystosis to cattle and sheep respectively. We would like to 
take this opportunity to encourage the local authority to employ further proactive measures 
to help promote responsible dog ownership throughout the local area in addition to 
introducing Orders in this respect. These proactive measures can include: increasing the 
number of bins available for dog owners to use; communicating to local dog owners that 
bagged dog poo can be disposed of in normal litter bins; running responsible ownership and 
training events; or using poster campaigns to encourage dog owners to pick up after their 
dog. 

 As a member of the cricket club at the Nevill and now captain of the 1st team it is not 
appropriate to allow dogs on grassed areas within the ground where children and adults play 
cricket and other games.  Dog fouling has sadly got worse over recent years and it is 
unacceptable when there are other dog walking areas within the community and the risk to 
health is significant.    

 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 260

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

31 
 

 

 
 
Have your say on our dog fouling measure (means to pick up faeces) 
 

 Most dog owners or walkers have poo bags  

 I agree with removing the defence but don't agree with stopping and questioning about 
whether someone has enough bags on them to pick up the results of fouling. This could be 
seen to be harrassment of individuals like 'stop and search'. 

 Although there might be dreaded poo bags hanging from the branches... 

 It sounds like "stop and search"•! What a waste of limited resources! Does TWBC really have 
everything else so orderly that it can employ people to interrogate dog owners about the 
number of poo bags they are carrying? This would amount to harassment, and of course 
those employees enforcing it would inevitably pick out easy targets, women who look 
€œrespectable€• with unthreatening dogs. I already feel discrimination coming on. 

 That is just big brother victimising  ordinary people with dogs with  stop and search instead 
of catching offenders who do not clear up after their dogs and fining them. 

 Dogs should be banned totally on sports grounds. 

 Also should be expected to take the bag away with them and not drop it in local residents 
bins. 

 as above 

 See previous response  

82% 

15% 
3% 

Measure 4: Do you support the use of a Public Spaces 
Protection Order within the borough of Tunbridge Wells to 
compel dog owners or dog walkers to carry with them the 
means to pick up after their dog has fouled public land? 

Yes

No

Don't know

Page 261

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

32 
 

 Do not penalise the many when the few irresponsible dog owners are at fault. Most dog 
walkers carry bags to clear up after their dog has defecated. 

 Once again, increasing the number of laws but not actually enforcing the ones you have is 
not good. how would you check if someone has the means to pick up dog mess. what 
happens if they refuse to show you?   

 Are you going to start stop and searching people walking their dogs for plastic bags? Seems a 
bit draconian. 

 I do always bring a poo bag to clear up after my dog but being compelled to bring one by law 
is a step too far.  

 Every dog owner must have the means about their person to pick up after their dog 

 I still think Dog poo bags should be in every park and regularly filled up and plenty of bins to 
put them in. 'But having said that, Dog poo breaks down into the ground, plastic bags of dog 
poo don't 

 community engagement not fines 

 This is potentialy an excellent rule as it would be easier to enforce. However there needs to 
be clear definitions about what acts as a 'reasonable excuse'. 

 If the dog owner makes an effort to return to the site having found a suitable means to pick 
up that should be acceptable If the dog owners excuse seems reasonable. The most 
responsible dog owners can be caught out occasionally. 

 Dog Owners have to be responsible for their dogs.  Howvere to minimise this problem the 
Council have to prevent dogs being allowed on any sports ground as I have mentioned which 
is the policy of all schools in this area. 

 I have no problem with using a PSPO to enforce dog owners/walkers to pick up their dog's 
faeces and to carry with them the means to do so but how do you measure how many poo-
bags are "enough"/!!   For goodness sake, try not to be too prescriptive ...! 

 How many bags will someone be expected to carry. There will be anomalies, where for 
instance someone without a bag, or having used a bag is walking towards a bag dispenser. 
The innocent will find themselves having to prove their innocence. Unworkable. 

 All responsible dog owners carry dog poop bags but to have bins around sports 
fields/communal areas (which are kept filled!) helps in case of issues (bags lost en-
route/wind blows away/used too many for whatever reason).  A combined effort from the 
council and owners who may not be as responsible would help solve this problem.  I don't 
think this would be easy to patrol and the first thing to concentrate on is patrolling and 
fining people who don't clear up if their dogs fouls. 

 Most responsible dog owners do this already 

 Some tolerance if someone genuinely forgot to bring bags if can provide character witnesses 
to say they normally carry bags. 

 Ban dogs from Nevil Ground. 

 it is essential that there is no dog foul on all areas where sport is played and children play 
dogs should be banned from these areas 

 Enforcement officers at all sports facilities on an irregular basis 

 Entirely measured and reasonable proposals. 

 It is so easy to forget a bag and then there not be one available in the dispenser. I would be 
very upset if, on the one occasion I didn't have a bag with me, I was prosecuted and treated 
like a criminal 

 However, Dogs should not be allowed to run free over cricket pitches 

 Responsible owners should do this as a matter of course 

 There are rarely bags available for picking up so have to rely on people being organised and 
not caught out by their dogs sometimes unpredictable behaviour. 

Page 262

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

33 
 

 within reason.if he or she has just used two bags, but the dog is not well? 

 Most responsible dog owners already do so. 

 more available poo bag dispensers should be installed to help public become aware of the 
requirement of picking up their dogs' faeces. 

 I carry multiple bags with me, but what happens if the dog is unwell and several bags are 
used on the same journey and one is then stopped when one's supply has run low.  An 
enforcement officer would have no way of knowing whether the excuse it legitimate or not. 

 most responsible dog owners have bags with them and do clean up. fines are not the 
answer, better education rather than threats of bigger fines. Worried council will use this as 
a cash generation cow. 

 a good supply of bags is needed.i doubt the presence of"an authorised officer" at the 
appropriate time.A quiet word seems best. I dont want too much "ordering about". 

 Yes - "I haven't any bags today" is no excuse. Also parking up, opening a car door, letting the 
dog out to foul and then calling the dog back to the car is to use our recreation grounds and 
pitches as dog toilets! Most owners are responsible but clearly not all. 

 see above 

 Dog owners should be responsible for their dogs. 

 I support this only to the extent that failing to have the means of do so is not an excuse for 
failing to clean up.  I don't see failing to have equipment which is not required as something 
that should be peanalised. 

 Obviously.  They would be unable to clear up if they do not have the bag to do so. 

 This should be tempered with the provision of suitable means to entrances to our parks (as 
is already largely the case).  Dog owners should also be held accountable for disposing of 
their pets faeces in either the available public space rubbish bins or in their own personal 
rubbish bins.  As residents who are required to leave their bins in a public space, dog owners 
who choose to dump their dogs faeces in other peoples private bins should be in violation of 
this regulation and be subject to the same penalties.  

 This smacks of stop and search! Agreed penalise a person caught not picking up their dog's 
mess or dropping litter, both are unlawful. 

 There are dog bag dispensers at all main entrances to the Common. 

 Within reason, you may have run out of bags.  Have dog poo bags available in areas that are 
renowned for dog mess. 

 As a dog owner, I would definitely encourage Penalties for allowing your dog to file any of 
our surroundings. I think banning dogs from beautiful parks and Tunbridge Wells is taking a 
sledgehammer to crack a nut. It penalises dog owners are penalises the dogs. However I do 
believe the dog owners should be penalised if they do not pick up the dogs mess. It is 
equivalent of dropping rubbish and not picking it up another thing that should be considered 
if we are going to put this penalty on dog fouling 

 i am a responsible dog owner. 

 Just daft. 1) how are you going to police this? Randomly stop and search people with dogs?! 
Do the council really have nothing better to do (and the spare resources to do this)? 2) as 
this realistically won't be policed, all it achieves is anger those reading it. 3) as dog owners 
will never get caught, hence never fined, you're purely relying on their goodwill to collect 
the dog's mess. 4) the more you alienate them with daft unenforcable laws against them, 
the less goodwill they will have. 5) having a dog poo bag on you and using a dog poo bag to 
collect your dog's poo are two separate things. 

 The above is alright providing that the power is not to be used to require a dog owner to 
prove that s/he has the "means" before their dog has fouled. In other words it should not be 
like a "sus" law where the owner is stopped although no offence has been caused. 

Page 263

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

34 
 

 I believe this is highly unlikely to be effective without very heavy handed enforcement. The 
vast majority of dog owners are responsible and those that are not are unlikely to respond 
to a fine which they are unlikely to pay. If it were to be introduced it would place a much 
greater emphasis on restocking bag dispensers at entry points to parks, sports grounds and 
other areas. 

 If walking a dog I feel they should have bags to pick up the faeces 

 Yes, and easier to enforce I guess. Fines need to be high to put people off not caring.  It's a 
good idea to force people to be prepared, but they also need to be made to take action once 
the excrement is on the ground.  And bagging it and leaving it is not good enough. 

 This proposal led to considerable debate in our Committee. There was a strong view that 
responsible dog walkers should, and would, have the means to pick up faeces. The majority 
favoured the proposed provision.  However, on the other hand it was noted that the stated 
reason for the proposal - ie removal of the defence of not having the means for removal - 
could be met more directly by a provision such as that used by Surrey Heath Borough 
Council: €œNot having a device for or suitable means of removing the faeces shall not be a 
reasonable excuse for failing to remove it.€•  It is a pity that the consultation did not explain 
more clearly how it is envisaged that the proposed provision would be used.  For example, is 
it envisaged that people known or suspected of offending on previous occasions would be 
challenged to produce means of removing faeces, on occasions before their dog had actually 
fouled. 

 I am not sure how this would work as a dog owner might have used 3 bags and run out at a 
time of being questioned how would this be catered for? 

 Some issues will arise with this as people will genuinely forget the bags. 

 Existing measures should be adequate. People should clean up if their dog fouls! Dog bins 
and plastic bags should be available, then there is no excuse for not cleaning up. 

 It's not possible to "deter dog fouling", rather ensure owners clear any fouling!! 

 I broadly approve of this, but it is also important to make sure that if there are public bins 
that carry bags, then these are always full.  Either take the public supply away so it is entirely 
the responsibility of the dog owner so if they are caught out it is their fault, or have a 
constant supply. 

 I feel there should be more dog bins and dogs should have to wear an ID tag. 

 It is all so subjective. As I said before I have been here 12 years and never yet seen a 
policeman/woman on the beat 

 Particular concern for children 

 Everyone who owns a dog should always carry the means to clear up 

 Silly, if my dog has just had a dump I won't be needing another bag but I may not have 
another empty bag with me.  If I've already put his job in the dog poo bin I no longer have 
the proof I've already picked it up.  Little Hitler wardens would have a field day picking on 
innocent people. 

 Given the previously stated idea about dog fouling being worse than littering, if a person 
doesn't have the means to pick up any mess left behind they should obviously be treated 
very similarly to as if the 'crime' had already been committed. 

 But TWBC needs to do more with placing bins and dog fouling bags in high dog walking areas 
- there have been numerous complaints made about them always being empty around High 
brooms and there only being one ? On the small grass "recreation". Ground to the top of 
woodland road/close 

 The council should also provide bags for such purpose in case someone has inadvertently 
forgotten.  

Page 264

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

35 
 

 Unworkable. What about the dog owner who has used up bag supply and is walking to 
dispenser to get more? What if dispensers are empty? 

 Dog fouling - requirement to be in possession of means to pick up Whilst the Kennel Club 
supports proactive efforts on behalf of local authorities to encourage responsible dog 
ownership and to ensure that those who are not picking up after their dogs are brought to 
book, this has to be fair and proportionate and we would not like to see responsible dog 
owners penalised unfairly. The Kennel Club has concerns over proposals to introduce an 
offence of not having the means to pick up. Responsible owners will usually have dog waste 
bags or other means to clear up after their pets but we do have some concerns, for example 
if dog owners are approached at the end of a walk and have already used the bags that they 
have taken out for their own dog, or given a spare bag to someone who has run out, a 
behaviour that is encouraged by Green Dog Walker schemes. Furthermore it is perfectly 
plausible that these proposals in certain circumstances would perversely incentivise dog 
walkers not to pick up after their dog. Should a dog walker on witnessing their dog fouling 
realise they are down to their final poo bag (or other receptacle), they will be forced into a 
decision of whether to use the bag and risk being caught without means to pick up, or risk 
not picking up in order to retain a means to pick up should they be stopped later on their 
walk. It is perfectly reasonable to assume that a proportion of dog walkers would choose the 
second option if they thought this was the least likely route to being caught. Especially if the 
penalty for not picking up was the same as not having means to pick up. Local authorities 
may wish to consider introducing a clause which provides an exemption for dog walkers who 
have run out of bags, but can prove that they were in possession of and made use of bags 
(or other suitable receptacle) during their walk. If such a measure is introduced it is essential 
that an effective communication campaign is launched in the local area to ensure that 
people are aware of the plans and have an excess supply of dog waste bags with them, so 
that it is the right people who are getting caught. Additionally, appropriate signage should 
be erected to inform those who are not familiar with the local rules are not unfairly caught 
out. We are also concerned how easily local authorities could enforce this law when trying 
to define whether or not dog owners have ‘a means’ of picking up after the dogs, without 
risking the expense of legal challenge. In the absence of poo bags owners trying to flout the 
law could theoretically point to any number of items on their person that they intend to use, 
so we think that the most effective spot checks you can carry out are those that catch 
offenders in the act of not picking up, rather than second guessing behaviours on the basis 
of what they are or are not carrying with them. Alternatively, to avoid a fine an irresponsible 
owner could simply tie one bag to his or her dog’s lead or collar but never actually use it. 
Cornwall council considered introducing a means to pick up order but subsequently decided 
against it as they deemed it to be disproportionate and concluded that the requirement 
would be ‘toothless’, as it would be highly unlikely to be enforceable in a magistrates court. 
Please see the attached Cornwall Council report for more details. If the Council proceeds to 
introduce such a measure it is essential it provides greater clarity to dog walkers on how to 
comply with the Order. 

 The number of owners who do not carry bags is concerning and this has to be policed better 
to provide for a safe and healthy environment for all users  

 

 
 
 

 
  

Page 265

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

36 
 

 

 
 
Have your say on dog exclusion areas 
 

 dogs should not be allowed in gated children play areas. as a dog owner , I'm amazed at how 
underused the parks in T wells are . we bring an element of safety to these parks regularly 
walking our dogs at various times. The non dog owners enjoy seeing the dogs and it helps 
continue a sense of community . Yes that word  community. i hear haw may fall under some 
dog banning order- to protect sports  who play on a small section once a week. banning dogs 
will turn parks into  no go areas for children. What will the elderly do ? Will we have to walk 
our dogs on the streets!   

 Regarding The Grove there are notices which say that dogs should be on leads.  If dogs are 
allowed to run wild in this area the owner may be unaware that their dog has fouled.  Most 
dog owners respect the restriction but a few do not.  Pointing it out to these ones is met 
with a shrug of the shoulders.  More active enforcement is required. 

 I was pleased when i saw the new notices at St Mark's on dogs with leads but people ignore 
it and dogs still jump up me 

 I think this is a very bad idea. I live next to Hawkenbury recreation ground and take my dog 
on walks there all the time. Implementing this measure would have a very negative impact 
on the community as a whole as we would be without A park. 

 The terminology "dog exclusion areas"• is too broad and subject to misuse and extension 
beyond those three areas you mention, without further consultation. Those of us who have 
the fortune, or misfortune, to live in central Tunbridge Wells, do not have the luxury of 

47% 

47% 

6% 

Measure 5: Do you support the use of a Public Spaces 
Protection Order to exclude dog owners or dog walkers 

from entering public spaces designated as “dog exclusion 
areas”? 

Yes

No

Don't know

Page 266

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

37 
 

gardens, so we rely on public spaces for exercising our dogs and ourselves. This keeps us 
oldies fit and healthy and gives us a social circle, so we don't become a burden to anyone for 
longer. Dogs are not the problem in this borough, it's motorists. 

 Dog exclusion areas are very negative and anti social thing. Just today on Sky news was 
report which said owning and exercising dogs cut cardiovascular diseases by 35% as well as 
decreasing loneliness and prolonging life in older people. Taking away areas where they can 
exercise their dogs will lead to more isolation more illness which in turn places more strain 
on NHS and mental health services as well as leading to more people dying younger. 

 All these areas and their entrances MUST be signposted large by TWBC as as a DOG 
EXCLUSION area. 

 Need to be monitored to make sure the exclusion is adherrred to. 

 agree 

 Hawkenbury has clearly marked and controlled areas already. Sensible areas such as the 
MUGA and the children's play area. To inforce this on the general park and sports fields 
would not only be extremely difficult to control and enforce, not practical and most 
importantly entirely unwarranted. It would cause a lot of hassle for a what is currently a very 
friendly and close knit community of dog walkers. 

 You are penalising the many instead of the few careless dog owners. 

 Happy to Exclude the Childrens play area. But once again, why do you not simply enforce the 
laws we have. No need to create exclusion areas, simply get a few enforcement officers to 
apply the law. 

 Is this a significant problem? Surely the problem isnt the dog but the owner who doesnt 
clean up?  

 We should be allowing dogs into more places not less. Deal with the real issue which is dog 
fouling. Don't ban all dogs just because of a few irresponsible dog owners. In fact could I use 
this consultation to request a permanent agility facility for dogs at Hawkenbury using 
outdoor equipment such as this: http://www.byoplayground.com/dog-agility-equipment 
The dogs ( and owners ) would have such fun!! 

 Children's play areas should be fenced off from the rest of the park. Dogs should be allowed 
to be walked in all open spaces provided they are kept on a lead when required to do so. 
Hawkenbury recreational ground should not have any exclusions as it is used mainly by 
children using the play are and dog walkers in the rest of the park. Football is played just 
once a week but the majority of park users walk their dogs daily. It is rare to see mess that 
has not been picked up and I for one will also pick up a stray poo should I find one! 

 Most people clear up after their dogs in these areas anyway, and would not dream of letting 
their dog poo in a sports area or child's play area, Many people walk their dogs in the parks 
it is a lovely sociable thing to do, what will the council do about foxes (which if you walk at 
night) are all over the parks in quiet large numbers, and nobody can do anything about their 
mess. 

 DO NOT introduce this ban on St Marks, Nevill other parks.  The vast majority of people who 
walk their dogs who use these areas pick up their dog mess.  A ban will only penalise those 
people. 

 Whilst I would support excluding dogs from children's play areas I strongly object to 
excluding them from the Nevill Ground. If there are no cricket/hockey matches being played 
and if dog owners can be fined for not clearing up faeces then I can see no reason why 
people should be excluded from walking dogs on this land. 

 I am strongly argueing against the banning of dogs from these public spaces. This is as 
someone who uses these facilities responsibly along with the great majority of other dog 
walkers. I am also a parent of children who use these grounds for sporting use, where the 
ability to share time as a family, along with pet dogs is strongly part of the culture and 

Page 267

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

38 
 

dynamic of family sporting events. I have also been involved with organising sporting events 
at St Marks and had to personally pick up after less responsible dog owners so whilst I have 
every sympathy with the problem of dog fouling I feel implementing a ban at this point is 
excessive and unjust. There needs to be more effort to implement other measures such as 
those suggested earlier before a complete ban is considered. These spaces are publically 
owned and paid for and restricting there use to limited sporting activity must be difficult to 
justify. Dog walking provides both physical and social activity to a great number of people 
and these sporting grounds are within walking distance of a large number of dog walkers. 
Banning dogs from these areas will mean far more dogs walked in other areas, (where dog 
fouling  is equally problematic with other users eg when running and picnicking) moving the 
problem rather than resolving it. Whilst increasing traffic as people are forced to drive to 
alternative areas. 

 This makes sense in regard to enclosed childrens playgrounds, but why include St Marks 
Recreation Ground?  If this area is included, why are none of the Council owned football 
pitches being included?  This policy seems unfairly biased against dogs from families who 
play rugby and cricket.  This suggestion only serves to penalise well-behaved dogs and their 
owners.  I can see no reason for banning dogs on leads from standing in a grassy field - what 
harm or anti-social behaviour are they exhibiting? I spend many hours watching my children 
or husband play rugby at St Marks, with my dog on a lead by my side.  There is no anti-social 
aspect to this - far from it!  You will see from above that I completely agree with fines being 
levied for those not clearing up after your dog.  How will this policy be policed effectively at 
St Marks as the council do not own the majority of the rugby pitches? Indeed some of the 
land at St Marks is in a different county! Will dogs on leads be exempt if they are on the non-
Council owned part of the land?  These areas can be reached by public footpaths, so will 
there be notices and enforcement along the boundary of the council owned land and the 
land owned by the Borderers Sports Club and others?   This seems a pointless exercise which 
does not treat all sports pitches across the town fairly, but discriminates against certain 
groups of supporters.  The Council should be putting more resources into real anti-social 
behaviour - in the vicinity of St Marks during rugby training and matches, this is the 
dangerous parking on Frant Road on verges and double yellow lines and opposite the 
junction with St Mark's Road, NOT a dog quietly sitting on a lead next to a rugby pitch.   

 It is not realistic or reasonable to exclude dogs and their their owners from anywhere even if 
the dog is on a lead.  

 Being able to exercise one's pet in some of our beautiful open spaces is a joy for many 
responsible local residents. Tunbridge Wells has always been a country town and is still 
viewed in this way by members of the public. Currently a huge number of gentle breeds of 
dog are seen in the town. It would be a great shame to deter these types of residents to the 
town. 

 Dogs must not be allowed on anreas where children and aduklts play sport as there is such a 
significant health risk This measure has been taken in Brighton and is succesful and is taken 
by all schools in this area. 

 Irrespective of the specific areas listed above, ie:  St Mark's Recreation Ground and the 
Neville Ground, the inclusion of "Enclosed children's  (sic)  play areas within parks or other 
open spaces" leaves open the possibility/probability that the council will apply this to 
exclusion to other, previously suggested, public recreational areas, eg: Hawkenbury Rec.   In 
this particular case,(Hawkenbury Recreation Ground) to exclude dog walkers would be to go 
against all that TWBC advocates as promoting itself as a council promoting healthful living, 
especially for older people.   Many dog walkers on the "Rec" are older people who live 
nearby and love walking their well behaved dogs on the "Rec" whilst meeting their other 
"doggie" friends.    In the last 35 years that I have walked my dog(s) over the Rec and into 

Page 268

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

39 
 

the woods beyond, I cannot remember the last time I have seen  dog poo uncollected on the 
area (cricket pitch / football pitch) in question.   Yes, I've seen plenty of fox poo!  But who's 
going to control that?   And the grounds men do well know the difference but unfortunately 
many of the young mothers who do their communal daily gymnastics exercises on the same 
area seem not to know the difference between fox poo and dog poo. If it is necessary to 
exclude the open area where cricket is played on two days a week inn the summer and often 
on two mornings a week in the football season, then could not a fence be put around the 
area concerned, like the fence already around the children's playground area? If 
Hawkenbury Rec. was to be banned to all dog walkers, irrespective of leashed dogs or not, it 
would seriously deprive many of the local residents from access to space to exercise freely, 
with implications for their mental and physical health.    Also, not allowing dogs and their 
owners onto the "Rec" would exclude access to the High Weald Walk / Tunbridge Circular 
Walk which is only really accessed from the Hawkenbury Recreation Ground as the actual 
access to this public trail is off the main  road on a very dangerous corner, it is very 
overgrown as the farmer responsible does not keep it clear and it is therefore not passable. 

 This would be a disproportionate response and would deprive thousands of responsible pet 
owners of important amenities  efforts must be made to ensure the tiny minority that are 
selfish improve their behaviour dogs should be banned from play areas to protect those 
children who are scared of them 

 I strongly disagree with this proposal, dogs/dog owners should not be discriminated against. 
There are not many green areas in a town that allow for people to walk theire dogs.  There 
are many that need to walk near to their homes and don't have the ability to go further 
afield.  These are community areas, to be used by all!  We live locally to these areas, many 
people using this space are not local and so should understand the community use of these 
areas, which are large spaces. Dog walkers use these areas every day, all year round.  St 
Mark;s recreation ground is used for rugby during the winter/cricket in the summer and The 
Cricket Club uses the Nevill in the summer months and dog owners/walkers totally respect 
this, however certain members of the cricket club don't reciprocate this feeling towards dog 
owners.  In fact on occasion they have harassed dog owners when they have been doing 
nothing illegal and are just walking their dogs!  You will always get people that are not dog 
lovers but this shouldn't mean they are discriminated again, we all have to live in a 
community with dog owners, cat owners etc and we should all be tolerant of this. Dog 
owners on the large are responsible and clear up after their dogs, the same can't be said for 
cat owners whose cats are free to foul in other people's gardens/boards/open 
spaces/nevill/st marks etc., this is an animals way of life.  The cricket pitch was covered in 
bird poo in the summer after the groundsmen had covered the field in seed, there is fox 
poo/other animals mess on the pitches, that is what wildlife does.  Dogs should not be 
penalised against.   We as a family have been/are members of the Cricket Club and Rugby 
club, it is an integral part of family life to be able to take your dog with you to long cricket 
matches and rugby matches.  For many with very little time at weekends it is very important 
that they can take their dog with them to walk/be part of the family at these times.  Dogs 
are part of peoples families and non-dog owners/lovers would never understand this.   To 
ban dogs walking from these areas only pushes the problem somewhere else 
(pavments/other parks) which will then be another problem, what needs to be done is have 
these areas patrolled so stop any problems happening.  There are regular offenders who 
most probably walk in the evenings/early mornings who will continue to use the spaces even 
if banned.  I have often felt that when members of the cricket club have approached us (we 
don't get this at the rugby club) they don't realise those who are walking under their noses 
are not the problem!  Even one or two of the groundsmen's time would be better spent if 
they had the power to deter people if they see a problem, rather than the distain they show 

Page 269

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

40 
 

to dog walkers when sitting around not doing anything, which is often! Both of these areas 
are on the south side of town therefore limiting where people can walk their dogs.  They 
should be community areas used by all.  Patrols should be put into place and fines issued to 
offenders before any bans are even talked about. 

 I have emailed Tracey Moore and received responses from Paul Taylor and Terry Hughes 
there has been a lot of confusion around the areas included and I understand a problem 
with this portal for lodging objections. I am not sure where the council stands legally on this 
shambolic presentation of a consultation. I have been referred back to this portal to lodge 
my issues despite having emailed the relevant parties. I work as a local gp and promote dog 
ownership as a therapeutic activity to help with loneliness obesity and mental health all of 
which are local and national health priorities in conjunction with local councils. I can 
understand no one wants to play on sports grounds which have been fouled by dogs but if 
you enforce the present rules they will not have to. Contact with dogs is a healthy activity to 
help build an immune system for children to fight infection and prevent allergies,eczema 
and asthma why exclude them from playgrounds this means young families will not have 
dogs. No pets ? How do young children learn empathy and the need to nurture and treat 
animals with respect. There are many school sports grounds where pets are allowed 
Skinners being an example I do not hear any complaints from the parents there. As regards 
the Neville sports ground in particular there is no cricket activity from late September until 
early April. Does that mean that a significant proportion of council tax payers who have dogs 
are to be permanently excluded ? Why could a compromise not be found as per councils 
who have responsibility for beaches when dogs are excluded on part of the beach for part of 
the year?  Surely a solution for all can be agreed theses spaces are for all to share. 

 As the Chairman of Youth Cricket at TWCC, and subject to many rules on child protection, I 
have a duty of care to ensure that the 300 youth members aged 6-18 at the Club, can train 
and play in a dog litter-free zone. I am unable to fulfil this duty when it comes to dogs. Apart 
from the fouling, the youngest children age 6/7 have sometimes been frightened by 
bounding dogs. Over the years when bringing this to the attention of dog walkers who let 
their dogs off the lead, I have often been subjected to verbal abuse. I have fielded 
complaints from parent on a regular basis. Similarly, I find it inexplicable that people actually 
drive to the Nevill to exercise their dogs. 

 No - except enclosed children's play areas (dogs already banned there). I have been walking 
my dog at St Mark's Sports Ground (the Rugby Pitch) and the Nevill Ground for 17 years and 
feel very strongly about this. I can walk to these places, but would have to use my car to go 
elsewhere. 

 TWBC must erect large signage at all the entrances to these sports grounds and remove the 
dog poo plastic bag dispensers. 

 Please see previous comments. It is not right that the council provide this land and designate 
it for recreation activities and then for dogs to foul on it. 

 i fully support this my nephew got e coli from treading on dog foul near a playground and 
was on dialysis and nearly died when he was 6 and luckily made a reasonable recovery all 
because a dog owner was too idle to pick up after their dog also all 4 of my children play 
football hockey and cricket we are regularly having to pick up dog poo off the pitches the 
worst is the Neville both upper and lower every weekend when they play .I see dog owners 
just let their dogs off leads and go for a run and dont pick up after so it should be that dogs 
are banned as so many owners do not keep on lead or clear up .And when you address it 
with them the owners are rude ,in response, 

 I strongly agree that this should be brought in at The Nevill cricket ground, St Mark's rec and 
all enclosed children's play areas. 

 Sports facilities should be available for full movement without any form of health risk 

Page 270

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

41 
 

 Dogs already have to be on leads. If poo is left then it's just irresponsible ownership. Not fair 
on those who use eg. Nevill ground and do pick up their dog muck. And what if a disabled 
dog owner wished to watch the cricket?! 

 Perhaps Pembury recreation ground could be included. 

 I am a responsible dog walker who always picks up after her dog.  I have been walking dogs 
in public areas for 40 years. In my locality the park is a place where people meet to walk 
their dogs, including the elderly.  The social benefits of dog walking far outweigh the 
negative issues.  Dog walkers make friends in their community, share problems, discuss local 
issues, pick up rubbish, take exercise to try to live a healthy lifestyle etc. The few who allow 
their dogs to foul on the pitches are a minority and sometimes it genuinely cannot be 
helped. Often, the only people who use the parks, especially in the winter, are dog owners. I 
am appalled to read that exercising your dog may be viewed as anti-social and feel insulted 
by the remark. I find the language used my people using the pitches is far more offensive 
and anti-social - are we going to legislate against this as well? .  

 Dogs should not be able to wander off the lead from areas used as playing fields by children 
and adults 

 I support this measure to exclude dogs from children's play areas. However, unless there is a 
massive regular problem with fouling on sports grounds, I am against excluding dogs from 
these areas. Firstly because it's virtually impossible to enforce unless there is CCTV or staff 
on hand at all times, and secondly because it discriminates against all responsible dog 
owners/walkers. The PSPOs against dog fouling and not carrying the means to pick up faeces 
should be sufficient to tackle fouling on sports grounds, if correctly enforced. 

 I have not seen any Council notices advertising these proposals at the locations specified (eg 
as the Council would for change of use/planning permission etc). Without informing the 
people who use these spaces (for whatever purpose) a chance to respond to these 
proposals, the Council are not  operating a fair consultation exercise. The proposed change 
to the Nevill Ground and St Marks Recreation Ground are buried within much wider 
proposals concerned with anti-social behaviour (which many people would consider bears 
no relation to dog walking) and are not specified in the headlines of your PSPO 
website/facebook posts so that many people are not aware of the proposals.  Will this be 
rectified by TWBC please?     

 Well trained dogs are part of the community. Ensuring dog faeces is picked up is vital, not 
getting rid of dogs,. Children's play areas  - dogs are already excuded yes. other areas, dogs 
bring fun to most.  

 I agree with the childrens play area exclusion. Exclusion from St Marks should not be 
included as most people are sensible enough to keep their dogs off the playing areas. 

 You cant ban Foxes, Badgers, Cats, Many of the people, parents who support,finance and 
responsibly use these areas should not be victimised. In the case of St Marks 100's use 
responsibly against very a few, irresponsibly! Animals should not be allowed in enclosed 
children's play areas. 

 This is unnecessary 

 Enclosed children's play areas should be protected from dogs entering. The sports grounds 
are frequented by supporters of the current sport taking place. These outdoor sports attract 
people who appreciate the outdoor lifestyle. These people very often have dogs as part of 
this sporting and healthy lifestyle. People supporting these sporting activities should be 
encouraged to enjoy this healthy lifestyle. They should also be encouraged to pick up their 
dogs mess and heavier fines and bold signs, with more poo bag dispensers will help educate 
the few uneducated dog owners.   

 I am opposed to the inclusion of the Nevill Ground; this area is frequently devoid of any 
sporting activity in the upper field.  I would have answered differently if this prohibition had 

Page 271

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

42 
 

excluded the upper field, which is the one often used as an overflow car park during cricket 
week. 

 responsible dog owners should not be excluded from any space except children playgrounds. 

 only in closed off childrens areas, or perhaps when matches are played.it is essential for 
everyone to wbe able to walk round sports fields IMHO 

 It is sad but yes I would support this as I feel that the  irresponsible walkers  spoil things for 
the responsible ones. Children ( and adults) using the areas to kick a ball or play cricket need 
to be protected from treading in the mess. In some of these areas perhaps there could be 
dog acceptable areas away from the actual pitch and zero tolerance on the pitches 
themselves. I'm not sure if all dog walkers would stick to this (again some spoiling it for the 
others).  There are plenty of woods in and around TWells and areas of recreation ground 
that don't have pitches. These could be used by dog walkers . 

 For enclosed children's area and the specific sports pitch areas of recreation grounds, but 
the whole recreation ground. 

 If people want to have the pleasure of owing a dog they should accept responsibility for it 
and it's excrement. Some areas should be dog free for the benefit of all members of the 
publi.  

 There are plenty of other spaces to walk dogs. 

 I think that St Mark's Recreation Ground should only have these in force when it is not being 
used for sports matches. When there is a TWRFC or TW Borderers CC home match on, 
people should be allowed to bring dogs providing they are kept on a lead and the owners 
clear up after them. That way it ensures that there is no fouling on the sports pitches, and 
people can still bring their dogs to rugby or cricket as they have done for years prior. As a 
regular user of St Mark's, what I have proposed I think is a fair compromise. 

 Instead require dogs to be kept on a lead. 

 Walking dogs around the town and its magnificent commons is normal activity and should 
be encouraged. However, fenced off child play areas should be protected.  

 We agree that dog fouling should be dealt with, but not the exclusion of dogs from certain 
areas, except children's play areas / grounds 

 I would also support the introduction of a PSPO to prevent people walking their dogs in 
Tunbridge Wells Cemetery at Hawkenbury. People continue to walk their dogs there in spite 
of new signage. On the one occasion I challenged a dog walker there I was verbally abused. 

 My daughter is afraid to go into the parks anymore, because dogs not on a lead have run 
after and barked at her. She is three years old. It shouldn't be like this. 

 I want dog owners to watch events at st marks, but the fouling and non collection needs 
larger penalty and enforcement. 

 Please include High Brooms Playground and recreation ground - restricting it to a few places 
looks like you only care about the people that live close to the centre (the well off and the 
influencial). 

 I agree dogs should be excluded from children's play areas but not to designating public 
spaces as dog exclusion areas. Enforcement of dogs on leads would provide safety to others 
and minimise dog fouling which can occur off lead. 

 Not applicable to Common. 

 I believe that there are parks where children have specific areas in which they can play 
where dogs are not allowed. To this I believe it is right. However I do not think banning dogs 
from somewhere like the Neville cricket ground which is a central area that is not used in the 
winter by anyone other than dog walkers she be restricted from dogs. A blanket order onto 
areas the dogs are walked is not the correct solution.   In the cricket ground, dog should be 
allowed to use the ground other than the crease when the ground is not being used for 

Page 272

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

43 
 

cricket. If this means the summer months are out for Dog Walker"s so be it, but do not 
penalised the dogs by taking it out of bounds permanently.   

 Dogs are a meaningful part of local life.  Dogs are valuable companions and foster sociability 
and community relations between their owners. Dogs are acknowledged as important in 
promoting and maintaining both physical and mental good health in their owners. Dogs 
should be excluded from enclosed children's play areas only but certainly not from other 
green spaces. 

 Where dogs are not banned it should be incumbent on owners to ensure they can control 
their dog at all times. 

 All dog owners should be expected to behave responsibly, to control their dogs and clear up 
after them Without the need for restrictions being imposed due to a few irresponsible dog 
owners. I am a dog owner. 

 Terrible to exclude dogs and their owners from these areas. Much better to compel them to 
be responsible for their dogs fouling the area. 

 Definitely exclude dogs from fenced children"s play areas but not from parks. Could allow 
dogs on leads only so that more control is exercised over behaviour and fouling. It is of 
course a tiny minority"s of dog owners who do not €œpickup€•. The most vigilant are those 
with children as they are acutely aware of the risks of infection. 

 I'm a dog owner, but yes I agree there are some places dogs shouldn't be allowed into. 
However, these areas need to be fenced off so dogs cannot physically enter, without 
enforcing the dog to be on the lead anywhere near it (which wouldn't be acceptable to me). 

 I am strongly opposed to any changes to the current arrangements. I walk my dog at the 
Neville Ground and Dunorlan Park every day and am on good terms with the staff at 
both.  This is a draconian proposal that penalises the majority of responsible dog owners for 
the actions of the very few. I am completely in favour of prohibition orders for irresponsible 
dog owners (two/three strikes and you are banned for 12/24 months) but it is not 
reasonable to penalise all the responsible owners (who far outweigh the irresponsible) in 
this way. 

 It is very unfair to penalise responsible dog owners  The neville ground in particular does not 
have large amounts of dog faeces on the ground there are always bags available ay every 
entrance. 

 It is obvious that a dog should not be allowed in a children's play zone when there is a sign 
clearly excluding them. I take issue with not being able to walk a dog AROUND the Neville 
Ground perimeter such that a cricket lover can not watch cricket with his dog. If the owner 
can not control the dog and or clean up after him hen penalties should apply.  

 See Tunbridge Wells RFC's comments above under measure 3a. We support a dog exclusion 
on Sports field for the Health and Safety reasons specified above. 

 Absolutely.  yes, yes, yes. And I don't really understand why Hawkenbury has been taken off 
this list. And fines and enforcement too. I think there is a strong argument to ban dogs from 
all town centre green areas as well. 

 We do not see a need for additional areas in Grosvenor and Hilbert Park to be desigated as 
dog exclusion areas. 

 Absolutely NOT I use the Nevill regularly for coaching cricket and walking my dog and have 
very rarely seen any dog mess. I think these areas should be policed more not dog owners 
being banned. Why have you had notices around the Nevill area stating that this procedure 
is being gone threw. Many dog owners will not be aware of it yet the sporting groups will be. 
It feels like you are manipulating the process to get the answer you want 

 I have no objection to enforcing the exclusion of dogs from enclosed children's play areas. I 
DO object to the designation of the Nevill Ground as a dog exclusion area. This area is 
underused as a sport venue. From April to September there are cricket matches perhaps 2 

Page 273

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

44 
 

afternoons per week (excluding the KCCC festival). The rest of the year, the lower cricket 
ground is given over to hockey of which there are probably an average of 2-3 matches per 
month; and none on the upper cricket ground. So this area is unused for sports for most of 
the time. It is a good space for exercising dogs. I recognise that fouling of a sports area is 
unpleasant although I believe the vast majority of dog walkers using the Nevill Ground do 
clear up after their dogs. Nonetheless, if the intention is to prevent dog fouling in the Nevill 
Ground, as above, I would support the introduction of stiffer penalties. However, if dogs 
were banned altogether from the Nevill Ground, the space would get hardly any use and 
would represent poor value for the council funding devoted to the area's upkeep. In this 
eventuality, I imagine it would only be a matter of time before this historic cricket ground 
(where so many cricketing legends have played and which even staged a World Cup match) 
was considered for selling to housing developers. (I hope the thought of this is not a 
motivation in seeking to ban dogs from the area.) So - yes, enforce stiffer penalties for dog 
fouling but - no, please do NOT seek to prevent fouling by banning dogs altogether. 

 I have had to say no even though I support exclusion of dogs from children's play areas. To 
stop someone walking their dog on or around a sports field is unreasonable and I would 
suggest impossible to enforce. 

 Dogs should be excluded from children's play areas. 

 Step up the education, notices & fines rather than have a minority spoil the pleasure of dog 
walking of the majority. 

 This is ridiculous, I use all these facilities and there are many other families that use them as 
well including there dogs which 99% are well controlled and if they foul it is always picked 
up. I do agree that dogs should be on a lead in children's play area's. There are so many real 
problems in Tunbridge Wells that need addressing but you choose to waste time and money 
on a totally unnecessary law preventing families and there pets enjoying there social time, 
just go to St Marks on a Saturday afternoon and see how many spectators are there 
watching the rugby or cricket with family and dogs. You really need to keep in touch with the 
rest of Europe where dogs are allowed nearly everywhere !! parks playgrounds and all public 
places for families.  

 If dogs on lead - OK 

 If measures 3 and 4 are introduced then local residents/dog owners, who generally clear up 
after their dog anyway, should be able to continue to enjoy the walking facilities offered by 
the named sports fields which they are funding through payment of their council tax 

 PLEASE DON'T REMOVE DOGS FROM THE NEVILL COMPLETELY - IT IS A LOVELY, SOCIAL, 
CENTRAL COMMUNITY RESOURCE AND IT WOULD BE A REAL SHAME TO RESTRICT ITS USE 
AND DEPRIVE LOCAL RESIDENTS.  WE WANT TO ENCOURAGE MORE USE OF OUR OPEN 
SPACES, NOT LESS. Of course dogs should be excluded from children's enclosed play 
areas.  There are also spaces where dogs must be on the lead but this is never properly 
enforced so half the people have their dogs off the lead and half on - and when one dog is 
off the lead and one is on is often when problems arise.  Perhaps have an in and out of 
season rule - eg - dogs must be on the lead on the Nevill during the cricket season but can be 
off lead during the winter months. 

 I feel some of these areas would be ok if the dogs were kept on a lead as requested. There 
are the few who spoil it for everyone else. I live near the crematorium/cemetery where dogs 
have now been banned because several people let their dogs off the lead to run round the 
area which was disrespectful. It spoilt it for people like myself as I would walk my dog to visit 
my sons grave, I can no longer do this. We should have more CCTV cameras in our parks for 
safety reasons and to monitor dog owners. 

Page 274

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

45 
 

 Dogs should be on a lead in Calverley Grounds. I have seen two incidents recently where 
children were frightened by large dogs charging about with their owners miles away on the 
phone. 

 As a frequent park user in TW, where I walk daily with my daughter in a buggy, out of control 
dogs have become a big problem. Dogs are frequently not on leads and chase both walkers 
and, particularly in Dunorlan Park, local wildfowl. I would like to see the exclusions extended 
to Dunorlan Park, Calverley Grounds and Grove Hill Park. The childrens play area in Dunorlan 
Park is a particular problem as it is not enclosed. Many dogs are threatening, particularly to 
children, and it has really affected my enjoyment of parks in TW. 

 I do not support the exclusion of dogs at the Nevill Ground 

 If you lot had your way you'd probably have every dog in the country shot. 

 I strongly support this idea, this may be packaged to go along with the dog fouling 
prohibition but I would see it as more of a public confidence and safety issue. Many, many 
children are scared of dogs it makes perfect sense to restrict them from all play areas as well 
as few public parks so that those children can go about their lives their without fear. The 
actual risk of a dog attack is low, and as with dog fouling, I believe we live in an area with a 
very considerate population but this is a matter of perception as well as fact. Telling children 
they probably won't get attacked by a dog and probably won't step in any of their faeces 
isn't really going to help any of them at all. Only completely removing the possibility will 
have any effect. 

 I do not think this a problem at all. I am against it as I think that it will stop people who att 
nd matches or training at these grounds from brinin their dogs.  We should do more to make 
dog walkers aware of there actions rather than penalise those who abide to the right moral 
code.  

 Dogs should definitely not be allowed into cordened off childrens play areas but not banned 
from grassed sports areas. I like to take my dog to St Marks when watching rugby and it is a 
lovely place to walk - I feel most dog owners you meet there are very friendly and 
responsible. This also applies to Hawkenbury.  

 Absolutely in favour of banning dogs from fenced play areas. It can be a problem on games 
pitches, but parks are for general recreation as well as for organised sport, and dog walking 
is for many, particularly older people, their exercise regime. 

 Creating an exclusion around sports fields would only displace the problem, potentially, onto 
neighbouring footpaths. It would be more suitable to enforce dog owners to clear up after 
their mess €“ effective solutions in other councils includes installing CCTV and rewards for 
reporting dog fouling (Stafford & Hyndburn Council). 

 Space is for everyone to enjoy and not everyone feels safe around dogs.  

 Dog access The Kennel Club does not normally oppose dog exclusion or dog on lead orders in 
playgrounds, or enclosed recreational facilities such as tennis courts or skate parks, as long 
as alternative provisions are made for dog walkers in the vicinity. We would also point out 
that children and dogs should be able to socialise together quite safely under adult 
supervision, and that having a child in the home is the biggest predictor for a family owning 
a dog. With regards to playing fields, we ask local authorities to consider whether or not 
access restrictions are absolutely necessary. If they are deemed to be needed, whether 
time/season limited restrictions would be more appropriate than a continuous on lead 
order. We are aware in many areas, dog walkers do allow their dogs to exercise on playing 
fields when they are not in use. If of course they are in use we understand the safety reasons 
behind restrictions. It is also worth noting that compliance with such an order can be 
difficult for a dog walker if there are no boundaries around the playing field as when 
exercising their dogs off lead, dogs will not recognise the difference between playing fields 
and other grassed areas. The council should be aware that dog owners are required, under 

Page 275

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

46 
 

the Animal Welfare Act 2006, to provide for the welfare needs of their animals and this 
includes providing the necessary amount of exercise each day. Their ability to meet this 
requirement is greatly affected by the amount of publicly accessible parks and other public 
places in their area where dogs can exercise without restrictions. This section of the Animal 
Welfare Act was included in the statutory guidance produced for local authorities by the 
Home Office on the use of PSPOs. The Government provided clear instructions to local 
authorities that they must provide restriction free sites for dog walkers to exercise their 
dogs. This message was contained in the guidance document for DCOs, and has been 
retained in both the Defra/Welsh Government and Home Office PSPO guidance documents, 
with the Defra guidance for PSPOs stating ‘local authorities should ensure there are suitable 
alternatives for dogs to be exercised without restrictions'. A common unintended 
consequence of restrictions is displacement onto other pieces of land, resulting in new 
conflict being created. It can be difficult to predict the effects of displacement, and so the 
council should consider whether alternative sites for dog walkers are suitable and can 
support an increase in the number of dog walkers using them. To be compliant with the 
Public Sector Equality Duty we submit the council should consider the accessibility of 
restriction free alternatives for those with reduced mobility (including but not limited to 
those with a disability or elderly persons for instance). Alongside considering any direct 
impact as a result of the PSPO upon those with protected characteristics. 

 I know that St Marks have been very vocal in there wish for dog owners to not use the sports 
areas because of major concerns for safety and have shut the gates at the ground.  At the 
Nevill dog owners have got worse and drive there to walk their dog and foul and many do 
not pick up.  Even if they do pick up the remnants remain a significant hazard and for a 
ground such as the Nevill it is very important to have this proposed order so that a clean 
area is maintained for sports use to safeguard children and adult users. 

 A dog is an integral part of the family and, as such, will be taken along for a walk whilst 
supporting family members playing cricket, rugby, football etc.  As long as the dog is kept on 
a lead then this should be not be a problem.  The majority of people adhere to this set of 
rules. 

 As the father of a daughter who plays cricket and also a big cricket fan, during the cricket 
season I regularly walk our dog round the Nevill Cricket ground whilst watching the 
game.  As we live next door to the cricket ground, my wife takes the dog over there on a 
daily basis and always on a lead.  We also have nephews who play rugby and regularly take 
the dog up to the rugby ground to watch them play. 

 I lived in Hawkenbury for 15 years and have always walked my dogs in Hawkenbury Park. 
Through this I have got to meet a lot of local residents with or without dogs through doing 
so. I feel banning dogs would stop a large proportion of the community from enjoying the 
park where we have as much right to enjoy as any other. Theres more mess created through 
people littering then dog mess and people riding bikes on the path which isn't allowed or 
policed creates antisocial behaviour. By not having to right to walk my dog in the park would 
segregatie a lot of people from the close community I've known Hawkenbury to be and I 
know I speak for a lot of residents here. 

 Although Hawkenbury Rec has mysteriously disappeared from the list I think banning dogs 
from Tunbridge Wells parks especially Hawkenbury park where I live is the most ridiculous 
thing I have ever heard. Dog walking encourages Social well being and promotes exercise. If 
this is banned it will be disastrous especially for people who rely on their parks and haven't 
the luxury or time to get in their cars (more pollution ) and walk elsewhere. We are already 
losing our fields for housing and roads you can't take our parks for dog walking away! Dog 
walking isnt anti social behaviour for gods sake, what about the weirdo in our woods, 
paeodophiles, drug addicts, drunks, etc etc in our area now that is anti social! Obviously the 

Page 276

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

47 
 

people who have thought up this ridiculous dog ban haven't got dogs themselves and if they 
haven't they should get one, the might become better people for it! We will still walk there 
as a community.....try and stop us!  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 277

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

48 
 

 
 
Have your say on buskers using amplifiers 
 

 Keep T wells real, its life  

 Conditions need to be gentle and encouraging.  

 The amplifiers should be banned. 

 I dislike the calverley precinct buskers 

 only at night would that be a problem for me. Fireworks are far worse. If it were only 5th 
November, at a stretch Hogmanay as well, but it sends our dog into shivers, and in a time of 
increasing terrorism, I am not too comfortable myself when I hear a random explosion. 

 Just use currentlaws again to move them on when you get complaints. 

 If they are disturbing local businesses or shoppers the council should be able to act. 

 I don't live in the town centre. I suppose that if I had to listen to loud noise all day everyday 
then I would probably agree that controls are required. 

 Again where are the police to help on this? 

 I think that if restrictions are put in place to deter performers using the town with amplifiers 
is ok provided they are fair to the performers. 

 Not noticed a problem 

 Busking is fine. With amplifiers is at the discretion of local residents. 

 i do not think this is a big problem, and if they are told to turn the volume down nicely 
usually will. 

 Needs to be controlled so that shop owners and the public are not adversely affected. 

61% 
22% 

17% 

Measure 6: Would you support the Council in putting in place 
conditions that would enable us to act when we receive 

complaints from local residents and businesses within earshot 
of amplified music and whose staff are disturbed by it? 

Yes

No

Don't know

Page 278

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

49 
 

 Whilst I am in favour of a moderation of busking noise,when the council says that it wants to 
modify the degree of noise, I would like further details as to decibel level, where and when,, 
etc before I  endorse this PSPO.   I have qualms that this could be too draconian 

 I am for acoustic buskers and against amplified music in public areas. 

 Depends on the volume - if the complaint is justified because the music is extremely loud. I 
have never been disturbed by it. I like to hear buskers. 

 As I said in a previous answer busker bands have actually put us off from shopping in the 
vicinity. They have become far too intrusive and have not considered anything other than 
themselves. 

 Ban amplifiers. 

 Entirely reasonable proposals. 

 I enjoy the music 

 Sometimes too loud (town centre by Victoria Place entrance) but otherwise it's fine.  

 I'm undecided on this because I feel this seems like a blanket ban. I would be happy to 
support a measure restricting the number of hours and the volume. 

 This is street entertainment which again makes the standard shopping area less bland and 
the same as any other shopping area and encourages some uniqueness. 

 no problem if not excessive. 

 Buskers add life to the town but they amplifiers should be banned. 

 I have no objection to classical musicians and pan-pipers etc. who do this, and some solo 
"artists" are inoffensive.  I would like to see amplifiers used by these "beatboxers" removed, 
although I would prefer the beatboxers themselves to go far far away. 

 move them on or fine them 

 Busking without amps is better - the simple live music or singing is fine and doesn't intrude 
so much.  

 So loud, group of buskers outside of the entrance to RVC entrance, peace of town centre 
completely destroyed, lowers tone of Tunbridge Wells. 

 Just turn it down a bit. I don't think this is such a big issue. 

 Yes because it is an annoyance when one is trying to go shopping in the town centre. It also 
will stop people amplifying potentially offensive/political songs. For example last month, I 
heard a busker in the town centre using amplifiers to perform "The Fields of Athenry", which 
has Irish republican overtones and caused me offence in this town with Royal patronage and 
traditional conservative British values.  

 In our experience, buskers add to the lively activity in the town centre and should be 
encouraged. They should not be curtailed.  We do need to be tolerant here. 

 They shouldn't need to use an amplifier. There is no excuse. 

 They are awful and amplifiers should be banned outright. Any busking should be non-
amplified. 

 They are awful and amplifiers should be banned outright. Any busking should be non-
amplified. 

 N/A 

 I'm not aware of it being a problem, but I appreciate it could be. 

 There is not enough public art or performing art. Do not deter people who brighten up what 
can be a dreary space. 

 This needs to be proportionate and not a blanket ban after a single uncorroborated 
complaint. 

 I'm pretty sure you have legislation at your disposal now to deal with this and I don't think 
that the problem is severe enough to require extra measures 

Page 279

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

50 
 

 If there were to be designated areas where this would apply, we do not see evidence of any 
need for Grosvenor and Hilbert Park to be covered by such a designation. 

 Only if extreme and complaints made 

 As stated earlier buskers should be licensed so that there is some control over the number 
of street entertainers in and around the town centre. 

 Depends on the proposed measures - proportionality. Buskers are unlikely to stay if the 
general public do not "support" them. 

 To prohibit is overkill. 

 Some of these people are talented and students can earn a bit of money busking. I think 
they should have noise/time restrictions. 

 It is great to hear the buskers but I agree businesses and staff should be protected. 

 I think actively encouraging buskers with acoustic instruments would be a good policy as 
well 

 But also look at reviewing specified areas (and not too many at one time) plus a restriction 
on the number of hours each can use the pitch for perhaps ? It must be awful hearing the 
same music for hours on end by businesses and local residents in Calverley road. 

 I am in favour of acoustic buskers, but not amplification. Amplified music can be intrusive, 
and it prevents accoustic buskers from having a fair go nearby.   

 I don't believe that further powers are needed.  
 

 
 
 

Page 280

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

51 
 

 
 
Have your say on anti-social behaviour associated with rough sleeping 
 

 control it like you are trying to control dog walkers have one area they can sleep, round 
them up .. and ship them to Tonbridge  upm 

 The council should deal with the symptoms..... focus on helping people to find homes to live 
in. 

 if it is really antisocial behaviour I'm in favour. I am aware that certain individuals (I could 
even name a few) cause big problems and gather around themselves weaker and more 
vulnerable rough sleepers, probably for protection or from fear of those individuals, and I 
would not wish to see the "big bullies" free to continue their careers while small fry were 
prosecuted. (I wouldn't argue with THAT dog, or his owner.) 

 Dont punish society's victims instead help them. 

 Fining rough sleepers is not the answer more should be done to get them of the streets. 

 I can understand that action is required. It is not nice to see people sleeping rough and if 
they create litter and are abusive then that is a problem. However, this is not to say that I 
want them simply moved on without sensitivity or an understanding of why they are where 
they are. Again, the issue is difficult. I don't think penalties are the answer and will most 
likely be unenforceable. 

 Within limits, it is not a problem. Apply the law do not enact more. 

64% 

23% 

13% 

Measure 7: Do you support the use of a Public Spaces Protection 
Order to manage the anti-social behaviour associated with rough 

sleeping in multi-storey car parks and other public spaces in 
Tunbridge Wells town centre (Map 1)?  

Yes

No

Don't know

Page 281

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

52 
 

 I think this could be a tricky one, these people have no money, so fining them is not an 
option, I think finding out why they are sleeping rough might be a start, and possible 
supplying more hostels, I'm questing many do not do it from choice, and any that do, should 
be moved from the public shopping, seating and parking areas. 

 With the proviso that the council offer supportive alternative accommodation ( see above 
answer to 2a) 

 This needs to be controlled so that shop owners are not affected and those sleeping rough 
can be looked after and managed better. 

 Where are current rough sleepers to go?   If you chase them away from areas which they 
currently use ( and therefore you are able to police) where will they end up?   probably in 
places where they are more difficult to access and therefore more difficult to help.   Rough 
sleepers need help to access a good bed for the night and support to get out of their current 
situation, not condemnation of them and their current situation, which seems to be the only 
response of Tunbridge wells Borough Council  - Shame on you!   

 This is extremely difficult, because if introduced the authorities could be taking action 
against people without knowing their circumstances. it smacks of totalitarian ism to me. 

 As you say, it would be no good fining them. Are there other places they can go? 

 One of our family works for a Homeless Charity. She has emphasised the need for citizens to 
contribute to charities to help rough sleepers get off the streets, rather than support them 
directly, however well meaning. The Council likewise must do what it can to channel help to 
the right organisations. It must be supported in taking measures that bring this about. The 
headline 'non-caring Council' must be countered by a rational, informed response to those 
who voice should opinions. 

 But find then somewhere to go through the myriad of empty properties 

 Do more to help 

 Entirely support this reasonable and long overdue measure.  It is not just the obstruction in 
stairwells but the intimidation, especially for lone persons having to pass by, perhaps late at 
night, or in the early hours that is a serious concern. 

 There must be a better way of dealing with this problem than imposing a fine on people who 
you know are unable to pay.  More thought needs to go into this 

 The environment and feeling of safety (or rather lack of it) make certain areas 'no-go' at 
some times. e.g. Torrington carpark. despite notices I witnessed several rough sleepers (with 
associated alcohol bottles and a store smell of cannabis) sleeping in the lift foyer.  

 I'm concerned that this will be used against a group of vulnerable people who are already in 
unfortunate circumstances. 

 see above 

 I do not believe this will be workable.  I also have concerns that the partners to which 
references can be made are inadequately coped to deal with everyone sent their way. 

 move them on. car parks are not suitable places to sleep as are shop entrances. 

 I would ask you to use existing powers, as  your para suggests you are. I suspect additional 
ones will be misused, esp in the difficult timers that may be coming 

 Persistent groups or individuals not engaging with services and abusive to Council staff 
cannot be allowed to live semi permanently in public areas like the car parks.  

 Poor people ! I don't think they want to sleep in a car park . We pump so much money into 
foreign aid - lets start at home ! 

 Absolutely essential to provide a safe and pleasant environment for the public using the car 
parks and to prevent the establishment of no-go areas for vulnerable members of the public. 

 Absolutely essential to provide a safe and pleasant environment for the public using the car 
parks and to prevent the establishment of no-go areas for vulnerable members of the public. 

Page 282

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

53 
 

 Awful urine smell in car park stairways and empty shops doorways bundled up with sleeping 
bags and shopping trolleys with their possessions again a terrible sight in town centre. 

 See earlier comments.  I know the council does try to engage with rough sleepers but there 
are not enough resources to do it properly. I think I would be morre in support of "tough" 
measures if I was convinced of the council's will in this direction. Money is spent on things I 
don't agree with like town centre plans . 

 The police should have the powers to help these people get off the streets. 

 My three year old daughter will not go into a town car park, because a rough sleeper ran 
after her and scared her. Some of them have aggressive dogs that scare me too. I also find 
the smell to be appalling - literally sick inducing. Please help us. 

 The council should provide alternative shelter facilities. 

 They harass you for money and insult you if you ignore them.Some of these rough sleepers 
have come here because it is a wealthy town!As a council tax payer I want something done 
to get these people off the streets 

 Rough sleepers cause a great deal of concern to other Commons users. They frequently 
leave human excrement and drug paraphernalia including needles. 

 Providing the area that rough sleepers are using to sleep is looked after by them then I don't 
see the problem.  Obviously the problem is when they have no respect for that area.  

 As a small woman aged 70 years i feel threatened even in day light and frightened to use 
parking structures. 

 I hope this is a joke. 

 While I applaud the efforts of council employees or those who act on behalf of the council I 
deplore the idea of the council imposing such powers to punish over those unfortunate 
enough to be sleeping rough. The shortage of housing is due to the workings or non-
workings of central government over some or perhaps many years. You have only to visit 
any other large town or city in the UK to know this to be so. Deal with the causes of 
homelessness by providing the solution to THAT rather than reacting to the impulsive or 
compulsive actions of the people who government has failed to provide for. As the local 
authority the council should be the face of government. If the rough sleeper`s behaviour 
goes to a criminal level take it to the police and let the normal criminal justice system take 
over. Avoid creating a second criminal justice system to deal with people who are suffering 
inequality on the most obvious level. There is a danger that a second justice system will be 
inconsistent and sooner or later it will be unjust to someone who can ill afford it. 

 See  comments against earlier question 

 Not until some kind of support structure is in place which can actually provide an alternative. 
Very few people are CHOOSING to sleep in car parks or doorways and these people need 
support services to help them back to a living off the streets. And yes, again, I know it costs 
money and I for one would pay more council tax to get it done. Having the power to move 
them on does not solve the problem. 

 We do not see evidence at present of a need for Grosvenor and Hilbert Park to be covered in 
the proposal for fines of last resort for rough sleeping. 

 People are rough sleeping because they are in need.  The services offered need to be a 
viable alternative so that people do not have to do this.  Many are not capable of engaging 
with the benefits and housing systems for example.  If there were an overnight shelter for 
example where people could sleep then you could argue that no one would have a need to 
sleep rough, but currently no such facility exists and if you can't offer a realistic alternative, 
you should not try and legislate the problem away.  This will result in people rough sleeping 
in another town or out of site - whereby the problem will not be addressed, just forgotten 
about or ignored. 

Page 283

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

54 
 

 Only if these people are given decent alternatives. The Council should do more for them by 
the use of buildings they own or funding the charities more 

 It's a very difficult area and there are no easy answers. Additional fines for individuals who 
homeless and rough sleeping are wrong. 

 I'm curious to know what drives the increase in rough sleeping. Surely its useless issuing 
penalty notices & fines to homeless people who have no home or ability to pay. This is 
immoral & shameful. When the council has sufficient housing & support services for these 
people, then it would more appropriate to issue penalty notice & fines. Let's deal with the 
cause not the symptom. 

 Support them 

 Not in doorways 

 Where are they to go? You are putting the cart before the horse: find them a safe place to 
sleep before turning them out into the open air. 

 I support mutual respect. 

 As long as support is given to those affected I would support this idea. 

 But TWBC must also try and support by offering alternative shelters:support  - perhaps the 
soon to be vacant TWBC  offices :) !closing of the soup kitchen was not good what other new 
place could be offered there are plenty of empty buildings in the town now ! 

 I do not agree because this is a lazy approach: attacking the symptoms of a problem rather 
than the causes. Why are these people in this situation? As stated above Government 
policies on housing and benefits are implicated here Does the Council provide immediately 
available alternative accommodation for displaced rough sleepers? Otherwise, where are 
people with nowhere to sleep expected to sleep?   Unless alternative accommodation is 
available penalising them would be harassment, and you would be merely shifting the 
problem somewhere else. Contacted services should not be used to address social and 
psychological problems. We know the results of using contractors in prisons and 
immigration control. Fining people with no money is clearly ridiculous. 

 No further powers are required.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 284

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

55 
 

 
 
Have your say on our proposal to prohibit new psychoactive substances 
 

 Legalise it all, make money and take it away from the criminals. 

 Is that possible for you to enforce? The borough hasn't done much about cannabis, which 
has  a very distinctive aroma, and is now far stronger than ever. If you cannot prevent 
current laws, what's the point of adding new regulations? 

 They are not illegal so why not focus on current duties instead of making more work. If 
someone makes a mess fine them dont create more work.  

 I think drug users should be penalised. 

 Legalise marijuana and they won't want to take this shit. Yes, clearly this won't be legally 
enforceable but it will send a message. There is no medical or societal reason for this... in 
fact, when you take a step back and look at it, making a natural plant illegal is absurd. 

 its as bad as alcohol 

 Needs to be controlled for the safety of all 

 How on earth do you propose to police this, and what sanctions can be used against their 
use? I agree that NPS are undesirable but they are not, at present, illegal.   So what do you 
propose to do that will inhibit the use of these substances which will not only be within the 
law but will also not cost us, the T W  taxpayers, extra money? 

 It wouldn't work. If eg cannabis and ecstasy were legalised then their strength and purity etc 
can be determined. Alcohol causes more harm yet is legal. By banning those drugs, it created 
a market for NPS which are much more dangerous. Prohibition never works. 

81% 

8% 

11% 

Measure 8: Would you support a prohibition within the town 
centre and multi-storey car parks to encourage people to not 
prepare, possess, ingest, inhale, inject, smoke or otherwise 

use these intoxicating substances? 

Yes

No

Don't know

Page 285

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

56 
 

 Common sense proposal. 

 As a resident near Hilbert Rec we are constantly aware that the park is used for drug-taking 
and dealing. I would welcome any proposal that made it more difficult to supply and use of 
drugs of any kind - including alcohol. 

 think this would be impossible to enforce 

 ban the substance from sale in the town shops and if a person is under the influence then he 
should be fined. 

 if it is a serious problem and no other way, but I suspect continuous evolution.we do not 
want drugs in TW:however those engaging need help and friendly advice, such as they can 
get from street pastors 

 needs to be done, long overdue. 

 I am very anti drug so yes I support this. But fining would not work, the people need help. 

 Drugs and psychoactive substances are something that we must crack down on for peoples 
own good. The damage they can do to themselves, others or property as a result of taking 
such substances which they may not know the effect of, can be dangerous. It will be for the 
best of the town if these are banned. 

 These substances are legal (although littering is not) 

 And all parks and playgrounds. 

 The Common has become a major centre for drug dealing, drug use and drug 
experimentation. Anything that can help control this would be welcome. 

 Total ban required in all public spaces - on this I favour heavy enforcement  

 Most of those prohibitions seem reasonable yet the scope being proposed is quite broad 
and could be subject to abuse by enforcers. As always, the laws are only as good as those 
who enforce them.  

 All very well, but enforcement? 

 There are periodic reports over quite a long period of various kinds of substance abuse 
taking place in parts of Grosvenor and Hilbert Park - and paraphernalia associated with 
substance abuse can regularly be found in the park. We would therefore recommend that 
Grosvenor and Hilbert Park should be included in any designated areas for this prohibition. 

 NPS are a bad thing but perhaps a better way forward might be through education. 

 We need to see more Police presence in towns, drugs are becoming a bigger problem all the 
time 

 This seems like something that should be covered by national legislation 

 have a decent drug service to inform and dissuade.  Have proper points of paraphernalia 
collection for users to dispose of equipment safely, such as needle bins, exchange 
service.  There will always be illicit use of substances whilst  adolescents and young people 
experiment with new found freedoms.  There will also be illicit drug use for those fighting 
mental health issues by self medicating.  This is a wider issue than this consultation allows 
for. 

 But these people need immediate access to appropriate support. 

 I believe that this will help people to help themselves.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 286

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

57 
 

Question 6 – do you have any further comments about any of these proposals? 
 

 banning  dog walking in  is a stupid move for any community - just don't  

 Yes - the starting point should be minimum control otherwise the tentacles of the state 
increase and become wider and wider. We are sufficiently rule-driven as it is. 

 Yes - the starting point should be minimum control otherwise the tentacles of the state 
increase and become wider and wider. We are sufficiently rule-driven as it is. 

 Not one of these proposals will enhance my life, some because they're unenforceable, and 
one, the poo bag question, is a ridiculous intrusion into my human rights.Life in this town 
would be improved if humans were valued more than cars. 

 Yes  This whole act is not required and enforcing it is cutting peoples liberties instead of 
enforcing current laws to solve problems.   

 I think that anti-social behaviour in the town needs to be tackled. The town is getting busier 
and busier and action is required. I would extend anti-social behaviour to dangerous driving 
and speeding - something also on the increase. Unfortunately, financially penalising people 
is probably the only way to effect behavioural change. If people get away with a course of 
action, they will keep doing it.  

 All the above are sensible but with no police presence in TW there is little hope that 
anything will change. I have walked my dog regularly over 3 years in one of the parks and 
seen a policeman once in that time. What hope have we got if we see no police? 

 advise to carefully consider banning dogs from Hawkenbury rev and similar types of areas. 
This does not appear to be warranted in any way shape or form. 

 You need to seriously reconsider restrictions to responsible dog walkers. 

 I dream of Tunbridge Wells becoming the organic marijuana capital of the United Kingdom. 

 Where is a question about protecting Calverley Grounds from the hateful idea of a Civic 
Centre/Theatre. That would be a really good use of the Public Protection Spaces order - oh 
the irony. 

 Exactly how bad are these problems, I think people need to know how bad these problems 
really are, because some people will complain about everything, and these people often give 
a false picture. 

 The wording in the survey has improved since the initial roll out but the sentiment remains. I 
do not support a heavy handed approach by the council to enforce fines on the poor and 
vulnerable members in our community, nor the use of on the spot fines to marginalise dog 
walkers. Im disappointed all the responses to the initial survey have been lost. 

 No 

 TWBC seems to be "head in in the sand" about the above issues.   I suggest that all 
councillors get out, literally: at night (re rough sleepers), go walk-about during the day (re: 
begging and amplified music and busking), and into our parks - especially  Hawkenbury 
Recreation Ground) during a week day. As a user of Hawkenbury Rec. on a regular basis I 
would welcome the accompaniment of one of my Park Ward Councillors (Ms Tracey Moore / 
Ms Catherine Rankin on a morning or afternoon walk through the area - also taking in the 
High Woods access. I an be contacted via the Hawkenbury Village Association (Sue Ware).   

 I have only answered the part of the consultation that I was interested in, especially having 
already filled in the whole survey once and it has taken a lot of time to answer again! I want 
to state that you mention taking out Hawkenbury Recreation but also the Crem was 
removed from the consultation.  I feel this whole consultation has been jeopardised as many 
who initially answered this questionnaire won't go through it all again or not even realise 
that there were 'technical' issues and their responses 'lost'.  Surely this makes the whole 
think nul and void!  I find it very hard to believe that a technical issue occurred after you had 

Page 287

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

58 
 

taken Hawkenbury out of the equation, therefore removing all the comments from 
Hawkenbury residents from the process - a little too convenient.   I feel that there maybe 
some legal issues in the way you have changed this survey half-way through and 'lost' the 
original submissions. When initially answering this consultation at the beginning of 
November, I felt that the wording of the consult wasn't obvious.  At first I thought I had got 
the wrong consultation paper as it wasn't clear that the dog banning issue was in the same 
consultation as the alcohol use in the town centre.  Also I started the survey and then found 
the supporting documentation was at the beginning which wasn't helpful.  I believe I am out 
of the T/W Centre area map as it stops below Blatchington Road on Warwick Park, therefore 
living further up Warwick Park I was out of the area? 

 Firstly, I am concerned that there are no notices of this proposal at the Neville Ground or St 
Mark's Ground. How are people supposed to comment if they do not know about the 
proposals? I only saw a notice at the Hawkenbury Park. I do NOT support a ban on dogs 
altogether at the two recreations grounds listed. I have been walking my dog at these sites 
for 17 years and have not noticed dog poo to be a very big problem. I always pick up after 
my dog and after other dogs if I see any that has been left. I understand that people playing 
sports at these grounds do not want to end up covered in dog poo, but the grounds are 
community recreation grounds and dogs and their walkers are part of the community and so 
should be allowed to use the grounds. These sites are the two places my family and I walk 
to, but we have to go by car to take our dog anywhere else. I thought the council wanted to 
discourage use of cars, encourage walking and promote exercise, but limiting the number of 
places people can walk their dog will not do this. It is a shame that there are a few 
irresponsible dog walkers who spoil things for everyone else. However, we should not all be 
tarred with the same brush, so perhaps the answer could be a permit for local dog walkers . I 
would be prepared to pay something for this if necessary. Or perhaps dogs could be banned 
only during matches and events or after dark. This is when dog owners might not pay 
attention to what their dog is doing, even if it is on a lead, because they could be distracted 
by watching the matches or chatting to friends, or if it is dark, it may be hard to see. How 
could a dog ban be enforced anyway? Any means of enforcement, such as CCTV, could 
surely be used to enforce no fouling. Higher fines for fouling or not carrying bags could go 
towards administration costs for permits or to fund enforcement of no fouling. How many 
cases of toxocariasis connected to these sites have there been in say the last ten years? 
From my one visit to the football fields on Bayham Road by the cemetery, I would say dog 
fouling is a much bigger problem there - it was disgusting. However, no ban has been 
proposed at this site for some reason. At the St Mark's ground, a much bigger mess and 
health hazard is left by the people, so perhaps they should be banned and not the dogs! 
After the weekend sports matches, I go there not just to walk my dog, but on unofficial litter 
picking duty. The place is regularly strewn with Costa coffee cups, polystyrene cups, water 
bottles, cans, bandages and tape, and sweet wrappers and sometimes even beer glasses are 
left on the field. There is also a health hazard from rusty nails and old mattress springs left 
from the bonfires held there. There is quite an eyesore and possibly a safety hazard created 
by all the old furniture and pallets and metal poles collected up in one corner of the field. 
Incidentally, I do not agree with the "dogs must be kept on leads at all times" signs which 
have appeared in the last few years. If you are the only person and dog on the field and you 
are watching your dog, what does it matter?! A sign saying "Dogs must be kept on leads 
during events or if machinery is in use," would have been much more sensible. Please do no 
ban dogs altogether at the two recreation grounds listed. It is unnecessary, no easier to 
enforce than "no fouling" laws and it would discourage exercise and encourage the use of 
cars. 

Page 288

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

59 
 

 I don't think there is a need for a public spaces Protection Order. I believe the police cover 
all these areas very effectively. I think there is enough law in place to back the enforcement 
officers and the police. 

 See previous comments. Lets not be seen as using a facist approach to issues which occur 
everywhere. Maybe some creative thinking, learning from other areas would be a better 
place to start. 

 Can we not also have a concerted effort to stamp out spitting - has the Council adopted this 
as "littering" as the London Borough of Waltham Forest pioneered a few years ago? 

 make sure this is not a cash raising exercise. Deal with the likes of a pony on a lead every day 
on the field attached to Oak Road. it is there in all weathers no shelter on a long lead. The 
horse has no one cleaning up his mess?.. OK not a dog, but then the world is not just black 
and white. Fining people is not always the answer. Councils have to many powers and we 
often hear of them being misused. 

 no 

 I think police or wardens should have more power to do things . The situation should be 
judged on a individual basis. Its no good removing people out of sight in town centre for 
them to creep up somewhere else . A solution should be found .  

 I am currently avoiding the use of Torrington car park as much as possible and never park 
there if my wife is with me. 

 all very sensible and needs to be put into action. 

 Family support services are more useful than tough measures when the problem has 
become extreme like this. 

 The Commons Conservators have completed this form with reference to the Common only. 
The personal information section has not been completed as the Conservators are 
responding as a body, not as individuals. 

 How and why was the new children's play ground area allowed to be built in Calverley 
Park?  Is Calverley Park not a Grade II Listed Englilsh Heritage Park?  It seems to me that the 
new play ground isn't in keeping with the Historic nature of Calverley Park, and should NOT 
have been allowed.  

 I don't feel you can solve these problems with new laws that cannot realistically be enforced. 

 There is much of merit in these proposals and it is unfortunate that someone has chosen to 
try and ban responsible dog walkers in the same set of orders by burying this in the small 
print. If dog walkers do not walk in these local grass areas they will be driving their dogs 
across town adding to the congestion or walking on busy pavements. There are a lot of dog 
owning residents and voters in the town and it is wholly inappropriate to ban them all for 
the repeated acts of a very few of them. The right approach is to come down heavily on the 
wrong doers not all the responsible owners.  

 I think my comments on legal highs apply equally to all of the above concerns.  

 Survey questionnaire is difficult to navigate as supplementary documents maps do not show 
dog fouling prohibition zones. 

 None of these measures are any use if there is no enforcement. 

 No 

 I repeat that I feel you are going through this process in an underhand way by not informing 
enough people. The vast majority of dog owners do clean up after their dogs. You should 
spend more time catching the minority and by all means fine them. Do NOT ban dog owners 
from areas meant to be there for the whole community 

 PLEASE DON'T PENALISE ALL DOG OWNERS WITH A BLANKET DOG BAN FROM AREAS 
(OTHER THAN CHILDREN'S ENCLOSED PLAY PARKS) AND FOCUS ON ENFORCING 
REGULATIONS AROUND FOULING, BAD BEHAVIOUR AND DOGS OFF THE LEAD. 

Page 289

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

60 
 

 We don't see Community police as much as we used to. We need to be able to stop and 
search youngsters. 

 There should be a more charitable and caring attitude from the Council. Find these people 
places to go before banning them - help is needed, not legislation. 

 Please be more ambitious with your proposals regarding dogs to cover a greater number of 
parks. 

 I own a dog and always take poo bags in a holder attached to my dogs lead. It is imperative 
that dog mess is cleared up always - it can carry disease and it is unfair to others to leave it 
lying about. It's a great shame that a small number of dog owners do not pick up after their 
dogs - the more that can be done to stop them the better. Other dog owners could be 
encouraged to point out mess to the culprits as its totally unacceptable. 

 no 

 The proposals seem proportionate to assist council in dealing fairly and reasonably with the 
issues identified. 

 The perceived need for action against rough sleeping and begging results from the 
cumulative effect of government policies favouring a certain sector of society, whilst 
ignoring the needs and rights of a significant number who cannot cope for health or random 
life circumstance reasons. Life has become brutalised for some and an increasing number of 
people are being marginalised. Giving them a kicking is not the answer. I am equally 
concerned about: 1 the dominance of the car over the ambience of the town, and the 
unwillingness to prioritize public transport and environmentally friendly and health 
promoting cycling and walking. Failure to apprehend unsilenced motor bikes is turning a 
blind eye (ear) to anti social behaviour; 2 the abandonment of litter clearance. For example 
Showfields is a disgrace. In the last two days, cycling to Rusthall and back and walking on the 
Common, I have picked up 76 cans, each with an energy equivalent of 3 hours TV use, for 
recycling. This is a national anti social and environmental problem of long term climate 
significance which the Council and Government should be tackling. I believe some of the 
issues raised here could be addressed using existing legislation.     

 More needs to be done for those who find themselves homeless and sleeping rough. More 
community and Church centres are needed.  

 The Kennel Club is the largest organisation in the UK devoted to dog health, welfare and 
training, whose main objective is to ensure that dogs live healthy, happy lives with 
responsible owners. As part of its External Affairs activities the Kennel Club runs a dog 
owners group KC Dog with approximately 5,000 members, which was established to monitor 
and keep dog owners up to date about dog related issues, including Public Spaces Protection 
Orders (PSPOs) being introduced across the country. As a general principle we would like to 
highlight the importance for all PSPOs to be necessary and proportionate responses to 
problems caused by dogs and irresponsible owners. It is also important that authorities 
balance the interests of dog owners with the interests of other access users. Equality 
considerations When introducing a dog control PSPO local authorities should consider the 
potential negative impacts on vulnerable groups and their requirements under the Equality 
Act 2010. The most obvious potential adverse impact is upon those who rely on assistance 
dogs and registered blind people, who may either be unable to comply with conditions 
contained within the Order, or the effect of the Order would be to exclude them from 
accessing public spaces. Appropriate exemptions from dog fouling and dog exclusion Orders 
should be included in PSPOs, for registered blind people and those who rely on assistance 
dogs. Assistance Dogs UK currently have eight member organisations which can be viewed 
here - http://www.assistancedogs.org.uk/. However, the membership of Assistance Dogs UK 
is not a definitive list of all UK assistance dog organisations, and may change during the 
currency of the PSPO, it also does not provide for owner trained assistance dogs. We would 

Page 290

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

61 
 

therefore encourage the Council to allow some flexibility when considering whether a 
disabled person's dog is acting as an assistance dog. If the local authority is introducing dog 
on lead restrictions, consideration should be made of the accessibility of alternative 
restriction free exercise areas for those with limited mobility, be that due to disability, age 
etc. Appropriate signage It is important to note that in relation to PSPOs the Anti-social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (Publication of Public Spaces Protection Orders) 
Regulations 2014 make it a legal requirement for local authorities to €“ €œcause to be 
erected on or adjacent to the public place to which the order relates such notice (or notices) 
as it considers sufficient to draw the attention of any member of the public using that place 
to - (i) the fact that the order has been made, extended or varied (as the case may be); and 
(ii) the effect of that order being made, extended or varied (as the case may be).€• With 
relation to dog access restrictions such as a €œDogs on Leads Order€•, on-site signage 
should make clear where such restrictions start and finish. This can often be achieved by 
signs that on one side say, for example, €œYou are entering [type of area]€• and €œYou are 
leaving [type of area]€• on the reverse of the sign. While all dog walkers should be aware of 
the requirement to pick up after their dog, signage should be erected for the PSPO to be 
compliant with the legislation. With specific regard to the proposed means to pick up 
measure this type of law will be unfamiliar to dog walkers and prominent signage explaining 
the exact requirements expected of dog walkers, not all of whom will be local residents, 
should be erected in any area where the measure is to be enforced. 

 It is vital for the future of the Sports areas listed to have this order so that we encourage 
people to play sport in the future in clean and well maintained areas.  Kent come to the 
Nevill to play a county game and they will refuse if this order is not implemented to 
safeguard the condition and quality of the ground.  The same applies to St Marks. 

 Our family finds it totally ridiculous that the Council is considering banning dogs from the 
Nevill Cricket Ground and Tunbridge Wells Rugby Club.  As stated earlier, a dog is a "family" 
member and when supporting a family member playing sport we frequently take our dog 
along to walk while watching.  As long as the dog is kept on a lead, this is not a problem.  The 
majority of dog owners do adhere to the rules - the minority unfortunately spoil it.  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 291

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

62 
 

 
 

 

55% 

40% 

5% 

Question 7: What is your sex? 

Male

Female

Prefer not to say

2% 

4% 
13% 

27% 

17% 

25% 

5% 
7% 

Question 8: What is your age group? 

18 - 24 25 - 34

35 - 44 45 - 54

55 - 64 65 - 74

75-84 85+

Prefer not to say

Page 292

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

63 
 

 
 
 

 

88% 

1% 
1% 

10% 

Question 9: What is your ethnic group? 

White

Mixed/multiple ethnic groups

Asian or Asian British

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British

Other ethnic group

Prefer not to say

98% 

1% 1% 
Q9 - White 

English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British

Irish

Gypsy or Irish Traveller

Other white background

Page 293

Appendix F



PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE REPORT 
6 November 2017 to 7 January 2018 

 

64 
 

 
Other White Background 

 European 
 

Mixed 
 White and Black Caribbean 

 
Other Ethnic Group  

 Kekistani 

 
(please note: Kekistan is a fictitious country) 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

5% 

87% 

8% 

Question 10: Are your day-to-day activities limited because of a 
health problem or disability which has lasted, or is expected to 

last, at least 12 months? 

Yes

No

Prefer not to say

Page 294

Appendix F



 

Full Council  25 April 2018 

Is the final decision on the recommendations in this report to be made at this meeting? Yes 

 

Appointment of Deputy Mayor 2018/19 
 

Final Decision-Maker Full Council 

Portfolio Holder(s)  Councillor David Jukes – Leader of the Council 

Lead Director  Lee Colyer – Director of Finance, Policy and Development 

Head of Service Jane Clarke – Head of Policy and Governance 

Lead Officer/Author Mark O’Callaghan – Democratic Services Officer 

Classification Non-exempt 

Wards affected All 

  

This report makes the following recommendations to the final decision-maker: 

 

That Councillor Scholes be appointed as Deputy Mayor for the municipal year 2018/19. 

 

  

This report relates to the following Five Year Plan Key Objectives: 

 A Confident Borough – This decision supports the Council’s commitment to ensure 
that the authority is well-managed, open, transparent and accountable. 

 

  

Timetable  

Meeting Date 

Council 25 April 2018 

Page 295

Agenda Item 12



 

Appointment of Deputy Mayor 2018/19 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report sets out a recommendation in respect of the appointment of a 

Deputy Mayor for 2018/19. 
 

 
2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Council is required each year by the Constitution to appoint a Deputy 

Mayor for the following municipal year. 
 

2.2 After the decision taken at tonight’s meeting, the new Deputy Mayor will formally 
take up their position at the Annual Meeting of the Council on 23 May 2018. 

 

 
3. PREFERRED OPTION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 That Councillor Scholes be appointed as the Deputy Mayor for 2018/19, in 

accordance with the Borough Council’s Constitution.  
 

 
4. CONSULTATION RESULTS AND PREVIOUS COMMITTEE FEEDBACK 
 
4.1 The nomination has been reached following informal consultation within the 

Council. It is not usual for the process to include public or formal consultation. 
 

 
5. NEXT STEPS: COMMUNICATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE 

DECISION 
 
5.1 This decision will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting. The formal 

appointment will be taken up at the next Annual Meeting of the Council. 
 

 
6. CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS 
 

Issue Implications Sign-off 

Legal including 
Human Rights Act 

The requirement to appoint a Deputy Mayor 
from amongst the membership of the Council is 
set out under Section 5 of the Local Government 
Act 1972, and within the Council’s Constitution. 

Patricia Narebor, 
Interim Head of 
Legal Partnership 

Finance and other 
resources 

There are no specific finance issues to address. Jane Fineman, 

Head of Finance 
and Procurement 

 
 

Page 296

Agenda Item 12



 

Staffing 
establishment 

There are no specific staffing issues to address. Mark O’Callaghan 

Democratic 
Services Officer 

17 April 2018 
Risk management   There are no specific risk management issues to 

address. 

Environment  
and sustainability 

There are no specific environmental issues to 
address. 

Community safety 

 

There are no specific community safety 
implications from the recommendations set out 
in this report. 

 

Health and Safety There are no specific health and safety issues to 
address. 
 

Health and 
wellbeing 

There are no specific health and wellbeing 
issues to address. 
 

Equalities The decisions recommended through this paper 
have a remote or low relevance to the substance 
of the Equality Act. There is no apparent 
equality impact on end users. 

 
7. REPORT APPENDICES 
 

 None 
 

 
8. BACKGROUND PAPERS  
 

None 
 

Page 297

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting dated 21 February 2018
	5 Minutes of the meeting dated 26 March 2018
	9 Ashdown Forest Air Quality Impact Assessment and Revised Habitat Regulation Assessment Practice Note
	9 Appendix A - Ashdown Forest Air Quality Impact Assessment 2018
	1 Introduction
	1.1.1 Ashdown Forest is an extensive area of common land lying between East Grinstead and Crowborough entirely within Wealden District. The soils are derived from the predominantly sandy Hastings Beds. It is one of the largest single continuous blocks...
	1.1.2 The SPA is designated for its populations of breeding Dartford Warbler Sylvia undata and Nightjar Caprimulgus europaeus. The SAC is designated for its Annex I habitats, namely  Northern Atlantic wet heaths with Erica tetralix and European dry he...
	1.1.3 Exhaust emissions from vehicles are capable of adversely affecting the protected heathland found in Ashdown Forest. Accordingly, in September 2017 AECOM undertook an air quality impact assessment for Lewes District Council and South Downs Nation...
	1.1.4 The methodology used in this analysis is compliant with the requirement of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 to consider whether an adverse effect on the integrity of a European site will result either alone, or in combin...
	1.1.5 In addition to determining the total cumulative ‘in combination’ effect on roadside air quality at Ashdown Forest SAC, the calculations presented in this analysis also consider the contribution of Tunbridge Wells Local Plan to that ‘in combinati...

	2 Methodology
	2.1.1 Vehicle exhaust emissions generally only have a local effect within a narrow band along the roadside, within 200m of the centreline of the road. Beyond 200m emissions are considered to have dispersed sufficiently that atmospheric concentrations ...
	2.1.2 There are two measures of particular relevance regarding air quality impacts from vehicle exhausts and which are modelled using standard forecasting. The first is the concentration of oxides of nitrogen (known as NOx) in the atmosphere. In extre...
	2.1.3 The second important metric is a measure of the rate of the resulting nitrogen deposition. The addition of nitrogen is a form of fertilization, which can have a negative effect on heathland and other habitats over time by encouraging more compet...
	2.1.4 A third pollutant included in this assessment is ammonia emissions from traffic. In ecological terms ammonia differs from NOx in that it is not only a source of nitrogen but can also be directly toxic to vegetation in relatively low concentratio...
	2.1.5 Finally, and for completeness, rates of acid deposition have also been calculated. Acid deposition derives from both sulphur and nitrogen. It is expressed in terms of kiloequivalents (keq) per hectare per year. The thresholds against which acid ...
	2.2 Traffic modelling
	2.2.1 A series of road links within 200m of Ashdown Forest Special Area of Conservation (SAC) were identified for investigation. These links were chosen as they are all representative points on the busiest roads through the SAC and are also the roads ...
	2.2.2 Traffic data were generated for each of these links for three scenarios, described in this report as:
	2.2.3 The Base Case uses measured flows, percentage Heavy Duty Vehicles (HDVs) and average vehicle speeds on the relevant links, as provided by Wealden District Council (WDC). The Wealden traffic counts were for 2014 (either undertaken in that year, o...
	2.2.4 The Do Nothing scenario is the term used in this report to describe the future flows on the same roads at the end of the Tunbridge Wells Local Plan period (2033), without consideration of the role of the Tunbridge Wells Local Plan, South Downs L...
	2.2.5 For the purposes of ‘in combination’ assessment (i.e. incorporating growth into the model due to multiple Local Plans and Core Strategies for surrounding authorities) it was decided that modelling the adopted Local Plans directly would not refle...
	2.2.6 Expected development in these authorities over the period 2017 to 2033 was therefore included in the model by using the National Trip End Model Presentation Program (TEMPRO). TEMPRO produces a growth factor that is applied to the measured flows....
	2.2.7 The other authorities immediately surrounding Ashdown Forest are those in which development is most likely to influence annual average daily traffic flows through the SAC. For those authorities (Wealden, Mid-Sussex and Tandridge) scrutiny of the...
	2.2.8 The Do Nothing (and thus Do Something) Scenario is therefore intentionally precautionary and allows for growth over the period to 2033 beyond that in adopted (or even published draft) Local Plans in those authorities immediately surrounding Ashd...
	2.2.9 TEMPRO provides a consistent and standard approach to traffic forecasting when a large number of sources (e.g. local authority areas) are involved. However, a more nuanced forecast can be obtained by creating a bespoke model that manually distri...
	2.2.10 In order to update the bespoke AECOM model, growth due to Tunbridge Wells Local Plan was essentially moved from the Do Nothing scenario (forecast using TEMPRO) to the Do Something scenario (forecast using the bespoke AECOM model). In order to m...
	2.2.11 The Do Something scenario reflects the combined role of the Tunbridge Wells Local Plan, Sevenoaks Local Plan, South Downs Local Plan, Lewes Joint Core Strategy and subsidiary Neighbourhood Plans by 2033, Uin additionU to growth in other authori...
	2.2.12 The ‘in combination’ growth scenario is therefore the Do Something flows, as these include existing traffic, all future journeys arising from within Tunbridge Wells Borough, the South Downs National Park, Sevenoaks District and Lewes District d...

	2.3 Air quality calculations
	2.3.1 Using these scenarios and information on total traffic flow, average vehicle speeds and percentage Heavy Duty Vehicles (which influence the emissions profile), AECOM air quality specialists calculated expected NOx concentrations, nitrogen deposi...
	2.3.2 The DMRB does not provide a method for forecasting ammonia emissions from traffic. A method has therefore been devised for this modelling. The methodology for this is presented in detail in Appendix D. The research undertaken in Ashdown Forest i...
	2.3.3 Given that the assessment year (2033) is a considerable distance into the future, it is important for the air quality calculations to take account of improvements in background air quality and vehicle emissions that are expected nationally over ...
	2.3.4 Therefore, the air quality calculations assume that conditions in 2023 (an approximate midpoint between the base year and the year of assessment) are representative of conditions in 2033 (the year of assessment). The effect on the 2033 data is e...
	2.3.5 Annual mean concentrations of NOx were calculated at varied intervals back from each road link up to a maximum of 200m, with the closest distance being the closest point of the designated site to the road. Predictions were made using the latest ...
	Model verification

	2.3.6 To assist in the verification of the AECOM model (produced December 2017) AECOM were provided with a partially redacted version of a report prepared for Wealden District Council by Air Quality Consultants (‘AQC’) (Ashdown Forest SAC, Air Quality...
	2.3.7 Using these diffusion tube data AECOM was able to model the latest version of the Ashdown Forest model (December 2017) which uses 2017 backgrounds based on the base year 2015 and the NORxR to NOR2R Calculator v6.1 for 2017 using All non-urban UK...
	2.3.8 This verification process calculated a model adjustment factor of 2.73P14F P with an RMSE of 4.2. The RMSE should ideally be within 10% of the relevant air quality criterion, but is acceptable where it is within 25% of the relevant air quality c...


	3 Results
	3.1 Traffic modelling
	3.1.1 The flows forecast by 2033, and how these differ between Do Nothing (without the Local Plans/JCS) and Do Something (including the Sevenoaks, Tunbridge Wells and South Downs Local Plans and the Lewes JCS) are presented overleaf.
	3.1.2 All links are forecast to experience an increase in traffic flows between 2017 and 2033 when all expected traffic growth sources (including the Tunbridge Wells Local Plan, Sevenoaks Local Plan, South Downs Local Plan, and Lewes JCS) are taken in...
	3.1.3 It can be seen from Table 2 that, on most links, housing and employment delivery in Tunbridge Wells Borough is forecast to make little to no contribution in terms of Annual Average Daily Traffic, essentially because most roads through Ashdown Fo...

	3.2 Air quality calculations
	Ammonia
	3.2.1 Ammonia concentrations in atmosphere are discussed in this section. Ammonia as a source of nitrogen is discussed in the following section on nitrogen deposition.
	3.2.2 There are two critical levels for ammonia in atmosphere, which represent the differing sensitivities of lower plants (lichens and mosses) and higher plants (all other vegetation) to the gas. The difference is because higher plants have a protect...
	3.2.3 Heathlands can support a diverse terricolous lichen flora provided the sward is sufficiently open for colonisation. All heathland SACs therefore automatically have the lower critical level assigned to them on the UK Air Pollution Information Sys...
	3.2.4 Some parts of Ashdown Forest SAC do support a diverse terricolous heathland lichen assemblage. However, Wealden District Council has produced habitat maps using Earth Observation (satellite imagery and airborne systems) and commissioned site veg...
	3.2.5 Bearing that in mind, modelling undertaken by Air Quality Consultants Ltd for Wealden District Council indicates that the 3 µmP-3P critical level for these specific roadside locations is not exceeded and is not forecast to be exceeded. This is s...
	3.2.6 Nonetheless, for completeness, Table 3 below summarises the ammonia concentration results for both links relevant to Tunbridge Wells (A26 and A275) with reference to whether the lower critical level (1 µmP-3P) is forecast to be exceeded at the n...
	3.2.7 It can be seen that even if one were to use a reference critical level of 1 µmP-3P the nearest areas of heathland would not be affected.
	Oxides of Nitrogen

	3.2.8 Appendix A shows the annual mean NOx concentrations for the Baseline, Do Nothing scenario and Do Something Scenario. It also shows the ‘Projected Baseline’. This is the modelled NOx concentrations in the hypothetical scenario of no traffic growt...
	3.2.9 Based on background mapping, adjusted for the effect of the road, the air quality calculations provided in Appendix A show that the 2017 baseline NOx concentrations are modelled to be above the 30 µgmP-3P general Critical Level for vegetation at...
	3.2.10 The additional NOx emissions due to traffic growth ‘in combination’ to any heathland along the A26 (column ‘DS-ProjBL’ in Appendix A) would be approximately 7 µgmP-3P by 2033, although it would drop away quickly, falling nearly 50% by 5m from t...
	3.2.11 The same pattern is forecast at the roadside of the A275. At the closest point of the SAC to the A275 the additional NOx emitted due to traffic growth ‘in combination’ by 2033 would be approximately 2 µgmP-3P, although it would fall off quickly...
	3.2.12 In summary, by 2033, NOx concentrations on all modelled links are forecast to experience a net reduction due to changes in vehicle emissions, notwithstanding the projected increase in traffic on the roads, including that attributable to the Tun...
	Nitrogen deposition

	3.2.13 Since the ecologically significant role of NOx is as a source of nitrogen the next step is to consider what effect this may have on nitrogen deposition rates, and this also factors in the role of ammonia as a source of nitrogen.P21F P Calculati...
	3.2.14 As with NOx, Appendix A shows the annual mean nitrogen deposition rates for the Baseline, Do Nothing scenario and Do Something Scenario. It also shows the ‘Projected Baseline’. This is the modelled nitrogen deposition rates in the hypothetical ...
	3.2.15 Although much of Ashdown Forest SAC (including the borders of many roads) is covered with woodland and the habitat is a feature of the SSSI, woodland is not a notified feature of the internationally important wildlife sites. Ashdown Forest SAC ...
	3.2.16 Critical loads are always presented as a range, which for heathland is 10 kgN/ha/yr to 20 kgN/ha/yrP22F P. The lowest part of the nitrogen Critical Load range has been used in this assessment as that is the most precautionary stance to take. Th...
	3.2.17 At the closest areas of heathland to modelled links relevant to Tunbridge Wells (along the A275) the worst-case additional deposition due to extra traffic is forecast to be c. 0.3 kgN/ha/yr at the roadside, declining nearly 50% by 5m from the r...
	3.2.18 Most importantly, the DS-BL column in Appendix A shows that the deposition from additional traffic (irrespective of source) is forecast to be offset by a much larger reduction in background deposition expected over the same timescale. As a resu...
	UEcological significance
	3.2.19 The modelling demonstrates that there will be a net decreasing trend in nitrogen deposition rates to heathland within the SAC along the modelled links. Accordingly, the Local Plans will not have significant in-combination effects on the SAC by ...
	3.2.20 It is however worth considering whether the Local Plans could have a significant effect on the SAC as a result of retarding the improvement of nitrogen deposition rates, as paragraph 3.2.17 and the modelling in Appendix A identify that the fore...
	3.2.21 Deposition of nitrogen can cause a variety of responses in heathland: transition from heather to grass dominance, decline in lichens (such as Cladionia species), changes in plant biochemistry and increased sensitivity to stressP25F P. The physi...
	3.2.22 Critical Loads have been in use for a number of years and have been defined as: ‘a quantitative estimate of exposure to one or more pollutants below which significant harmful effects on specified sensitive elements of the environment do not occ...
	3.2.23 The amount of extra nitrogen needed to cause a measurable ecological effect has been shown from a range of studies on a range of sites to be considerably greater in lowland heathland subject to high existing deposition rates than it is in those...
	3.2.24 Given this background, it is necessary to refer to dose-response relationships and the forecast background deposition rate by 2033 to determine the ecological effect of a given retardation in nitrogen deposition rate. Since there is a significa...
	3.2.25 Reference to Appendix 5 of Caporn et al (2016) suggests that at background deposition rates of c. 15kgN/ha/yr (the approximate deposition rate forecast at the closest areas of heathland in this modelling) the forecast net reduction in nitrogen ...
	3.2.26 Appendix 5 of Caporn et al (2016) also suggests that at a background deposition rate of 15 kgN/ha/yr the worst-case additional nitrogen deposition to heathland as a result of traffic growth (c. 0.3 kgN/ha/yr at the A275) could, if it constitute...
	3.2.27 In terms of changes in coarse habitat structure it is considered that the small forecast additional nitrogen deposition (equivalent to a maximum c. 2% of the deposition rate otherwise forecast in these locations by 2033) would not stimulate gro...
	3.2.28 Bearing in mind that a net reduction in nitrogen deposition is actually being forecast, the most that might be expected by 2033 due to traffic growth on roads through the SAC is that one might record a reduction in percentage grass cover immedi...
	3.2.29 This conclusion can be stated with a high degree of confidence for a number of reasons. First, AECOM has carried out sensitivity testing of nitrogen deposition rates using different deposition velocities. The AECOM model uses a nitrogen deposit...
	3.2.30 Secondly, the results hold true even if actual measured deposition rates are substantially higher than those extrapolated from Defra mapping, as is suggested by measured data provided by Wealden District CouncilP35F P. For example, at backgroun...
	3.2.31 Thirdly, the conclusions are supported by solid academic research. Southon et al (2013) studied over fifty heathlands across England at deposition rates of up to 32.4kgN/ha/yr and found that above 20 kgN/ha/yr ‘… declines in species richness pl...
	3.2.32 Heathland and acid grassland (a related habitat that is often found intermixed with heathland) have been particularly well studied across broad geographical, climatic and pollution gradients covering different levels of soil organic matter, rat...
	3.2.33 Due to the existence of other influences (such as management) that have a much greater effect on relevant vegetation parameters than does nitrogen deposition, there can be no absolute certainty that the reported trends would be observed in a gi...
	3.2.34 Fourthly, although it is necessary to carry out an ‘in-combination’ assessment of effects, it remains relevant to consider the extent to which Tunbridge Wells contributes to that in-combination effect. On that assessment, Tunbridge Wells’ contr...
	3.2.35 Finally, in discussions over the emerging Statement of Common Ground, Natural England advised that the impact assessment should only include those areas which are currently heathland rather than speculate about parts of the SAC that constitute ...
	3.2.36 In the event that plans emerged to establish heathland in the area immediately adjacent to the A26 this location would still experience a net reduction in nitrogen deposition rate of c. 1.75 kgN/ha/yr by 2033 compared to the baseline situation....


	4 Conclusion
	4.1.1 The development of nitrogen dose-response relationships for various habitats clarifies the rate of additional nitrogen deposition required to achieve a measurable effect on heathland vegetation. It is therefore possible to use these relationship...
	4.1.2 Since a) air quality in 2033 is forecast to be significantly better than in 2017 notwithstanding the precautionary assumptions made about both growth and improvements in vehicle emissions factors, b) no significant in combination retardation of ...
	4.1.3 It should be noted that the assessment undertaken to inform this conclusion was precautionary. For example:
	4.1.4 It is therefore concluded that no adverse effect upon the integrity of Ashdown Forest SAC is expected to result from development provided by the Tunbridge Wells Local Plan, even in combination with other plans and projects. This is due to a comb...
	4.1.5 This conclusion is not intended to suggest that no active attempt should be made to reduce background NOx concentrations and nitrogen deposition around Ashdown Forest as a matter of general good stewardship if that is what the authorities agree,...
	Appendix A.  Detailed Modelling Results
	Appendix B.  Extract from Caporn et al (2010)
	Appendix C.  Annual Drop-off Calculations for Intermediate Years between 2017 and 2033
	Appendix D.  Modelling ammonia emissions from traffic
	Appendix E.  Commentary on Modelling Work Undertaken by Air Quality Consultants Ltd and on Wealden District Council’s Response to South Downs Local Plan



	9 Appendix B - Ashdown Forest Discussions on Air Quality
	9 Appendix C - Practice Note 2018 Ashdown Forest Screening of Planning Applications
	9 Appendix D - 2013 NE Approved Final Combined Advice Note Concerning HRA of Planning Applications

	10 Community Safety Partnership Plan 2018/19
	10 Appendix A - Plan Document
	10 Appendix B - Funding Allocations
	10 Appendix C - Strategic Assessment 2017-18

	11 Public Spaces Protection Order Implementation
	11 Appendix A - Current Alcohol Control Zone Maps
	11 Appendix B - Statutory and Stakeholder Consultation Summary
	11 Appendix C - Rough Sleeping and Begging Discretionary Guidance DRAFT
	11 Appendix D - Reasonable Behaviour Agreement DRAFT
	11 Appendix F - Equalities Impact Assessment
	11 Appendix F - Public Consultation Charts and Detailed Responses

	12 Appointment of Deputy Mayor 2018/19

